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Gallaher Group Limited

Strategic report

The directors present their strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Principal activities and review of business

Gallaher Group Limited (“the Company™) acts as an investment holding company within the Japan Tobacco Inc.
group of companies (“the Group”). The Company's principal source of income is dividends from its investments,
namely shares in wholly-owned subsidiaries. The timing of such dividends is determined by the Boards of the
subsidiaries, in conjunction with the Company. The Company received cash dividends in the year amounting to
£43,840,000 (2018: £34,000,000). After accounting for administrative expenses, exchange losses, investment income
and finance costs, the Company reported a profit before tax of £37,051,000 for the year (2018: profit of £38,259,000).

Key performance indicators

Given the nature of the business, the Company’s directors believe that analysis using key performance indicators other
than the results above for the Company is not necessary or appropriate for an understanding of the development,
performance or position of the business.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The principal risk that impacts the Company is the valuation of its underlying investments, which is mitigated by the
Company having direct oversight of its subsidiaries and performing an impairment review, where necessary, to
determine the carrying value of the investments.

Other financial risks and uncertainties that affect the Company include cash flow risk, liquidity risk and credit risk.
These risks are partly managed at the Group level and partly at an individual business unit level.

Cash flow risk: The Company’s activities expose it to the financial risks of changes in both foreign currency exchange
rates and changes in interest rates. To the extent that the Company holds interest bearing assets and liabilities that
carry variable rates of interest and are denominated in currencies other than British pounds, there is uncertainty of
cash flows. The Company seeks to manage foreign currency risk in conjunction with the Group treasury function. The
key exposure risk is in relation to the Company’s Euro denominated investment in preference shares issued by
Gallaher Limited. This investment is unhedged within the Company’s financial statements, although the risk is fully
mitigated within Japan Tobacco’s UK group of entities.

Liguidity risk: In order to maintain liquidity to ensure that sufficient funds are available for ongoing operations and
future developments, the Company uses a mixture of long-term and short-term debt finance, primarily in the form of
loans from Group companies.

Credit risk: The Company’s main financial assets are investments and receivables. The Company’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to its receivables. The amounts presented in the balance sheet are net of allowances for doubtful
receivables. An allowance for impairment is made where there is an identified loss event which, based on previous
experience, is evidence of a reduction in the recoverability of the cash flows. The Company’s receivables are owed by
related companies, Gallaher Limited and JT International Holding B.V., and these are considered recoverable.

The Directors have assessed the risk to the Company arising from the UK’s decision to leave the EU (“Brexit”). The
Directors do not consider there to be any material direct risk or uncertainty to the Company.

The Directors have assessed the risk to the Company arising from the current corona virus pandemic (“COVID-197).
Whilst there has been no material impact to date on the Company’s business, the Directors will continue to assess the
impact and risk from COVID-19 on the business throughout the coming months.

Future development

In future years, there is expected to be no significant change to the Company’s principal activity.

Approved by the Board of Directors
and signed on behalf of the Board

DocuSigned by:

Paud truninessy
PR
Director
4 May 2020
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Gallaher Group Limited

Directors’ report

The directors present their annual report on the affairs of the Company, together with the financial statements and
auditor’s report for the year ended 31 December 2019. Details of the Company’s financial risk management and future
development are set out within the Strategic Report on page 2.

Results and dividends

Profit after taxation is £37,063,000 (2018: profit of £38,339,000). Ordinary dividends amounting to £37,400,000 were
declared and paid during the year (2018: £nil).

Going concern

As set out in note 2, the directors have considered the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the business
and continue to be of the opinion that the Company is a going concern and the financial statements have been prepared
on that basis.

Directors

The names of the directors who served on the Board at any point during the year and up to the date of signing are
given on page 1. No director held any interest in the shares of the Company during the year. No director had any
interests during the year in any material contract with the Company. The Company has made qualifying third party
indemnity provisions for the benefit of its directors which were made during the year and remain in force at the date of
this report.

Auditor
Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this report confirms that:

e so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware;
and

o the director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself/herself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies Act
2006.

Deloitte LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditor.

Approved by the Board of Directors -
and signed on behalf of the Board

DocuSigned by:

Paul, Frummnessy

E65504DEED9342A...
Paul Hennessy

Director
4 May 2020
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Gallaher Group Limited

Directors’ responsibilities statement.

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law), including FRS 101 “Reduced
Disclosure Framework”. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the
company for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

e  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
e  make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

e  state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible
for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

[
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Gallaher Group Limited

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Gallaher Group Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements of Gallaher Group Limited (the ‘company’):
e give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2019 and of its profit for the
year then ended;
o have been properly prepared 'in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice,

including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Risk Framework”; and
e  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

. the income statement;

e the statement of changes in equity;
. the balance sheet; and

. the related notes 1 to 18.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Risk Framework”.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We are required by [SAs (UK) to report in respect of the following matters where:

e the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in preparation of the financial statements is not
appropriate; or

e the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt about the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a
period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. [f we identify such material inconsistencies or
apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.
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Gallaher Group Limited

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Gallaher Group Limited (continued)

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with [SAs
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

e the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

e the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit,
we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our opinion:

e adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or ‘

* the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

e certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

e we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body,
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

DocuSigned by:
C\@W QU
egggg%sgsﬁ%%a.ssc FCA (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor
London, United Kingdom
4 May 2020
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Gallaher Group Limited

Income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018

Note £000 £000

Income from ordinary shares in subsidiary undertakings 6 43,840 34,000
Administrative expenses 1) 1)
Other income - 117
Exchange (losses)/gains 8 (8,870) 2,406
Investment income - preferencé shares in subsidiary undertaking 6 2,146 2,156
Finance costs - interest payable on loans from Group undertakings (64) 419)
Profit before taxation 37,051 38,259
Tax 7 12 80
Profit for the financial year attributable to owners of the Company 14 37,063 38,339

Revenue and profit are all derived from continuing operations.

There are no items of comprehensive income in the current year or prior year other than the profit for the year stated
above. Accordingly, no statement of comprehensive income is presented.
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Gallaher Group Limited

Statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 December 2019

Called up Capital Capital
share contribution redemption Retained

capital reserve reserve earnings Total

Note £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 January 2018 65,714 7,504 7,872 643,909 724,999
Profit for the year - - - 38,339 38,339
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 38,339 38,339
Balance at 31 December 2018 65,714 7,504 7,872 682,248 763,338
Profit for the year - - - 37,063 37,063
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 37,063 37,063
Dividends paid 14 - - - (37,400) (37,400)
Balance at 31 December 2019 65,714 7,504 7,872 681,911 763,001
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Gallaher Group Limited

Balance sheet
As at 31 December 2019

2019 2018
Note £000 £000

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 8 762,605 771,475

762,605 771,475

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 9 396 266
396 266
Total assets 763,001 771,741
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 10 - (8,403)
- (8,403)
Net current assets/(liabilities) 396 (8,137)
Total assets less current liabilities 763,001 763,338
Total liabilities - (8,403)
Net assets 763,001 763,338
Equity
Called up share capital 11 65,714 65,714
Capital contribution reserve 12 7,504 7,504
Capital redemption reserve 13 7,872 7,872
Retained earnings 14 681,911 682,248
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 763,001 763,338

The financial statements of Gallaher Group Limited (registered number 03299793) were approved by the Board of
Directors and authorised for issue on 4 May 2020. They were signed on its behalf by:

DocuSigned by:

Paul trunnessy

E65504DEED9342A...
Paul Hennessy

Director
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Gallaher Group Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

1. General information
Gallaher Group Limited is a Company domiciled in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act.

The Company is a private Company limited by shares and is registered in England and Wales. The address of the
Company's registered office is shown on page 1. The nature of the Company’s operations and its principal activities are
set out in the strategic report on page 2.

These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling because that is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Company operates.

These financial statements are separate financial statements. The Company has taken advantage of the exemption
provided by Section 401 of the Companies Act 2006 not to prepare group financial statements since Japan Tobacco
Inc., the Company’s ultimate parent company, delivers consolidated financial statements on behalf of the group. The
group accounts of Japan Tobacco Inc. are available to the public and can be obtained from its registered office address
set out in note 16.

The Company has applied FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ incorporating the Amendments to FRS 101
issued by the FRC in July 2015 and the amendments to Company law made by The Companies, Partnerships and
Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2015.

Adoption of new and revised Standards

IFRS 16 Leases was effective for annual reporting periods beginning 1 January 2019. In addition, there have been a
number of amendments to IFRSs and new interpretations that are mandatorily effective for the current year. The
adoption of the Standard and Interpretations by the Company has had no material impact on the financial statements.

At the date of authorisation of the financial report, there are no Standards or Interpretations in issue but not yet
effective that are expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. The Company has not
early adopted any standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but not yet effective.

10
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Gallaher Group Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

2. Significant accounting policies
Basis of accounting

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with FRS 10! ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ as issued by
the Financial Reporting Council.

As permitted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that standard
in relation to capital management, presentation of comparative information in respect of certain assets, presentation of a
cash flow statement, standards not yet effective, impairment of assets and related party transactions.

Where relevant, equivalent disclosures have been given in the group accounts of Japan Tobacco Inc. The group
accounts of Japan Tobacco Inc. are available to the public and can be obtained as set out in note 16.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally based on the fair
value of the consideration given in exchange for the goods and services.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.
Going concern

The Company is an investment holding company and indirectly owns several subsidiaries which deliver both strong
profits and positive cash flows, notably Gallaher Limited in the UK and JTI Kazakhstan LLC. The directors have
considered the latest business plans of the key subsidiaries and have subsequently assessed any potential impact on
those plans that may arise from the current COVID-19 situation. The COVID-19 assessment reviewed all major
operational aspects of the businesses, in particular the health and security of employees, the robustness of the supply
chain (covering both the manufacturing of product and the logistics operations), sufficiency of local inventory holding
levels, the emerging pattern of sales to customers since the crisis began, cash collection from customers and cash flow
projections generally. The conclusion of the assessment is that all key businesses are operating substantially in line with
the original plans and that, currently, COVID-19 is not expected to have any long-term adverse impact on the
subsidiaries’ operations. These reviews, together with the fact that the Company has no borrowings, give the directors a
reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Accordingly, the directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual report
and accounts.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable in
respect of dividends and interest.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established (provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the amount of
revenue can be measured reliably).

Interest income is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the amount
of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Gallaher Group Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in pounds sterling, which is the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the Company operates (its functional currency).

Transactions in currencies other than the Company’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates
of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, assets and liabilities that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less, where appropriate, provisions for impairment.
Taxation

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the
income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Company’s balance sheet when the Company becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market are classified as ‘loans and receivables’. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate,
except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected.

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equlty in accordance with the substance of
the contractual arrangement.

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) or ‘other
financial liabilities’. The Company currently has no financial liabilities at FVTPL.

Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest
expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

12
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Gallaher Group Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in note 2, the directors are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the critical judgements and estimates that the directors have made in the process of applying the
Company’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in these financial
statements. ) '

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries

Determining whether the Company’s investments in subsidiaries have been impaired requires estimations of the
investments’ values in use. The value in use calculations require the entity to estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from the investments and suitable discount rates in order to calculate present values.

An investment impairment review is performed by the Directors at each balance sheet date. The valuation models used
in the review incorporate the latest financial business plans approved by management and judgement is used over a
weighted average cost of capital for each key operating subsidiary that reflects its location and operating environment.

Events that can indicate a potential reduction in the value of one of the Company’s subsidiaries include the payment of
a substantial dividend by an entity, a significant change in the regulatory environment, a key competitor initiative and a
major business restructuring.

The carrying amount of investments in subsidiaries at 31 December 2019 was £762,605,000 (2018: £771,475,000). No
impairment loss was recognised in either 2019 or 2018 (see note 8).

Sensitivity analysis
The table below provides a sensitivity analysis for the key assumptions and how they would have impacted on the
valuation of the two main operating subsidiaries at 31 December 2019.

_ UK Kazakhstan

Assumption! Change £000 £000
Discount rate Increase by 1.0% (18,900) (16,800)
Decrease by 1.0% 21,100 16,700

Perpetuity growth rate Increase by 1.0% ‘ 11,500 10,700
Decrease by 1.0% (9,600) (9,600)

I Analysis is prepared based on reasonably possible changes of the respective assumptions occurring at the balance
sheet date, while holding all other assumptions constant.

The Company’s investments would not suffer an impairment at this level of sensitivity.

The investment impairment review carried out at 31 December 2019 was conducted prior to the COVID-19 crisis,
hence no potential impacts of the COVID-19 situation were considered in the underlying financial forecasts. However,
the Company has subsequently reviewed the performances of the key operating units in the first quarter of 2020 and
noted that the businesses are operating substantially in line with the original plans. In addition, using assessments
provided by local management, the Company has concluded that, currently, COVID-19 is not expected to have any
long term adverse impact on the subsidiaries’ operations.

Using a sensitivity of a 50% reduction in operating cash flow generated in the 2020 financial year, no impairments
would have occured at any operating unit.

13
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Gallaher Group Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

4. Directors and employees

The remuneration of the directors of the Company during the year was borne by other companies within the Group and

no specific allocation is made in respect of the services of the directors to the Company. Accordingly, their emoluments

have not been disclosed in these financial statements.

The Company has no employees (2018: none), other than the directors.

S. Auditor’s remuneration

The auditor’s remuneration of £5,270 in respect of the statutory audit of the financial statements of the Company has

been borne by Gallaher Limited, a related group company (2018: £5,166). The auditor has received no other

remuneration during the year in respect of services provided to the Company (2018: £nil).

6. Revenue

An analysis of the Company’s revenue, which relates to continuing operations, is as follows:

Geographical 2019 2018
origin of revenue £000 £000
Dividends received and credited to income in the year:
Gallaher Overseas (Holdings) Limited UK 43,840 34,000
Income from ordinary shares in subsidiary undertakings 43,840 34,000
Investment income - preference shares in subsidiary undertaking UK 2,146 2,156
Total 45,986 36,156
The Company is engaged in a single business, namely acting as an investment holding company.
7. Tax
2019 2018
£000 £000
UK Corporation tax:

Current year group relief (12) (80)
Total tax credit for the year (12) (80)
Corporation tax is calculated at 19% (2018: 19%) of the estimated taxable profit for the year.

The credit for the year can be reconciled to the profit in the income statement as follows:

2019 2018

£000 £000
Profit before tax 37,051 38,259
Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 19% (2018: 19%) 7,040 7,269
Tax effect of income not taxable in determining taxable profit (8,737) (7,349)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit 1,685 -
Tax credit for the year (12) (80)

No provision for deferred tax has been made.

14
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Gallaher Group Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

8. Investments in subsidiaries

2019 2018
£000 £000
Investments in the ordinary shares of subsidiary undertakings 595,950 595,950
Investment in the preference shares of a subsidiary undertaking 166,655 175,525
Total investments in subsidiaries ' 762,605 771,475

Ordinary shares in subsidiary undertakings

Provisions

) for  Carrying
Cost impairment value
£000 £000 £000
At 1 January 2019 2,900,050 (2,304,100) 595,950
Impairments - - -
At 31 December 2019 2,900,050 (2,304,100) 595,950

No impairment has been identified as part of the Directors’ annual review of the carrying value of the Company’s
investments in subsidiaries at 31 December 2019. The valuation process for the main operating subsidiaries involved
reviewing latest management forecasts and incorporated the following:

Management forecasts Discount Perpetuity growth/
Primary market of operations (cash flow projections) rate (decline) rate
UK 4 years 7.0% -11%
Kazakhstan 4 years 15.0% 0%

Preference shares in subsidiary undertaking

Exchange Carrying

Cost  adjustments value
£000 £000 - £000
At 1 January 2019 122,121 53,404 175,525

Exchange adjustments (8,870) (8,870)

At 31 December 2019 122,121 44,534 166,655

The investment in Gallaher Limited preference shares comprises 195 million non-voting variable rate cumulative
preference shares of €1 each. The Company receives dividends based on 3-month Euribor plus 1.25% per annum,
‘payable quarterly in arrears. On winding up, the preference shareholders rank above ordinary shareholders and are
entitled to €1 per share and any dividends accrued but unpaid in respect of their shares.
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Notes to the financial statements
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9. Trade and other receivables
2019 2018
£000 £000
Amounts falling due within one year
Amounts owed by Group undertakings - group relief 12 80
Amounts owed by Group undertakings - other 384 186
396 266

All amounts owed by group undertakings above relate to wholly owned companies within the JT Group. The Company
has no receivable balances due from its parent, JTI (UK) Management Ltd.

The Company participates in a “cash pooling” arrangement which operates within the Japan Tobacco Group. The
Company’s excess cash balances are swept up daily to the pool leader, JT International Holding B.V. These deposit
balances currently earn interest based on the overnight LIBOR rate minus 0.1%. There are no fixed repayment terms.

The recoverability of receivable balances, all of which are due from other Group companies, is considered highly
probable and this is supported by the collection history of the Company.

10. Trade and other payables

2019 2018
£000 £000

Amounts falling due within one year
Amounts owed to Group undertakings - loans - 8,289
Amounts owed to Group undertakings - accrued interest - 114
- 8,403

The Company had a Long Term Credit Facility provided by a related company, JT International Holding B.V. The
maximum facility amount was £500,000,000. Amounts drawn under the facility carried interest at a variable rate which
was based on LIBOR plus a margin of 0.375%. The loan balance was fully repaid in August 2019, including all interest
due.

11.  Called up share capital

£000
Allotted, called up and fully paid
At 1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019: 657,142,748 ordinary shares of 10p each . 65,714
The Company has unlimited authorised share capital.
12.  Capital contribution reserve

£000
At 1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 7,504

Following the acquisition of the Company by Japan Tobacco Inc. in April 2007, 1,444,926 share options held by
eligible employees under the Savings related share option schemes were settled directly by JT at the acquisition share
price of £11.40 per share. The cash amount received by the Company from the employees in respect of these share
issues, being the appropriate share option price at the date of grant, has been credited to a capital contribution reserve.
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Gallaher Group Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

13.  Capital redemption reserve
£000
At 1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 7,872

Upon the buy back of its own shares by the Company, the nominal value of the shares cancelleq was transferred to a
capital redemption reserve in accordance with Section 170(1) of the Companies Act 2006.

14.  Retained earnings

£000
Balance at 1 January 2018 : 643,909
Profit for the year 38,339
Balance at 31 December 2018 682,248
Profit for the year 37,063
Dividends paid - 5.691 pence per ordinary share (37,400)

Balance at 31 December 2019 ' 681,911

1S.  Related party transactions

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption provided by paragraph 8(j) of FRS 101 not to disclose
transactions with Japan Tobacco Group companies.

16. Controlling party

The Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of JTI (UK) Management Ltd, a company incorporated in the UK and
registered in England and Wales.

In the opinion of the directors, the Company's ultimate parent company and ultimate controlling party is Japan Tobacco
Inc., a company incorporated in Japan.

Japan Tobacco Inc. is the parent undertaking of both the smallest and largest group in which the results of the Company
are consolidated. Copies of the consolidated financial statements of Japan Tobacco Inc. may be obtained from the
registered office at 2-2-1 Toranomon, Minato-ku, Tokyo, 105-8422, Japan.



DocuSign Envelope ID: 25439D21-4AB5-437D-A1D1-280848820A37

Gallaher Group Limited
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17.  Direct and indirect subsidiary undertakings

Except where stated otherwise below, Gallaher Group Limited is the beneficial owner of all of the equity share capital
of its subsidiaries. The subsidiaries at 31 December 2019, all of which are unlisted, are shown below:

%
Ordinary  Country of
Name shares held incorporation Principal activity
1. Gallaher Overseas (Holdings) 100% ! UK Investment holding company
Limited
2. Benson & Hedges Limited 100% UK Investment holding company
3. Gallaher Overseas Limited 100% UK Investment holding company
4. Gallaher Limited : 100% UK Marketing and distribution of tobacco
products and reduced-risk products in UK
5. JTI Kazakhstan LLC 100% Kazakhstan Manufacture, marketing and distribution of
tobacco products in Kazakhstan
6. JTI Portugal Unipessoal Lda 100% Poftugal Marketing of tobacco products in Portugal
7. JTI UK Limited 100% UK Dormant
! Held directly by Gallaher Group Limited
Company
number Address of registered office
1,2,3,4,7 Members Hill, Brooklands Road, Weybridge, Surrey, KT13 0QU, England
5 Baiserke Village, Iliysky District, Almaty Oblast 040704, Kazakhstan
6 Lagoas Park, Edificio 3, 2°, parish of Porto Salvo, municipality of Oeiras, Porto Salvo, Portugal,

2740 266

18. Events after the balance sheet date

Since the balance sheet date, the outbreak of the COVID-19 virus, declared a pandemic by the World Health
Organisation on 11 March 2020, has given rise to material economic and financial uncertainties. This is considered to
be a non-adjusting post balance sheet event for the Company. The impact has been and will continue to be considered

by the Directors as set out on page 2.

18



Japan Tobacco Inc

Integrated Repor

2019

Year ended December 31, 2019

OUR VALUE
CREATION PROCESS

SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY
BUSINESS STRATEGY
o

The Accounts of Japan Tobacco Inc. are
being filed in conjunction with the
Accounts of Gallaher Group Limited
(Company number 03299793) under the
consolidation exception under Section
401 of the Companies Act 2006.

CORPORATE PROFILE
001 Foreword by the CEO
002 Ata Glance

004 Message from the CEO

VALUE CREATION

012 Our History

014 Our Value Creation Process
016 The Source of Our

STRATEGY

023 The JT Group's Material Issues
024 Sustainability Strategy Overview
030 Interview with Our CSO

QN

ABSOLUTE REQUIREMENTS
FOR SUSTAINABILITY

070 Respect for Human Rights
071 Improving Our Social

FINANCIAL
INFORMATION

092 Financial Review

100 Consolidated Financial

Table of Contents

Unless the context indicates otherwise, references in this Imegrated Report
to “we,” "us,” “our,” “Japan Tobacco,” “JT Group™ or “JT* are to Japan
Tobacco Inc. and its consolidated subsidaries. Relerences to “JTI” are to
JTI Holding B.V., our i subsidiary and its i

subsidiaries. References o “TableMark” are to TableMark Co., Ltd. and
its Group companies. References 10 “Japan Tobacco Inc.” are only to
Japan Tobacco Inc. and references to “JT International Holding B.V.” are
only to JTI Holding B.V. References to “Audit & Supervisory Board* are to
“kansayaku-kai” (as defined in the Companies Act of Japan) that performs
cantan supervisory functions through its monitoring and audit activities
within the overall scheme of corporate governance pursuant Lo the
Compames Act of Japan. References 1o “Audit & Supervisory Board
Membor” are to a member or membcers of an Audit & Supervisory Board,
also referred to in Japanese as “kansaysku” las defined in the Companies
Act of Japan).

Competitiveness
018 Investing in Peaple

Forward-looking statements

This report contains fe d-ooking These
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upon assumptions, estmates and data that may be incorract or imprecise
and involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties. Forward-
Jooking statements regarding operating results are particularly subject to
a variety of assumptions, some or all of which may not be realized.

of operations. In some cases, you can dentify f Hooki
by terms such as “ma: ‘wall,”
plan,” “ai

‘should,

‘would,

“project,
“estimate.
similar

are not of luwre
performance and are subject to various nisks and uncertainties. Actual
results, performance or achievements, or those of the industries in which
wa aperate, may differ materially from any futura rasults, performance or

achievements expressed or mplied by these forward-ook

Risks, or other factors that could cause actual results to
differ materially from those expeessed in any forward-looking starement
include, without limitation:

1. increase in awareness of health concerns related to smoking;

2. regulatory developments; including, without imitation, tax
increases and restrictions on sales, marketing, packaging, labeling
and use of tabacco products, privately imposed restrictions and

g
In addition, these tarward-looking are dependent
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3. litigation around the world alleging adverse health and financial
eftects resulting from, or relating to, tobaceo products;
4. our ability to further diversity our business beyond tha traditional '
tobacco industry;
. our ability 10 successfully expand interationally and make .
investments outside Japan:
. compotition and changing consumer proforencos: '
. our ability to manage Jmpacts derived from business diversification
or business expansion;
. economic. regulatary and political changes, such as nationahization,
terrorism, wars and civil unrest, in countiies in which we operate;
. fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and the costs of raw matesials: and
10. catastrophes, including natural disasters.
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Foreword by the CEO

The JT Group is pleased to present its first integrated Report 1o
our stakehotders.

Our 4S model represents our commitment to serving our four
stakeholder groups: our valued consumers, shareholders, employees
and the wider society. We strive to fulfill our responsibiities towards
our stakeholder groups by carefully considering their respective inter-
ests and exceeding their expectations wherever we can.

We are facing more volatile circumstances in our business environ-
ment, such as changes in consumer demands, the expansion of
Reduced-Risk Products, stricter regulation on E-Vapor and tax
increases in our markets. Not only do we need to take these
circumstances into account, but must take into account how
complex our society itself is becoming. These changes include
more on inabil in loT and ivi
1y, as well as changes in business modets such as hig data analysis
and the subscription business model.

While we perceive these changes as clear opportunities, we must
simultaneously be aware that umely adaptation is obligatory;

herwise, we may be i from ion. In order for us
10 continue creating sustainable value, we understand it is crucial
t0 provide a clearer, more convincing approach encompassing a
broader, long-term perspective.

As tools to with our we
issued an Annual Report and a Sustainability Report until 2018.
However, with increasing needs to communicate our business
through a longer perspective with both financial and non-financial
indicators, in 2019, we have decided to publish an Integrated
Report. The JT Group is committed to transparency in providing our
with relevant i ion through this report. We
trust that this report will help our stakeholders deepen their
knowtedge and understanding of our business.

To sty it

Masamichi Terabatake
Representative Director and President,
Chief Executive Officer

Our Management Principles: “The 4S model”

Our management principles pursue the 4S model. Under the 4S model, we strive to
fulfill our responsibilities to our valued consumers, sharehclders, employees and the
wider saciety, carefully considering the respective interests of these four key stakehold-
er groups and exceeding their expectations wherever we can. We believe that pursuing
this 4S model is the best approach to achieving sustainable profit growth over the

mig- to long-term.

Shareholders

Consumers

Society

Editorial Policy

Period Covered
In principle, this report covers the period from January 1. 2019 1o December 31, 2019, but also
includes some information related 1o activilies belore and after this period.

Scopo of Report
Japan Tobacco Inc. and consolidated subsidiarics

Published
March 2020

Referenced Guidelines

The International Iniegrated Reporting Council's “International Integrated Reporting Framework ™
was referred 0 n the writing of this report. In addition, tho GRI Standards of the Global Roparting
Initiative were referred Lo with regard to ESG information.

Japan Tabacco Inc. Integratad Repart 2018 001



At a Glance

The JT Group is a leading global tobacco
company operating in over 70 countries/
regions. Our products are sold in over 130
countries/regions and our internationally
recognized brands include Winston, Camel,
MEVIUS and LD. Our pharmaceutical and

processed food businesses complement the
Group's profit growth and we are developing
these businesses for sustainable growth. JT
is listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange.

T ticker 2914)

Cigarette and Tobacco-Related Factories

Intesnational 35

Japanese domestic . 6

Total 4 1

Total Revenue
(2019)

Other

0.3%

Processed food business

7.3%

Pharmaceutical
business

4.1

Japanese domestic

2,175.6

(JPY BN)

tobacco business

28.1%

international tobacco
business

60.3%
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Cigarette market share in the tobacco buslness

The presence of JT Group
in our key markets

Number of Employees
(As of December 31, 2019)

Other

1.5%

Processed food business
8.3%

Pharmaceutical
business

2.4%

Japanese domestic
1obacco business

17.0%

61,975

employees

International tobacco
business

70.8%

* Reduced-Risk Products (RRPY: Products with the potenual 1o reduce the risks
assocrated with smoking.

VALUE CREATION - STRATEGY

Our Businesses

International Tobacco Business

In the international tobacco business, we manufaciure and
offer conventional tobacco products, including cigarettes,
cigars, pipe tobacco, smokeless tabacco, waterpipe tobacco
and kretek as well as RRP.* Qur key markets include France,
Italy, Russia, Spain, Taiwan, Turkey and the U.K. Our interna-
tional brand portfolio is very competitive and well-balanced.
with strong equity brands across all relevant product catego-
ries and price segments. The portfolio includes leading brands
in cigarettes and Fine Cut, such as Winston, Camel, MEVIUS
and LD, as well as in BRP, such as Ploom and Logic.

Global Flagship Brands

Wmston c"ﬂe'" MEVIUS S LD

RRP Brands
Bom
Y

Pharmaceutical Business

The pharmaceutical business focuses on the R&D, manufactur-
ing and sale of prescription drugs, concentrating on three specific
therapeutic sreas: metabolic diseases; autoimmune/inflammato-
ry diseases; and viral infection.

ABSOLUTE REQUIREMENTS | )\ ANciAL INFORMATION
FOR SUSTAINABILITY

AGO

RUSSIA

39.04
‘{"& JAPAN
rj‘f— TAIWAN 0 4/,
%
C}g 45.2

Source: JT estimate, IR, Nielsen and Logista

Japanese Domestic Tobacco Business

The Japanese domestic tobacco business is headquartered
in Tokyo, and manufactures and offers products for Japan,
one of the biggest tobacco markets in the world, where JT
has established substantial presence with its leading
position. Its strong product portfelio includes Ploom TECH,
Ploom TECH+ and Ploom S in the RRP category and the key
brands of MEVIUS, Seven Stars, Natural American Spirit,
Winston and Camel in the cigarette category.

Key Brands

MEVIUS S SoenStary @ Wmston cRgee

RRP Brands

Processed Food Business

The processed food business primarily engages in key
product categories that include frozen noodles, packed
cooked rice and frozen baked bread, seasonings and bakery.

Japan Tobacco Inc. Integrated Report 2018 003



Message from the CEO

— Masamichi Terabatake {*
Director and Presi g

[ PROFILE

VALUE CREATION STRATEGY

Business Plan 2020

Under our three-year Business Plan 2020~ starting in 2020, we
remain committed to pursuing sustainable profit growth over
the mid- 10 long-term. We will continue aiming to achieve mid
1o high single digit annual average growth of adjusted operating
profit at constant FX over the mid- to long-term. This indicator
of business performance excludes foreign exchange impacts,
temporary effects and extraordinary factors.

in 2019, while the Japanese domestic tobacco business

a operating i . the
international tobacco business maintained its strong momen-
tum. As a result, adjusted operating profit at constant FX
increased year-on-year driven by the growth of the tobacco
business as a whole. |n addition, we have strengthened our
S 10 ensure that each business can sustain profit

ﬁamﬁamaﬁw
@mmém
[ihclwidedsocictyYwel
mmaﬂhabﬂhnw
[sustainablelprofitfgrowt i :

Our Management Principles: The “4S model”

Our management principles pursue the 4S model. Under the
4S model, we strive to fulfili our responsibilities to our
valued , shareholders, I and the wider
society, carefully considering the respective interests of
these four key stakeholder groups and continuously working
to exceed their expectations. We believe that pursuing this
45 modet 1s the best approach to achieving sustainable profit
growth over the mid- to long-term and increasing our
corporate value. Doing this canveys benefits to the four
stakeholder groups.

Over the years, the JT Group has continued growing by
ively dealing with and by
004 Japan Tobacce Inc. Integrated Report 2018

transforming with a long-t

significant changes in its business environment, such as the
peaking-out of the Japanese domestic tabacco market and
the tightening of regulations. To mention a just few success-
es, we have achieved business expansion abroad through the
large-scale acquisitions of RJR Nabisco Inc.’s non-U.S.
business and the entire Gallaher Group Plc (U.K.), rebranded
MILD SEVEN as MEVIUS and pursued geographic expansion
into emerging markets.

It goes without saying that the business environment
surrounding the JT Group is not becoming any more predict-
able, not to mention the growth of the RRP category. We are
at an inflection point, ready to transfarm again. | will strive 10
ensure the Group’s sustainable profit growth with the
ambiuon of being the first to offer new value to our consumers
in RRP.

The 4S model, which forms our management principles,

remains the for all our decisit king p
and activities.

In order to remain the preferred choice of consumers,

shareholders, employees and \he wider society, we W|||
strive to fulfill our r
wherever we can, through our suslamable profit growth.

growth into the foreseeable future.

The key to the successful implementation of Business Plan
2020 is profit growth in the tobacco business, which remains
the core and main driver of the Group’s profit growth. We
will further grow the tobacco business as a whote by
thinking proactively, acting with speed and with a consum-
er<entrc mindset.

Itis necessary that we have strong commitment from the top
management and faster decision making by reducing deci-
sion-making layers. That is why starting this year, | am serving
as the head of the tobacco business, where | will take the
overall lead.

In the Japanese domestic tobacco business, it goes without
saying thal generating profits in a stable and suslainable
manner is key 10 growing the tobacco business in the future.
While we expect the situation to remain difficult in the short-
term, we continue to aim for profit generation by strengthening
the topdine in both the RRP and cigarette categories.

With respect to the international tobacco business, we
intend to continue delivening strong profit growth. In existing
markets, our efforts will facus an enhancing brand equity to
gain further market share and seizing pricing opportunities.
Regarding geographic expansion, investments will drive
arganic growth while we leverage M&A opportunities when
appropnate. Overall, we will continue to strengthen our
profitable business base. In the RRP market, we intend to
expand our pvesence Meanwhile, although both the

and food businesses will continue
to face a challenging business environment, we aim to
complement the Group’s prefit growth by continuing to
implement our strategies.

* Evory yoar wo publish a threeyear rolling businass plan, rallecting the
challenges idenified in our oparatng enviranment, which prestnts
hang intics, 1n ordor our

changing
compentvaness with agility.

ABSOLUTE REQUIREMENTS
FOR SUSTAINABILITY
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Our Resource Allocation Policy and
Shareholder Return Policy

Our resource allocation policy is based on the 4S model and

itizes business il leading 10 i profit
growth. Furthermore, we continue 1o prioritize investments
towards the growth of the tobacco business.

We aim 10 enhance shareholder returns, considering profit
growth over the mid- to long-term while we continue to
secure a solid financial base. We also continue to prioritize
stable and sustainable dividend per share growth while
considering adjusted operaung profit at constant FX—our
primary indicator—alang with profit reflecting currency
impacts to determine the dividend per share.

Under these poticies, the proposed dividend in 2020 1s 154
yen, set at the same amount as it was in 2019. We will
focus on continuing to ensure the stability of the dividend
going forward.

Sustainability Strategy

For our Group 1o grow sustainably, it is vital for us 1o
contribute to the sustainable development of our society
through our business activities. As sustainability is at the
heart of our management, we have set out a Group-wide
sustainability strategy. We have also formulated a sustain-
ability strategy for each of our businesses, bearing in mind
the unigue challenges they face.

Three absolute requirements of our Group-wide sustainabili-
1y strategy are “respect for human rights,” “an improved
social and environmental impact,” and “good governance
and business standards.” These are the foundations for a
sustainable business. For our tobacco business, our core
business, we have set four focus areas: “products and
services,” "people,” “supply chain,” and “regulatory
environment and illegal trade.” For these four focus areas,
we have also established 11 specific targets and initiatives.
By working towards the targets and promaling the Ini
tives, we will be supporting the United Nations* Sustainable
Development Goals {SDGs).

In 2019, for the first time, we reported to our stakeholders
on our progress toward the 11 specific targets for our
tobacco business. Our pharmaceutical and processed food
businesses both finished setting out their respective focus
areas and targets, so we now have 3 sustainability strategy
for all of our business segments. Going forward, we will
continue to engage with our stakeholders and make concert-
ed efforts 10 ensure that we can all grow logether to secure
a sustainable future.

O Please refer to business Lagels for more details.
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This Integrated Report provides an opportunity to discuss and share with shareholders, consumers,
business partners and other stakeholders the key areas of focus in my capacity as CEO of the JT

Group. the initiatives currently underway, our strategic direction as well as my management

approach and the experiences that guide this approach.

Sowing Seeds for the Future

In the last Annual Report, | shared my first impressions upon
returning to Japan as the new JT Group CEQ after serving as
deputy CEQ of JTI. My main takeaway was simple: | did not
see an operation that showed overall oplimization. Instead, |
saw an organization that was too rigid and fragmented, with
each division tending toward narrower perspectives and
internal optimization.

It1s not to say that the international tobacco business did not
have a mid- to long-term perspective. Back in RJR days, the
operations were more focused on maximizing the profits by
reducing necessary Investments; however, after we acquired
the business and decided to increase marketing investments
10 enhance brand equity, the entire crganization was able to
move to a more mid- to long-term growth mindset. Further-
more, JT's management principles described in the 4S
model had gradually permeated the organization of the
international tobacco business, also leading to more mid- to

As this situation was clearly sub-optimal, |

several measures in 2019, my second year in office, 10
loosen up the rigidity of the organization and enable swift
decision making by streamlining the decision-making
processes. relocating the headquarters in Japan and

long: growth mindset,

Although the international tobacco business had a long-term
perspective, usually when business I1s growing steadily,
people tend to minimize the importance of thinking with a

g the working envi . Even our
1obacco business had several inefficiencies so we are
transterming it as well. Further, | am taking a stronger leader-
ship role in the tobacco business myself. While the impact
from these measures will need some time to be recognized
across the organization and become visible from the outside,
rest assured that the JT Group is changing.

My personal belief has always been that a successful
arganization must adopt & mid- to long-term perspective.
Any decision we take should start from an objective
assessment of the current environment against the end
goal we have defined. From there on, it is all about execut-
ing the plans.

This conviction was strengthened during my years working
as Deputy CEO of JTI. When | joined our internauonal
tobacco business in 2013, it already represented the largest
profit contributor of the JT Group. The acquisitions of RJRI in
1998 and the Gallaher Group in 2007 had transformed the JT
Group into a global tobacco manufacturer with steady profit
growth and strong cigarette brands regularly outperforming
competiuon in many markets. From the outside, it seemed
as though the strategic and operating models were warking
perfectly. However, at that point, | thought that the interna-
tional tobacco business became short-term result oriented.
This was concerning from a mid- to long-ierm perspective,
as we were not prepared to deal with any earnings stow-
down from key markets.

008 Japan Tobacca Inc. Integrated Report 2019

long perspectve. | realized we continued to leverage
the same winning strategies but that our actions did not
necessarily fully embed the mid- to tong-term outlook.

With the management team, we decided it was critical for
the international tobacco business to increase the focus on
the mid- 10 long-term in order to realize sustanable growth
for the future. As Deputy CEO, | made sure 10 re-ingrain this
mindset into the organization and change the overall
direction of management. | ensured that our business
planning and operations kept up with that mid- to long-term
perspective. Further, | encouraged and supported employees
to put this into practice, wherever and whenever | could. For
example, when the international tobacco business needed to
focus on strengthening its foundation in order to ensure
future sustainable performance, | lisised with the manage-
ment 1eam in Japan to revisit the aggressive profit growth
targets for that year. In a way, | thought of this as an
investment towards the mid- to long-term and worked 10
gain the understanding of the parent company, JT, while
ensunng the efforts undertaken were generating the
expected returns.

My role was to seed for the future and encourage a mean-
ingful business transfarmation. The effects of measures put
in place back then can sull be felt today. For example, an
important turning point was the establishment of the global
RRP arganization in 2014. Another was the deployment of
new focused investments in emerging regions, notably in the
Middle East and South East Asia, which we defined as
“markets that matter” where, in line with projected economic

VALUE CREATION STRATEGY

progression, we expected strong returns over the mid- to
long-term. This new investment approach has become a
cornerstone of the international tobacco business’s strategy.

Revitalizing the Consumer-Centric Mindset

In 2019, we announced the implementation of a transfor-
mation of our international tobacco business. Transforma-
tion was something that came up when | was still Deputy
CEO of the international 10bacco business, as the manage-
ment team was thinking about the business requirements
to further enhance our competitiveness. Further acknowl-
edged was that the consumer-centric approach was
required in the mid- to long-term. The geographical expan-
sion of the business had progressed rapidly, through two
major M&8A transactions. However, this rapid growth did
not allow for an effective review of the altocation of roles
between corporate functions, regions, markets and
factories. As a result, the organization gradually became
bloated. It became clear a transtormation was mandatory to
remove bureaucracy and increase the speed of deci-
sion-making. The aim of the international tobacco business’s
ongoing transformation is to streamline the organization
and related operations, in crder to create a stronger and
more dynamic business model that can operate consistent-
ly with a consumer-centric approach.

Tobacco products, historically our key focus, have a limited
room for innovation, so we have been optimizing by making
adjustments for each market, individually. However, as the
RRP category expands further, there will be instances
where the established operating models for tobacco may
not be relied upon. RRP 1s stll in its early stages and the
platforms themselves are evolving quickly; that is not

d to market-specifi ion, Also from an
effective use of Group-wide resources, product develop-
ment for RRP should be consolidated globally. For these
efforts to succeed, it will be important to continue compet-
ing with an entrepreneurial mindset without being anchored
to previous successes. For example, an increasing number
of venture companies have been disrupting various indus-
tnes with unique methods that major corporations were not
able to catch up in a timely manner. RRP gives me the
impression of being a very similar sitvation. We must
increase our speed and explore new business opportunities
with a greater sense of urgency. So. does our company
have enough risk-taki ilities and the approp
expertise? Unfortunately, it is probably correct to say that
we do not have enough capabilities yet and therefore we
have not been able to fully exploit the opportunities provid-
ed by the operating environmental changes.

In the Japanese domestic 1obacco business, the prevailing
top-down approach has hindered our ability 1o continue
outperforming the competition in 8 business environment
like RRP, where rapid changes are unavoidable. To address
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this situation, we are currently engaged in a paradigm shift,
moving from a headquarter-led business to one driven by
the frontfine. Growth in the RRP category has slowed in
Japan, and competitors have been trying to secure a
caplive consumer base. We need to capture a share by
tapping the competitors’ consumer base. For that to
happen. we have been striving to upgrade the existing
products as well as develop next generation products. In
this process, we remind ourselves that we aim to be the
first to deliver new value 10 our consumers. For example,
regarding the development of Plcom S, the first Heated
Tobacco device launched in Japan by JT, in line with our
ethos as a Japanese manufacturer. we prioritized safety
over cost and undertook development after deliberately
fowering the power output of the battery. Unfortunately,
such value was not entirely understood and appreciated by
consumers. This was most likely attributable to the fact
that we did not fully focus on the consumer’s expectations.
| {eel that this remains an area of improvement for us.

My aim s the head of the tobacco business is to stream-
fine the decision-making process. | think we need to
empower our employees more, with an intention 10
encourage endeavors in unknown tields and new initiatives
that employees will find necessary from earnest engage-
ment with consumers. And, 10 ensure we ourselves
change swittly, we especially need quick decision'making
and commitment by the top management. | am more
determined than ever that | should promote this transfor-
mation myself.
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Embracing New Ways of Working and
Empowering the Frontline

In the last two years, | have visited many of our Japanese and
international sites. As | heard from the people on the front-
lines, | gained a clear understanding of the challenges faced
by the entire JT Group.

For example, | found that our colleagues on the frontlines,
regardless of their departments or locations, had some
interesting ideas, but these ideas did not translate into action.
In such cases, sometimes it was because the headquarters
did not support the ideas due t0 a conservative approach to
avoid failures. Other times, the proposals from the frontlines
simply did not reach appropriate decision-makers who could
have supported them. There are numerous instances of
communication breakdowns, which | think is one of our
problems. | have found this problem as especially true for the
current headquarters building in Tokyo, even before | became
Group CEO. It seemed lixe each floor was divided into small
segments, both fostenng and reinforcing an interally
fragmented departmental mindset. This created a bottleneck
for information sharing and work process as well as
cross-functional communications.

Keenty aware of the risk that rigidity and fragmentation could
create, t mulled over a solution that could harness the power
of the frontlines and turn this situation around. This led to the
decision to relocate the headquarters in 2020. By physically
changing the environment, we are changing the way people
atthe and y changing the
way people collaborate. We planned the layout of the new
headquarters to create an environment where people can
freely consult and discuss with various depariments by
expanding the floor space and making the seating arrange-

008 Japan Tobacco Inc. Intagrated Raport 2019

ment effective for collaboration and communication. By

ilitati ion and between
departments, we can foster decision-making to maximize the
power of the frontlines and support front line initiatives.

In the Japanese domestic tobacco business, we regretiably
made two downward revisions to our RRP sales volume
assumptions in 2018, While increasing profit in the shorl-term
is difficult, 2020 is the first year in which we can fully com-
pete with a porifolio of low-temperature and high-temperature
heating products. We need to build an organization that can
win the compention in the RRP market, and | want to focus
our efforts on finding that path to success. It is not the right
ume to spend our efforts on remedies like fundamental
restructuring, which may be effective but could have strong
side effects. | believe that we should focus on revitalizing the
organization first, in order for the frontlines to challenge
themselves, after thinking through the consumer expecta-
tions, and then maximize the impact of those initiatives. For
example, we are currently working to reform the sales force
mindset, given its close proximity 1o consumers, so that the
insights gathered on the field can be translated into actions in
a timely manner. In 2020, we introduced a new evaluation
system to encourage such new mindset throughout the sales
force. The new system evaluates taking up new challenges,
which had no direct ties to evaluations previously. As a result,
the system now evaluates and rewards employees who
develop new ways 10 engage with consumers.

Entrusting and Encouraging Our
Frontline Strength

My belief in the power of the frontlines is rooted in expenenc-
es from my initial international assignment after the acquisi-
tion of Manchester Tobacco in 1992 and RJRI in 1899. While

CORPORATE PROFILE
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those experiences were tough, they enabled me to rapidly
understand the importance of effectively fueling the
motivation of the frontlines.

During my term at Manchester Tobacco, there were times
when | had to disregard interesting proposals put forward
by colleagues on the frontline because of the specific
directions provided by the headquarters in Tokyo. Partly
due to lack of experience, this kind of response did not
help motivate my colleagues. | truty felt that when an
individual or a team 1s really empowered to do something,
thewr commitment, awareness and business impact
increase exponentialy.

During the integration of RJRI, | built on this
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companies individually. We must think about how to use our
limited most and More
recently, with the aim of building an organization that can
compete globally and optimally allocate resources across the
Group, we are consolidating the R&D, Corporate Strategy
and Business Development functions of JT and JTI. To
ensure that our diverse workforce can leverage these
strengths without any friction, we will continue to facus on
the working and training

The Value We Offer to Consumers

Originally, we defined the JT Group Mission as to create,
develop and nurture our brands to meet consumers’ needs
while and the diversity present in

The acquisition of RJRI was an investment of unprecedent-
ed scale for JT at the time and was a project with the
Company'’s destiny on the line. The headquariers in Japan
carefully monitored progress to the point that it seemed
likely to fall into micromanagement, with people asking
things like, “How is this part getting along?,” “Shouldn‘t
we use a Japanese company as the supplier?,” and
“Wouldn't it be better to use this kind of Japanese meth-
0d?” This style made me think that if we forced Japanese
methods and headquarters directives on the acquired
company, who had their own locally cultivated experience
and expertise, we would end up destroying the value of the
company. Based on my experience with Manchester
Tobacco, | had streng ations about the

ment approach and worked desperately to persuade the JT
headquarters to change therr stance. Thankfully, the top
management at the time took my concerns seriously. They
fully understood the danger and offered support, telling
those at the JT headquarters to trust the locals and leave it
up to them. When directives that seemed unlikely to
contribute to business growth came from the departments
at headquarters, | didn’t outright refuse them, but | took my
time 1o tay out the case in a way my counterparts could
agree with and then put that inte action proactively. As a
result, we were able to adopt the methods that the people
on the frontline thought were best, and thus maximize their
power; | think this helped make the integration process go
very smoothly.

One of our greatest strengths is the diverse workforce we
can rely on. During the integration with RJRI, we could not
have succeeded in a smooth integration without this diverse
waorkforce. The diversity has increased further to date, and,
in terms of nationatities, we have people from more than
100 countries. The concept of diversity and inclusion really
resonates with me; the company's sustainable growth is
connected to respecting not just pecple’s nationality, gender
and age, but also their experience, expertise and other
differences in backgrounds and values. However, if we
compare the JT Group to tobacco competitors simply in
terms of scale, we are around half the size of the top two

society. Our value creation process reconfirms that providing
consumers with value unique 1o the JT Group is critical to
seize growth opportunities over the mid- to long-term and to
create a positive impact on the Company and society.

Social environment has been changing substantially, and it is
inevitable that we will reach unexpected inflection points in
various aspects of business, not just in the RRP category. To
ensure we continue 1o create value without being disrupted
by such a change. we should return to our fundamentals,
which work for all our business activities: engaging with
consumers. We can then re-define the “value unique to the
JT Group” we are trying to deliver to consumers. At the
same time, we ask ourselves, “What is the unique value
that the JT Group can provide for all the stakeholders in the
4S model?” and, "How can we evolve and enhance such
value?“ We will continue to pursue the answers, and |
believe that this pursuit will lead us o our long-term vision.

QOur consumer-centric approach, a sincere engagement with
the consumers above &ll, has permeated the Group in the
form of our action principles, mosl notably the 4S model.
This should be the starting point for all our actions. Take the
tobaccoe business, for example. In our increasingly stressful
modern society, we need to think deeply about what we, as
a manufacturer, can produce that provides consumers with a
moment to unwind and 8 moment of pleasure. Similarly, in
the pharmaceutical business, we are striving to create
original and innavative drugs for patients around the world in
the shortest time possible. In the processed food business,
we seek to provide safe and delicious food for consumers,
with the hope that they choose our products for their loved
ones. In any business, we should put consumers first and
focus on that. By doing so, | believe that the value we create
will become more sustainable.

In this Integrated Report, we lay out our value creation
process. By positioning this process at our foundation while
consistently evolving it, we will continue to refine and
enhance the value unique to the JT Group that we can offer
10 all our stakeholders.
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Our History

The JT Group has achieved sustainable growth by globalizing and
diversifying its businesses through both organic growth and M&A.

1970s and earlier 1980s 1990s 2000s 2010s The Three Strengths

Underpinned by Our History

Origins of the madern Privatizing and ing the ing to become the third largest Strengthening our position as Providing new value by addressing and Accomplishments
Japanese tobacco industry business foundation global tobacco company through M&A a global tobacco pany by ) i the dy ic and diversifying needs
our global expansion of our consumers
Japan Tobacco and Salt Pubic The public carporation privatizes under By acquiring RJR Nabisco Inc.’s non-U.S. tobacco By acquiring Gallaher Group Pic, JT secures a new JT strengthens the international tobacco business
Carporation, under the autharity of the the name Japan Tobacco tnc., business. JT secures the third position in terms market platform and diverse brands, lurther expanding through geographica! expansion driven by M&A A solid financial base
Ministry of Finance, lays the toundation tounding the tobacco. processed food of sales volume. the international tobacco business. and starts prowiding a wide range of product choices, + Sustainable profit growth
of Japan's tohacco industry. and pharmaceutical businesses, including RRP. .
. . . backed by a combination of
Consatdated not income which persist 1o this day. organic growth and M&A
(Biltiona of yen! . * Ability to generate stable
500.0 cash flows underpinned by
profit growth
1949 Japan Tobacco and Salt 1985 Japan Tobacco Inc, is 1992 JT acquires Manchester Tobacco Company 2005 JT acquires CRES Neva Ld. (Russia). 2013 MILD SEVEN is renamed MEVIUS
. Public C ion is i Lud. (UK} in Japan. \
founded. 2006 JT acquires AD Duvanska Industrije Senta \
1000 1985 The Business Development 1993 The Central Phaimaceutical Research Institite * (Serbia).” 2014 JT acqiires e-cigarette company. Superior brand equity
1957 HOPE (10) s launched Division is established to is established. Zanders Ltd. (UK.). \ /Z Superior hrand equity
as Japan's first promote new businesses. 2007 JT acquires Gallaher Group Ple (U.K.), taking ‘\ High brand cquity through
domestically produced The division is later 1998 JT acquires a majority stake in Torii over the globat brands of LD, Benson & 2015 JT acquires é-cigarette company, R continuous investment in
fier cigarette. reorganized into the food Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Hedges and more. Logic (U.S.). MEVIUS, our leading brand in
. Japan, as well as in Winston,
and pharmaceutical » P "
. . . . - . . . . - Camel. LD and other global
1969 Seven Stars is launched businesses. 1999 JT acquires RJR Nabisco Inc.'s non-U.S. 2008 JT acquires a majority stake in Katokichi Co.. 2016 JT 2cquites Natural American Spirit's brands acauired through MEA
3000 as Japan's first tobacco business, taking over the global Ltd. (currently TableMark Co., Ltd.) and Fuji non-U.S. tobaceo business from Strong R&D and innavative
domestically preduced 1988 JT is introduced as the brands of Winston and Camel. Foods Corporation. / Reynolds American Inc. {U.S.). product development
charcoal filter cigarette. Company’s public B capabiltias
communication name. 1999 JT acquires Asahi Kasei Corparation’s food 2016 T-Vapor product Ploom TECH
1977 MILD SEVEN is launched. business, including Asahi Foods and seven is launched.
other subsidiaries.
2016 JT conducts tobacco business
Jono 20‘1 g acauisitions, notably in the Phiippines.
Indonesia, Russia and Bangladesh.
A diverse workforce
2019 T-Vapor products, Pioom TECH+ and
A curporate cullure that respects
Ploom S, are launched. diversity and leverages it into the
valug creation process
* A Group that maximizes the
100.0 synargies generated from
diversity
1949
Japan Tobacto 1985
and Sah Public Japan Tobaceo e,

Corporation
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Our Value Creation Process

Our management principles pursue the 45 model. These principles guide our efforts to achieve our vision by enhancing
corporate value and creating social value. We provide a wide range of products and services while leveraging our three
strengths: a solid financial base, superior brand equity and a diverse workforce.

> I Qur,Core,Capital il *lﬁb
g% Financial Capital
\ - A e Business Strategy

~
JM] obaccol
NV

AN
“Z Corporate Value
e 7
=y of

+ Adjusted ir 23 illi . . "

' e im———— Achieve quality topine growth / RN OUI Brod et poriolio » _
ot equity o Strengthen cost competitivncss- P et ot Achieving consolidated
~FCE i A ¥ profit targets

Enhance business foundation

I Swrategies by Segment ~ Mid 10 high Singl&dlg\lval\nuai

R&D Capabiiiic: International Tobacco @pd2 Japanese Domestic Tobacco @ gag e XY S average growth of adjusted

[We GoSSESSTves e Hoiolio Ol Cemipelive Liaudsian Pharmaceuticals @ pS0 Processed Faod © g52 — operating profil at constant FX over
« Cigarettes the mid- to long-term

i RRP

+R&D expendiwses .. X¥BA.1 billion
ffobaceo Seienco Research Centor,

-~ T-Vapor
* Tobacco-Infused Vapor products

Cerura) Pharmaceutical Research Institute, etc.) * Heated Tobacco product Enhancing shareholder
Y:fh.;v;:,;:;;.u of the top 10 highest selling cigaretta brands ) — E-Vapor, etc. returns in line with mid- to
M < .
Our - 2 Hurnan Capital Three Strengths Driving L) profit growth
Principles SO . Our Global Growth V I S I 0 N
The 4S8 model \
We stiva to fultil our
responsiilies to ourvaluag | + Number of emsloyee; e/ Asold D Continue t
! soli
et ’::’:"'“ﬁz"; « Certified as a Top Employer in 83 focations { financial base | A ontinue to
el comdoring | 3 ! Social Value achieve global
xﬂﬁ:ﬂ:ﬁmﬁm‘f«m [Sacial and Relationship. Capital : t o ! globa
key stkeholdar groups, (W haverglobal usinass onerationssand a el v (‘g B Contributing to the sustainable growth by
continuously working to exceed caliaboiguVe notwork spanging thevalug chain] \® § Superior N A diverse development of society iding di
thoir expoctations. T our prod o Over 130 \* | bandequty  worklorce through our business activities providing diverse
-G opera Over 70} / « Three Key Therapeutic Areas —_ value unique

* Directly contracted tobacca leaf growers and . ibute most significantly 1o
y e - Metabolic diseases We contib igificanty

t0bacco lea! marchants Over 86500 Autor " the: (0llowing nine SDGs by to JT
- = — Autoimmune/ | achiaving specific targets in each
Manufacturing Capital inflammatory diseases busingss’s focus areas, such as
imal mantita K g | = Viral infection providing preducts and services that

Marketing _ -

exceed consumer expectations.
investing in our people and building
asustainable supply chain.

« Capital expenditure: ¥131.4 bill

« Tobacco manufacturing bases.. 41 factories

(29 countrioa) I
ing ba: 3 factories Our Sustainability Strategy
(all tactories have achicved mscm:nniﬁmﬁnn)l g .
{5 A “ i > W
atorel Canteal The JT Group's Three Absolut? Requirements j Realizg Theuture of diniy
RN SRR Respect for human rights g ]
An improved social and environmental impact "JW ¢
* Stable climate candiions.......nvestmant in ranawable energy: proved social and environmental Imp: v A
Approx. USS21 miflion (2016-2013) _ Good governance and business standards e L
* Abundant and quality water resources.... 104803 ar' water [2019) IEE— -
intake votume; 95% of our factories have undergone = Strategic Focus Areas for Sustainability .
water risk assessmont Tobacco @p26  Pharmaceulicals @28 Processed Food © 28  Frozen and ambient foods
*Healthy ecosystems for flora iy [N + Seasonings
and faun: Switch 10 renewablo wood: —
Planted 7 million tees — + Bakery products
Our measiues lo reduca o envionmentalinpoctand \
'8 JT Group Emvironment Plan 2030 © p22
e
I Corporate governance and compliance support all of these processes € p74 ]
l The external environment surrounding the JT Group € p60 I
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The Source of Our Competitiveness

016 Japan Tobacco Inc. Integrated Report 2019

We will continue 1o sustainably create value by
ensuring our business will leverage the three
strengths that make global growth possible.

Overview of Our Core Strengths

Qur vision 1s to achieve global growth by providing value
unique to JT through pursuing the 4S model, which
embadies its management principles.

To realize this vision, we conduct business while leveraging
the strengths we have cultivated throughout our history and
through our accomplishments: a solid financial base,
supenor brand equily and a diverse workforce. These are
also the source of our competitiveness. In addition, we
create social value that contributes 1o the sustainable
development of society and enhances our corporate value by
offering varous products and services to meet the needs of
consumers and society.

Foundation of Our Strengths

The JT Group was established in 1985 upon the privatization
of Japan Tobacco and Salt Pubtic Corporation. Shortly
thereafter, the Japanese market was opened to foreign
tobacco manutacturers. Therr aggressive actions, in addiion
10 a tabacco tax hike, dramatically changed the operating
environment. To top it off, the total demand for tobacco in
Japan started to dectine. The peak of demand was in the
latter half of the 1980s, with a subsequent decline due to a
fall in the adult population and an increase in health concerns
associated with smoking. This created an increasingly
severe business environment.

Percewving these market changes as opportunities for
growth, we our i ilities and cost
competitiveness in the Japanese domestic tobacco
business; expanded our business portfolio by entenng the
pharmaceutical and processed food businesses; and worked
to further expand globally. Through these efforts, we strove
to reinforce our business foundation 1o ensure sustainable
growth. Specifically. with the acquisition of RIR Nabisco
Inc.’s non-U.S. tobacco business in 1999 and Gallaher Group
Plc in 2007, we formed the foundation of our current
overseas expansion and gained new market platforms; a
wide variety of brands; and a diverse workforce that enabled
the growth of these busingsses. As a resull. the internation-
al tobacco business became a profit growth driver alongside
our Japanese domestic tobacco business. which had long
been the core of profit generation. This enabled us to
establish a financial foundation capable of generating stable
cash flows.

Qur Strengths

A solid
financial base

Superior A diverse
brand equity workforce !

Our Strengths at Present

The JT Group currently sells products in over 130 countries/
regions and continues to steadily grow as a global tobacco
company.

Backed by our solid financial base, we proactively make
business i and focus on ion in
emerging markets, while promoting RRP, which is our
future-facused growth driver. In addition, our GFBs (Winston,
Camel, MEVIUS and LD) and other superior brands make
great contributions 10 our sustainable growth, while we
continuously enhance their brand equity.

Furthermore, we are striving to maximize Group-wide
management synergies by instilling a common philosophy of
fully leveraging our diverse workforce, which represents
over 100 different ines and pi 9

within this diverse workfarce. We are keenly aware that all
the Company’s actions and achievements are born from our
workforce. We are warking 1o promote greater diversity,
including in work styles and are strengthening our support.
tor the development of each and every employee. For details,
please refer to the next page.

Our Future Strengths

We are aware that due 10 global economic trends, foreign
exchange rate nsks and international geopolitical risks, there
has been a steady increase in uncertainty surrounding our
business environment.

To maintain our growth amid such a challenging environ-
ment, we must adapt 10 the various market wrends and
address our consumers’ diversifying needs. We also need to
reform our ways of thinking to effect change without being
confined to our past successes. By fostering this mindset in
each employee and supporting their ambitions, we will
continue 10 accelerate our transformation into a company
that iniuates change and drives evolution. We regard this
rapidly changing business environment as an opportunity for
further growth. We will continue our susiainable value creation
by managing our global business appropriately and with
integrity, while better leveraging the three strengths we've
culuvated to date.
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dependentlon the skills¥and spirit;
otlournemployeesiand peopledin]
[business\Wewill createpositivel

The JT Group Human Resources Management Philosophy / i
' TREAT ALL
We believe that highly skilled and talented people form the \ EVPLOVEESFAIRLY
foundauon of a company’s success and contribute 10 real 3 ANPRESPECTRUILY -
sustainable growth. In light of this, the JT Group proactively m N \
takes steps to secure long-term engagement and fﬂ?
employee satisfaction. i ENSURE prOVIDE ALLST b
TRANSPARENCY OF  GROUP EMPLOVEES
RULES AND WITHGSOWTH |
STANDARDS OPPORTUNITIES /

N

Attracting and Developing Talent

Today’s business environment is challenging and requires all
of our employees to work together and acquire advanced
skills. Various programs take place globally and locally and
we constantly invest in our employees 10 ensure they
flourish in their careers.

Anather priority tor us is ensuring that we are chosen by the
best talent ~ particularly from Generation Z,* as this group
represents a growing proporiion of our new hires and their
unigue skills will help drive innovation in the JT Group.

Conseguently, our international tobacco business launched
the first global internship competition “Make It Bright” in
2019. The program reached nine million students globaliy
and mare than 5,000 registered. Finalists from 17 countries
pitched their ideas for our business and the winning team
from Ukraine will receive a six-month paid global internship
in 2020,

* Reprosentatwes of Genoration 7 agod 13+ born botwaan tre mid-1390s and 2001,

For example, in 2018 and 2019, our international tobacco
business ran a customized leadership development program
called “LIGHT UP" in partnership with INSEAD business
school. A total of 32 employees from around the globe were
selected 10 participate in this program.

ting our i 10 talent D . we often
recruit existing employees to fill open positions. In 2019,
93.7% of employees were internally promoted.

Diversity and Inclusion

Establishing a diverse and inclusive warkplace is a top
priority for us, as we would like all of our employees to enjoy
therr work and the opportunities this brings to perform 1o the
best of their abilities.

We also believe that diversity and inclusion create a rich mix
of viewpaints and perspectives. which can inspire new
ideas, offer solutions to complex issues and drive our
business forward.
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We welcomed a new Vice President of Diversity and
Inclusion in February 2019 in our international tobacco
business; and established a new strategy consisting of three
pillars: Gender Equality, New Ways of Working and LGBT+
Inclusion. A Diversity and Inclusion Advisory Council at
Board level in our international tobacco business
demonstrates senior management’s support for this
inclusive and forward-looking approach. Senior leadership
have taken a special training on identifying the obstacles
preventing talented women from advancing their careers.
Another project 10 address this was a reciprocal menioring
program that matched JTI top management with more junior
employees {including women, men and LGBT+ employees].
The aim was to enhance the 1op management's
understanding of some of the challenges facing female
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employees, while providing the junior employees with a
valuable career mentoring opporiunity.

Other key initiatives and achievements in 2019:

Workshops on LGBT+ Inclusion in Asia-Pacific and
Europe with the Vice President of Diversity and Inclusion
and vanous experts.

Qur international tobacco business introduced a new policy.
allowing employees to work remotely four days a month.

+ JT has been certified as a childcare-supporting company
in Japanese) by the Japanese Ministry of Health, Labor and
Welfare and achieved the highest-anking Gold status in the
PRIDE index for the fourth consecutive year.

Employee Engagement

To evaluate the effecuiveness of our programs, determine
the level of employee engagement and identify areas for
improvement, we carry out an Employee Engagement
Survey every three years" across the Group.

Moreover, other surveys are conducted at a local or
departmental level, so that we can always be mindful of

Aspirational Goal

employees’ concerns and quickly implement relevant
measures. For instance, in 2019, we introduced a new
scheme in Japan, allowing departments to carry out
surveys at any time. A variely of options are available under
the new scheme, including 8 three-minute survey for
gathering rapid feedback.

* Before 2019, our Japanese operations conductad the survay vary yest,

Target Progress

752 We will be the emplayer of N
Employer of choice by investing in people.
Choice

We will be a certified
employer of choice every
year in al least 60 lucations
by focusing on talent prior year, We were also
management, rawards, awarded with local certifications
and empowerment. in 8 locations.

We were certified as a Top
Employer in 63 locations, an
increase of 5 locations from the

The JT Group Community Investment

We believe that we can contribute to the sustainable growth of sacieties by helping to make communities more inclusive

and resilient.

Aspirational Goat

Q\Q?) We will be the emplover of )

choice by investing in people.
Community Y 4 peck

Investment

Target Progress

Between 2015 and 2030 we
will invest US$600 million 1o
hefp make communities.
inclusive and resilient, with
our employees conuributing
300.000 volunteering hours.

Between 2015 and 2019, we

i invested US$300 million in our
communities and employsas
volunteared 119,349 hours on
company time.

@ Learn mare about our community investment activities on page 71.

Tobacco Business Sustainability
Four Strategic Focus Areas

« lnvesting in People

- Building Sustanabls Supply Chans

* Excanding Expactations with Products and Services - RRP + Regulatory Enviranment and lllegal Trada

Noto: “Invosting in Peopla™ is also a stratagic facus area for our pharmacautical and processed food busmesses.
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The JT Group Health and Safety

QOur Approach

Our employees have the night 1o be protected from work-
related inyuries and ilinesses, and it Is our responsibility 10
provide a safe and healthy waork environment. We aign our
health and satety standards with OHSAS 18001 and always
meet or exceed legal requirements.

When our standards are stricter than local laws, we require
our local offices to comply with our standards. The scope of
our standards extends beyond our employees, covering
contractors and visitors 10 our operations.

Three Pillars of Safety

Our safety programs are based on three fundamental pillars:
safe safety and a Group-wid
culture where the safety of our people always comes first.
The highest risks across the JT Group are driving vehicles,
riding motorcycles and working with machinery, as well as
slips, trips and falls.

To mitigate these risks and prevent injuries, we conduct risk
assessments throughout the whale supply chain. This helps
us to idenufy hazards, implement appropriate measures and

mergers and acquisitions in our international tobacco
business, this challenge is critical 1o

our employees, conwractors and local communities and
ensuring our business continuity.

We have been implementing a motorcycle safety program in
countries with a high vehicle accident rate (Zambia, Malawi
and Tanzania} since 2016, and we have since achieved a
50% reduction in work-related injuries. Furthermore, in 2019
we rolled out a new driver safety policy and implementation

protect our employees. We also focus on raising
among employees and thoroughly embedding our safety
culture in our day-io-day operations.

In some countries where infrastructure is poor and traffic
weakly regutated, our people are more at risk of being
involved in road tratfic accidents. Given the number of

across our i tobacco business.
requiring all local offices to conduct a risk assessment to
identify high-risk drivers and to send periodic progress
reports and action plans 1o our headquarters in Geneva.
Given the growing number of female employees. the policy
now also includes maternity protection. In the next three
years, 30,000 employees will take a driver training course.

Towards a Better Waorkplace

We care deeply about employee well-being because we
want our employees to feel motivated every day. We run
a variety of well-being programs across the Group, such
as ergonomic assessments and ensuring general
occupational hygiene.

To design these programs, we gather well-being data from
our local offices. In 2018, we expanded our data scope by
intraducing new rules requinng all local offices to report their
occupaticnal health cases ta our headquarters. This will
allow us to understand our global risks and develop a
consistent approach to them while strengthening existing
protection measures.

Local managers are responsible for investigating reported
issues and identifying the causes. If the issues are attributed
1o the waork or we izke

020 Japan Tobacco lnc. Integroted Report 2018

immediately 1o protect employees’ well-being and
prevent recurrences.

In Japan, we focus on mental health and preventing
lifestyle-related diseases such as diabetes and we
encourage employees to attend stress management
sessions and individual consultations with doctors. These
programs have had a positive impact on employee
productivity and the absenteeism rate in Japan, which has
recently been below 1%.

We are pleased to announce that JT was named as a
“Whitg 500" company for the fourth year running. This
award is presented by Japan's Ministry of Economy, Trade
and Industry. It recognizes large enterprises that are
making outstanding progress towards better well-being
among their employees.
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Our Health and Safety Performance as a Group

[ 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 |
Employees 1 2 0 1 1
No. of Fatalities
1
Contractors 1 T 2 0 0
Lost Time Injury Rate
l B ..
o 200,000 working hours] Employces 034 039 037 0 024
Oceupational liinass Rate*? .
{per million working hours) Employees 0 0 008 o oo
[ Other Important KPls )
% of Cigarotte and Tobacco-Related :
Factories Certificd to OHSAS 18001 788% 8% 4% 69% 5%
Number of Vehicle Accidents*? 122 1151 66 85 n
Vehicle Accident Frequency Rate*?
fexcludes property damage. 484 387 023 0 016
accidents per milion kilometers]
Notes: Ths year, ncretel, we dato trom nowly Toct that nowly 18 montns

Cor
10 integrata the JT Group Health and Satety Sandards.
W rvied out Kyt vew and o 1o longar o ha oo of s (s rdents, and he st e nodnts e
W regre: 17t d wa caosie dtod a3 3 rosuk of 015, Wo try 10 loarn ram overy acedent and iomain committed 1€ achiaving
7010 I,

Dot scape: 2015 anty J1, 2016 and 2017 41 snd Japanese domesuic Group caman'es, (rom 2018; The entro JF Grau, Learn mare sbovt our date scopes ot JEcain.

o numbors o v scc darts and tno Sl accidont tsauenc s 1 2015300 016 comin ety Gamags bac:30 the daa 2ot avadable £ ur ianatons abacea

¢sinoss. Tha data in 2015 covers only our iniomatioral tobacco busincss anc from 2016, wo cover JT and

Health and Safety Performance in Our Tobacco Business

Aspirational Goal Target Progress

In tine with our vision of 7ero

o warkplace injuries, we will

i Recordable injury rate*
We will be the employer of

) Y o e, PP reduce injury cates by 25% by declined 31.2% from 0.72 in
Zerolnjuries 1 e DY Mvestinginpeople. b 2023 and 50% by 2030. 2015 10 0.49 in 2019.
‘ ; Bascline yoar: 2015).
* Recordable injury 126 = Recordablo inuries/200,000 hours warkes. Somo data trom newly scquired by hava b luded, 83 nowly 18 manths 1o Integrale
1ho J1 Graun Herthano Sefoy Standnds.
[ 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Recordabe Injury Rate , A !
7 64 67 a. 049
{per 200,000 working hours) Employees on 06 o 50

© Learn more about our health and safety performance at JT.com.

+ tavesting in Paople
* Exceading Expeciations with Producis and Sarvices - RRP

+ Building Sustamable Supply Chains
« Reguiatory Environmant and llagat Tiada

Tobacca Business Sustainabitity
Four Strategic Focus Areas

Nate: “Investing in Peapla” is alsa a stratagie focus area for our pharmacautical and pracassad faor businasses.
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The JT Group’s Material Issues

To help the JT Group to grow and to build a sustainable future
as a member of the soclety in which we operate, we have
identified a list of high-pricrity material issues. Our materiality
15 based on the JT Group’s management principle, the 4S
model. In 2015, we performed a materiality assessment
covenng the entire Group for the first ime, selecting matenal
issues with a medium or high level of importance for the JT
Group and for our external stakeholders.

To identify our matenal issues, we began with @ media and
peer review, which generated a list of sustainability topics

The JT Group’s Materiatity

High

refevant to the Group. In addition to interviews with employ-
ees, our CEO and other members of top management, we
also held interviews with 17 external stakeholders, including
suppliers, investors, labor unions, NGOs and industry associa-
tians. Our lop management then approved the results of the
materiality assessment during a special workshop.

This process resulted in a final list of 22 material issues. We
then divided these into two categonies according to their
level of importance to the JT Group and our external
stakeholders: medium or high.

Corporsie

. sovmmmnca Loves wnd

[ = COm .
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Ol ccoda [ ]
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Supply chain
- maragomont
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(o] i 1e] K
ntellsctual

propaity

WO 7505,

Importance to external stakeholders

o—
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partnershipy
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BOE 2505, WO e

Employss
O ceemen 0 Erdy s
- + and ralent a. . .
Inunagemont the wor<place
Polit cal ard
O ey
- deasionraking
processes

+ e

High

Importsnce to the JT Group

Vatue chain boundanss [l 0w suooty zhaw [ 0w Comeany

Since our first matenality assessment, we have noted
increasing public concern about the environment. We share
this concern and have therefore repositioned "Environment”
trom Medium-Medium to High-High in the above matnx.
We will continue to build on our effort te reduce our
environmental impact on the planet.

[ Epp—

© Please refer to pages 72:73 for more details.
Looking ahead, we plan to carry out periodic materiality

assessments to ensure that our pronties are up-to-date
and consistent with the current needs.
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Sustainability Strategy Overview

The JT Group's sustainability strategy is formulat-
ed based on the 4S model, our management

longevity of our business, the future of our planet
and the society we live in. The foundations of our
sustainability strategy, which apply across the
Group, are our “three absolute requirements for
sustainability.”

principles, and encompasses our materiality
analyses. it encourages us to look beyond our
usual planning cycle period and think about the

The JT Group’s Three Absolute Requirements for Sustainability

Respect for human rights

We are committed to respecting human rights across our global operations and value chains,
as expressed in the JT Group Muman Rights Policy.

®p20

An improved social and environmental impact

We are commitied to protecting ihe environment and making a positive difference wherever
‘we operate.

®071.73 i\ 4

Good governance and business standards ? a

We are committed to promoting transparent, fair and timely decision making that carefully
considers the respective interests of consumers, shareholders, employees and the wider society.

®p7489

CORPORATE PROFILE VALUE CREATION

Throughout 2018, our pharmaceutical business held

i ions on inability and set out three
tocus areas. The mission of our pharmaceutical business is
10 creale innovative, origina! drugs 10 support patients in the
shortest time possible. In view of this mission, we have
selected “products and services” and “product safety

Focus Areas

FINANCIAL

STRATEGY ABSOLUTE
FOR SUSTAINABILITY
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Pharmaceutical Business Sustainability Strategy

and respansibility” as our focus areas. As talent
development of our employees is essential to first-in-class
drug discovery, we have also selected “people” as our
focus area. In 101al, we have sel five spacific targets for
these pharmaceutical business focus areas.

Aspirational Goals.

Products and Services

We will create innovative, original drugs to support patients in the

shortest time possible,

People We will strive to nurture talent development which enables us to
create first-in-class (FIC) drugs.

Product Safety and Responsibil

We will strictly comply with all relevant laws, regulations, and

industry standards in order to defiver safe drugs to patients.

Processed Food Business Sustainability Strategy

Our mission in the processed food business is to deliver
safe, high-quality products to consumers. One of the focus
areas that we have selected is “products and services.”
‘We aim to continuously deliver products with commitment
to quality and technology. 1n line with consumer needs. In
the processed food business also, we will place emphasis
on “people.” We will strive 10 ensure workplace safety and

Focus Areas

invest in our people. Our third focus area 1s the “supply
chain.” We will continue to defiver safe products to our
consumers by working on reducing social and environmentat
impacts, to ensure that our supply chain is sustainable over
the mid- to long-term. In total, there are eight targets set
for the focus areas in the processed food business.

Aspirational Goals

Tobacco Business Sustainability Strategy

We have identitied pricrity areas for each business segment. The tobacca business, our core business, has selected the
following four focus areas with its aspirational goals. In addition, we have set 11 specific targets.

Focus Areas Aspirational Goals

Products and Services We will be a total tobacco company offering consumers an even
greater choice of products by focusing on quality, innovation, and

reduced-risk potential.

People We will be the employer of choice by investing in people.

Supply Chain We will reduce environmental and social risks, and enable

and i across our supply chain.

Regulatory Environment and lllegal Trade ~ We will ensure the Company is included in policymaking leading to
fair and balanced regulation, and enhance our cooperation with
governments to combat illegal trade.

024 Japan Tobaceo Inc. Integroted Report 2018

Products and Services We will continue to provide high-quality, technology-driven products in

response to our customer's needs, to satisfaction and trust.

People We will ensure safety for our while
continuously investing in people who can contribute to enhancing
corporate value.

Supply Chain We will reduce social and

deliver safe products to consumers.

impacts and continue to

Contribution to the SDGs

The JT Group supports the Sustainable Development Goals
(SDGs) adopted by the United Natians. Through our busi-
ness activities, the JT Group will contribute 10 the SDGs
related to our business and its environment. We have
mapped related SDGs against our initiatives for sustainable

business and identified the nine SDGs to which our business
can best contribute.

® Please refer to pages 26-29 for more details.

nzzs o Fuw e Wmem

Bt ©
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4 Strategic Focus Areas Aspirational Goals Targets®® Progress* SDGs
Products and Services We will be a total tobacco Reduced-Risk Products At the end of 2018, our Reduced-Risk Product portfolio was present in 28
: company offering consumers Reduced-Risk Products (RRP) offer real benefits to consumers and society, Our countries, wilh a choice of three tobacco vapor offerings (T-Vapor) and five types
an even greater choice of responsibility as a Bm:c:._n_sn_ 1510 no:-._::.o:w_< ac«o_ov and launch RRP _:E. of o-cigaretics {E-Vapor).
d by . meet consumer expectations and to provide information on them. We will lead in @ Dwm
pro .cS.m y focusing on providing the widest range of consumer choice in the RRP category.
quality, innovation, and
reduced-risk potential.
* People We will be the employer Zero Injuries Recordabla injury rate*? declined 31.2% from 0.72 in 2015 t0 0.49:in 2019.
of choice by investing In tine with our vision of zero workplace injuries, we will reduce injury rates by
in people. 25% by 2023 and 50% by 2030. (Baseline year: 2015).
Community Investment Since 2015, we have invested US$300 million in our communities and
Between 2015 and 2030 we will invest US$600 million to help make employess volunteered 119,349 hours on company time.
communities inclusive and resilient, with our employees contributing 300,000 9 D._lm
volunteering hours.
Employer of Choice We were certified as a Top Emplover in 63 locations, an increase of 5 locations Cra oo
We will be & certilied employer of choice every year in at least 80 locations by framn the prior year. We were also awarded with tocal certifications in 8 locations.
focusing on talent management, rewards, and empowerment.
Supply Chain We will reduce environmen- Greenhouse Gas Emissions Since 2015, we have reduced greenhouse gas emissions {rom our own 13ar
tal and social risks, and We will reduce greenhouse gas emissions from our own operations by 35% and operations by 17.4%. Greenhouse gas emissions from our direct leaf supply @
’ H | ol < SNITH P orire Trvcercyes v -
enable transparent and from our direct leaf supply chain by 40%. between 2015 and 2030. chgin increased by 17.9%.
responsible practices across . i gy
our supply chain Water and Waste Since 2015, we have reduced water withdrawal by 9.7% and waste by 6.3%, 74 pecon
PPy : We will reduce water withdrawal by 15% and waste by 20%, in relation to our in relations to our own operations. 8
own operations, between 2015 and 2030.
Forestry Based on our 2018 sustainable tree planting activities in Tanzania, Zambia and _N.Sim..e“u
We will replace all wood from natural forests used in the tobacco curing process Brazil, we estimate that we are on 3 path to achieve 59% renewable wood 8
of our directly coniracted growers with renewabte fuel sources by 2030. sourcing by 2026. 9 Dwm
Agricultural Labor Practices In 2019, 81% of our supplying entities reported against ALP.
! . . . a0 a2
We will implement our Agricultural Labor Practices (ALP) program in all sourcing [58% * of our dirsctly cantracted growers and 88% of our leal merchants were covered by AL Tmtam
countries by 2025. merchants data come from reporing entit:es only and excluding India and China. “I-\-_
74% of our volumes were covered by ALP.
Supplier Screening At the end of 2019, 67% of our key suppliers were screened against ESG criteria.”® ritate
We will screen all key suppliers against enviranmental, social, and governance
ctiteria by 2023.
* Regulatory Environment We will ensure the Company is Engagement During 2019, we engaged openly and transparently in public policy debate and
and Hlegal Trade included in policymaking We will always protect our ability to participate in public policy debate with the made our views known 10 regulators, NGOs and other relevant stakeholders in © pal
leading to fair and balanced m_a.”o achieve balanced regulation that meets societal concern and supports the countries where we operate. pal
. business growth,
regulation, and enhance our
nootn..m:om_ with governments lllega! Trade In 2019, our Anti-lllicit Trade team prowided 1,129 int ence reporis to faw
to combat illegal trade. We will engage in dialogue with law enforcement agencies. with the goal to enforcement agencies, and advised 2,687 law enforcement officers on
exchange intelligence regarding illegal 1obacco products, in order to support the counterteil recognition, @ E
. reduction of illegal tobacco products.

*1 The abovo are targets for out tohacco
*? Progress shown ahove are 2019 results.
*4 Recordable injury rato = Rocordable injuries/200,000 hours worked. Somo data from newly

except for C

needs 18 months to integrate the JT Group Heallh and Salety Standards.
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whichis a pewide arget.

qui i have baen as newly acquired busi

*S The decreasa from 96% in 2018 to S8% in 2019 is due tu new acquisi

to raduca laat

ns.

"¢ Rasults for our internationat tobacco business.

curing barn upgrades and tho incroase in proportion of renewablo wood used for curing in Zambia and Tanzania.

** Tho main reason for the increase in GHG emissions from our direct teaf supply chain is the increased volume sourced from Zambia and Tanzania, both of which use wood
{or curing that currently ts predominantly nonrenewable. Wa axpect that tha impact of initiati i

lated will ba saen from 2022 onwards, with
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Sustainability Strategy of Pharmaceutical Business

Strategic Focus Areas

Aspirational Goals

Targets

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A

Products and Services

We will create innovative, original drugs
to support patients in the shortest
time possible.

Engaging in R&D Activities

We will continue our efforts and i ino research and

acuviies of innovative drugs in specilic therapeutic areas.

People

We will strive to nurture talent
development which enables us to create
first-in-class {FIC) drugs.

Fostering Ethical Awareness
In order to develop talent and foster " ethical and sense of towards saving patients, we will continue 10 tearn more about
patients’ needs by engaging in dialogue with medical experts through our internal educational activity “For the Patients Project.”

Community Investment*'
Between 2015 and 2030 we will invest US$B00 milhon 1o help make conminunities inclusive and resilient, with our employees contributing 300.000
volunteering hours.

Product Safety and
Responsibifity

We will strictly comply with all relevant
laws, I and industry in
order to deliver safe drugs to patients.

Responsible Promotion of Drugs
We will conduct, among others. regular teaining programs for our madical ceprosentatives in order to provide medical profssionals with appropriate infarmation
on pharmacautical products.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions.
‘We will reduce greenhouse gas emissions from our own operations by 31%, between 2015 and 2030.

BE

Sustainability Strategy of Processed Food Business

Strategic Focus Areas

Aspirational Goats

Targats

SDGs

Products and Services

We will continue to provide high-quality,
! dri prod in

to our customer's needs, to satisfaction

and trust.

Improvement of Quality of Life
We will develop and provide high-value-added products with a focus on “health,

onvenience,” and "diversity,” in response 1o diverse consumer needs.

3Ta%.

1 People We will ensure workplace safety for our Enhance Job Satisfaction
while i in  We will further improve job satisfaction by promoting talent development in a secure and motivating workplace.
people who can il to i
corporate value. 2ero Injuries
In ine with our vision of zero workplace injuries, we will reduce injury rates by 25% by 2026 and 50% by 2030. (Baseline year: 2018)
1
Community Investment*! ren
' Between 2015 and 2030 we will invest US$600 million 1o help make communities inclusive and resilient, with our employees conuributing 300,000 VR
volunteering hours.
Supply Chain We will reduce social and environmental Foster a Safe and Reliable Corporate Brand 12 E?_.‘_‘;

impacts and continue to deliver safe
products to consumers.

We will promote food salety management in compliance with global food satety standards to develop food safety. We will also enhance the way we
communicaie with customers so that they retain trust in vur food quality.

(&)

Promote Use of Environmentally Friendly Packaging Materials
We will promote the use of rencwable plant-based resources and reduce our use of non+enewable resources, to reduce the environmental impact of our products.

=
S

Waste
We wilt reduce the amount of waste associated with our Japanese domestic offices by an average of 1% per vear. {Intensity target*?).

=3

(o)

Greenhouse Gas Emissions
We will reduce greenhouse gas emissions (rom aur own operations by 28%, between 2015 and 2030.

nBE

L & 2

farget for Community Investment s a Group-wide targot.

** Amount of wasto generation / Amount of production.
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Interview with Our CSO

It .
KazuhitoYamashita.
Director and Senior Vice President

Q. Tell us about your role as the Chief Sustainability
Officer (CSO).

Contributing to the sustainable development of saciety is
essential for the JT Group to achieve sustainable growth and
10 meet the needs of our four key stakehglder groups under
our 4S model. As a directar of the company and CSO, it is
my role 10 laok to the future and pursue sustainability
management across our Group. With a mid- to long-term
perspeclive, we ain 10 achieve sustainable growth for the
society in which we operate and for the JT Group, so that
we can respond 10 the expectations of our stakeholders.

030 tapan Tobacco Inc. Integrated Report 2013

Q. How do you pursue sustainability management in
your organization?

In 2015, we identified 22 matenal issues relevant to the JT
Group and our stakeholders to achieve sustainable growth.
In 2016, our Corporate Governance Policy stipulated that
“the Board of Directors, based on the understanding that
measures towards domestic and foreign issues on
sustainability are an essential part of risk management, shall
receive reports as necessary through Members of the Board
in charge of sustainability and proactively work on such
issues, such as by holding discussions.” As the policy

der pursuing is at the heart of
what we do and it is one of the key management issues for
the Group.

In 2019, 1o build on our past sustainability initiatives and
continue evolving, we re-organized our organizational
structure and established a sustainability management
division at JT headquarters and appointed a Senior Vice
President for sustainability. We also set out a sustainability
strategy encompassing the whole Group. We are now

supporting Group 16} their
sustainability strategies. By doing so, we are engaged in
nsk supply chain
. initiatives for human rights and

community Investment on a day-to-day basis.

Q. Tell us about your sustainability issues
and challenges.

The three absolute requirements for the Group are
“respect for human rights,” “an improved social and

i impact” and “good and
business standards.”

The JT Group operates in more than 130 countries/regions.
In some of these markets, human rights are at

risk - and respect for human rights 1s a crucial aspect of the
Group's sustainability. We set out the JT Group Human
Rights Policy in 2016. Since then, have been wraining cur
employees on human rights through regular e-learning
courses. We perform human rights due ditigence for our
operations globally. We work to ensure that human rights are
respected not only within our own Group, but also through-
out our value chain.

As we all are increasingly concerned about the effects of
climate change, corporations are working on improving
environmental impact. We have set out the JT Group
Environment Plan 2030 to address Lhese 1ssues within our
Group and throughout our value chain, We are working on
reducing GHG emissions, shifting to renewable energy,
managing water risks, conserving forest resources and
turther reducing the environmental impact of waste.

CORPORATE PROFILE

VALUE CREATION STRATEGY

FOR SUSTAINABILITY

To improve our social impact, we prioritize three areas:

ABSOLUTE

FINANCIAL
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its stable and sustainable procurement is crucial to supply

“reducing i
in disaster-prone areas” and “protecting the environment.”
What we would like 1o see is inclusiveness both in saciety
as a whole and indeed in all the communities we operate
in. We also provide employees with opportunities for
volunieering so that they can proactively contribute to
local communities.

Corporate governance is one of the most important manage-
ment 1ssues. Governance is a mechanism for ensuring that
transparent, fair, prompt and resolute decision making is carried
out in line with the 4S madel, our management principles. Gaing
forward, we will keep cur governance under review for
continuous improvement to ensure it 1s fit for the purpose.

Q. Can you tell us about the sustainability strategy
for each of your businesses?

chain . We will cantinue ta implement
Agricultural Labor Practices (ALP), our core program for
managing the leaf tobacco supply chain and responding to
sacietal issues.

The tobacco industry is highly regulated. The restrictions
imposed through requlation are increasing every year and it
is an area of concern to our stakeholders. We wilt protect our
ability to participate in public policy debates and continue to
engage in dialogue. lllegal trade not only undermines our
business, but it can cause serious harm 10 our consumers
and society. We will continue to engage with law

agencies, anging about illegal
tobacco products to help reduce illegal trade.

Q. How are you raising awareness of sustainability
within the Group?

Each business has set out its own “focus areas, " with specific
targets. Back in 2018, our tobacco business had four focus
areas and a total of 11 targets. By pursuing such targets, we
believe we can support and contribute to achieving the
United Nauons' Sustainable Development Goals. I'm pleased
to say this is the first time we are reporting on progress
toward achieving the 11 targets of our tobacco business.

Dunng 2019, our pharmaceutical and processed food
businesses set out their own sustainability strategies, focus
areas and targets. Our sustainability strategy for the entire
Group is now in place.

Q. Can you give us some insights into the
sustainability strategy for your tobacco business?

We are warking to raise each and every employee’s
awareness of sustainability through a variety of initiatives.
These include from top to
employees, seminars on ESG (environmental, social and
1ssues, ps 10 enhance 3
understanding of the United Nations’ Sustainable
Oevelopment Goals and briefings at our operationa! sites.

In our international tobacco business, our Sustainability
Awards celebrate outstanding sustainability projects
undertaken by our own employees. Through these
initiatives, we encourage our employees to think about and
act on sustainability.

Q. Tell us about your aspirations for the future.

E-cigarettes and tobacco vapor products are gaining
popularity s al ives to i combustible products.
With the surge of a new category of Reduced-Risk Products
(RRP), the 1obacco industry is undergoing major change. We
have selected Products and Services as one of our focus
areas. Understanding what consumers are looking for is
essential. We would like to offer our customers an even
greater choice of praducts by focusing on guality, innovation
and reduced nsk potential.

For the Group 10 achieve sustainable growth, the skills and
i of our empl are vital. The

we operate in, and the people who live in them. are import-

ant stakeholders. For this reason, we focus on investing in

People and our tobacco, pharmaceutical and processed

food businesses have each chosen this topic as one of their

focus areas.

Supply chain management is a top priority for our business.
Leat 1obacco is the most important raw material for us, so

As we waork day in, day out 10 grow our business, my dream
is for everyone in our Group to think about sustainability and
1o feel that they are contributing to improving the society we
are all part of. | believe this is the direction we should be
heading in - | hope | can be proactive in leading the way.
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Business Strategy/Business Review
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Business Strategy/Business Review
- Tobacco Business
- International Tobacco Business
- Japanese Domestic Tobacco Business
- Pharmaceutical Business

- Processed Food Business
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The tobacco business remains our core and is expected to continue driving our sustainable profit growth.

The Tobacco Business Strategy

Tobacco business: Our core business and the Group’s
profit growth driver
- Mid to high single digit profit growth for the mid- to fong-term
« Japanese Domestic Tobacco
- Strengthen topdine in both RRP and cigarettes
* International Tobacco
- Sustaingble profit growth in exisung markels
- Geographic expansion through M&A and organic initiatives
- Steady progression in RRP

Winsth
meviUs i

cﬂ%ﬁl Pl
D @ o ®

The tobacco business has been focusing on profit
growth, consistently playing a pivotal role 1n JT Group's profit
growth. Its role continues to be of paramount for

RRP of Ploom TECH and Ploom TECH+ repre-
senting the low-temperature heating category and Ploom S

the achievement of mid to high single-digit adjusted operating
profit growth at constant currency. which is our main target.
In ight of the evalving operating environment, we have been
enhancing our focus on the sustainability of the profit growth
generated by the tobacco business. Additionally, in order to
strengthen and speed up the decision-making process, we
have the structure, s

ed by our Group CEQ, Masamichi Terabatake. directly heading
the tobacco business.

‘We believe that the consumer-centric mindset is key 10
achieving our business targets and, therefore, we continue 10
toster this mindset across the organization. By constantly
reviewing and adapting our mindset and investment iniua-
tives, we will continue to strengthen our business operations
in both cigareties and RRP. In particular, RRP is relatively a
new business, where we cannot rely solely on the strategies
deployed in cigs . In order to the
intense competition in this important category, we are
optimizing resource allocations across the Group; enhancing
collaboration between domestic and international divisions
and maximizing synergies and growth apportunities on a
globat basis. Fallowing the consolidation of the R&D functions
in 2019, we have significantly streamlined corporate strategy,
business development and RRP reporting lines in 2020. We
are also working towards integrating the quality assurance
functions, whose role will be to ensure praduct safety and reli-
ability. In the three-year ume set for the Business Plan 2020,
cigareltes will continue to play a major rofe in delivering mid 1o
high single digit profit growth in the overall tobacco business.

tn the Japanese domestic tobacco business, we have a
strong and wide product portfolio in cigarettes. primarily
comprised of the key brands of MEVIUS, Seven Stars,
Winston, Natural American Sprrit and Camel, as well as in

P g the high category. Generating
stable and susianable profit growth through fully utihzing
these strong equity brands in both cigarettes and RRP is the
key to the tobacco business growth. While increasing profit
n Japan in the short-term s chaltenging, we aim to return to
protit growth by sirengthening our top-ine Initiatives in both
cigareties and RRP. Please refer to the "Japanese domestic
tobacco business® for further details.

In the internauonal tobacco business, we seek to conuinue
strong bottom-ine growth through a clear strategic agenda
centered on sustainable profit growth in existing markets;
geographic expansion through M&A and organic initiatives;
and steady progression in RRP. In existing markets, we will
focus an maximizing the equity of our Global Flagship Brands
(Winston, Camel, MEVIUS and LD) in order to fuel our market
share momentum and seize pricing opportunities. Concerning
geogragphic expansion, we will focus our organic investments
on further strengthening our talent base, brand portfolio and
business infrastructure. Al the same time, we will remain alert
to valuable M&A opportunities in markets that matter. In RRP,
Logic is strengthening 1s presence in the E-Vapor segment,
fueled by the ongoing progression of Compact in many
geographies. As part of our continuous development process,
we will also commercralize a Heated Tobacco product in
selected international markets this year. The device will be
endorsed by Ploom, while refated consumables will be
branded according to market and consumer preferences.
Please refer to the internation: iness” for
further details.
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Tobacco Industry

The Tobacco Indusiry is evolving and there are many types of
tobacco products available in this marketplace today. Ciga-
rettes remain the most popular choice for consumers, white
Fine Cut, cigars, pipe tobacco, smokeless tobacco, waterpipe
tobacco and kretek continue to draw consumers’ interest.

In addition, the RRP category has become increasingly popular.
In particular, the “E-Vapor” market size has been expanding at a
fast rate, notably in the U.S. and across Europe. The products
vaporize liquid solutions, often containing nicotine, and the
generated vapor is then inhaled by the user.

As E-Vapor products do not use tobacco leaf. they have not
usually been regulated or taxed as tobacco containing
products. However, regulation and taxation of the products
have changed in some countries in accordance with the
expansion of this category.

Another type of RRP, referred to as “T-Vapor " or “Tobacco
Vapor,“ has been growing steadily, particulary in Japan.
These products are taxed and regulated as tobacco products
in principle because they use tobacco leaves. We expect
further innovation and product offerings will drive growth in
T-Vapor, especially as market players take keen interest in
this new category.

In addition 0 these two types, the growth of smokeless
tobacco has accelerated in markets with a long history of
these products, particularly in Europe and the tJ.S. With
smokeless tobacco, users can enjoy the characteristic
10bacco taste and flavor direcily through their nose or mouth.

5.3 ilion ci tare annually
around the world, reaching global sales of approximately
US$700 billion.*! China is by far the largest market, account-
ing for over 40% of global consumption, but is almost
exclusively operated by a state monopoly. Indonesia, the U.S.,
Russia and Japan are the following four largest markets.™'

In general, the market dynamics of cigarettes are distinctively
different between mature and emerging markets.

In mature markets, industry volume tends to decline and
these movements can reflect various factars, such as limited
‘economic growth, tax increases, tightening regulations and
demographic changes among others. In acdition, down-trad-
ing is prevalent in these markets, as limited growth of
disposable income inclines consumers to seek more value in
comparatively affordable tobacco products.

In emerging markets, on the other hand, total consumption
tends to be more resihent, dnven by population growth and
economic development, particularly across the Middle East
and Africa. As personal disposable income generally increases
year-on-year, consumers look for quality and trade up to
products in a higher price range.
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Overall, the global industry volume*' of cigarettes has been
decreasing in recent years, although at a sustainable pace.
However, more importantly, we expect industry value to
continue growing in the 2020-2022 period, with price increas-
es more than ing for the volume i

These trends - decline in volume and increase in value - are
expected to continue in the upcoming three years. On the
other hand, the RRP industry will grow further as we antici-
pate its global*? net sales value to reach approximately US$40
billion in 2022.

Excluding the Chinese monopoly, there are four major global
tobacco players: Philip Morris International Inc., British
American Tobacco Plc., Japan Tobacco Inc. and Imperial
Brands Plc. In terms of RAP, besides these four companies,
JUUL Labs, Inc. (E-Vapor) and Swedish Match AB {smokeless
tobacco) also have a meaningful presence.

** Accarding 10 2018 data
+* Excludos China
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This section is intended only 1o explain the business operations of the JT Group,
' . ! .

nat to promote sales of tobacco or

Regulations

The regulatory environment continues 10 be more restrictive
for the tobacco industry. Restrictions on promotions and
advertisements are the most common around the world. An
increasing number of markets are introducing bans on
smoking in public places and promoting larger health warnings
on product packaging, in some cases with pictorial health
warnings. There are also markets in which the government
bans retail stores from displaying tobacco products.

Recent regulations are focusing more on the product itself.
Plain packaging, or a branding ban. has been introduced In
some markets and furthermore, regulators are becoming
more aggressi icting ingredit and emissions, in
with the guidelines proposed by the
Convention on Tobacco Control. In Europe, all EU member
states have already implemented the new Tobacco Products
Directive in 2017, which adopted extended health warnings,
minimum r fora unit or rest
on the use of additives among others. These moves 1o
commoditize tobacco products will undermine fair competi-
tion among tobacco manufacturers that are trying to meet
i i diverse preferences. Even worse,
they could result in an undesired increase in ilicit trade, as
commoditized products with less uniqueness are easier to
counterfeit and more difficult to detect when smuggled.

Regarding RRP, a few countries such as the U.S. and parts
of Europe have recently established new standards and
frameworks used in terms of scientifically evaluating the
claims of reduced nsks that come with using these
products. In order to gain official approval from these
governments, major global tobacco manutacturers have
intensified their activities in developing these reduced-risk
claims. With regards to the regulatory progress in this RRP
category, specified regulations are implemenied in some
markets, namely the prohibition of sales i the U.S. of
flavored E-Vapor products, which was implemented in
February 2020, or in other countries the implementation of
the same level of regulations as conventional tobacco
praducts. However. global implementation of RRP product
regulations has not yet been observed, and the attitude
towards regulations still differs from one market to another.
Please refer 10 "Reaulation and Other Relevant Laws" for

more details.

Taxation

Tabacco products are subject to excise or similar taxes in
most countries as governments seek to secure their
revenue or pramote public health. During 2018, excise taxes
(including for RRP) were raised in various markets, including
France, Romania, Russia and Turkey.

In general, tax increases are passed onto the retail prices.
Therefore. repeated tax increases in a short period of time or
substantial tax increases, could lead to a decline in industry
wvolume and trigger an increase in illicit trade, which could in
twrn affect our business.
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This soction is intondod only to oxplain the businass operations of tho JT Group,

Tobacco Business Sustainability Strategy - Four Focus Areas
Exceeding Expectations with Products and Services - RRP

Our Product Portfolio

As alternatives to traditional combustible products,
e-cigarettes (E-Vapor) and tobacco vapor products
(T-Vapor) are gaining popularity with consumers
around the world. Our industry is changing but our
commitment to consumer choice remains.

We are always listening and reacting to the
changing tastes of adult smokers and vapers

around the world. We develop, test and bring
to market new and innovative forms of RRP and
offer real benefits to consumers, society and
our business.

Between 2018 and 2020, we are investing 100 billion
yen in RRP, to further develop our supply chain and
expand our research and development capabilities.
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101 ta promate sales uf Lwbacco of vaping products or encourage soking or vaping amang cansumors.

JT Science: An online resource for all

Our mission is to inform, educate and collaborate with all
those interested in tearning about the science behind RRP -
from 10 scientists and the reg Y

We strive for an open. balanced and fair envi where

RRP Supply Chain

We have established a dedicated supply chain for our RRP,
building strong supplier partnerships that support business
expansion and meet the demands of our increasingly

factual scientific data and assessments are shared in a
transparent way.

@ Learn more about our research at JI Science.

portfolio.

In 2018, we opened an e-liquid (E-Vapor) production facility
on the premises of our manufacturing site in Gostkow,
Poland. We then further boosted our in-house production in
2018, bringing into service a new Ploom product plant in the
same location. These new facilities will enable us to keep up
with the demand for e-liquids containing nicotine, tobacco
capsules and tobacco sticks in expanding markets across
the world.

Responsible Recycling and Disposal Schemes

We take our responsibility for the environment very seriously and provide consumers with advice and support to help them
conveniently and safely recycle or dispose our products at the end of their useful life.

In some parts of Japan, we have introduced recycling boxes
at shops selling Ploom so that consumers can return their
used devices, capsules and cariridges conveniently.

This program was a significant extension of 3 2017-2018
pilot scheme, in which we sent out recycling boxes to more

Logic Return Scheme in Switzerland

Online customers can order a Logic recycling box, made from
FSCcertified paper,* to collect their used pods. They can then
send these boxes to us free of charge for recycling.

We also set up “pod points” in shops selling Logic products
across Switzerland, giving consumers the option 1o return their

°
8
g than 250,000 people. In 2019, we started collecting used used products in person.
2 Ploom devices in addition 10 used capsules and cartridges. .
§ Key achievements: March-December 2019
o« ; Key achievements in 2019 3.600+ individual recycling boxes ordered
g Recycling boxes introduced in around 300 shops 440+ recycling boxes returned
2
b
2
H
3
¢
]
e
H
H
g
2
3 Aspirational Goal Target Progress
- B
o
3 We will be a total tobacco Atthe end of 2019, our RRP
> sumers i as pres
z company, uffering consumers We willlead in providing the portiolie was present in 28
an oven greater choice of . countries, with a choice of
¥ praducts by focusing on quality, widest rangs of consumer three tobacco vapor offerings
H . 2 :
Z RRP innovation, and reduced-isk ehoice in the RRP category. {T-Vapor) and five types o
H potential. e-cigarettes (E-Vapor).

* Paper products that meet the Forost Stewardship Council standards
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Tobacco Business Sustainability
Four Strategic Focus Areas

+ tnvesting in People

* Excesding Expociaons with Products and Sorvices - RRP

« Building Sustainable Supply Chains
+ Roguiatory Environment snd lugat Trada

Building Sustainable Supply Chains

Agricultural Labor Practices

Our Agricultural Labor Practices (ALP) are based on the

Labour Organization's s and
recommendations. The program consists of three pillars:
tackling child labor, respecting worker rights and ensuring
waorkplace health and safety.

As part of our continuous improvement approach, the ALP
program allows us and our suppliers 10 identify potential

Aspirational Goal

Maintaining a well-managed
supply chain is essential for the
sustainability of our business.
To ensure the highest levels of
sustainability and integrity
across the supply chain, we
work in close cooperation with

all our suppliers.

labor challenges on tobacco farms and help improve
growers’ labor practices. Being an integral part of the Supply
Chain Due Ditigence process, it also contributes to the social
aspect of grower communities and supports sustainable
agriculture overall. Whether we source tobacco directly from
growers or through tobacco leaf merchants, our contracted
suppliers are commitied to implementing ALP.

Target Progress

CORPORATE PROFILE

We will reduce

In 2019, 81% of our
supplying entities reporied
against ALP.

100% of our

supplying entities o 158% of our airectly contracied

A We wil s
o environmental and report on ALP ‘growers and 8% of ou teal
o f™ S implement aur merchants were covared by ALP;
e socialrisks, and ALP program in leal meschants gsta came from
Agricultural Labor enable transparent sl sourcing reporing enties anly and
: RS il xclud ng india and Crina,*|
:
P by 2025.

supply chain.

100% of tobacco
feaf volumes to be
covered by ALP

74% of our volumes were
covered by ALP.

@ Learn more about our histoncal data 2t JL.com.

* The dacraass from 96% m 2018 10 56% 0 2019 15 due to Aow acqursiians,
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Supplier Screening

Our supplier screening process, applied in our international
tobacco business, allows us 1o understand potential risks
related to compliance. human rights, the environment and
health and satety. In 2019, we continued 10 strengthen and
automate the process by integrating a continuous key

Aspirational Goal

| A®@®

supplier monitaring service. In the Japanese market,
suppliers of non-tobacco materials and other products and
services are subject to screening against the JT Group
Supplier Standards, with key suppliers being monitored
regularly though surveys.

Target Progress

We will reduce
environmental and social
nisks, and enable transparent

We will screen all key suppliers
3gainst environmental, social,

Atthe end of 2019, 67%
of our key suppliers were
sereened against ESG

Supplier and responsible praciices and governance criteria by 2023 crileria in our international
Screening across our supply chain. tobacco business.
ARISE

Our flagship program ARISE - Achieving Reduction of Child
Labor in Support of Education - has been commitied to
tackling child labor n our tobacco growing communities
since 2611, In 2019, ARISE placed 6,186 chitdren into formal
education, building on the impact of previous years. The
program is forging real sustainable change by implementing
robust solutions to prevent chitd fabor.

In 2019, we focused on mapping out new communities 10
scate up ARISE, building on community capacities to ensure
the sustainability of the program and digitizing our Child
Labor Monitonng System using blockchain technology.

We will continue to work collaboratively
with growers, communities, business
leaders and governments to create
solutions that address the voot causes
of child labor; while always keeping the
child’s right to quality education al the
heart of what we do.

Elaine McKay
Social Programs Director, JT International S.A.

Reducing Our Environmental Impact in the Tobacco Value Chain
Regarding our targets on “Greenhouse gas emissions,” “Water and waste™ and “Forestry,” visit Environment and our

gperations. Learn more about our programs and initiatives in our international tobacco business at “We're serious about.
protecting the envirgnment.”
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all cigarettes sold globally, o

.
Wapproximately, USS45 biliontin
B C/obal taxrevente lost each year!
@R his'illegal trade fuels human

rafficking¥organized crime’and
B 1o groupsilt causes harm to

g consumers¥as uncontrolled
@ products circumvent regulations’
and quality,controis¥and

ﬂ

O,

Bl ndermines lcgitimate lobacco

\Tackling illegal trade

lis"a top priorityfonus¥andoun
Aatillicitilrade team is) .

E

R 'Combating this problems

Expertsiestimate that overg1 0%Yol,

Rrecognized asthelindustry leaderlis

Tackling lllegal Trade

Our global Anti-ltficit Trade team investigates the illegal
tobacco trade and protects consumers and society, as well
s our business and reputation, from criminal elements.

The team works with our markets t0 secure our supply chain
and assists law enforcement in removing illegal tobacco
from the marketplace. It maintains a robust dialogue with
governments and law enforcement agencies on the threat of
illegal tobacco through public-private partnerships and
provides counterfeit awareness programs for law
enforcement, globally.

The team protects the JT Group’s business and reputation,
supporting our long-term, sustainable future.

In 2019, our Antr-lllicit Trade team provided 1,129 itelli-
gence reports to law enforcement agencies, leading to seize
more than 3.2 billion illegal cigarettes. Based on our informa-
tion, law enforcement raided more than 70 counterteit
tobacco factones and storage locatians.

As a direct result of our work to tackle illegat trade, and
based on seizure statisucs. notified serzures of counterfeit
products in the EU have remained consistently high over the
past four years (approximately 80% of products seized are
counterfeit). During the same period, notified seizures of our
own genuine products in the EU have decreased by nearly
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50%, thanks to our markets’ efforts in securing our supply
chain, with the support of the Anti-liicit Trade team. Both the
EU and the U.K.'s HM Revenue and Cusloms recognized us
as an industry leader in the fight against illicit trade.
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In tackling illegal trade, the JT Group complies with all laws
and regulations while fulfilling its obligations under the
European Union Cooperation Agreement, signed in 2007.

This means supplying tobacco products only in volumes that
correspond with the legitimate demand of the intended
market of retail sale. Qur Antr-lliicit Trade Research team has
developed a global methodology to assist market authorities
In taking a consistent and accurate approach to annual
legitmate market demand (LMD) calculations. Qur markets
perform these in conjunction with their annual plan, creating
a proactive supply chain control mechanism to make sure
that planned sales volumes are in line with LMD, and
ensuring our compliance.

Aspirational Goal

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

AR

Compliance also means the implementation and operation of
our Track and Trace program, which helps us to track the
movements of products atong the supply chain, supporting
our supply chain analysis, The program has been an important
element of our compliance policy for more than a decade
firstly as a self-regulation measure and later to meet legal
requirements in a growing number of jurisdictions.

In addition to the United Arab Emirates, Saudi Arabia and
Russia, the first regional system applicable in all member
states of the EU went live on May 20, 2019. Despite the
challenging timelines involved in implementing this complex
system, we complied with the regulations as of entry into force,
with minimal disruption in the countries in which we operate.

@ Learn more ahout our approach to tackling illegal trade at JLcom.

Target

Progress

We will ensure the Company
4 is included in policymaking
E(l) Ieading to far and batanced

regulation, and enhance our

cooperalion with governments
10 combat illegal trade.

llegal Trade

We will engage in dialogue with
law enforcement agencies,
with the goel to exchango
inielligence ragarding illegal
tobacco products, in order 10
support the reduction of illegal
tobacco products.

1n 2019, our Anii-lflicit Trade
teamn provided 1,129
intelligence reports to law
enforcement agencies, and
advised 2,687 law
enforcement olficers on
counterfeit recognition,

Optimizing the Regulatory Environment

During 2019, we engaged openly and transparently in public policy debate and made our views known to regulators, NGOs and
other refevant stakehotders in the countries where we operate.

We responded to public consultations on regulatory issues of concern to society and business, such as plain packaging, RRP

and retail display bans, among many others.

We also participated in public discussions around good

and sustainability.

Aspirational Goal

Target

. anti-llegat trade, better regulation, transparency

Progress

We will ensure the Company

is included in palicymaking

leading to fair and balanced

regulation, and enhance our
with

10 combat llegal irade.

We will always protcet our
ability to participate in public
policy debate with the aim o
achieve balanced regulation that
meets sucietal concer and
supports business growth.

During 2019, we engaged
apenly and transparently in
public palicy debate and
made our views known to
regulators, NGOs and othet
relevant stakeholders in the
couniries where we operate.

© Learn more about our views on regutation and the latest regufatory developments in the industry at JT.com.
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Business Review

International Tobacco Business

Total volume increased 4.3%, driven by acquisitions in Bangladesh and Russia. Excluding
acquisitions, total volume performance was resilient due to the accelerated growth of our Global
Flagship Brands (+4.0%]). Currency-neutral core revenue grew 9.3%, led by robust price/mix gains
and positive volume contribution. Adjusted operating profit was up 10.7%, at constant currency,
driven by the strong top-line performance. On a reported basis, core revenue increased 1.5%
while adjusted operating profit was down 10.5%, reflecting currency headwinds.

Results for the fiscal year ended Decentber 21, 2019

I anticipate another strong yea

Jor
JTT in 2020. We continue to belicve
in the robustness and vesilience of the
conventional products model, while
stepping up our efforts in RRI to
satisfy changing consumer needs.

Eddy Pirard
Chiof Executive Officer, JT International $.A.
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Key Highlights

Total Shipment
Volume

445.8..
+4.3%

Year-on-Year Change

2019 Performance

2019 was an excellent year for JTi across all key perfor-
mance indicators.

The successtul i of the acquired busi in
Bangladesh and Russia enabled us to grow strongly versus
prior year. achieving a total volume increase above 4%.
Excluding acquisitions, our volume declined less than 1%,
as market share gains continued, driven by all Global
Flagship Brands.

Our investments in strategic acquisitions and organic
expansion have enabled JTI to accelerate share of market
and share of value growth, recording an outstanding increase
3cross its top-30 markets.

Price/mix contribution continued to be strong and above JTI's
S-year average. demonstrating once again the robustness
and sustainability of our growth mode!. The robust price/mix
tibution, ined with an volume base,
resulted in currency-neutral core revenue and adjusted
operating profit growth of 9.3% and 10.7%, respectively.

Importantly, 2018 marked the ninth consecutive year in
which JTI achieved double-digit earnings growth at con-
stant currency {excluding one-time factor in 2017), while
also increasing investment levels.

2019 Performance®’
i GFB am AOP
SoM*  volume  volume 07%
+9.3%
+4.3%

+4.0%

+1.5pp

*1 2019 varionce vs. prior yeer. Cate revenue and adjustad operating profit
{AOP) at constant currency
*? Basad on JTF's ap-20 markets (cigarettas + Fine Cut)
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GFB Shipment
Volume

277.0..
+4.0%

Year-on-Yea: Change

Core Revenue

11,496

+1.5%

Yeat-an-Year Change

Adjusted

Our top- and bottom-line performance remained strong
when excluding acquisitions and inventory movements,
highlighting the strength of our talented people and the
competitiveness of our brands.

n, throughout the year we continued to pursue
selected opportunities in RRP, notably with the expansion of
Logic Compact in E-Vapor and the intraduction of Nordic
Spirit in nicotine pouches.

Global Flagship Brands

. Global Flagship Brands grew votume for the fifth consecu-
tive year, (eaqhmg 277 billion units. This represents a 4%
increase versus 2018 and a compounded annual growth rate
of 3% since 2015.

This achievement is remarkable if we consider that, over the
same period, tobacco industry volume has declined around

4% per year in our top-30 markets.

GFB Volume Evolution 2015-2019 @nu)

+3% CAGR
%
250 257 2 2

2018 2006 017 2018 2018

All four Global Flagship Brands increased volume in 2019,
supported by a consistent investment strategy aimed at
strengthening their equity, portfolio and geographic reach.

Operating Pr

3, 1 2 6 (USD MM}
-10.5%

Yar-on-Year Change

Adjusted Operating Prafit Growth at
Constant FX*

+14%

«13% 413
I ] l - B

2014 2015 2006 2017 2018

* Evcludir 1me loss.

Winston's shipment volume growth exceeded 3%, breaking
volume or share records in more than 25 markets, including
Brazil, Germany, the Philippines, Romania and Turkey.

Camel grew more than 5%, achieving double-digit volume
increase i 23 markets and setting share records in 11, such
as France, Indonesia, Poland, Spain and Thailand.

LD. with a 6% volume increase, grew for the third consecu-
tive year and was our fastest growing tobacco brand in 2019.
LD broke volume records in 15 markets, including Canada,
Taiwan and the U.S.

MEVIUS returned to growth, increasing approximately 1%
versus 2018, primarily driven by the positive performance in
Cambodia, Mongolia and Myanmar.

The strong equity of our brands in both cigarettes and Fine
Cut, nurtured by focused investment, continued to play 8
pivotal role in enhancing JTI's pricing power.

Strong pricing was, once again, the key driver of our financiat
performance in 2019.

Including continued price and portfalio investments to
strengthen our competitiveness and business agility, we
recorded a iotal price/mix variance of US$875 million in 2019.

Importantly, price/mix was above our five-year average.
demonstrating the continued resitience of the tobacco

pricing model.

JTI Price/Mix Variance wsb mm)

4875

<746 /

B

2019
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As a result of the investment efforts to expand and
diversify our geographic footprint, pricing gains

The continued share growth was primarily driven by our

across our key markets, notably France, Russia, Turkey and
the U.K., were complemented by an increasingly robust
contribution from other markets. such as Germany, Iran and
the Philippines.

Furthermore, emerging markets in Africa, Asia and the
Middle East have gradually increased thewr price/mix

approach, our
brands across key product categories and price segments.

2019 was an excellent year for JTIin the U.K. market. We
grew share across all product categories, breaking records
through commercial intiatives aimed at injecting innovation,

3 ing our in the
and flexibility of our growth model.

Share of Market

The solid performance of our Global Flagship Brands also
enabled JTI to achieve significant share of market and share
of value gains across its top-30 markets.

JTI Share in Top-30 Markets

Som Sov
28.4%
2%3%
25.0%
5% >
208 2018 '

2019 209

Of a particular note was the progression recorded in
Europe, where we enhanced our presence in both ciga-
rettes and Fine Cut.
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THE DIFFERENCE

Heated tobacco technology
imagined in Japan

strengthening retail presence as well as ensuring price

We also expanded our presence in RRP. with Logic consoli-
dating its leading position, supported by the growth of
Compactin closed tanks.

Our 2019 performance in Russia was robust. Share of
market remained at 39%, underpinned by Global Flagship
Brands and the improving momentum of the local heritage
brands acquired with Donskoy Tabak.

Global Flagship Brands continued to gain share, exceeding
the 25% threshold.

The resilient performance of Winston, still by far the first
choice of Russian consumers, was complemented by the
strong growth of LD.

All these achievements were realized while continuing to
seize pricing opportunities, which remained strong despite
the downtrading and volume contraction impacting the
overall industry.
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This section is intended only o explain the businass operations of the JT Group,
not 10 promote salas of tobaceo or vaping products or encourage smoking or vaping among consumers,

Reduced-Risk Products

Our seeding process in RRP conlinued at a sustained pace.
Logic Compact, our most successful E-Vapor oftering to
date, was launched in additional 24 markets, which rep-
resents a significant increase versus the initial plan.

I
i

[ L] toglcvapes.co.uk

CLICK T,
/', VAPEIT.

'DISCOVER THE NEW
LOGIC COMPACT

Ao 3 cohows

1t that simple.

Leveraging consumer insights, commercial learnings and
new capabilities acquired in recent years, we also started
exploring opportunities in new categories.

In nicotine pouches, we launched Nordic Spirit in seven
European markets with encouraging results.

Importantly, in the first half of 2020, we will introduce a
Heated Tobacco product in Russia.

The device will be branded Plaom while related consum-
ables will be endorsed by Winston, the number ane
tobacco brand in the market.

2020 Outlook

The 2020 outleok for the International Tobacco Business is
built on robuyst assumpiions. We will continue growing our
share of market, significantly outperforming the tobacco
industry volume trend in our top-30 markets.

Global Flagship Brands will play a key role in fueling share of
market growth, as related volumes are anticipated to
increase for the sixth consecutive year.

The pricing environment in conventional products remains.
robust. Price/mix variance is expected to be positive and to
drive another year of strong core revenue and adjusted
operating profit growth, at constant currency.

2020 Guidance®'

Indusiry JT GFR Core AOP
volume™  volume  volume  revenue
+10%
+5%
1%
3%
5%

" * 2020 vaviange vs. prior yoar. Core revenue and AOP at constant currency
! +3 Based on JTI's 10p-30 markets (cigarattas + Fino Cut)

‘We expect to achieve double-digit adjusted operating profit
growth while continuing to invest in our peaple, brands and
infrastructures.

We will ensure an adequate prioritization of resources
throughout the business, supporting the growth of our
conventional portfolio in markets that matter and stepping
up our efforts in RRP.

The Transformation initiatives kicked-off in 2019 are gradually
advancing, with the purpose of removing impediments to
growth and building on our strengths, including new
capabilities within the organization such as Global Business
Service centers, Digital and Agile Teams.

These initiatives will significantly strengthen our business foun-
dations, paving the way for more years of sustainable growth.
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Business Review

Core Revenue (JPY BN} Adjusted

Operating Profit Py BN

A%
209.0

Key Highlights JT Cigarette

Rosults for the fiscal year ended Docamber 31, 2019
Sales Volume (@nU)

Japanese Domestic Tobacco Business

JT Cigarette
Sales Volume

75.5.

-7.9%

Year-oin-Year Change

Core Revenue Adjusted

Operating Profit

568.9... 187.2.00.

-2.3% -10.4% I

Yoaron-Yoat Chango Year-on-Yoar Chango 2018 2018 2019

Core revenue declined 2.3%, as cigarette pricing gains were more than offset by the decline in
cigarette sales volume and decrease in RRP related revenue. Adjusted operating profit decreased
10.4%, mainly due to an impairment loss and the top-line decline.

L

In the Japanese doméstic Lobacco
business, we continue to aim for profit
generation by strengthening the top-
line for both cigareties and RRP. In
cigarelles, we aim lo recover share

by leveraging our brand loyalty and
expanding our product portfolio. For
RRP, we will stvive Lo build competitive
advantage by further investing in
RE&D and marketing.

Junichi Fukuchi

Chief Exacutive Officer of Japanese Tobacco Business,
Toboeco Business Planning, Tobacco Business
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2019 Performance

In the Japanese domestic tobacco business, after the launch
of Ploom TECH, we have launched 2 new RRP devices
nationwide: Ploom TECH+ in June 2019, in the low-
temperature heating category, and Ploom S in August 2019,
in the high-temperature heating category. With these three
devices set in place, 2019 was a year of realization, where
we were able 1o find areas of improvement in RRP through
i i with our For
cigarettes, we have taken measures 10 strengthen our
product portfotio, including the introduction of little cigar
products, in order to meet the consumers’ changing needs.

The total tobacco industry volume* decreased about 4%
year-on-year mainly due to a natural decline trend and the
impact of price rewision in October 2018.

Cigarette induslry volume* decreased 6.3% year-on-year
due to the decline in industry volume and expansion in the
RRP category. Out of the entire tobacco industry volume,
overall RRP market size* in Japan is estimated at approxi-
mately 23% (shipment basis).

* Source. JT estimate, Cigarette industry volume and cigaretie share of

market includo e cigars which are classilied as cigars as per the Tobacco
Business Act in Japan as wall 2s canventional eigarattes.

Core revenue decreased 2.3% o 568.9 billion yen, as
cigarette pricing gains in the January-September period were
more than offset by declines in cigarette sales volume and
RRP-related revenue.

Adjusted operating profit decreased 10.4% to 187.2 pil!inn
yen, mainly due 10 an impairment of capsule manufaciuring
machines for low-temperature heating products and the
top-line decline.

« JT cigarette sales volume decreased 7.9% year-on-year to
75.5 billion units due to the cigarette industry valume
decline as well as our market share loss.

= JT RRP sales volume increased by 0.5 billion to 3.3 billion
cigarette equivalent units.

Share Performance

For RMC, our share declined due to the intensified competi-
tion in the value segment.

* JT cigarette category share: 60.4% (1.0 point

Strategy

In the RRP category, we aim to establish and maintain a

decline from 2018)
Far RRP. our share increased throughout the year, following
the expansion of our RRP portfolio.

in both high- and low-temperature
heating categories by capturing shares from competitors in
the high-temperature heating category, while continuing to
develop the low-temperature heating category. As the areas

* JT RRP category share: 9% (in
stores, roughly a 2 percentage point increase from 2018)

Industry Overview

We predict that the total tobacco industry volume will
steadily decline at a low single-digit rate despite the planned
fuli enforcement of the new indoor smoking regulation in
Aprit 2020. We expect the RRP industry volume to grow

l 10 the rapid in the previous
year, bringing our share o over 25% of the total tobacco
industry. As competition for share in this market intensifies,
we expect that our competitors will continue to increase
investments in this category in Japan. For cigarettes, the
competition in the value segment, including little cigars. has
been ifying following the d ding trend since the
price rewision in October 2018. Considering the tax hikes in
line to take place in 2020 and 2021, we expect this
down-trading irend to continue and the value segment to
expand. In the midst of delisting our former third-class
products and competitors continuously producing vaive
segment cigarettes, we launched little cigar products in
2019 as a measure to prevent consumers from transferring
out to our competitors.

This soction 1s intended only 1o explain the business operatians of the JT
Graup, not to promote sales of fobacco or vaping products or encourage
smoking or vaping among consumers.

»ORERE
WP D

of imp made clear in 2019, we continuously work
on the development of the devices, expansion of refill
line-up and production of digital infrastructure for future
diverse marketing. We will also strengthen our investment
towards R&D, marketing and sales for our future growth,
while continuously reducing costs in 2020.

We consider the cigarette category will remain an important
profit generator going forward. While we expect cigarette
demand to decline due to the planned tobacco tax hikes in
2020 and 2021, we will utilize appropriate pricing to maintain
our profitability. We aim to recover our share by taking
intiative throughout our product portfalio, mainly by main-
taining our share of the premium+ and prestige segment
products in addition to the launch of value segment prod-
ucts, which are to tackle down-trading.

2020 Outlook

The key to the growth of the tobacco business in the future
is to generate profits in a sustainable manner in the Japa-
nese domestic tobacco business. While we expect the
short-term turnaround of the business 10 be challenging, we
will continue to aim tor prefit generation by strengthening
the topHine for both RRP and cigarettes.

Core revenue is expected to decrease by 5.1%. as the
decrease in cigarette sales volume and the decline in RRP
related revenue will more than offset the cigarette pricing
gains and increase in RRP sales volume. Adjusted operating
profit will decrease 9.2% due to the decrease in core revenue
while we continue to increase the necessary investments.
Despite the difficulty in terms of profitability, we recognize
2020 as a year for rebuilding the business foundation towards
sustainable profit growth in the mid- to long-term.

Japan Tabacco Inc. Integrated Repart 2019 047



This section 1s intendad only o explain the business operations of the JT Group,
not 1o pramote sates of tabacco or vaping products or ancourage smoking of vaping among consumers.

Our Brand Portfolio

CORPORATE PROFILE

R
FRESH

Our T-Vapor Products
Our Ploom brand offers our customers the choice 10 select the best product that meets their diverse
preferences and lifestyles. Ploom S, our Heated Tobacco product. offers a superior taste of tobacco
leaves; Ploom TECH, one of our Tobacco-Infused Vapor product, offers a variety of flavors; and Ploom
TECH+, the other Tobacco-Infused Vapor product, offers a rich and powerful tobacco vapor.

N
Winston
G

)

ADRACBEEE
RUELET. NN

i g :
s TRLSN T i - vpens ——

sumTERATS B A
i

g2uh.

Our Core Brands

In our Japanese market, we offer more than 15 brands in various product categores, including ciga-
rettes, T-Vapor and htile cigars. Some of these brands include MEVIUS, a market leader for more than 40
years; Seven Stars, which has been generating the highest revenue tor 12 consecutive years;* Natural
Amencan Spint; Winston; and Camel, which 1s growing into one of our major brands.

“JT ssumate as of 2019
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Tobacco Business Value Chain
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A®d

R&D
Create Valuc'throiigh'Innovation*and Quality Improvement:

* We are closely collaborating with all functions across the
value chain to focus on fundamental research and product
technotogy developments, using a global research platform.
In particular, our R&D activities focus on these areas:

- Strengthen product development and analytical capabilities
in line with market needs while anticipating regulatory trends

- Maintain existing products that camply with regulatory changes

- Develop new technalogies and improve production process-
s to maintain competitiveness and increase efficiency

- Drive product innovation to enhance brand equity,
including tobacco leaves, blends, filters, pnnting tech-
niques and packaging

~ Develop RRP

Procurement

* We aim to strengthen our capability in ensuring a sustainable
supply of tebacco feaves, which is one of the most important
raw materials for our products.

- Increase the proportion of leaves procured from our
vertical integration bases in Africa, Brazil and the U.S.

- Enhance the sustainability of tobacco farming by helping
tarmers to improve productivity as well as taking
initiatives to support their communiuies

- Maintain good refationships with external suppliers to
ensure sufficient supply at competitive prices

* With regard to non-tobacco materials, we aim to mitigate
the raising costs, mainly through investments in design
enhancements and creating innovative products by
effecuvely managing procurement lot-size.

Manufacturing

SapportiTop-line’Growth through' Delivering Quality. Products
* We put great emphasis on improving product quality to

meet ions towards i offerings.

In addition, we consistently pursue an optimal

manutfacturing footprint, which ensures efficient and

timely product deliveries to our markets.

- Overcome manufacturing complexities that come with
an increase in number of products, while ensuring high
quality products and enhancing flexibility in the manufac-
1uring process

- Strengthen our ability for business continuity in uimes
of emergencies

- Pursue efficiency by managing cost increases and

our i i

Marketing

Enhance’ EquityTof Flagship Brands T
* We focus our strategy on our care brands and we strive 10
enhance their equity through effective communications
with consumers.
- Support brand equity enhancement for cur GFBs by
appropriately allocating resources
- Conduct effective marketing programs that comply with
all applicable laws and regulations wherever we operate,
as well as our Global Tobacco Marketing Principles

Sales & Distribution

EXpand Product Availability by Leveraging Our|

A7
T Sales Activities,
« There are many channels for tobacco products such as
supermarkets, convenience stores, street and train

station kiosks, small independent retailers and vending

The importance of channels are different

depending on each country. We increase availability of

our products through vanous key channels by developing

good relationship with retailers.

- Strengthen relauonships with key accounts, leveraging
our trained sales forces

~ Apply most effective marketing inittatives suited for each
market, taking market context into account such as
channel development, consumers and competitors
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Strategy and Business Review

Pharmaceutical Business ! Results for tho fiscal year endod Decomber 31, 2019 Key Highlights Revenue upy BN Adjusted Operating Profit upy g
Revenue declined by 22.3%, mainly due to the termination of license agreements for six anti-HIV drugs in Revenue Adjusted

Japan as well as lower overseas royalty income. Adjusted operating profit decreased 43.9% due to the Operating Profit

revenue decline. 88 5 1 9
o & upven a 7 wpvem

-25.5 -12.5

Year-on-Year Chango Year-on-Yoar Change 2019 2020 2018 2019 2020

JT is commitled Lo creating innovalive,
original drugs to support patients in the
shortest lime possible. We are proud to have
received manufacturing and markeling
approval for CORECTIM® Ointment
0.5%, fm‘ an indication Q/a,ln/}ir,
dermalilis in Japan in January 2020. In

addition, we filed  New Drug Application -

Jor JTZ-951 (generic name: enarodustat)
Jor anemia associated with chronic kidney
disease. We have been making steady
progress in our RGD and will aim to
contribule to sustainable profit growth.

Muneaki Fujimoto
President, Phurmaceutics) Business

Industry Overview

The global pharmaceutical market continued to grow in 2018,
reaching sales of approximately US$1,198.2 billion, an increase
ot 5.2% v year," due 10 ing health

growth and of public
systems. While these factors result in a higher demand for
more advanced drugs, governments are strengthening their
controf on drug prices by holding back medical costs, due to
the rapidly aging society and fiscal deficits.

050 Japan Tabacco Inc. Integrated Report 2019

In order to control medical care expenses, the Japanese
government has been promoting the use of generic drugs.
leading the generic drugs market to expand in the Japanese
pharmaceutical market. Additionally, a drastic reform of the
drug pricing system will lead to a gradual price reduction
each year from 2021, creating challenges for the industry.
The drug price reduction rate in October 2019 was 2.4% on
average, due 1o a consumption tax increase.

Our pharmaceutical business competes with not only
numerous Japanese domestic companies, but also with
foreign companies, including global mega pharma and
start-up companies. We will continue to promote R&D and
seek optimum timing to license out our compounds in order
10 accelerate our R&D and swiftly provide new drugs to
patients around the world.

Warldwide Pharmaceutical Market* wso vy

. 2014 2015 2086 2017 208
§ “Conviight©2020 10VIA.

Croated based on IOVIA World Reviow Exccutiva™ 2014-2018
L Reprinted with permissian

Our Performance and Outlook

« In-house development (2019 progress)
- Entered the clinical trial stage:
JTE-761 (RORY antagonist) - Phase 1 (Overseas)
- New Drug Application fited (Japan):
JTE-052/delgocitinib {JAK inhibitor),
JTZ-951/enarodustat {HIF-PH inhibitor]
@ For further details, please visit JL.com.

We steadily made progress in our R&D in 2018, as we had a new
compound entering the clinical stage and two New Drug Applica-
tions filed in Japan, in spite of having a challenging year. Challeng-
es included a decrease in revenue and adjusted operating profit
due 1o the termination of exclusive license agreements for six
antrHIV drugs In Japan as well as lower overseas royafty income.

It was also a fruitful year for license activities as our group
company, Torii Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. {Toriil, entered into a

——— ]

license ag with BioCryst Pharr Ot Inc. for
exclusive marketing rights in Japan to the plasma kaliikrein
inhibitor BCX7353 in November. In the following month, we
also signed an exclusive license agreement with Shenzhen
Salubris Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. for the development and
commercialization in Mainland China, Hong Kang, Macau and
Taiwan of JTZ-951 {enarodustat).

While we expect 2020 to remain challenging, we will continue
aiming towards contributing to sustainable profit growth. We
started the year with receiving manufaciuning and marketing
approval for CORECTIM® Qintment 0.5% {generic name:
delgocitinib), 8 Janus kinase (JAK) inhibitor, for an indicaticn of
atopic dermatitis in Japan. In addition, Torii has restructured its
business and, in line with plans, started operating under the
new siructure in late 2019.

Our Sustainability Strategy

Our pharmaceutical business aims 1o create innovative,
original drugs to support patients in the shortest time possi-
Dble. As this business has a direct impact on human health and
life, we not only strictly comply with all laws, regulations and
industry standards, but we guide ourselves with a strong
sense of ethics and responsibility. This is particularly the case
in areas such as clinical trials and drug marketing, as well as
animal i and ing chemical

We set five specific targets for three focus areas in 2019,
which we consider are essential for the sustainability of our
business and for our stakeholders. For more details, please
refer 10 gage 28. The focus areas and the specific targets are
available a1 JL.com as well.

R&D that Ensures Ethical Integrity

We carry out our research activities in an ethical manner and
comply with all applicable laws, regulations and industry
standards. We continue 1o strengthen our R&D capability
which enables us to create innovative drugs by focusing our
resources on specitic therapeutic areas. In 2018, the JT
Group invested 33.2 billion yen in our R&D activities.

We have established internal policy on animal experiments
based on ion. Our i Animal
Care and Use Committee ensures that we follow the 3R
concept: Replacing laboratory animals with other research

Forecas: Forecast

materials where possible; Reducing the number of animals
used; and Refining experiments to prevent animals from
suffering unnecessary pain and distress.

We carry out periodic internal audits and assessments to ensure
that we comply with this policy. Our practices are accredited
by the Japan Health Sciences Foundation, an external
authority that lists all accredited facilities on its website.

Quality Assurance of Pharmaceutical
Products Production

The JT Group establishes a sustainablte supply chain that
delivers high quality products to patients. Our products
marketed in Japan are mainly produced and distributed by
Torii, while simultaneously outsourcing to contract manufac-
turers in order 10 build an efficient manufacturing structure.

We have also developed our own guidelines on how to
conduct annual audits to ensure that our production methods
fully comply with government recommendations. We began
implementing these inspections in sefected factories in 2017
and no issues were identified. We have been steadily
expanding the scope of our guidelines since 2018, and they
now cover 100% of our own factories* and contracted
factories. We will continue 1o operate under these guidelines.
* In 2020, tho JT Group will stop manufacturing operations of its

phatmaceutical products in its own facilities and outsource all of them to
contracted factories.

Responsible Promotion of Drugs

We formulate our own standards on the ethical promotion ot
prescription drugs, based on the guidelines on the sales
information provision activities, issued by the Ministry of Health,
Labor and Welfare. Torii's Medical Representatives {MRs)
provide and collect information on pharmaceutical drugs toffrom
medical i i and regularly partic in
training programs to ensure adherence to these guidelines.

Transparency of Partnerships

In order to develop drugs that are more effective, we build
partnerships with research institutes, universities and medical
institutions. When we make financial contributions to our
partners, we strive 10 ensure transparency by disclosing these
payments on our website.
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Processed Food Business | Results for the fiscal year anded Dacembor 31, 2019

Revenue decreased 1.7% as solid performance in the main staple food* category was offset by the decline
in sales of products with lower profitability. Adjusted operating profit increased by 1.3 billion yen mainly
driven by the positive contribution from pricing, product portfolio optimization as well as cost reduction
initiatives, despite lower revenue and increases in raw material and distribution costs.

*Staplo toud: Frozer

We have a mission of delivering safe, high

J

s, Irocon rice, packed cooked e and trozen baked bread

imports, grew 1.6% year-on-year to 1,074.6 billion yen,
exceeding one trillion yen for the second consecutive year.*

The Japanese Frozen Food Market on a
Consumption Basis* UPY BN}

989.4

2014 2015 2016 2007 2018

|| *Sourco: Japan Frozen Food Association i

quality food lo our customers throug
owr three businesses: frozen and ambient
[food, seasonings and bakery. In frozen
and ambient food, our core business, we
strive to achieve revenue growth and aim
lo increase our contribution lo the Group’s
mid- Lo long-term sustainable profit
growth, while optimizing manufacturing
capabilities and enhancing the profituble
product portfolio.

Hiromasa Furukawa
Food Business

Industry Overview

We expect the Japanese processed food industry Lo
continue 1o grow as lifestyles change. Frozen foods can
help meet the diverse needs of consumers with its
abundant variety and convenience in recreating freshly
served leste.

In 2018, annual consumption of frozen food in Japan in-
creased 1.4% to 2,893,299 tons year-on-year, a record high.
Domestic market size on a consumption basis, including

052 Japan Tobacco Inc. Intograted Repast 2019

Our idiary. Co.. Ltd,, is competing against
major players like Maruha Nichiro, Nichirei Foods, Ajinomoto
Frozen Foods and Nippon Suisan Kaisha as well as a
multitude of mid- or small-scale producers, although we are
starting to see gradual segregation of competition within the
industry according to the product categories these competi-
tors respectively own.

These competitors are not the only ones we need to keep
an eye out on. We believe it 1s necessary to monitor trends
in sales channels amid the expansion of private brand
praducts by various distribution companies; and the recrgani-
zation of wholesale entities. We also need to be aware of
the continuing risk of price fluctuations in raw materials due
to global food shortages.

Our Performance and Outlook

« Strengthen our product branding, particularly for staple
tood products, through combining product development
and consumer needs

* Strive to develop high value-added products to respond 10
changing consumer needs

+ Mitigate the impact of rising raw material costs

Qur business primarily engages in frozen and ambient foods,
notably staple food products; seasonings including yeast
extracts and oyster sauce; and products for bakery chain
outlets mainly in the Tokyo metropolitan area,

Key Highlights

Revenue

158.6.m.

-2.8

Yeor-an-Year Change

VALUE CREATION STRATEGY

ABSOLUTE REQUIREMENTS

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

FOR SUSTAINABILITY

Revenue uPY BN

+0.

Adjusted
Operating Profit

5 - 4 UPY BH)
+1.3

Year-on-Year Change

156.6

We continue to take measures to improve profitability. In 2019,
revenue decreased as the solid performance of the main
staple food category was offset by the decline in sales of
products with lower profitability. On the other hand, adjusted
operating profit increased by 1.3 billion yen mainly driven by
the positive contribution from pricing, product portfolio
optimization as well as cost reduction initiatives, despite lower
revenue and increases in raw material and distribution costs.

In 2020, we expect raw malerial and distribution costs will
continue to increase. We will aim 10 achieve top line growth
while enhancing optimal manufacturing capabilities and
strengthening the profitable product porifolio in our core
{rozen and ambient food.

Our Sustainability Strategy

Our mission is to deliver sate, high quality food products to
our consumers.

In 2019, we set eight specific targets for three focus areas
which we consider 10 be essential for the sustainability of

Adjusted Operating Profit (JPY 8N)

+31.8%  -8.0%

2019 2020
Forecast

* All factories that are contracted to manufacture frozen
food products on our behalf have also achieved the ISO
22000 or FSSC 22000 certification.

Food Defense Practices

* We protect our manufacturing processes and products
from intentional contamination.

* We apply robust food defense guidelines across the supply
chain, both in our own factories and our contracted factories;
these guidelines are referred to during our annual audits.

* We strengthen our defense mechanisms against

by optimi; factory cameras
and enhancing the way we manage chemical substances.

* We ensure that all of our employees have deeper
of quality through various
initiauves conducted by each factory and customized
eearning matenals.
* We listen to our . ions for
product quality. and swiftly share these with our factories
and i

our business and for our stakeholders. For more details,
please refer to page 28. The focus areas and the specific
targets are available at JT.com as well.

Delivering Safe, High Quality Products

Qur processed food business has 32 factories, including the
one scheduled to cperate from 2020, which produce a variety
of food products, from frozen foods to seasonings and bakery
products. We are dedicated to delivering safe and high quality
food products to our consumers by thoroughly managing food
safety based on the four priorities of food safety, food
defense. food quality and food communicauon.

* 31 of these factaries inside and outside Japan have
achieved FSSC 22000 cerufication, which Is recognized by
the Global Food Safety Initiative, the food industry’s global
body that promotes food safety management. Qur newest
factory, scheduled to operate from 2020, is also
progressing towards this certification.

We respond to our consumers’ recommendations through
our internal Quality Improvement Committee. This
Committee is comprised of representatives from different
divisions, including Product Development, Manufacturing,
Distribution, Sales, Quality Control and our Consumer

Call Center.

* Our consumer care service management system is.
compliant with SO 10002, the international standard for
customer satisfaction and complaints handling.

+ We respond 10 consumers’ requests to obtain information and
disclose the precise factory where food products were made.
or the country of origin the main ingredients came from.

* In order 1o ensure food satety, we utilize a system that
records information about our products at every stage of
the process, from the raw materials and production o
processing, distribution and sales. This allows us to trace
our product to any point, if necessary.

* We provide toll-free numbers on our product labels, which

can call to obtain ir
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Message from the CFO

While maintaining a strong
financial base, we aim for
sustainable profit growth over
the mid- to long-term and
improved shareholder returns.

CORPORATE PROFILE

2018 Financial Results

Revenue on a reported basis decreased 1.8% year-on-year,
mainly due to the decline of cigarette sales volume in the
Japanese domestic tobacco business, currency headwinds
in the international tobacco business, impact from the
termination of the license agreements for six anti-HIV drugs
in Japan and lower overseas royally income in the pharma-
ceutical business.

Adijusted operating profit decreased 13.4% mainly due to
the decline in revenue. Excluding the impact of foreign
exchange, adjusted operating profit at constant FX increased
by 0.9%. This is the main indicalor we use to evaluate our
performance. The change was driven by the growth of the
total tobacco business, which combines the Japanese
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domestic tobacco and international tobacco businesses,
offsetting the decline in the pharmaceutical business.

Operaling profit declined by 11.1% to 502.4 billion yen,
mainly due to the decline in the consolidated adjusted
operating profit, an increase in amortization related to
acquisitions, restructuring costs in the international tobacco
business and a decline in proceeds from sales of rea! estate
assets, despite the one-time compensation gain related to
the termination of license agreements for six anti-HIV drugs
in the pharmaceutical business.

Profit also decreased by 9.7% to 348.2 billion yen, mainly due
to the decline in operating profit and higher financing costs.

VALUE CREATION STRATEGY

Free Cash Flow (FCF) reached 404.2 billion yen, driven by
the stable cash generation ability of our business operations
and supported by a one-time gain in 2019. Year-on-year, this
represents an increase of 298.6 billion yen as the cash
outlay, related 1o acquisitions in Bangladesh and Russia in
2018, has not recurred.

2020 Financial Forecast

Revenue, on a reported basis, is forecast ta increase by
0.2%, as overall tobacco business growth will offset lower
overseas royalty income in the pharmaceutical business.

Adjusted operating profit will decrease by 2.5% to 503.0
billion yen, as the overall growth of the tobacco business will
‘be more than offset, mainly by the decline in the pharmaceu-
tical business, costs related to headquarters transfer in 2020
and IT system investment. Adjusted operating profit at
constant FX is expected 10 be stable year-on-year.

Operating profit is expected to decline by 6.2% 10 471.0
billion yen. Positive impacts include the absence of restruc-
turing costs in 2019 in the international tobacco business
and the anticipated proceeds from sale of the headquarters
building. These, however, will be more than offset by the
decline in the consolidated adjusted operating profit and the
non-recurrence in 2019 of a one-time compensaton gain in
the pharmaceutica! business.

Profit is forecast o decrease 12.4% to 305.0 billion yen due
1o decline in operating profit and a higher effective 1ax rate
relative 10 2019, which was reduced by a one-time factor.

Regarding FCF. we expect continuous stable cash generation
ability of our business operations, although FCF is expected
10 decrease by 34.2 billion yen to 370.0 billion yen mainly
due to the non-recurrence of the one-time gain in 2019,

Shareholder Return Policy

We give the highest priority 10 business investments, which
contribute to sustainable profit growth in the mid- to
long-term and seek a balance between profit growth through
business investment and shareholder returns under our
resource allocation policy. Our policy remains unchanged.
aiming to deliver stable, consistent growth in dividend per
share based on the mid- to long-term profit growth outlook
while maintaining a strong financial base. In addition, we
continue to consider share buybacks in light of the outlook
for our business environment and financial condition.

In determining the dividend, we are taking into account the
profit level since 2018, following FX volatility in the past
several years. However, the mid- to long-term growth rate
outlook for adjusted operating profit at constant FX remains

ABSOLUTE REQUIREMENTS
FOR SUSTAINABILITY

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

AOGO

our primary indicator. Our mid- to long-term target remains
the same; we aim for mid to high single digit growth over
the mid- to long-term for adjusted operating profit al
constant FX.

On the other hand, adjusted operating profit at constant FX
in 2019 was below our target. as is the forecast for 2020.
Furthermore, profit, from which dividends stem, has been
trending downward due (0 currency headwinds over
several years.

In addition, although we plan to meet our mid- to long-term

target for the adjusted operating profit at consiant FX in our

Business Plan 2020, the uncertainty over profit remains high
due 1o FX volatility and potentially some one-time factors.

Given these circumstances, our annual dividend per share
for 2019 has been set at 154 yen, as announced at the
beginning of 2019, For 2020, we plan to offer an annual
dividend per share of 154 yen, unchanged from the previous
year, to ensure stability of future dividends.

Investor Relations Activities

We are pursuing timely and appropriate disclosure of both
financial iInformation such as operating results, and non-fi-
nancial information, including management strategies, ESG
information and the status of each business, through direct
with and investors.

Our dedicated IR teams based in Tokyo and Geneva engages
in daily dialogue with sell-side analysts and institutional
investors on not only earnings announcements, but also
£SG. We had approximately 500 meetings in 2019.

Our executive management team, including the president,

executive vice president or senior vice president also visits
domestic and overseas institutional investors for meetings.
This includes visits to major cities in North America, Europe
and Asa.

Moreover, we attend conferences held by brokers, both in
Japan and overseas. to meet with sell-side analysts and
nstitutional investors. We hold several briefing sessions for
non-institutional investors every year.

In 2018, we held an RRP-manufacturing factory tour to
respond to a request from sell-side analysts and institution-

al investors.

Going forward, we will continue 1o carry out IR activities that
will meet the needs of shareholders and institutional investors.
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Key Performance Indicators

Financial Performance Review

Revenue

PY BN)

22160 21756

2.139.7

wpv2,175.68n

1 . 80/0 decrease year-on-year

Revenue on a consolidated basis. Excludes
excise and other similar taxes, as well as
sales from transactions in which the JT
Group acts as an agent.

2017 2018 2018
Core Revenue
International Tobacco Business {(UsD MM) Japanese Domestic Tobacco Business (JPY 8N}
506 5824  geag
+1,049 12,379
11.330 Il .99
10,498
2017 2018 Operaons 2019a1 X 2019 2017 2018 2019

constant FX

9 . 3 % growth to

USD1 2,379 MM (at constant currency)

U.S. dollar-based core revenue for the internationat tobacco
business. Includes waterpipe tobacco and RRP, but excludes
revenue from distribution, contract manufacturing and other
peripheral businesses.
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2 . 3 % decrease to
w#v568.9en

Core revenue for the Japanese domestic tobacco business.
Includes revenue from domestic duty free, the China
business, little cigars and RRP, but excludes revenue from
distribution of imported tobacco in the Japanese domestic
tobacco business, among others.

CORPORATE PROFILE VALUE CREATION STRATEGY
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Adjusted Operating Profit Profit
UPY BN WPYBN)
3924 3857
5853 595.5 5.3 600.8 848 348.2
- 515.9
2007 2018 Operations 2019 a1 (23 2019 2007 2018 207
constant FX

1 3 .ll' % decrease to

JPY 51 5.9 BN (reported basis)

0.9% increase at constant currency

" Adjusted operating profit=Operating profit+amortization cost
of acquired intangibles arising from business acquisitions+
adjusted items {income and costs)*

*Adjusted items (income and costs) are impairment losses on goodwill
restructuring income and costs and others

Free Cash Flow

JPY 348.2 BN

9 . 7 0/0 decrease year-on-year

Profit atiributable to owners of the parent company.

Dividend Per Share

JPY BN) wPY)
404.2
154
140 =0
105.6
- .
2017 2018 2018 2017 2018 2019

JPY 404.2 BN

2 9 8 . 6 BN increase year-on-year

Free Cash Flow is sum of cash flows from operating
activities and investing activities, but excludes the following
items:

+ Fiom oporating cash flow: depreciation from lease transactians, interest
toccivod, dividonds raceivod, interost paid and incomo taxas rolatad to
these items excluding lease transactions

« From invasting cash flow: purchasa of investmont sacuritias (hoth short-
torm and long-tarmi, payments into ime deposits, pracacds from salo of
rademption of investmant sacurities (hoth short-torm and long-tarml,
proceeds rom withdrawal of time deposits and other investing activities
not for businass operation purposes

4 yen increase to

154 yen

The sum of interim and year-end dividends per share, the
record dates of which fall in the relevant fiscal year.
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Non-Financial Performance Review

Dow Jones Sustainability Indices

CORPORATE PROFILE

We are very proud to be listed in the Asia-Pacific Dow Jones Sustainabiility Index for the
sixth consecutive year, moving up to second place in the tobacco indusiry.

Highlights include:

Philanthropy and Social Reporting

In the we scored 100 in

2020 for the first time
See The Sustainability Yearbook 2020 for mare details.

iy

RRP

Improved scores and ranking across all economic, environmental and social dimensions
Industry ieader in the sacial dimension, with full scores in Corporate Citizenship and

MEMBER OF

{60
Dow Jones

Sustainability Indices

AM
In collaboration with e

Pertect scores of 100 also in Environmental Reporting and Climate Strategy

Recognized with SAM Bronze Class 2020 ranking and s a SAM Industry Mover

Anti-l

Trade f:_®

At the end of 2019, our RRP portfolio was present in 28
countries, with a choice of three tobacco vapor offerings
(T-Vapor) and five types of e-cigarettes {E-Vapor).

&

Human Rights

We provided information to law enforcement that Jed to:
0+ counterfeit tobacco factories and storage

locations raided

32 billion+ illegat cigarettes seized

@ Eﬁ

ARISE*

‘We completed 9 Human Rights Impact Assessments in
high-risk countries.

o
0 _[M
Agricultural Labor Practices a0 I°N

6,186 children oft farms and into schools through the
ARISE program

* Achioving Reduictian of Chikd Lubor i Suppot of Education

o)

)

Community Investment

Of all the entities thal provided us with tobacco leal, either
directly or through leaf merchants,
81 % reported against Agricultural Labor Practices.

o
o
o

¢

Human Resources

50 wsD MM invested in our communiies
1 0.256 employees volunteered 33,055 hours

on company time

3,640 employees spent 22,841 hours of their own time

taking part in votunteering activities
a
Q

Compliance

Our international tobacco business was certified as a Global Top
Emplover for the sixth consecutive year. We were centified as a
Top Emplover by the Top Employers Institwie in &3 countries
around the world. In Japan. JT was selected as a “White 500"
company and achieved Gold status in the Pride Index Report of
Japanese employers for the fourth consecutive year.
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99.7% of our employees in our Japanese operations
completed onfine training on the Code of Conduct.
30,000 employees attended waining on our Code of
Cenduct in our international tobacco business.

ABSOLUTE REQUIREMENTS

VALUE CREATION
FOR SUSTAINABILITY

STRATEGY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

AOG®

,—f
We strive to further reduce environmental impacts, focusing on the most significant environmental risks and opportunities for
our business and stakeholders. Learn mare about our Environment data at JT.com.

Environment

GHG Emissions in Our Value Chain in 2019
{€0,0 thousand tans)

Combined Scope 1 and 2
GHG Emissions
{COe thousand tons)

B comomaoms 1 w20 B

[ Puosionssosmven
210 couven
o R r—
0 ooms
Water Withdrawal (Thousand m) Waste Generated (Thousand tons)
12009 1%,
10791 10,724 10,689 134
10,430 19889 40,409 129
= — o p— 128 27 128
-t ™ -
3000)
"
o0
®,
200
e e 201 wm  w me 26 0 2w 2w
Noto i L o ALsom.

This year, we regained our spot on CDP's prestigious "A List” for climate
change, putting us in the top 2% of companies achieving A list status. We are
also very proud to have achieved A list status for water security and 1o be
recagnized as a leader in supply chain engagement, both for the first time.

@ Learn more about our non-financial data scope annotations at JL.com.
Any data without annotated scope in this repor covers the entire JT Group including subsidiaries.
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Risk Factors

The JT Group is a leading global tobacco company,
selling products in more than 130 countries/regions.
The Group is also present in pharmaceutical and
processed food businesses. Due to our business
characteristics and changing business environ-
ments, we are exposed to various risks.

1 Substantial or Repeated Tax Increases

Tobacco products are subject to excise or similar taxes in
addition to consumption tax and value-added tax. Excise
taxes are increased in many countries, including Japan, as a
result of their governments’ discussion regarding securing
financial income as well as promoting public health. In
general, value-added tax tends to increase as well. We revise
our prices 1aking into account the expected volume decline
after the price revision, in addition to fully passing on any tax
increase to tobacco products. A tax increase within a reason-
able range is manageable through such a price increase as
well as our eiforts to support the top-ine and pursue cost
efficiency. Most governments take a rational approach on tax
increases, as they are aware that substantial or repeated tax
increases can reduce their tax revenue. However, we have
experienced tax increases in some markets that had signifi-
cant impacl on our business in the past.

A substantia! or repeated tax increases on tobacco products
could resutt in lower consumption and increased illicit trade.
In addition. this could accelerate down-trading to products in
the lower-priced category, resulting in a decline of our
shipment volume, revenue and profit.

= Promote the understanding of relevant authorities that
substantial or repeated tax increases do not necessarily
serve their purpose.

= Optimize our product porifolio 1o meet volatile consumer
preferences.

= Enhance our geographical portfalio 1o mitigate the negative
impact of such tax increases in applicable markets.

= Further improve cost efficiency to secure our prohtability.

* Adequately set each product price according to each
market in order to minimize the impact of tax increases.

080 Japan Tobacco Inc. Integrated Report 2019
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Under our risk management framework, each division carefully monitors the development of events
that may adversely affect our business. This enables us o identify the risks that may inflict a loss and

VALUE CREATION STRATEGY

ABSOLUTE REQUIREMENTS | £y anciAL INFORMATION

FOR SUSTAINABILITY

1take counternmeasures against ther, When risks are malerialized, we promplly respond 1o ninimize

the impact.

assessments, we raport any maternal risks, which might have a significant impact on our business
operations and financial results, 10 the CEQ and decision is taken for implementation of countermeasures.

The following is nat an exhaustive list or explanation of all risks which we may face. All the risk
factors potentially have a material impact on our business operations and financial results.

We utilize internal guidefines for risk assessments, estimating the possibility of nsk materializing and

magmitude of potential inpact that the risks have throughout each of our businesses. Based on these

2 Increase in lllicit Trade

llficit 1wade is a major concern not only for the tobacco
industry, but also for the wider society. For the tobacco
industry, it undermines legitimate tobacco business. For
society, illicit trade reduces excise revenue for the govern-
ment; often fuels organized crime, and may increase health
concerns due to poor manufacturing quality and improper
product handiing. The tobacco industry, including JT, has
been fighting against illicit trade, which takes the forms of
contraband, counterfeit and illicit whites.

Hlicit trade tends to increase in a market after substantial or
repeated tax increases. Regulatory actions against ingredi-
ents and packages could also trigger the acceleration of
illicit trade because it could make counterfeit manufacturing
easier and detection of illicit products more difficult.

An increase in illicit trade could reduce legitimate industry
volume, leading to a decline in our shipment volume,
revenue and profit. In addition, any costs associated with
combatting illicit trade will cause more pressure on our
earnings. Furthermore, it is possible that low quality counter-
feits and improperly handled, smuggled products can cause
damage to the credibility of genuine brands as well as the
reputation of their owners.

« Engage with governments, regulatory bodies and law
enforcement agencies to eradicate illicit trade.

« Ensure we conduct business transactions wilh reputable
business partners in accordance with our rigorous
compliance poticy.

« Raise awareness among our consumers of the negative
consequences of purchasing illegally traded products.

Waorking together with authorities:

JT International Holding B.V. and JT Intgrational S.A.,
two JT Group subsidiaries, have entered a cooperation
agreement with the Eurapean Union {EU), and EU
Member States as part of efforts to combat illicit trade.

Under this agreement signed in 2007, we contributed
an annual USS50 million in the first five years from its
execution and have been contributing an annual
US$16 million in the subsequent ten years. This
financial contnbution is to support anti-smuggling and
anti-counterfeiting initiatives led by the EU and its
Member States.

JTl-Macdonald Corp., our Canadian subsi 0
signed a similar agreement with the Government
Provinces of Canada in 2010,

3 Tightening Tobacco Regulations

The tobacco industry is highly regulated in various aspects,
including ising and ion, and these i
could influence our business performance and financial results.

For example, we may incur additiona! costs in order ta comply
with i ig and requirements. Ft

these regulatory attempts could lead to an increase in illicit
trade and negatively influence our legitimate business. More
prohibitive regulations on communicalion with consumers
may alsc adversely affect our topHine performance.

As a responsible company, we comply with all of the laws
and regulations where we operate. We believe that laws and
regulations should differ in each country, reflecting therr own

Please read ihus chapter together with the forward-looking statements of this report.

legal, social and cultural background. Therefore, we endeav-
or to hold constructive dialogues with governments and
regulators for a reasonable and batanced approach towards
tobacco regulation.

Further tig| g of tobacco regulations on pr {
activities could undermine our strategy for topine growth as
‘we lose opportunities to enhance brand equity. Moreover,
certain regulations may impose additional costs on us. These
may negatively impact our volume, revenue and profit.

+ Identify ongoing regulatory initiatives as early as possible
by promptly collecting accurate information.

* Endeavor to hold constructive dialogues with g ts
and regulators for reasonable and balanced regulations
that meet their objectives.

© Regulation and Other Relovant Laws

4 Competition

The JT Group competes fiercely in both Japanese domestic
and overseas tobacco markets with our competitors.

in the Japanese domestic tobacco market, the liperalization of
imported tobacco products took place in 1985, followed by
the suspension of its custom duties in 1987. Since then,
competition has intensified each year due to aggressive sales
actvities by compeutors, diversitied consumer preferences
and rapid expansion of the RRP market.

In the overseas tobacco markets, we expanded our own
business organically as well as through M&A, by acquiring the
non-U.S. tobacco business of RIR Nabisco Inc. and thereafter
acquiring Gallaher Group Plc. As a result, we are in competi-
tion with global ptayers and local competitors with their
unique strengths within each of their markets.

Market Share can fluctuate due to a number of factors,
including changes in regulations, consumer preferences
and the economic conditions of each market, as well as
competitors’ pricing strategies or brand equity. Moreover,
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any temporary factors, such as new product launches and the
associated promotional activities, can influence market share
in the shori-term.

Fluctuation of our market share may affect our business
performance. In addition, price competition (price reductions
or brand repositioning among others) aimed at ing

dollar and Swiss franc. Therefore, exchange rate fluctuations of
foreign currencies against the Japanese yen influence our
reported financial results. As for the financial reporting of the
international tobacco business, JT Internationat Holding B.V.
consolidates the financiaf results of the international tobacco
and reports its financial statements in
U.S. doflars. We often communicate the financial performance

market share, may negatively atfect our profit margins.

* Optimize our product portfolio by:

- developing and providing products that can capture
changes in consumer preferences and needs

- placing brands with strong brand equity in each price
category

Enhance trade marketing capability and effective

promotional initiatives.

of ouri tobacco business in U.S. dollars, which is
affected by exchange rate fluctuations against the U.S. dollar. In
principle, we do not hedge the risks that arise from the
translation of financial statements. However, we hedge against
risks that arise when equity denominated in each functional
currency is translated into Japanese yen 1o be consolidated by
using foreign y: i i st-bearing debts and
part of these are designated as net invesiment hedges.

In addition, many Group subsidiaries make transactions in
currencies other than their reporting currencies for day-to-day

Further improve cost y 10 secure our

Avoid overdependence on a small number of markets as
sources of profits by expanding the pool of highly
profitable markets.

5 Country Risks

The JT Group, especially the tobacco business, has consis-
tently expanded our earnings base 1o secure long-term
growth by making acquisitions, entering new markets as
well as organic growth in each market. However, these
geographical expansions may increase our exposure 1o
country nsks. In any market where we operate, we may face
politicat, economic or social turmoil, which may negatively
affect our operations and financial results.

Political instability, economic downturn, social unrest or other
unfavorable developments in a certain market coutd disrupt
our business, leading to lower volume, revenue and profit in
the market.

* Avoid overdependence on a small number of markets as
sources of profits by expanding the pool of highly
profitable markets.

6 Currency Fluctuations

As the JT Group operates globally, it is exposed to risks
associated with currency fluctuations.

The reporting currency of our financia

Such also involve the risk of exchange
rate fluctuations. We mitigate these transaction risks through
hedging activities; however, it is not possible 1o completely
eliminate them.

Funthermore, when we liquidate or sell a Group subsidiary
which we acquired in a currency other than the Japanese yen
or impair a substantial value of such a subsidiary, the gain or
loss from the transaction includes the currency fluctuation
impact. Specifically, the impact comes from the difference in
the exchange rates of the relevant currency against the
Japanese yen a1 the ume of the acquisition and at the time of
such transaction.

Fluctuations in exchange rates against the Japanese yen
affect our reported financial results. The reported financial
results of our international tobacco business in U.S. dollars are
similarly influenced by fluctuations in exchange rates against
the U.S. dollar. In addiuon, we are exposed to exchange rate
fluctuation risks when a Group company makes a transaction
in a currency other than its reporting currency.

+ Mitigate the risk through hedges such as derivative
contracts, possession of interest-bearing debts in foreign
currencies and others.

7 Instability in the Procurement of Key Materials
Acraoss its businesses, the JT Group procures raw and

processed matenals for product manufacturing. (n particular,
we strive to procure key materials in the required quantity

is in Japanese yen, while the financial statements of our
international subsidianies are reported in other currencies such
as the Russian ruble, euro, Britsh pound, Taiwanese dollar, U.S.

062 Japan Tobacco Inc. Integroted Report 2018

and at costs. Qur key materials inctude agncuttur-
al products: most notably, tobacco leaf for the tobacco
business; angd grains for the processed food business.
Availabifity of agricultural products Is often affected by

CORPORATE PROFILE
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natural phenomena. such as weather conditions; as well as
market forces. In addition, there 1s a growing concern that
agricultural production costs may rise, as a result of increased
demand in energy resources due to global population increas-
es and economic growth in emerging countries.

Insufficient supply of key materials could lead to inability o
manufacture our products. subsequently resulting in the loss
of revenue and profit. Furthermore, the increase in procure-
ment costs driven by higher production costs for agricultural
products would directly pressure gur earnings.

* Reinforce ability 1o procure key materials by building a
strong relationship with suppliers. In the case of tobacco
leaf, turther promote internat sourcing.

 Promote efficient use of maerials by continuously
reviewing the manufacturing process and product
specifications where possible.

8 Unfavorable Developments in Litigation

JT and some of its subsidiaries are defendants in lawsuits
filed by plaintiffs seeking damages for harm allegedly caused
by smoking, the marketing of 1obacco products or exposure to
tobacco smoke. As of December 31, 2019, 20 smoking and
health-related cases were pending, in which one or more
members of the JT Group were named as the defendant; or
for which JT may have certain indemnity obligations pursuant
to the agreement for matters such as JT's acquisition of RJR
Nabisco Inc.’s non-U.S. tobacco business. JT and its substdiar-
ies, who are defendants in such lawsuits, believe that we
have valid grounds to defend the claims in such lawsuits;
however, we cannot predict the ouicome of any pending or
future Itigation.

in addition to these smoking and health-related cases, JT and
its subsidiaries may be a party to cther lawsuits in the future,
such as product liability claims in the event of a product
quality problem.

A decision unfavorable to the JT Group and its consequences,
including the payment of manetary compensation, could
materially affect our financial performance. Moreover, critical
media coverage of any lawsuit may reduce social tolerance
about our products. Such media coverage may also prompt
the filing of a number of similar lawsuits against JT or its
subsidiaries, resultung in increased litigation costs.

« Continue 1o build weltorganized teams coordinating with external
legal counsel to defend ourselves against these lawsuits.
+ Continue legiti and business op

ABSOLUTE REQUIREMENTS
" FOR SUSTAINABILITY
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9 Natural Disasters

The operations of the JT Group may be disturbed by natural
disasters such as earthquakes, typhoons, floods. volcanic
eruptions and others. Japan is one of the most imporiant
markets for our businesses, yet is subject in particular to
various natural disasters. The Great East Japan Earthquake in
2011 was devastating. The impacts on JT Group included
casualties among our employees, physical damage to our
factories and supply shortages of certain tobacco product
materials. This forced our tobacco business to temporarily
suspend product shipment and limit shipment volume for an
extended period.

We have developed a Business Continuity Plan, including the
optimization of the global supply chain, in order 1o ninimize
the impact of such disasters.

Natural disasters could cause damage to our business as
well as our value chain, leading to disruption of our business
and negatively impacting financial results.

» Continuously review the Business Continuity Plan and
revise it as necessary.

« Carry out emergency drills to increase employees’
preparedness against disasters.

* Insure key assets such as buildings, machinery, equipment
and inventory to recover financial losses as appropriate.

1 0 Climate Change

Climate change caused by global warming can trigger
abnormal weather conditions that could cause various
damages. These include flooding, landslides, severe heat,
heavy snowfall and drought due to unseasonable weather
changes, water resources depletion and loss of biodiversity.

Risk Description and Potential Impact
Climate change could adversely affect our results of operations
by damaging the JT Group and our value chain.

* Work to reduce environmental impact by reducing

gas emi using water
efficiently and reducing waste.

« Establish a system to better understand the impacts of
climate change on businesses and respond appropriately,
such as formulating a scientifically based plan 1o feduce
greenhouse gas emissions (SBT) in the JT Group

i it Plan 2030 and i scenario analyses.
© Imoroving Qur Environmental Imoact
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Regulation and other Relevant Laws

Tobacco Business

The regulatory environment for tobacco is getting stricter
year by year, in the wake of the Framework Convention on
Tobacco Control (FCTC), which came inte force in February
2005. The Japanese government ralified the framework in
June 2004.

The purpose of the FCTC 1s 1o conirol continuously and
ly the of smoking. Its i

include price and tax measures; non-price measures to
reduce demand finctuding protection from passive smok-
ing, testing and measunng the contents and emissions of
tobacco products and their information disclosure, product
packaging and labeling, regulations on tobacco advertising,

otion and . and related to the
reduction of tobacco supply (including prevention of illicit
trade and prohibition of sale of tobacco products 10 minors).
All Parues to the FCTC are obligated to develop, imple-
ment. penodically update and review strategies, plans and
programs for tobacco control. However, each party, has a
right to determine the content, scope and specific imple-
mentauon method of their own tobacco control.

After coming into force, the Parties of FCTC continue their
discussions through regularly holding the Conlerences of
the Parties (COP) in order to develop the protocols (for

With regards to the regulation in those new category
products including RRP, new standards or frameworks for
reduced nsk clams have been established in a few countries
such as the U.S. and European countries. In order to gain
official approval from governments, actuvities in developing
reduced risk claims have been intensified among major
global tobacco manufacturers. At the same ume. some
countries have adopted different regulatory initatives 1o
these products. For instance, the U.S. newly implemented
the prohibition of the sale of certain flavored E-Vapor
products in February 2020. Moreover, some gavernments
have applied the same level of regulations 1o these products
as those to conventional tobacco products. However, we
understand that no substantive global trend on regulations
has been observed yet in this new praduct category.

The Tobacco Business Act and 1ts related acts, statutes, and
voluntary rules regulate the sale and promotion activities of
tobacco products in Japan. These regulations include the
placement of caution statements on tobacco product
advertisements and packages that urge caution over the
relationship between the product consumption and health
{hereinatter referred to as the Cautionl.

The amendment of Ordinance for Enforcement of the
Tobacco Business Act (hereinaiter referred 1o as the
of the Tobacco Ordi in 2003

which and
other are required to the FCTC Parties} and guidelines in
view of implementauon of each FCTC proviston.

Specific regulations are also undertaken in each country.
For example, Russia, a key market of the JT Group,
enacled the comprehensive tobacco control law in Febru-
ary 2013 and has gradually been implementing it since
June 2013. The law includes a retail display ban; restric-
tions on sales of tobacco products in certain retail stores; a
ban on advertising, sponsorship and prometions; the
introduction of minimal pricing; a ban on smoking in public
places: and anti-illicit trade measures.

In addition. the EU revised the EU Tobacco Preduct Directive
{EU TPD) announced in July 2001 and it entered into force
in May 2014. The revised Directive includes the ughtening of

and labeling tricti on the use of
additives including menthol for cigarettes and Fine Cut;
g related to ; and antisllicit

trade measures. Each member state has legistated their
national laws based on the revised Direcuve.

included the wording of the Caution on tobacco product
packages. All tobacco products sold in Japan have comptied
with the amended act since July 2005. In addition, the
Japanese Minister of Finance has indicated a Guideline for
Advertising of Tobacco Products (hereinafter referred to as
the Advertising Guideline) based on the Tobacco Business
Act, Article 39 {caution statements} and Article 40 (advertis-
ing regulations). The Adveriising Guideline was amended in
March 2004 in accordance with the amendment of the
Tobacco Ordinance.

Tobacco institute of Japan (TIOJ) has voluntary rules regarding
the packaging. advertising and sales promauion activities for
tobacco products (hereinatter referred to as the Tobacco
Rules) as per the Tobacco Ordinance. All member companies,
including the JT Group, comply with the Tobacco Rules.

Under the meeting for the Financial System Council
tobacco business subcommittee, a new labeling subcom-
mittee was established in February 2016, which conducted
an evaluation on the Advertising Guideling. The labeling
subcommittee reported the results 1o the tobacco business

Furthermore, the gt plain
packaging in December 2012, which prohibits displaying
iogos and brand images on tobacco packages. The regula-
tion only allows product names to be displayed in the
prescribed color, font, font size and font color. Various
countries including France, U.K. and others have also

and similar white other
countnes has been discussing its implementation.
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in June 2016, proceeding further discus-
sions within the tobacco business subcommittee. As 8
result, the Regulatton Review of the Caution and Advertis-
ing was published on December 28, 2018.

Based on the aforementioned review and a promutgation of
a partial amendment of the Ordinance for Enforcement of
the Tobacco Business Act; the Adveruising Guideline; and

VALUE CREATION STRATEGY

Related Notices of the Tabacco Business Act on June 14,
2019, TI0J revised the Tobacco Rules on the same day.

There are four cntenia n this revision: the revision of
standards for tobacco products: establishment of new rules
tor T-vapor products; establishment of new rules for T-vapar
devices; and establishment of new rules for business activi-
ty and television adverusing 1o advocate the Improvement
of smoking manners.

With regard to the Caution, the revision now requires (a)
caution statement changes on 1obacco product packages
by July 1, 2020 and (b} more restnctive advertisement
measures for tobacco products. The changes in (a) include
wording revision, which reflects the latest scientific
knowledge, and increasing the area of the statements at
least 50% on the surface. With regard to (b). the measures
include more effective ways 1o prevent minors’ access to
internet advertisements and new restrictions on the size
and pr methods for point-of-sale advertising.

The enaciment of the Parual Amendment of the Health
Promotion Act (Act No. 78 of July 25, 2018) {hereinafter
referred to as the Act) in July 2018 strengthened measures
1o prevent unwanted passive smoking at facilities used by
numerous people. The Act classifies the facilities into
three types in terms of measures 1o take: Facility Type 1
includes schools, hospitals and administrative agencies;
Facility Type 2 ncludes restaurants, offices, factories and
any other facilities that do not fall under Facility Type 1 or
facilities whose main purpose 1s not for smoking; and
other facilities that do not fall in Facitity Type 1 or 2 whose
main purpose is to provide a place for smoking (includes
public smoking areas, bars that are mainly for smoking
and tobacco retailers). Facility Type 1 prohibits smoking
within its site but allows designated outdoor smoking
areas if they meet all of the requirements. Facility Type 2
prohibits indoor smoking but allows designaied smoking
rooms after meeting certain criteria. Additionally, 8
restaurant can allow indoor smoking once it meets ceriain
requirements. Facilities whose main purpose is to provide
a ptace for smoking aflow smoking within their sites. We
expect less smoking places 1o be available after the Act
comes into full enforcement on April 1, 2020. We forecast
a certain level of impact on our Group's business perfor-
mance while it is difficult to predict the anticipated changes
in smoking environment.

The JT Group expects regulations, such as the aforemen-
tioned and new ones (including those of local govern-
ments), to expand across Japan and other countries where
we operate, although it is difficult to forecast the exact
contents of possible laws, regulations and industry guide-
lines relating to sales activities, marketing, packaging and
labeling, tobacco products and smoking.

We support any appropniate and rational tobacco regulations.
Nevertheless, we also expect unfavorabte impact on our
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business performance If there will be further enhancement
of these regulations or if we are unable to adapt into them.

The importers and wholesalers of manufactured tobacco
products must register with the Minister of Finance. On the
other hand, retailers of manufactured tobacco products
must obtain the hicense from the Minister of Finance. The
retailers must sell the products manufactured by JT and
imported tobacco products at the fixed retail price that i1s
approved by the Minister of Finance. The Minister of
Finance must approve the filed retail sales prices uniess
the prices are considered unfarly prejudicial to consumers.

The Tobacco Business Act requires the JT Group to enter
into purchase contracts with Japanese tobacco growers
annually, regarding the aggregate cultivation area for
specific varietes of leat tobacco and the prices for the leaf
tobacco by variety and grade. The Group must purchase all
|eat-tobacco-produced pursuant 1o such contracts, except
those that are not suitable for the manufacture of 1obacco
products. Before entering into the contract, the JT Group
shall submit a proposal 1o the Leat Tobacco Deliberative
Council (hatabako shingi kai, herenafter referred to as the
Council). The Group, with the approval of the Minister of
Finance, appoints members for the Council among those
who represent the domestic leaf tobacco growers and
academic scholars. The proposal covers the area of
domestic tobacco cultivation as well as the purchasing
price of leaf tobacco and the Group shall honor the Coun-
cil's opinions. Similar to many oiher agriculiurat products in
Japan, preduction costs for domestic-grown leaf tobacco
are higher than those that are foreign-grown. This results in
the purchase price for the domestic-grown leaf tobacco
(before re-drying) to be approximately three times higher
than that of the foreign-grown leaf 1obacco (after re-drying).

Pursuant to the Japan Tobacco Inc. Act thereinafter referred
to as the JT Act), JT was established to manage the
bustness related 10 manufacturing, sale and import of
tobacco praducts. Based on the JT Act, the Japanese
government must hold over one-third of alt of the Compa-
ny's issued shares except far the class shares, which have
no voting nights against all matters that can be resolved at
our shareholders’ meeting. The JT Act also states that it
requires the approval of the Minister of Finance for any
issuance of new shares and stock acquisition rights as well
as for any issuance of new shares, stock acquisition rights
and bonds with stock acquisition rights in case of a
share-for-share exchange.

The JT Act also indicates that under the approval of the
Mipuster of Finance, the JT Group may engage in business-
es other than manufacturing, sales and imports of tobacco
products or tobacco-related business that are essential to
serve the purpose of the Group. Certain matters, including
the appointment or dismissal of Directors, Executive
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Officers and Audit & Supervisory Board Members; amend-
ments to our Arucles of Incorporation; distributions of
surplus {excluding loss compensation); mergers; corporate
splits or dissolution also require the approval from the
Minister of Finance. The JT Group must submit its state-
ment of financial position, statement of income and
business report to the Minister of Finance within three
months after the end of each fiscal year.

The supplementary provisions of the Reconstruction
Financing Act* came into effect on December 2, 2011. This
Act stales that the governmenti shall consider the possibili-
ty of full disposal of governmenti-owned JT shares by
reassessing owned JT shares through taking into account
their involvement in the tobacco-related industries based
an the Tobacco Business Act by the fiscal year ending
March 31, 2023.

* Raconstruction Financing Act: Act an Spacial Measuras for Socuring

Financial Resources Nocessary for Reconstruction trom tho Great East
Japan Eanthquake,

The JT Group’s Global Marketing Principles

The JT Group complies with all regulations of the respective
countries where we operate. At the same time, we pursue
our business based on the JT Group's Global Marketing
Principles {hereinafter referred to as the Principles), which
value responsible marketing. The JT Group markets only
towards existing adult consumers with the aim of maintain-
ing brand loyalty and encouraging adult consumers to switch
10 our brands. Moreover, we recognize that youth smoking
prevention is an issue thal must be addressed by sociely as
a whole. Based on the Principles, we will continue 10
operate our business appropriately, while working with
governments and other relevant organizations to take steps
towards preventing youth smoking.

@ Please refer 1o JL.com for more details.

Pharmaceutical Business

The pharmaceutical industry operates in a highly regulated
environment. In many countries, its R&D, manufacturing and
sales promotion activities are strictly regulated. Moreover, in
recent years, the approval process for new drugs has been

i ing due to the i requi 1ts to promote
public health and safety. Compared to the past, it now
requires pharmaceutical companies to spend more time
examining pharmaceutical safety issues and conduct a
greater number of clinical trials on subjects to collect more
data on the efficacy of new compounds. Consequently,
chnical trials are growing in scale, cost and time. Meanwhile,
the standards governing the reliability and quantity of
research data have been globally harmonized, creating a
more efficient and reasonable development process that
allows data for international utilization.
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In Japan, the marketing of pharmaceutical products is
subject to the supervision of the Ministry of Health,
Labor and Welfare (MHLW) and relevant prefectures,
pnimarily under the Act on Securing Quality, Efficacy and
Safety of Products Including Pharmaceuticals and Medical
Devices. This Act requires pharmaceutical companies to
obtain an approval to conduct their manufacturing and
distribution activities from every prefecture where they
operate once every five years. In addition, the companies
must obtain marketing approval for each of their products
from the MHLW.

The Japanese universal health insurance system sets a list
of pharmaceutical drugs and their official prices which
medical insurance can cover. Moreover, drastic reform of
the drug pricing system will create challenging circum-
stances due to annual drug price revision, constraints on
the scope of price maintenance premium drugs, price
reduction of long-listed drugs according to replacement rate
and similar factors.

Processed Food Business

As a manutacturer and a distributor of food products, the
JT Group's processed foad business is subject to regula-
tions mainly under the Food Safety Basic Act, the Food
Sanitation Act and the Food Labeling Act.

The Food Salety Basic Act requires food-related companies
to take necessary measures to ensure food safety in each
process of the supply chain as well as to provide informa-
tion about foods and food-related goods appropriately.

The Food Sanitation Act aims to prevent the sanitation
hazards resulting from consumption of food and beverages.
This Act requires food-related ies 1o take Y
measures under their own responsibility 10 ensure the safe-
ty of food, additives, tools and packages. The measures
discussed in the Act include the acquisition of knowledge
and skills, assurance of raw material safety and inspection.
The Food Labeling Act sets the standards for the labeling
of food intended for sale and defines the labeling require-
ments such as allergens, expiration date, materials or
origin. Food-related companies and entities must comply
with the standards to prepare their product labels.

While complying with the abovementioned laws and
regulations, the JT Group is alsc striving to address in

a high level of food safety control through four perspec-
tives: Food Safety, Food Defense, Food Quality and
Food Communication,

VALUE CREATION STRATEGY

Litigation

JT and/or some of its subsidianes are defendants in
lawsuits fited by plaintiffs seeking damages for harm
allegedly caused by smoking, the marketing of tobacco
products or exposure to tobacco smoke. As of the fiscat
year-end date, there were a total of 20 smoking and
health-related cases pending in which one or more mem-
bers of the JT Group were named as a defendant or for
which JT may have certain indemnity obtigations pursuant
1o the agreement for JT's acquisition of RJR Nabisco Inc.’s
non-U.S. tobacco business. In addition, JT and some of its
subsidiaries are also defendants in lawsuits other than the
smoking and health-related cases.

As of the fiscal year-end date, there are 10 ongoing health
care cost recovery cases in Canada pending against
JTI-Macdonald Corp. {hereinafter referred to as JTI Mac), our
Canadian subsidiary and JT's indemnitees (RJR Nabisco
Inc.’s affiliates), brought by Canadian provinces. in addition,
there are eight pending class actions in Canada where
plaintiffs are seeking damages for harm allegedly caused by
smoking of cigarettes. Damages claimed in some of these
cases reach sums in the multi-billion-dollar range. The JT
Group will continue to take all appropriate actions to defend
such claims vigorously and believes there are a number of
valid defenses.

On March 8, 2019, JTI-Mac filed for protection from its
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e-cigarette manufacturers in the U.S. However, as of the
fiscal year-end date, neither JT nor any of its subsidiaries
are a party 10 these cases.

Please refer to the "Consclidated Financial Statements,
"Note" 38 Contingencies -~ Contingent Liabilities” for major
lawsuits to which JT and some of its subsidiaries are
named as defendants.

To date, The JT Group has never lost a case or paid any
settlement award in connection with smoking and health-re-
lated litigation. However, the Group is unable to predict the
outcome of currently pending or future lawsuits. A decision
unfavorable to the JT Group and payment of substantial
amount of monetary compensation could materially affect its
financial performance. Moreover, regardless of the results of
these lawsuits, critical media coverage may reduce social
tolerance of smoking, strengthen public regulations concern-
ing smoking and prompt the filing of a number of similar
lawsuits against the JT Group, forcing it to bear litigation
costs and materially affecting our business performance.
Apart from smoking and health-related ones, the JT Group
also may become the defendant in further litigation. When
any problems arise on the Group's product quality, this will
lead to a claim seeking profit liability. Such litigation cases
may negatively affect its business performance or manufac-
ture, sale and import and export of our products, should their

creditors under the Companies’ Creditors Act
(CCAA). The Ontario Superior Court has granted the CCAA
application and extended protection in favor of JTI-Mac. All
the Canadian matters against JTI-Mac have been stayed by
the court order. JTI-Mac carries on business in the ordinary
course under the CCAA,

In recent decades, numerous, large-scale. smoking and
health-related cases have been brought against tobacco
product manufacturers in the U.S. and some of the cases
initially resuited in verdicts with massive damage awards.
JT and its subsidiaries are not defendants in any of these
lawsuits, nor are they subject to any indemnity claims with
respect 1o them. The JT Group's U.S. tobacco business
does not include the business that it acquired from RJR
Nabisco Inc. in 1999, as well as the Natural American
Spirits’ non-U.S. business that it acquired from the Reyn-
olds American Inc. group in January 2016. Even now, the
scale of the JT Group's U.S. tobacco business remains
small. Hence. the Group considers potential exposure to
smoking and health-related litigation in the U.S. to be low;
we believe that litigation in the U.S. will not matenally
aftect its businesses in the near future.

Following the 2015 acquisition of Logic Technology
Development LLC, the JT Group operales an e<igarette
business in the U.S. The Group is aware of related ongoing
litigation alleging health effects associated with ecigarette
use and harm caused to consumers by misleading repre-
sentations and adverlising for which plaintiffs are seeking
damages and/or demanding health warnings against

prove
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Respect for Human Rights

Qur Approach and Progress

Inform

We are working hard to embed human rights thinking in our
Corporate culture and to improve employees’ understanding
of the human rights implications of business decisions. To do
this, we provide regular traming and continuously share
information about human rights and the JT Group Human
Rights Policy.

We conduct Human Rights Impact Assessments (HRIAs) to
rdentify and assess actual and potential human rights risks. In
line with the UNGPs, our HRIAs focus on the greatest risk to
people. both within our own Company and through business
relationships with our supptiers from farm to store. As a result
of the HRIAs, we aim to address the identified risks of the
rights-holders, meet our stakeholder expectations on
respecting human rights and mitigate against the overall risks
10 people and the business.

Conducting human rights due diligence - through HRIAS ~ is
part of our Corporate responsibility to prevent adverse
impacts on people and ensure that the highest standards of
behavior are upheld within our business and value chain. To
achigve this, we are committed 10 assessing 100% of our
high-nsk countnes by 2025, in our tobacco business.

As part of this commitment, we have completed nine HRIAs
across our entire value chain in the last two years - in the
Dominican Republic, Egypt, Ethiopia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan,
Malaysia. Mexico, Myanmar and Tanzania. In our Japanese

i we started due diligence in
our processed food business in China and Thailand.

Over the last year, we have also conducted HRIAs in our
tobacco leaf supply chain in various markets, including
Ethiopia and India. These assessments provide a more
comprehensive understanding of the human rights impacts

© Learn more about our findings from HRIAs at JT.com.
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We respect human rights across our value chain
and recagnize the Universal Declaration of Human
Rights, the International Bill of Human Rights and
the International Labour Organization’s
Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights
at Work. The JT Group Human Rights Policy
follows the framework provided by the UN
Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights
(UNGPs).

within one specific part of our value chain — our tobacco
supply chain and farming business — and the root causes of
challenges that tobacco growers face in their communities.

We develop action plans to address issues identified through
HRIAs and self-assessment questionnaires. Since 2018, we
have developed nine action plans in our tobacco business
and seven action plans in our processed food business, each
with an agreed timeline. A Network of Human Rights
Champions is responsible for ensuring that these action plans
are managed and implemented by each country and respect
for human rights is firmly estabfished in the business.

The United Nations Guiding Principles
on Business and Human Rights make
the pathway clear: companies have a
responsibility to respect the rights of
those they impact through their business
opevations and supply chains.

As a company, we have emhraced our
obligation lo respect human rights and
are commalled to tackling the challenges
this will bring. We have made solid
progress and will continue this work on
our journey of continuous improvement.

Chartie Watson
Director, Human Rights, JT International S.A.
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Improving Our Social Impact

QOur Focus Areas

Through long-term partnerships with local and international

. we are about 400 nity
investment programs that contrnibute to the development of
inclusive and sustainable societies across 68 countries.
The programs are based on global and local needs and help
communities become more inclusive and resilient. We are
focusing on three specific issues:

QOur community investment policy determines a
common goal across the JT Group: “To contribute
to the development of sustainable societies, by
helping to make communities more inclusive.” We
believe that everyone should have the opportunity
1o participate in society, and that inclusive societies
are also better for business.

Our community investment programs are
implemented according to our community
investment policy. All of our programs have a
pasitive impact on our communities while
respecting the environment and the diversity of
societies and individuals.

Measurement and Evaluation

Our work is highly rated by external agencies. including the
Dow Jones Sustainability Indices (DJSI), which recognizes
us as the indusiry leader in “corporate citizenship and
philanthropy,* with a perfect score of 100.

To measure the social impact of
our work, we use the LBG*

1. Reducing inequalites, e.g., helping u prvileg
gain access to food and education.

2, Improving community resilience n disaster-prone areas,
e.g.. providing access 10 clean water.

3. Protecting the environment, e.g., replanting trees with the
help of our employees.

people

ALBG

F provided by ATE
CITIZENSHIP

Corporate Citizenship.

* Global standard for

d reporting on corporate ity

00,volunteeghour:

30
()

&
9 &
US$44,044,379 jo.cash,

[U55¥2,213,951 Iinenagenient Coss)
US<]
[USS 303,483 in'kind]

investment programs JSUPPOIted.

nganlzatlnns

e a
with’ourlemployees contributing 300,
mmmmrm
D)
£17109.297 inemployee) [volunteering during]
)
Note Wo agpled the sverage exchange ato for 2019 (USS1= 102,03 yon,

@ Learn more about our community invesiment activities at JT.com.
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Improving Our Environmental Impact

Environmental issues, such as climate change, are of increasing societal concern.
Our operations impact the environment through resource usage, emissions and
waste generation, as do most industries. The environment also has a direct influence
on our business. We all need to address environmental issues and, as a global
organization, we recagnize that we have a key role to play in reducing our impacts,

not only from our own operations but across our value chain.

CORPORATE PROFILE

By implementing sustainable business practices, we are able to conserve resources,
reduce waste, manage costs and meet growing consumer demand for more
sustainable products - bringing benefits to both the enwronmem and our business.

This approach is explained in up Enviry n

¥ Learn more about out approach to environment on JT,com.

The JT Group Environment Plan 2030%**

In 2019, we launched the JT Group Enviranment Plan 2030,

which sets objectives and targets that address our key
environmental risks and opportunities in relation to three focus
areas: Energy and Emissions, Natural Resources and Waste.

Our GHG emisston reduction target was approved as a

science based target (SBT) by the Science Based Targets

mivatve (SBTI).

Objective

Yarget

SCIENCE
BASED
TARGETS

DRIVING AMBITIOUS CORPORATE CLIMATE ACTION

Progress in 2019

Transition our opcrations
10 net zero carhon energy

We will double the proportian of fencwable clectriaty that wo usc to
25% by 2030 and 100% by 2050.

b

b 13.9%

Energy supply.
Redhce our greenhouse gas ‘We will reduce greenhouse gas emissions from our own operations by 32%. -14.3%
enussions 1o support the Paris
(Q:) Aaraament on giooel cimate Wo will reduce emissions associaied with our purchased goods and “0.0%%
b services by 23%.
. change with the aim of
Emissions  aenisving net zero carbon This will be achieved trough & 40% reduction from our direct leal supply 2

emissions from our operatians.

chain and reductions in our non-tohacco materials, such as packaging.

Suppon globa) water

stewardship by reducing our
water withdrawal and by
encouraging waler fisk
management m our supply chain.

To better understand water risk and use in our supply chain, by 2022,
we will implement a water risk management process in our
manutacturing supply chain.

We will reduce water withdrawal associated with our tobacco business by 15%.

b

Forestry

Ensure a sustainable wood
supply for our product supply
chains and further contribute
16 forest conservation and

rehabilitation.

we will have assessed the drivers for deforestation and forest
degradation in communities where we source tobacco and developed
2ction plans for improved wood resource use, forest conservation, and
forest rehabilitation.

We will replace all wood from naturat forests used in the tobacco curing

To further focus our effuits on sustamable forest inanagement, by 2020,

process of our directly contracted growers with renewable fuel sources.

d w

]

Waste

Further reduce the

environmental impacts of
waste associated with our

processes and prodt

We will reduce waste associated with our lobacco business by 20%.
By 2020, we will have targets and action plans relating to the
appropriate use and responsible disposal of materials, including
plastics, used in our products and packaging.

b
b
b
>

ucts.

D w

) Baachngves o abagots 201, Toge vear s 2000l st athorurs, Tho ovoral o [ b rviwed ovr e vt

wath our and services is los! eloted

jotuma sosrcoa i
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onwards, with
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JT Group Environment Management

In our more complex operations, we align our approach to
environmenial management with internationally recognized
standards - 1SO 14001 and ISO 50001.%2 In our smaller and
less complex operations 1n Japan, we have implemented our
own "JT Green System,” which promotes a simple and
consistent approach.

To objectively review our approach to environmental
management angd our overall performance, we use external
disclosures and raungs agencies, such as CDP and the

ABSOLUTE REQUIREMENTS
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Dow Jones Sustainability Indices (DJSI). In 2019, we
impraved our rating in DJSI's environmental dimension and
achieved the maximum score in Environmental Reporung
and Climate Strategy.

Bow Jones .
Sustainability Indices

AM
In collaboration with s

CDP A List and Supplier Engagement Leader

Since 2010 we have reported on our environmental impact to
CDP. 3 leading external ratings agency and climate research
provider. This year we regained our spot on CDP's prestigious
“A List"” for climate change (press release in January 2020),
having done so previously in 2016. We are also very proud to
report that we are included in the CDP A List as a global leader
on water security for the first time {ress release in February
2020) and recognized as a global leader in engaging our supply
chain in addressing climate change.

Lo barns in Malawi.**

7115 14201 and 15050001, o o atonaly oceguans sandrc ( anveormanol maragemrs syt i ey ranagamentsysoma respoctvsly. Theso standaids do nat

and energy por‘ormance.
*+Laerm moro ahout Lva aains at JTLcom.

s¥steins thet dehver contyrual mprovement in environmentel
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The JT Group appoints Outside Directors who can
contribute to the Group's sustainable profit growth
and enhance corporate value in the mid- to long-
term, from the perspective of strengthening the
supetrvisory functions and transparency of business.

The following is a dialogue between Yasutake
Tango, the Chairman of the Board, and Yukika
Nagashima, an Outside Director since 2019.

Tango: Our management principles pursue the 4S model.
We have been taking various initiatives to enhance our
corporate governance, which is ane of the key challenges for
management, as part of pursuing the model.

Nagashima: It has been almost a year since | was appointed
as an Outside Drrector of JT. By attending board meetings
and participating in the decision-making process. | have
realized that the 4S model is not just a slogan; it forms the
core standard of making decisions in the Group. What really
impressed me was when one of the Executive Officers was
asked about ihe status of an acquired overseas tobacco
company at a hoard meeting. His report included the
feedback from the employees at the local factory of the
acquired company that they were glad 10 be acquired, saying
that their uniforms have now become much more hygienic. |
was surprised to receive such an employee-centered report
in addtion 10 g1 prior- and p isition perfor-
mance analyses, which are usually mandatory. The former
report also made me realize that there are systems that
enable the observation and reporting of what is happening
on the fronthnes from the 45 model perspective, reflecting
the fact that the model has
become the Group's mindset.

The 4S madel pursued by the JT
Group is a cornerstone for
making decisions that takes into
consideration the sustainability of
business operations without
being biased toward any
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Dialogue between the Chairman of ¢
the Board and an Outside Director *

particular stakeholder. Any decision making is conducted by

y ing for the between and
impacts on various stakeholders, ensuning that corporate
activities are not just profit oriented. The JT Group introduced
the 4S model in 1996, which is in harmony with the concept of
sustainability, the global trend now embodied by ESG and the
SDGs. | also think it is important for the Graup to communicate
that the 4S model is not just about seeking higher stakeholder
satisfaction; it also enhances the growth of the Group.

Tango: Thank you. Throughout my business trips to our
offices around the world or when addressing sustainability
challenges, | notice the frontline employees are carrying out
their duties while taking each stakeholder into consideration.
| believe that, in line with your opinions, we must continu-
ously pursue the 45 model.

Needless to say, good corporate governance is the foundation
of pursuing the 4S model. The Board of Directors plays a role
in making decisions on Group-wide management strategies
and important matters. At the same time, the Board serves as
the body supervising all business activities. To ensure board
meetings run effectively, it is crucial that all attendees,
including Outside Directors, engage in free, active and
constructive debate and exchanges of opinion. To this end,
proposals to the Board are explained in advance to attendees
by the proposing party or the Corporate Strategy Division,
which serves as the Board's secretariat. We strive to ensure
that each attendee has enough time to fully assess every
proposal. In addition to proposals, information that supports
the forming of judgments during the decision-making process,
such as the business environment surrounding the tobacco
industry, is shared regularty. We also encourage Cutside
Directors to wisit the frontlines of the Group worksites in
Japan and averseas as much as possible. Furthermore, we
have just taken measures to increase opportunities for
Outside Directors and the Audit & Supervisory Board to get
together and exchange opinions.

To evaluate the effectiveness of the Board of Directors, we
conduct surveys of all Members of the Board and Audit &
Supervisory Board Members on the operational framework,

VALUE CREATION STRATEGY
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the agenda and the quality of the discussions at board
meetings. Using the feedback from the survey, we conduct
PDCA cycles to further enhance the effectiveness of the
Board of Directars. On this point, what is your take on JT's.
Board of Directors, Ms. Nagashima?

Nagashima: In its evaluation of effectiveness, the JT Group
goes beyond just scoring each element. The Group collects

i on both i and areas of
concern. The frank opinions of each Member of the Board and
the Audit & Supervisory Board Member are provided as
feedback to the board meetings. | feel that one way the Board
of Directors helps enhance its effectiveness is its assessment
of new initiatives, asking what their aims are and how they
are actually fairing in terms of achieving those aims. One such
example was when the Advisory Panef on Nomination and
Compensation was launched, we quickly added new effec-
tiveness evaluation items related 1o the new panel.

ABSOLUTE

2 | FINANCIAL

| A@®

harness therr abilities, it is extremely important that an
appropriate executive remuneration system is in place. As an
Qutside Director, | am carrying out my responsibility 1o
establish a competitive executive remuneration system
befitting those work responsibilities while also assessing its
tairness from a market perspective.

Tango: Last but not least, |
would like to hear your thoughts
on your role as an Qutside
Director with regard to issues
related to the corporate
governance and business of the
JT Group.

Nagashima: This is not limited

10 corporate governance, but | feel it would be even better
10 mare strongly icate the goals and aspirations for
businesses both internally and externally. The 4S model is

Tango: The Advisory Panel on i and C ion,
which you just mentioned, was established in 2019 through
the integration of the formerly independent Compensation
Advisory Panel and the Meeting for Talent Development,
which discussed matters related to supporting the growth of
candidates for 1op management positions. The purpose was
1o enhance the quality of debate by uniting the two panels
and having the same members hold deliberations.

In terms of selecting our leaders for the next generation, |
would like the CEQ, CFO and other top management posi-
tions to be filled by people who can seriously tackle the
challenges of the JT Group as well as take the initiative. In
particular, | would like the young people who will lead the JT
Group in the future 1o always carry out their work with a vision
of what they want the JT Group to be in 1C, 20 or even 30
years from now. | want them to figure out what they need to
do now to realize their vision of the future and then proactive-
ly take on challenges. Some say that our young employees
are relatively quiet compared to those in the past, who used
10 put pressure on the top management. | would like the
young people 1o discuss what we need to do and take action
with a mindset of leading the JT Group's future.

Nagashima: As you said, to ensure that the personnel
responsible for the future of the Group are actively engaging
in a wider environment, | think they need to lead their
businesses not only by leveraging the global business
foundations established by their forerunners but also by
focusing on how tobacco is fundamentally defined and, from
a longer-term perspective, on defining the ideal relationship
between a tobacco product and society. | believe this would
likely lead to more younger people putting pressure on top
‘management, which you touched on earlier. Additionally, |
think it 1s very important for the current top management o
have discussions with those next leaders to speedily create
future business opportunities.

In addition, to recruit and train the personnel responsible for
the present and future growth of the JT Group and fully

y a check sheet for operating a business. | think the
starting point for conducting business is embracing the
vision of what the JT Group wants to do and what it strives
to be. The support of each stakeholder can only be gained
through the results of these business efforts.

In addiuon, given the rapidly changing business environ-
ment, transformalion is an indispensable tool. As we
undertake transformation, | would like everyone to take up
challenges in all areas with the belief that they will definitely
succeed and while being unafraid of failure. Rather than craft
a sirategy to avoid failures, take up challenges with the
belief that you will definitely succeed and enhance your
quality of cutput as a result. Even if you fail, you will learn
much more from the mistakes. | beheve that this mindset 1s
also in harmony with one of the strengths of the JT Group,
which has continued to grow through transformation
accomplished by taking up many challenges amid a challeng-
ing business environment.

The company where | worked has repeatedly disrupted s
success models and launched new businesses. | often
encountered occasions where we changed our personnel,
organizations and strategies. In terms of corporate gover-
nance, we also changed our management structure, going
from a privately owned business to a listed company.

In addition, | once served as CEO of one of the company’s
subsidiaries. What | learned from that experience was that a
CEO's jobs are to make decisions and take responsibility.
Management can choose from several options but 1o prove
that they have chosen the right one, they must succeed. It is
a series of tough decisions, and even if we fail, management
must take ibility as reflected in ion or
position. The current tobacco industry requires its players 10
swiftly undertake various projects and | think this is & similar
environment to the one | experienced.

As an Qutside Director. | will continue to fulfill my duties through
substantive debate while maintaining a healthy distance.
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Corporate Governance
Basic Policy

The JT Group believes that corporate governance is the
means for conducting transparent, fair, timely and decisive
decision-making for pursuing our management principtes, the
4S model. Specifically, the 4S madel aims to fultill our
responsibilities to our valued consumers, shareholders,
employees and the wider society, carefully considering the
respective interests of these four key stakeholder groups, and
exceeding their expectations wherever we can. We have
instituted the JT Corporate Governance Policy in a belief that

CORPORATE PROFILE

by doing so. it will enable us to achieve mid- to long-term
sustainable profit growih and increase company value, which
will contribute to our stakeholders and eventually the econo-
my and society development. We will continue to strive to
make enhancing corporate governance one of the key
challenges for our management.

@ Please refet 1o JL.com for moro dotails on the JT Corparate Governanco Policy.

Reasons for Choosing the Current Structure

The JT Group has a fair and independent Audit & Supervisory
Board, which strengthens the supervisory function on
management in securing objectivity and neutrality by monitor-
ing the performance of the Members of the Board and
Executive Officers. Under the supervision of the Audit &
Supervisory Board. the Group is ensuring etficient operations
with optimal size of the Board of Directors and through
delegation of authority under the Executive Officer System.
As part of the Company’s efforts to establish an effective
corporate governance system, it has established the JT Group
Compliance Committee with the majonty of the members
consisting of external members and the Advisory Panel on

Our Initiatives to Enhance C 1t

Nomination and Compensation with the majority of the
members consisting of Independent Outside Directors.
Starting 2019, with an objective to further enhance objectivi-
ty and transparency of the management and 10 improve
corporate governance, the JT Group has assigned an
additonal member to both the Qutside Directors and Audit &
Supervisory Board.

We have adopted our current Corporate Governance
structure as these processes have been effective for
{ execution and sup i

Strangthen advisory function

Streamline dacision-moking systom and
enhance supervisary function

Pursus offi

t bug

Set up the Comnpliance Commiee (FY2000)

Reduced number of Direciars (FY2000)

introduced Executive Officer Systern (FY2001}

Set up the Advisory Committee* ' (FY2001)

Promoted the delegation of business execution 1o the Executive Officers (FY2000, FY2008 and FY2011)

Set up the Compensation Advisury Panel*? {FY2008) | Invited Outside Birectors (FY2012) |

Sct up the Advisory Pancl on Nomination and Compensation 2019)

*' The Advisory Committee was abolished an June 30. 2014,
2 The C: Advisory Panel was i

Our Corporate Governance System (As of March 19, 2020

Select or cismiss membors

General Meeting of Sharcholders

the Advisary Panel an Nomination and Compensation on March 20, 2019,

Solect ar dismiss members. Seloci of cismiss members

‘Audi Repent

‘Accounting audivOparating audic

Baurd af Diroctors

Repont oneruanbes s
— Ravieweof tha Intodrgtiren Outmis
01524 Doz seberand 00 | compines eemmitan Y Sy
rules rehung to Bavrd Me~Le s
Indopendent eterich peryer
Auditors mance | ompenaton tor [ AN
o e e

Inuroduce complianco-elated maars.

Gperational Review.

Lawyers ’—}
4 Atvee

Executive Officers . "

Compliance Otfice

(rclucing tres
Cuis'ze D rectors)

Dopanmenta
Subsidiaries
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The Advisory Panel on Nomination and Compensation

The Advisory Panel on Nomination and Compensation is a
voluntary advisory body to the Board of Directors, which was
established on March 20, 2019 by merging the functions of
the existing Meeting for Talent Development and the
Compensation Advisory Panel. The Advisory Panel an

ination and Ct was i w0 aim to
further enhance objectiveness and transparency by playing a
role in supporting senior executive candidates. deliberating
the selection of candidates for Board of Directors and Audit
& Supervisory Board, deliberating the dismissal of Executive
Directors and Members of the Board who execute the
business, and making reports after deliberating matiers
related to remuneration of the Members of the Board and

In 2019, it convened six times to confirm and discuss
agenda, including a review of the existing executive remu-
neration plan, a proposal to revise the remuneration plan, the
level of remuneration, processes for developing the pool of
executive candidates. In addition, we had two Compensation
Advisory Panel meetings before establishment of the
Advisory Panel on Nomination and Compensation.

Members
Chair Chairman of the Board Yasutake Tango
Members Independent Cutside Director | Main Kohda

Independent Outside Director | Kaichiro Walanabe

the Executive Officers, thereby the sup \2
tunction of the Board of Directors. The Advisory Panel on
Nomination ang Compensation consists of the Chairman cof
the Board, who chairs the panel, and three Independent
QOutside Directors, meeting at least once a year.

tndapendent Outside Director | Yukiko Nagashima

Nomination of Member of the Board Candidates and Dismissal of
Executive Directors and Members of the Board Who Execute the Business

In the JT Corporate Governance Policy, nomination of
Member of the Board candidates and dismissal of Executive
Directors who are the directors with special titles and
Members of the Beard who execute the business and
related matters shall be conducted according to the following.

Member of the Board candidates shall be nominated by
resolution of the Board of Directors after receiving reports of
the deliberations from the Advisory Panel on Nomination and
Compensation. The President submits the initial proposal of
the candidates to the Advisory Panel on Nomination and
Compensauon. Then the Advisory Panel on Normination and
Compensation deliberates while securing appropriate input
from Independent OQutside Directors.

If Executive Directors and Members of the Board who
execule the business do not meet the required standards or

Selection and Dismissal Process

have become unable to perform their duties, they shall be _
dismissed by the resolution of the Board of Directors. The
Members of the Board who are not subject to dismissal shall
request the Advisory Panel on Nomination and Compensa-
tion to examine and report back the content and results of
therr deliberations to the Board of Directors on the proposal
for dismissal. This Advisory Panel on Nomination and

C 1 secures iate input from "
Outside Directors.

Further, when bringing up agenda items on the appointment
of Member of the Board candidates to Ordinary General
Meeungs of Shareholders, and the dismissal of a Member of
the Board who is Executive Officer by the Board of Directors,
the JT Group shall disclose the reascns for the appointment
of individual candidates and for their dismissal, respectively.

AL i ination and
ctian Procass for he ¥ Panel an

[3
Momber of the Board

Deliberato on the candidato proposed by the Prasidont and
teport its deliberations 1o the Board of Directors

» | Tho Board of Directors
Resoluuon on a candidate proposal

Dismissal Process for
Executive Directars and
Membars of the Board who
exocute the business

The Advisory Panel on Nomination and Compensation
Daliberate on a praposal for dismissal and repont the content  ———
and rosults of s dabberations to tha Board of Diractors.

The Board of Directors.
Resolution on s proposal for dismissal
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Succession Planning

The JT Group shall work on creating a successicn poot of
candidates with qualities to ensure sustainable profit growth
and increase corporate value in the mid- to long-term by
pursuing the 45 model.

CORPORATE PROFILE

We aspire to enhance the development of the executive

idate poal, in which are nomi by the
executive officers led by the CEQ; enhance the succession
plans and support the growth of such candidates, in consul-
tation with Advisory Panel on Nomination and Compensation
comprised mainly of Outside Directors.

Executive Remuneration
Executive Remuneration Policy

In order to achieve sustainable profit growth and increase
company value over the mid- to long-term through pursuing
the management principles of the 4S model, the Advisory
Panel on Nomination and Compensation reviews and provides
advice an the policy, framework and calcutation method for
remuneration of the Company’s Members of the Board and
Executive Officers in response to inquiries. The panel also
monitors whether our executive remuneralion level is
reasonable. Based on the recommendation from the Advisory
Panel on Nomination and Compensation, the key policies for

the Company'’s executive remuneration are as follows:

« Set the remuneration at an adequate level to retain
personnel with superior capabilities.

« Link the remuneration 1o company performance so as 10
motivate executives to achieve their performance targets.

« Link the remuneration to company value in the mid- 1o
long-term.

« Ensure transparency by implementing an objective and
quantitative framework.

Process of Executive Remuneration

globally and possess comparable levels of size and profits
with the JT Group. The remuneration of Audit & Supervisory

The amount of for Directors is ined by
resolution of the Board of Directors within the approved upper
limits at the Ordinary General Meetings of n

light of deliberations by the Compensation Advisory Panel.
These amounts are determined by benchmarking based on
third-party research conducted on remuneration of corporate
executives at major Japanese manufacturers that operate

Board Members is also in the same way and is
determined by deliberation among the Audit & Supervisory
Board within the { approved
at the Annual General Meeting.

Executive Remuneration Structure

l Original New. 1
Base solary__ Executive bonus Plan Buse sofory__Exacutive bonus Plan,
Members of the Executive Officer Agplicatle Agplicable Applicable Applicable Applicable Agplcable
Board (excluding - - — —
Outside Directors)  NOt an Executiva Officer Applicatle Nat applicable Applicable Agplicable Notapplicable  Nou applicablo
Outside Diractors Agplicable Notapplicable __Not applicable Appicable Notapplicable __ Not applicable
Audit & Supervisary Board Members Applicable Notapplicable __Not applicable Agplicable Notapplicable ___ Not appicable

|Remunera\ion for the Members of the Board also serving as Executive Officers ]

Remuneration for the Members of the Board also serving as
Executive Officers (hereinafter referred to as Eligible Directors)
is compnsed of their “base salary,” “executive bonus,” and
“stock option plan” as they are responsible for achieving

Additionally, in order to strengthen the efforts to enhance the
mid- to tong-term company value and to further promote shared
value with the shareholders, the JT Group has proposed to
abohsh the existing stock option plan and to introduce the

assigned annual targets through their day-to-day

Fraom 2020, Eligible Directors will be individually evaluated for
achievement of their performance targets through execution
of their duties that will fead to the Company’s sustainable
profit growth.

078 Japan Tobacco Inc. Integrated Report 2019

stricted Stock Plan and the P al
Share Unit Plan.

On a 100% grant basis, the composition of executive bonus
and performance share unit remuneration will be as oer the
following illustration.

VALUE CREATION STRATEGY ABSOLUTE REQUIREMENTS | £z ciaL INFORMATION
FOR SUSTAINABILITY

‘[.P—n\;mem Forman [

] [Cstock Option Grants |

Base Salary
€55%

| e Gonus Stock Optn Pl 1
%

New -

[ chango
Baso Salary Exacutvo Bonus '.‘;'.2.‘. et L Shas Ut
c3342% 3135% [ :2513% -
A1 Cash ] [_shares___[Shares & Cash"]

** The composition ratios very depanding on the dutics of the Members of the Board, Tho rangos are indicaied in the ilusitation.

*4 The ratiu of the and units

2 Under the Parformance Share Unit Plan, §0% i paid a5 cash towards tax payment.

Nate: The abova illustration is based on cert;

thrae 10 one.

of the Company’s
Campany's perfarmance and the sharo prico.

and the share price. The ratios may fluctuate depending on the

Remuneration for the Members of the Board who do not serve as Executive Officers (excluding Outside Directors)

Remuneration for the Members of the Board (excluding
Outside Directors) who do not serve as Executive Officers
is comprised of therr "base salary” and “stock option”
since they are required to make decisions on compa-
ny-wide management strategies and fulfill supervisory
functions to enhance company value. Effective from

January 1, 2020, the remuneration is comprised of the
“base salary” in order to place & greater emphasis on
objectivity and neutrality and further focus on the supervi-
sory functions, including manitoring the implementation of
mid- to long-term growth strategies.

neration for the Outside Directors and the Audit & Supervisory Board Members ]

Remunaration for both the Outside Directors and the Audit & Supemsory Board Members consists of the “base salary” alone

to ensure, . their and their

Executive Remuneration Details

to conduct audits.

Base Salary.

1

Until 2019, Executives were remunerated with a monthly
“Fixed base salary” as per their responsibilities. From January
1, 2020, the Eligible Directors will be individually evaluated for
achievement of their performance targets through execution
of their duties that will lead 1o the JT Group’'s sustainable
profit growth. Performance targets are set through interviews

with the Group's President and the CEQ at the beginning of
year and evaluated at the end of year. The base salary for the
following year will be set within a certain range reflecting the
individual performance evaluations. However, an individual
performance evaluation will not be applicable for the Group’s
President and the CEO.

Executive Bonus

Executive bonuses for Eligible Directors will be paid as
monetary remuneration, reflecting annual performance.
Adijusted operating profit at constant FX and profit results
will be the performance indicators (KPI), which form the
foundation of sustainable profit growth and shared value

with the shareholders. Executive bonuses will be deter-
mined by adjusted operating profit at constant FX and profit
in the ratio of 75% and 25%. respectively. Performance-
linked payouts will be based on the KPI achievement in the
range of 0% - 200%.

[Stee

k Option Grants

The Company's stock options are designed based on a
stock option grants plan, in which the exercise price s 1
yen (the amount paid by the person is 1 yen per share).
The Board of Directors decides the number of units to be
allocated for each term based on the fair value of the
Company's shares, calculated by a third party.

The assigned stock options can be exercised only after one’s
positions as Directors, Audit & Supervisory Board Members

and Executive Ofticers end. We do not intend to change this
exercise condition in the future.

From 2020, we will abolish the existing stock option plan
and introduce the restricted stock remuneration plan and the
Pertormance Share Unit Plan for the Members of the Board
also serving as Executive Officers. The stock options that
were already granted will remain in force.

Restricted Stock Remuneration Plan (Effective from 2020)

Restricted Stock Remuneration Plan is designed to further
enhance the shared value in the mid- to long-term between
Eligible Directors and shareholders. Eligibte Directors receive

monetary compensation claims every year towards restricted
shares and Eligible Directors will receive the allocation of JT's
common shares by paying all of the menetary compensation
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claims in kind in accordance with the resolution of the Board
of Directors (the allotment will be made from the treasury
stock). The transter restrictions on the allotted shares will be

lifted upon resignation of such Eligible Director from the
Company’s Board of Directors or any other position specitied
by the Company’s Board of Directors.

Performance Share Unit PIan (Ef

i |

The Performance Share Unit Plan is a performance-linked
stock compensation system that aims to strengthen the
shared value with shareholders in order to enhance the
company value over the mid- to long-term and 1o commit 10
achieving business results over the mid-term. The Eligible
Directors receive monetary compensation claims and cash
after the Performance Evaluation Period, which is aligned
with the duration of the JT Group's three-year business plan,
in accordance with the performance achievement rate and
other multi-year performance targets during the Performance
Evaluation Period. The Advisory Panel on Namination and
Compensation deliberates and decides on the achievement

rate of such targets for performance and other items during
the Performance Evaluation Period. The remuneration for the
performance share units will be disbursed at the end of the
year as monetary remuneration claims and cash towards the
acquisition of comman stock. Each of the Eligible Directors
will receive an allocation of the Company’s common shares
by paying all of the monetary compensation claims in kind in
accordance with a resofution of the Board of Directors (the
allotment will be made from treasury stock). Profit will be
set as a KPI for the Performance Stock Unit Plan starting in
2020 and the performance-linked payout will be based on
the KPI achievement in the range of 0% - 200%.

Overview of the Resolutions on Total Executive Remuneration at the Ordinary General

Meeting of Shareholders

The ceiling for annual aggregate remuneration towards all Members of the Board was approved at our 34th Ordinary General Meeting
of Shareholders (March 20, 2019) and cur 35th Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders (March 19, 2020) as listed below.

Griginal New.
Members of the Board Members of the Board
fexcl Outsids Directors) {excl. Outside Directore)
i Outside Outside
amount fuo | Notan | Birectors amount ive | N Diroctors|
Exocutive | exocutiva | Exocttive | exocutiva
cer |~ Officer Officer
Basesalary  Basesay |upio12billanyen | Aoplicatle | Appicabls | Applicatio Basa saAy  {Uoio 11 illonyon | Apelicatle | Auplicatc | Apsicaio
Short-u Exacutivn S0 ilion v o [ N Exocutivo ol N N
ontom cutiv de Di " of ot for Dutside Directers) | Apgi ot No
incontve bonus [uside Divctors] | Aopicatio | 1 W%t | st bonus | Avsticatle | yicite | apaiatis
i Rostictod  |Upto 200millionyen | ot Not
Mid- 10 up 0240 mitlanyen stock Upto 15200 shmes)| AP | sonkicinie | appicate
Yongterm Stock option. Stock oo g2 | vty | nggcao | N1
\ncontive. granis 10 960 units aplcable Perlormanco  [Unto 130millionyen | oy Not Not
sharo units__ |Upto 75803 shases] | "' | applicable | applicable
Total § Towl i
tomunerstion [1.44 billion yen remuneration |1.44 bilion yen
amount mount

Further, the maximum amount of annual aggregate remuneration towards ail Audit & Supervisory Board Members was approved at
our 34th Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders (March 20, 2019) and will not exceed 240 million yen.

Total Amount of Remuneration in 2019

Total amount of ramunoration and other payments

Total amount of Ly s type (Millions of yenl s

othar paymonts ) Stock option | Number to ba
Catogory. {Millions of yen) Bosicsalory | Exocutive bonus | |, pold )
Members of the Baard (excluding Outside Directors) 659 467 7 15 6
Audit & Supervisory Board Members 9 9% N - 3
toxcluding Outside Audit & Supervisory Board Members)
Quiside Directors and Outside Audii 119 19 - . 7
& Supervisory Board Members .
Total 8 680 n 15 16

Nate For "execuiive bonus,” the amounts planned 10 be paid are shown.
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Evaluation of Effectiveness of the Board of Directors

In the JT Group, all Members of the Board as well as Audit &
Supervisory Board Members conduct questionnaire-based
self-evaluations on the effectiveness of the Board of Directors
in terms of its operation systems and supervisory functions as
well as interactions with shareholders and investors. The Board

the quality of decisi king at the Board of
Directors. Consequently, we 100k various measures in 2019,
which include increasing the number of meetings to
exchange opinions between the Qutside Directors and the
Audit & Supervisory Board Members as well as improving

of Directors Secretarial also conducts individual i with
the aim of supplementing the results of the evaluations.

The Board of Directors then assesses and analyzes the
results for further improvements in its effectiveness.

The JT Group confirmed the improvement of the Board of
Directors’ effectiveness in 2018. On the other hand, we
found that there is room for improvement which includes
strengthening cooperation between the Outside Directors
and the Audit & Supervisory Board Members: and an
information sharing process that could contribute to further

the of advance nation and
sharing in relation to items on the Board of Directors agenda.

From 2020, the JT Group will prioritize planning information
sharing opportunities that will further enhance the supervisory
functions of the Board of Directors; and determining the level
of detail and depth of information to be shared. We decided to
take these measures by taking account of the challenges
identified in the evaluation conducted in 2019.

The JT Group will continue 1o take necessary measures (o further
enhance i , including the ti ones.

The Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is responsible in making decisions for
any critical matters including the JT Group strategy as well as
in supervising all the activities of the Group. The structure of

the Board of Directors is defined as follows.

* The number of Members of the Board in the Board of
Directors shall be 15 or less, within necessary and
appropriate scope, composed of diverse people with &
high-integrity sense of ethics, knowledge, experience
and skills as professionals.

The JT Group shall appoint two or more Independent Outside
Directors with qualities that will contribute to the Group's
sustainable profit growth and increase of company value in the
mid- to long-term from the viewpoint of strengthening
supervisory functions and increasing transparency of business.

The Board of Directors meeting, in principle, is held every
month and more if necessary. The Board of Directors makes
decisions on the matters required to be resolved by them
under the Companies Act, such as any essential business
plans, disposal or acquisition of important assets, significant
amount of borrowings and conclusion of impartant agree-
ments. For the purpose of supervising the Company's
activities, the Board of Directors requires Member of the
Board to report on the progress of operations at least on a
quarterly basis. The JT Group had 14 board meetings attend-
ed by all members of the Board in 2019 to discuss important
issues including the management plan.

The Audit & Supervisory Board

The Audit & Supervisory Board, entrusted by shareholders
and ensured of its autonomy, conducts operating and account-
ing audits. We currently have five Audit & Supervisory Board
Members including three Outside Audit & Supervisory Board
Members. Collectively, the members have experience in
management, legal, finance and accounting among other
areas. The Audit & Supervisory Board Members possess
various staiutory rights in order to accomplish their roles and
responsibilities. These include making requests to the
Members of the Board, Executive Officers and employees to
report o the Audit & Supervisory Board issuing injunctions to
prevent illegal activities by Member of the Board representing
the Company in the case of litigation between any Member of
the Board and the Company; and dismissing the auditing firm.
The Audit & Supervisory Board submits its report, containing
the results of both the accounting and operating audits, to the
Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders. Members of the

board or Executive Officers must report to the Audit &
Supervisory Board any identified facts that may cause
significant damage to the Campany as well as other important
matters concerning the management of the Company. The
Audn & Supervisory Board Members can attend meetings of
the Board of Direclors and other important meetings.
Members of the Board respond promptly and appropriately
when they are requested by Audit & Supervisory Board
Members to inspect important documents, conduct on-site
inspections and submil reports. In addition, the audit depart-
ment and the compliance departments collaborate with the
Audit & Supervisory Board Members. Ms. Nagata and Mr.
Obayashi attended all 14 meetings of the Audit & Supervisory
Board held in 2019. Mr. Yamamoto, Mr. Mimura, and Mr.
Yoshikuni attended all 10 meetings of the Audit & Supervisory
Board hetd in 2019 fallowing their appointment. .
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ABSOLUTE
FOR SUSTAINABILITY

CORPORATE PROFILE VALUE CREATION STRATEGY

AQO

Five Audit & Supervisory Board Members (including three Outside Audit & Supervisory Board Members)
As of March 19, 2020

Apiil 1387 Joined tna Company Ms. Nagata was appomed as an Audit & Supervisary Board Apil V970 Juticil Agpremiico 1, Oboyasri has bean 0.1 Audi & Sucarvsory Board
Agiil 2001 Vice Presidens,Procucts Dison, Food Business Ovision, ocd Businss  Membar of the JT Graup t March 2018, Sh has April 1972 Agpaintog as Public Prosecutor Member since March 2015 (n asiditan to s extensive
June 2008 SeniorVica Pesidare, Head of B in the Group's audiing thiough leveraging her 01 Oirector-General of the Rehatiltaton Bureau, Ministry of Justica oxperience in the logal circles, M, Obayasi has
Ve Prosiden,Froduci Dvision, Food RusinsssTvsin,Food Busimess  sbundant oxperisnce wnd hes wid sy 208 e VoMt of e, My o e sigrificant axpenenca as an Outside Diractor 7a Quisido
July 2008 Semor Vica Presiden, Hoad ol Beverage Business, Food Busiess regord to the Group's busmess operatons across June 2004 DivcctorGeneratu U s St Ny o dsas Audit & Sugervsary Board Member across o wiae rango
July 700 Semor Vico Presidem, Head af Beverage Business aperational businesses and internal departmants. We fune 2005 Vica-Minster of Jus of imdusiries, We cor.sider his deap knowlarige and
dme W seaweheieencR befieve har oxcenenco and knowdedge wil be indispensablo duy ) Superendng Do s;ppnrmwm-: s Do expeniance to be indispensable 1o improving the Grouo's
January 2018 Servar Vico Presiden. Assistant to resident 1o tha merovement of tha corparate governance of the Hiroshi Obayashi uty . Tokyo Hig omg tarwisd, We also bekieva that
:Z.::.; m:g:"a March 2018 Stsnding Audit & Susarvisory Board Member of the Company Gtaup going forward. oy Sugm ‘X:s ne 210 Posscutorfenersl o can fulil his cuties as Outside Audit & Suporvsory
) {Gusers Postion) Mach 2011 Fegistered 35 Alotney st Low Board Membe fof the aforementioned raasons and the
Supervisory Bostd Member . . Board Momber Aprit 2011 Detside Audit & Supenvisary Bosid Memben, Darwa Socuiies C0. s, fact tnat ho has sulficenty carricd out hus respansibiities
Datn of hinh: .uy 14,1363 {ndepandent Outsids Audit & Custent Posiany 25 an Autic & Supervsory Board Membor of tho JT Group,
Term of office: Suporvisory Bowd Mermbort  June 2013 Pasition|
4 years tom Marcs 2018 Dae ol ik g 1. 1907 duss 700 Quiside Autit & Supanisary Board Morba, Nigton Sioet & SN0 company management othar than beng an Outside Audis
Nuniber of shaves held: 12473 Tarm of ofic Vel Coporation X & Suervisory Boarc Member.
2 yeats trom Macch 2019 Gutren N-gpon Steet Corporation Curnt Psiior)
; ) Nombes of shares hole: 0 March 2015 Quiside Autis & Sunenisory Brard Marmher cf tha Company
Apit 1987 Joned the Company Mt Yomamoto has seived in such roles as the Vico b o3 he Cutren Postuant
duly 2008 Vice Pesident, NonTbacco Matenal Pocurement Divisen, Prosident of the NonTobacco Material Procucment
s Buiness Dséson of e Tbaceo Businessan o e Fresientf Sindcan Conne o ot Comp:
June 2012 Viee Pre . Aitaray o Law, Obayashi Lot
Vaeh 8 Sendng e & supeniorBoard Mamie e Compry oty s m et rlo et i oy Ouide Auo & Sopnir
(Curim Psit enhancing the Grauo's corporate governanca in s busiess 8oard Mombers, Daiwa Sngu'\!u: Colid.
oo aperations. Wo bekevs he will el his dutias as an Audit & Quisid Oirestar, Misubis Eectc Corprasion )
Hiroshi Yamamoto Sugarvisory Board Membsr t relation 10 the elfecuvs Ouisida Aucit & Supervisary Board Members, Nigpon Steel Carcaration
Standing Audit & audiing of tre Group thraugh his actailed, deen snd
Supenvisory Boord Member . wideanging knawiadga as wel a5 oxpcricnce acass al Bpil 1575 i) dapan Bzt Carsion M. Yashicun =as sarved in such rcles at Japan
o ‘ousiness operations and i srect departments. June 2003 Dwactor Responsio o L 3 Corporation 85 the Drector Responsible for
Dato of b Novembey 29, 1963 SovenBaacensing Copratn Finance i Nows Degarument, i of Secatat o B
Torm of affice: Jone 2005 Erecatva Diecter, Yokehama Bicazcasing Staion, of Governars, and Exacute Drecior, He has
Ayearsiion Mac 2018 Japan Broaccastng Corporatian Pobics and acenamcs euhvatod ool long gcars s
Nuwber of shates hald: 2603 June 2000 Chiotof Sessetarit for Boerdof Govemars, yournalist career as well as management axpenence that
Japan Broacasung Corporation mako hum welbversed with 2 business aperations ana
April 1979 Enicred Mimisuy of finance. Mr. Mimure hes deep <nowledge of sucn fields as Koji Yoshikuni Februry 2010 Senor Disector, Japan Broadcasung Carporation wntarnal depantments, Wa osfieva him to utiize his
July 20 th i and finance, glahal nsk managemant, qaopalitics and Audit & Suporvisory Apiit 2012 ‘m"lw Dnuw Jaum mem 'ng Corporation ) LnMedgc 10 play a significant role, as an Audit &
tof i . Ceruified P corparate faw thraugh his extensive expenenca over April 21 Prcject Design Group’s corpo-
i i i Board Membar A u. rHa 3 Uncrit (oo P on)
and Auditng Oversight Soars, Financial Services Agercy many yusrs of serving in b wide tango of impuriant {ndupandont Ovtside Audit & i o vy oo o o )y 1ste govarnanca.
July 201 Director General, KinkiLocalfinance Rureau, Ministr of Finance posiuens in ministries ond bureaus, in addiion 1 his rola ndapendent Outside March 2013 (Curtent P
e 817 Dy Dt s S, Moty o Ot B enarch msmots chaimman, We beltoss that s brad Suporvisory Bowrd Membar)  April 2019 e i Gute ot omaien ot
8 of Dafenss and deca knawlecge can maia a significant contrbusion Date of birth: {Cuttem Posidon)
Toru Mimura July 2003 v’wml Nwm? Instiute for Defense Studies. to the affecuve audiung of the JT Group In tris highly Soptemtn 7, 1952
Stonding Audit & stry of Def . uncertain business environment, In addition, wo believe Term of offict
Supervisory Board Member U1 2014 Dicector ‘gwwl. unso s and Ecaipment, Minstoy of Oetense s rolos a3 Standing Auht & Sungrvisory Ponrd Marbor 4 yers rosm Mareh 2018
P Octobor 2015 Viee Mt . Vimsay ana utsido Audi & Supanvsory Board M umbar of shares held: 0
e ard Mombar) o0 iman, o avdhing rom s rbparty
upervisary Baard Member) :“;W";' ;'"7 g"!ﬂf’v [;'::x‘m nfw o narspoctive and led 10 a strengthaning of the Group's
Date of birh: Secembes 76, 1 anc! egisiere ey . ata governance, for which reasen we prapesa his .
oot OB Maich 29 Stnein Ousde Audt & Supenisory Board Meroe o B OGS carem v Gt Aot & Sumeresory boond vorshin

4 Yot o Marca 201
Number of sh

{Current Psition)

the o
Automey 31 Law, Shicz Intg:naticnal Law Qffices

mgany.
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M. Mimura meets sll requirements for becoming an
Independant Diractor proserihod by the Tokyo Stock
Exchango, inc. Howevar, the JT Groun doas not intend to
appoint him a5 our Independent iuctor, taking Into
account ivo Groun's prescrboo cnoria of ndepercnce
and s rcessionsl oxcrenc s o Mt ofFranc,
¢ has bean mora than aight yaars sinco M. Mimura
rasigrad ffom fis past at the Mistry of Financ.
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Internal Control System & Risk Management System

Overview

The JT Group strives 1o optimize its system to conduct
appropriate business operation by reinforcing internal conrol
including compliance, internal audit and risk management.
We regularly report any information related to these internal
controls to the Board of Directors. In addition, we have the
Auditor’s Office, a department reporting to the Audit &

Internal Control Framework

The Board of Directors.

Supervisory Board, to help our Audit & Supervisory Board
Members eftectively perform their duties. The JT Group works
with its Group companies to enhance the framewaork for
compliance {inctuding the concern reporting system, credible
financial reporting, risk management and internal audit.

Compitanco Pelicy and
Crisis managemeny Financial riskal vl
[ Blaaster rocponss l I o Complance

Credit exposure

Compliance

The JT Group created a Cade of Conduct based on our
internal guidelines approved by the Board of Directors.
Under the Code of Conduct, we expect all directors and
employees 1o fully comply with applicable laws, our Articles
of Incorporation, social narms and other compliance stan-
dards. In addition, the Board of Directors has estabished a
framework as described below 10 ensure fair and effective
compliance practices.

* Set up the JT Group Compliance Committee, which
reviews and discusses compliance-related matters as well
as reports directly to the Board of Directors

* Appoint an Executive Officer responsible for the
Compliance Office

* Deliberate the Annual Compliance Plan and its action plans
approved by the Board of Directors.

« Report the status of implemented compliance initiatives to
the Board of Directors

The Compliance Office 1s in charge of enhancing as well as
identitying any issues in the compliance framewaork. The

i Office also pr 1 i by conducting
various training programs for Board Members and employees.
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Internal audh plan/ tntemal control Intarmal conol
Internal aud report report audit

The JT Group has both internal and external hotlines, which
employees can use 1o consult or report any violations or
possible violations of the JT Group Code of Conduct. The
Compliance Office is responsible for investigating reported
cases and implementing corrective measures after discuss-
ing with the relevant divisions. The JT Group Compliance
Commitiee reviews any significant cases, and further reports
1o the Board of Direciors if necessary.

The JT Group Compliance Committee is led by the Chairman
of the Board, with the majority of the members consisting of
external members. The JT Group Compliance Commitiee met
three times in 2019, and discussed initiatives to promote
compliance throughout the Group among other matters.

CORPORATE PROFILE

VALUE CREATION STRATEGY

Credible Financial Reporting

The JT Group has introduced an internal control system in
accordance with the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act
and other standards, in order 10 ensure the credibility of the
Group's financial reporting. In addition, the Group has
created a dedicated division to review the internal control

ABSOLUTE REQUIREMENTS
FOR SUSTAINABILITY

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

AGQ

system and report the result of the assessment. The
credibility of our financial reporting is confirmed by the
external accounting auditor who makes an assessment of
our internal control system based on the Internat Control
Report we prepare.

Risk Management

The JT Group has set up the internal guidelines for financial
risk management. Our Group CFO presents the relevant
reports to the Group CEQ and the Board of Directors on a
quarterly basis.

In order to deal with possible crises or disasters, the JT
Group has produced a manual for crisis management and
disaster control so that we can make a proper initial re-
sponse. In the event of a crisis or a disaster, a project team
led by the President is immediately assembled. In the
project team, the Corporate Strategy Division assumes the
key role to support the CEQ. Under the leadership of the
President, we respond promptly and properly, ensuring close
cooperation with concerned departments. Crisis or disaster
incidents shall be reporied to the Board of Directors.

In accordance with the Rules Defining the Extent of Responsi-
bility and Authority, we delegate the management of other
risks 1o relevant divisions, where they are 10 identify and
monitor the risks in their areas of responsibility. These
divisions will report significant risks to the CEOQ, together with
a request for approval to implement countermeasures against
them, whenever necessary.

©® Picasc refer 1o "Risk Faclors® for more information on the JT
Group's risks.

Internal Audit System

The JT Group has an Operational Review and Business
Assurance Division, which is thoroughly independent from the
other Group divisions and organizations. Under such a capacity.
it conducts internal sudits and directly reports to the CEO. The
Operational Review and Business Assurance Division has
unlimited access to all Group-wide activities, records and
employees to accomplish its roles and responsibilities. The

head of the division Is required to report the results of interna)
audits along with their analysis and assessment to the CEO,
and the Board of Directors every year. The head of the division
has the right to contact the management of JT and the Group
companies regularly and as frequently as needed.
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The Board of Directors, Audit & Supervisory Board

and Executive Officers
The Board of Directors

Chairman of the Board

Yasutake Tango

Deputy Chairman of the Board

Mutsuo Iwai

Masamichi Terabatake
Naohiro Minami
Kiyohide Hirowatari

Kazuhito Yamashita
Main Kohda*'
Koichiro Watanabe*'
Yukiko Nagashima*'

* Qutside Diractors under tho Companies Act
of Japan

The Audit &
Supervisory Board

Standing Audit & Supervisory
Board Mcmbers

Ryoko Nagata

Hiroshi Yamamoto

Toru Mimura*?

Audit & Supervisory

Board Members

Hiroshi Obayashi*?

Koji Yoshikuni*?

*# Outside Audit & Suparvisory Board Members.
under the Companies Act of Japan
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Executive Officers

Masamichi Terabatake
Chief Executiva Ofticar

Executive Vice Presidents
Naohire Minami
Chief Financial Officer and Cammunications

Kiyohide Hirowatari

Legal, Corporato Suatogy. Digitalization,
Human Resourcos. Oporation Reviow &
Businoss Assuranco, Pharmaceutical
Business and Food Business

Senior Vice Presidents

Kazuhito Yamashita
Compfiance, Sustainability Management and
Gonoral Attairs

Junichi Fukuchi

Chiet Executive Officer of Japanese Tobacto
Business, Tabacco Business Planning,
Tobacco Business

CORPORATE PROFILE

As of March 19, 2020

Senior Vice Presidents

Yuki Maeda

Chiat Financial Officor of Japanese Tobacco
Business, Tobacco Business

Eiichi Kiyokawa

Salos, Tabacco Business

Kenji Ogura

Coporate, Scientific & Rogulstory Aflairs,
Tobacco Business

Chigusa Ogawa
Leaf Pracurement, Tobacco Business

Yasuhiro Nakajima
Hoad of RRP Japan Offico, Tobacco Business

Shuichi Hirosue
Marketing, Tobacco Business
Hiroyuki Miki

R&D, Tobacco Business.

Akihiro Koyanagi
Manulacturing, Tobacco Business

Toru Oguchi
Hcad of China Division, Tobacco Businoss

Toru Hijikata
Ouality Assuranco, Tobacco Business

Muneaki Fujimoto
President. Pharmaceuucal Business

Shigenori Ohkawa
Head of Central Pharmaceutica! Rescarch
Institute, Pharmaceutical Business

Hiromasa Furukawa
Food Businass

Kei Nakano
Corporate Suategy

Takehisa Shibayama
Digitalization

Takanori Kikuchi
Ganeral Altairs

Koichi Mori

Human Resources

Hiroyuki Fukuda

Communications

Osamu Hirose
Logal

Hisato Imokawa
Sustainabity Managomant
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Members of the JTI Executive Committee | As of January 1, 2020

Eddy Pirard
Prasidont and Chief Executive Officor

Koji Shimayoshi
Exucutive Vica President and Doputy CEO

Roland Kostantos
Chiat Oparating Officer

Vassilis Vovos
Sanior Vice Prasiden, Finance,
IT and Chiaf Financial Qlficer

Howard Parks
Senior Vice President. People & Culture,
and Chisf Compliance Officer

Daniel Torras
Senior Vice President, Reduced-Risk Praducts

Takehiko Tsutsui
Senior Vice President, Business Dovelopmont
and Corpurate Suategy

Suzanne Wise
Senior Vice Prosident. Corporata Affairs
and Communications

Wade Wright
Senior Vice President, Lagal
and Regutatory Affairs

Bilgehan Anlas

Rogianal President, Middlo East, Near East.

Africa, Tutkoy and Werldwido Duty-Freo

Yves Barbier
Senior Vice President, Markating and Sales

Antoine Ernst
Senior Vica Prosidant,
Chiaf Transformation Officar

Stefan Fitz
Regional Prasident, Wastern Europa

Marchant Kuys
Regional Prasident. Americas.

Hiroyuki Miki
Senior Vice Presidons, R&AD, Chief Quality Officar

Jorge da Motta
Regional Prsidant, Asi Pacific

Andrew Newton
Sonior Vico Prosidont, Global Supply Chain

Kevin Tomlinson
Regional President, Eastern Europe
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Financial Review

Analysis of the Results | resis or o isca vesr ondod Docarme 31, 2019

Revenue*'

Billions of yen

2018 r/a

Intematonal Tobacco

JSapanose Domesuc Tobacco

Pharmaceutical

Processed Food

Others.

2018

Revenue decreased 40.3 billion yen or 1.8% year-on-year to
2,175.6 billion yen mainly due to lower revenue in the
Japanese domestic tabacco business, pha i

business and processed food business. In the international
tobacco business, the solid performance driven by price/mix

Adjusted Operating Profit*?/Operating Profit

was offset by currency headwinds.

Biflians af yen

2018 Adjusted aperating profit p/i

E
L3

Intormatonat Tobacco: Business momantum
ot constant

Imernational Tohacco: Lacal currancy vs.

USD FX etfect

International Tobaceo: USD s, Yen FX effect
Japanese Domesuc tobacco
Phamaceutical

Pracessed Foos

Othors

2018 Adjusted operating profit
Adjustment totat

2019 Operating profit
Adjusted operating profit decreased 79.5 billion yen or 13.4%

year-on-year to 515.8 billion yen, mainly due to untavorable
currency movements in the international tobacco business.

In the international tobacco business, adjusied operating
profit declined. Unfavorable currency movements and
{urther investments in recently acquired businesses and in
RRP offset price/mix and positive volume contribution.
In the Japanese domestic tobacco business, adjusted
operating profit declined due 10 an impairment of capsule
ing machines for loy P e heating
products and the top-ine decline, which more than offset
the positive cigarette price/mix variance.
In the pharmaceutical business, adjusted operating profit
declined due to the revenue decline.

032 Japen Tobacco Inc. Integrated Report 2019

Adjusted operating profit at constant toreign currency
increased 0.9% year-on-year.

Operating profit decreased 11.1% year-on-year to 502.4 bil-
lion yen due to a decrease in adjusted operating profit, a
decline in proceeds from sales of real estate assets, a higher
trademark amortization and recognition of restructuring costs
related to the transformation in the international tobacco busi-
ness. This was in spile of one-lime compensation gains relat-
ed to the termination of the six anti-HIV drugs license
agreements in the pharmaceutical business.

ABSOLUTE
val ATION
LUE CREATIO STRATEGY FOR SUSTAINABILITY

| A®®

Profit*? Billions of yon

Profit 37.5 billion yen or 9.7% year-on-year to
348.2 billion yen, due to the decline in operating profit and
increase in financing costs. This was partially offset by favor-
able contributions from one-time factors leading to a lower
effective tax rate.

018 [/

Qperaing profit

Financial income/
s

financial cost

Incoma tax + Financial costs increased (negative impact in the graph)
[ mainly due to an increase in interest expense associated
n;:?\::rl\;:lollr:\ag y:‘:em with demand for working capital in the international

tobacco business.
* Income tax expenses decreased (positive impact in the
. graph) due 10 a lower effective tax rate and decline in profit
before income tax.

2019

[Revenue by Business Segment [Adjusted Operating Prafit and Operating Profit by Business Seamont__|

Billions of yan _|

2018 2019 §

Revenue 22160 21756 Consolidated: Operating profit 565.0 5024
Intcrnational Tobacco 14123 13108 International Tobacco 3395 2740
Core revenue** 1.250.7_1,253.0 Japanese Domesiic Tobacco 1925 1no
Japanese Domestic Tobacco 6214 6115 %3 121
Core revenue** 824 __568.9 Processed Food 2.8 55

i 1140 885 [ i 38 (208)

Processed Food 1614 158.6 i Total* 1305) (136
Others 6.8 6. International Tobacco 450) _ (66.7)
Japanese Domestic Tobacco 065 (16.2)

[Averoge Exchongs Rate 1 ical 21 568
ErTMETT | Processed Food n2 01

— Others/Elimination 344 125

USOPY 11044 1803 " nsoldated: Adusted operating profit 5955 5159
USD/RUB 6268  64.24 ional Tobacco 3845  340.8
USD/GBP. 075 0.8 Japancsc Domestic Tobacco 2090 1872
USD/EUR 085 089 Pharmaceutical 84 158
- Processed Food 4.1 5.4

0 i i (30.6)  (33.4)

« For the analysis of revenue, core revenue and adjusted
operating profit of each business segment, please refer to
"Review of Operations.”

*1 Excludes tobacco excise and otrer smilar (axes, as well as agency wensations, in which the JT Group acts as an agen.

*2 Adjustad operating profit = Oporating profit 1 amoriization cost of acquired intangibles ansing from business acquisitions » adjustad items ncome and costs).*

*3 Protit atvibuiable 10 owners of tha parent

*4 Includes waterpipo tobacco and RAP. but excludes revene from distribution, cantiact manutaciuring and aiher peripheral businesses.

*5 Includes rovenuo fram domestic duty free. wna business, litle cigars and RRP, but excludes revonua from distniution of imported tobacco in tne Japanese
domestic twbacco businass amung athers.

*6 Amarization cost of acquitad intangibles srising from business acauisitions = adjusted items lincome and costsl.*
* Adjusted items income and costs) = Impairment losses on gaodwill » restructuring income and costs = oters
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ial Position {Assets) Billions of yen

¥/

December 31, 2018

Cash and cash equivalsnts.

Trade anc other recowables

Inveniory

Property, plant and equipment

Goodwill

Trademark

Other assets

December 31, 2019
Totat assets increased 91.7 billion yen 10 5,553.1 billion yen,

mainly led by the increase in cash and cash equivalenis as
a result of improvement in business activities.

Consalidated Statement of Financial Position {Debt and Equity}

Billions of yon
December 31, 2018 ¥/ E— | ———

Trada and other payatles -2

Bonds

Borrewings 028
ncemo tax cavables |28
Commercral paper
Other liabilitias ss

Ratainad aarnings —00. -
Treasury shases

Other equity toral (8%

Total liabilities increased 48.5 billion yen to 2,808.5 billion yen
mainly due to an increase in lease obligations associated with
the adoption of IFRS 16.

December 31, 2019

Total equity increased 43.2 billion yen to 2,743.6 billion yen.
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1. Significant Accounting Policies

Having acquired RJR Nabisca's non-U.S. tobacco business in
1939 and Gallaher Group Plc in the U.K. in 2007, the JT Group
has been growing steadily as a global company with operations in
more than 70 countries and with our products sold in more than
130 countries/regions around the world. In this context, the JT
Group adopted IFRS from the year ended March 31, 2012 to
improve international comparability of financial information in cap-
ital markets and to diversify the Group’s sources of financing
through international capital markets.

The JT Group has applied IFRS 16 since 2019. Please refer to
page 106 for more details on the significant accounting poticies.

2. Non-GAAP Financial Measures

The JT Group discloses centain additional financial measures.
that are not required or defined under IFRS. These measures
help grasp the underlying performance of each business and
are used for internal performance management. We believe
that they are useful information for users of our financial
statements 1o assess the Group’s perfarmance.

For our international tobacco business, its consolidated finan-
cial statements reported in U.S. dollars are internally
reviewed, and therefore revenue and adjusted operating profit
are externally communicated in U.S. dollars. These non-GAAP
financial measures should be treated as supplementary infor-
mation, rather than measures, to cor i
financial numbers prepared in accordance with IFRS.

Core Revenue |

For the tobacco business, core revenue is additionally disclosed
as a breakdown of revenue. Specifically. the core revenue for
the Japanese domestic tobacco business includes revenue
from domestic duty free. the China business, little cigars and
RAP, but excludes revenue from distribution of imported 1obac-
coin the Japanese domestic tobacco business among others.

Core revenue for the international tobacco business excludes
the revenue from distil contract r i

ABSOLUTE REQUIREMENTS | \\aNclAL INFORMATION
FOR SUSTAINABILITY

AQ®

In order to provide useful comparative information on

our business performance, adjusted operating profit is pre-
sented as operating profit plus amortization cost of acquired
intangibles arising from business acquisitions and adjusted
items (income and costs). Adjusted items {income and costs)
are impairment losses on goodwill, restructuring income or
costs and other items.

Furthermore, for the international tobacco business. adjusted
operating profit at constant rates of exchange which excludes
foreign exchange (FX) effects, is also presented as additional
information. Adjusted operating profit at constant FX for
a relevant period in the international tobacco business is
calculated using the foreign exchange rates of the prior year.

3. Analysis of Consolidated Financial
Results for 2019

* "Revenue,” “Adjusted Operating ProfitOperating Profit”
and “Profit” pages 92 10 93

* "Assets,” "Debt” and “Equity” page 34

» Please refer to “Review of Operations™ for an analysis of
financial results by business segment.

Capital expenditures include outlays on property, plant and
equipment such as land, buildings and structures, machinery
as well as vehicles and others; and inlangible assets such as
goodwill, trademark, software and others. These capital
expenditures are y for ing the p! ivity of
our factories and other facilities; strengthening our competi-
tiveness; and operating in various business fields. [n 2019,
total capital expenditures amounted to 131.4 billion yen.

other peripheral businesses, but includes revenue from
waterpipe tobacco and RRP.

[Capital Expenditure 1

Billions of yon |

20182019 |
Total 159.8 1314
International Tobacco 75.7 783
and Japanese Domestic Tobacco 95.4 348
1.3 7.0
Processed Food 127 6.1
Others/Elimination 46 52

Jopan lobeceo Inc. Integrated Roport 2013 095



In the international tobacco business, capital expenditures
amounted to 78.3 billion yen, which was spent on manufac-
twring facilities overseas. In the Japanese domestic tobacco
business, capital expenditures amounted to 34.8 billion yen
which was mainly spent on the RRP-related manufacturing
facilities. In the pharmaceutical business, capital expenditures
amoeunted 10 7.0 billion yen which was primarity spent on the
construction and equipping of a joint facility of Toxicology
Research Laboratories and Pharmaceutical Frontier Research
Laboratories. In the processed food business, capital expendi-
tures amounted to 6.1 billion yen, which was spent on con-
structing new buildings and facilities to enhance and maintain
production capacity and the optimal production system.
These capital expenditures were internally funded through
cash by i and

Plans for New Installations and Disposal of Facilities

Based on the JT Group’s management principles. we will pri-
onnze our mid- to long-term resource allocations on business

for mid- to long profit growth
We position the international and Japanese domestic tobacco
businesses as our core business and protit growth drivers and
place top pncmv on business i investments that will lead to
their profit growth, N regarding the
pharmaceutical and processed food businesses, we will stive
1o strengthen foundations that will lead to tuture profit contri-
bution and will make investments to that end. Based on this
policy, we estimate our capital expenditure plan 1o total 144.0
billion yen for 2020. tn addition, we are planning to sell our
fixed asset related to JT headquarters building within 2020.
The amount of sale is (0 be confirmed.

As the JT Group companies have wide-ranging plans for their
capital expenditure, we disclose the figures by segment. Qur
actual capital expenditures may significantly ditfer from the
planned figures mentioned above. due Lo 3 number of factors.
including those mentioned in “Risk Factors.”

4. Dividends

The year-end dividends for 2019 were 77 yen per share.
Including interim dividends per share of 77 yen, total annual
dividends per share rose to 154 yen per share, a 4 yen
increase year-on-year.

The year-end dividends related to the current year are recog-
nized in the following year for accounting purposes. The year-
end dividend related to 2018 {record date of December 31,
2018) and the interim dividends for 2019 (record date of June
30, 2019) are recorded in the financial statements for 2019.
Please refer to page 138 for more details.

5. Capital Managerment

The JT Group’s management principles pursue the 4S modet:
we strive to fulfill our responsibilities to our valued consum-
ers, shareholders, employees and the wider saciety, carefully
considering the respective interests of these four key stake-
holder groups, and exceeding their expectations wherever we
can. The JT Group believes that sustainable profit growth in
the mid- to fong-term based on this principle will increase the
JT Group's value in the mid- to long-term and is consequently
in the best interest of all . including our

'The JT Group's tinancial policy maintains a solid financial base.
Thi

provides us with the capacity lo withstand any adversity
arising out of a volatile environment, such as economic crisis.
It also allows for sufficient flexibility to capture attractive
investment opportunities. The JT Group monitors financial
indicators in order to maintain a well-balanced capitat structure
that ensures an appropriate return on equity and a financial
base for future investment. We monitor credit ratings tor a
solid financial base and ROE {Return On Equity) tar profitability
as well as internal and external environment fluctuation. The
JT Group manages net interest-bearing debt, where cash and
cash equivalents are deducted from interest-bearing debt, and
capital (the part atiributable to owners of the parent company),
which are detailed below as of each year-end:

s of As of

Dec.31. Doc.31,

2008 ___2019

Interesi-bearing debt 9876 9745
Cash and cash equivalents (282.1) {352.2)
Net interest-bearing debt 7055  617.3

Capital {equity attribuiable to owners

of the parent company) 2,6306 2.662.7

[copitat Exponditura Plan

2020 (Billions of yen)

Main purpose of investing Funding

International Tobacco

RRPelated investment and
improvement in praduct

80.0 specilications Internally tunded
Japanesa Domestic Tobacco 29.0 RRP- and IT-related invesiment Same as above
Pharmaceutical Maintenance and
10.0 reinforcement of R&D Same as above
Processed Food Increase in production capacity,
increase of produgtivity,
maintenance and
14.0 replacement of facilities Same as above
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Share Buy-back

The JT Group held 226,196,566 shares of common stock as
treasury stock as of December 31, 2018, amounting 10
11.31% of the total number of shares issued.

A repurchase of our shares requires cash outlays. In order to
repurchase our shares in a flexible manner, we amended the
Articles of Incorporation at the Ordinary General Meeting of
Shareholders held on June 24, 2004 allowing us to repur-
chase based on a decision made by the Board of Directors.
We may continue to hold the repurchased shares as treasury
stock or use them for other purposes. Stock repurchase pro-
vides our management with an additiona! option for increas-
ing flexibility and speed in capital management in order to
adapt 10 a rapidly changing business environment.

. Financial Activities

The JT Group's Treasury Dmsnon provndes Gvou;}wwde sup-

foreign exchange risks, interest rate risks and market price
fluctuation risks. We conduct our treasury activities pursuant

10 a set of Group-wide financial risk poticies and
the results are reporied 1o the Group CEO and the Board of
Directors on a regular basis. Please refer 10 page 146 for
more details.

Intra-group Cash Management

To maximize the JT Group's overall cash efliciency, we priori-
tize utilizing internal financing mainly through the

Cash Management Systems (CMS) within our Group,

where legally permissible and economically viable.

External Funding
We basically found our short-term working capital needs
through short-term borrowings from financial institutions,
commercial paper or a combination of both. We fund our mid-
to tong-term capital needs through long-term borrowings from
financial institutions, bonds, equity or a combination of those
previously stated.

We continue to diversify our financing method and correspon-
dent financial institutions 1o secure stable and efficient fund-
ing sources through activities such as the establishment of
committed facilities. We report the status of Group-wide
external debt 10 the Group CEQ and the Board of Directors on
a regular basis.

ABSOLUTE REQUIREMENTS
FOR SUSTAINABILITY
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External Investments

The JT Group always makes its financial investments by tak-
ing into account safety, liquidity and optimal yield. We do not
allow any speculative dealings in pursuit of profit margin. We
also report the investment results to the Group CEQ and the
Board of Directors on a regular hasis.

7. 2019 and 2018 Cash Flow Results

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 2019 increased by
75.1 billion yen from the end of 2018 to 357.2 billion yen.
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 2018 were 282.1
billion yen.

Cash Flows in Operating Activities

Net cash flows from cperating activities during 2019 were
540.4 billion yen. This was mainly due to payments of
Japanese domestic and international 1obacco excise and
income taxes and the generation of a stable cash inflow from
the total tobacco business. Net cash flows from operating
activities in 2018 were 461.4 billion yen.

Cash Flows in Investing Activities

Net cash flows used in investing activities during 2019 were
123.6 billion yen. This was mainly due to an increase in prop-
erty, plant and equipment. Net cash flows used in investing
activities in 2018 were 383.3 billion yen,

Net cash flows used in financing activities during 2019 were
333.8 billion yen. Bonds issued in 2019 partially offset the
increase of dividends per share, buybacks and repayments of
borrowings. Net cash flows used in financing activities in
2018 were 62.4 billion yen.
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8. Liquidity

We have historically had, and expect to continue to have, sig-
nificant cash tlows from operating activities. We expect that
cash generated from operating activities will continue
stable and cover funds needed for daily business activi
The JT Group had 470.4 billion yen in commiited facilities for
both domestic and i major financial institutions on
December 31, 2019, of which 100% was unused. In addition,
we have a commercial paper program, uncommitted facilities,
3 domestic bond shelf registration and EMTN program.

Our bonds issued (including the current portion) as of
December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2019 accounted for
610.4 billion yen and 666.6 billion yen, respectively. Our long-
term borrowings as loans from financial institutions fincluding
the current portion) accounted for 129.3 billion yen in 2018
and 115.3 billion yen in 2019. Maturities of interest bearing
debts are shown in the table below.

As of December 31, 2019, our long-term debt was rated A1
by Moody’s Japan K.K. (Moady’s), AA- by Standard & Poor's
Ratings Japan K.K. (S&P) and AA by Rating and Investment
Information Inc. (R&l), with a “stable” outtook from Moody's,
a “negative” outlook from S&P and a “stable” outlook from R&.

These ratings are affected by a number of factors such as
developments in our major markets, our business strategies
and general economic trends that are beyond our control.
The ratings may be withdrawn or revised at any time.

Each rating should be evaluated separately from other ratings.
Under the Japan Tobacco Inc. Act, the bondholders of the JT
Group can enjoy statutory preferential rights over unsecured
creditors in seeking repayment, with the exception of national
and local taxes and other statutory obligations.

Shont-term Debt

Qur short-term barrowings totaled 166.0 billion yen as of
December 31, 2018 and 192.6 billion yen as of December 31,
2019. Commercial paper totaled 72.0 billion yen as of
December 31, 2018 and 0 yen as of December 31, 2019.

Liquidity
: Billions of yen
Dua after Due after Due after Oue after
 1yeer 2 yoors. 3 years 4 yoars
Oue within hraugh through through through Ouo ofter
Yoar anded Docomber 31, 2019 Book Value 1 yaar 2years 3 yeors 4 yoors °5 yours yours
Shori-term horrowings as loans 192.6 192.6 — — — — —
Long-ierm borrowings as
loans {current portion) 1.8 1.6 - —_— -— - -
Bands {current portion) 80.0 80.0 — — — — —
Long-term borrowings as loans 103.7 - 1.2 4.2 1.2 201 202
Bonds 586.6 — 82.2 30.0 175 — 3604
Total 9745 284.1 434 N2 128.7 201 380.6
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Japan Tobaceo Ine.
As of December 31

ind Consalidated Subsidiatios
2018 and 2019

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ABSOLUTE REQUIREMENTS

f Willions of yen §
{Assets 2018 2019 }
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents {Note 7) 282,063 352,158
Trade and other receivables (Note 8} 456,531 458,513
Invemtories (Note 9) 649,238 672,586
Other financial assets Note 10} 35633 234
Other currant assets (Note 11} 385.872 410,443
Subtotat 1.809,396 - 1,925,643
Non-current assats held-for-sale (Note 12} 10 30
Total current assens 1,809,406 1,925,673
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment (Note 13, 15) 758,841 803,233
Goodwill (Note 14) 7,008,416 2,002,535
Intangible assets (Note 14) 503.076 440,434
Invesiment propesty (Note 16) 17.558 16,588
Retirement benetit assets (Note 22} 57.140 67317
Investments accounted for using the equity method B 66,807 52,903
Other financial assets (Note 10) 115,046 109,568
Deferred tax assets {Note 17) 125,109 134,696
Total non-current assets 3,651,993 3,627,397
Tota) assets ) 5.461.400 5,553,071
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hillions of yon }
2018 2019
Current liabilities
Trade and other payablas (Note 18] 380,516 408,597
Ronds and borrowings (Note 191 250,466 280,135
Income tax payablas 72.448 69,543
Othr financial liabilties (Note: 19) 4.486 2,862
Provisions (Nota 201 6.078 16570
-Other current liabiliies (Note 21) 716190 701,050
Total curcent liahilies 1430185 1,501,757
Non-current liabilities
Bonds and borrowings (Note 19) 777314 690,367
Qthar financial iabifies (Note 19) 10,067 41,062
Ratirament beneli liahilities (Note 22) 321.838 320,614
Provisions (Nota 20) 3.780 19,463
Other non-current liabiliies (Note 21} 179274 155,768
Daferred tax liabilities (Nate 17) 88.497 80,430
Total non-curent libilities 1330770 1,301,702
Total liabilities 2.760,955 2,809,459
Equity
Share capita} iNote 23) 100,000 100,000
Capital surplus (Note 23) 736,400 136,400
Treasury shares (Note 23} (442.8729) (492,469)
Other components of equity (Note 23) 1423.357) (431,741)
Retained earmings 2,660,381 2,750.506
Equity attributabie to owners of the parent company 263 2,662,696
Non-controlling interests 69,851 80,916
Total equity 2.700.445 274361
Total lisbilities and equity 5,461,400 5,553,071
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H inc, and Consalidated Suisidi 'S
Consolidated Statement of Income | [ oo e and Consadared Sumadario
T Willions of yon 1
L L 2018 2019 }
Revenue (Notes 6, 25) 2,215,962 2175626
Cost of sales (Notes 14, 22) 1933,034) (942,299)
Gross profit 1,282,928 1,233,226
Other operating income {Note 26) 48.932 95.725
Share of profit in investments accounted for using the equity method 3931 5011
Selling, general and expenses (Notes 12, 13, 14, 16, 22, 27. 33) (770.407) (831,707)
Operating profit (Note 6) 564,984 502,355
Financial income (Notes 28, 34) 5.754 8.402
Financial costs (Notes 22, 28. 34) 139.252) 145.526)
Profit before income taxes 531.486 465,232
Income taxes (Note 17) (144.055) (103.609)
Profit for the period 387.431 361.622
Attributable to
Owners of the parent company 385677 348.190
Non-controlling interests 1.755 13432
Prolit for the period 387.431 361,622
Earnings per share
Basic (Yen} (Note 30) 21531 195.97
Diluted (Yen) (Note 30) 21520 195.87
Reconciliation from “Operating profit” to “Adjusted operating profit”

I Wiiliions of yen ]
i 2018 2019
Operating profit 564,384 502,355
Amortization cost of acquired intangibles arising from business acquisitions 61,172 69.623
Adjustment items {income) {40,447) (84,467)
Adjustment items {costs) 9.154 28.415
Adiusted operating profit {Note 6) 595.463 515,927
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

ABSOLUTE REOUIREMENTS
FOR SUSTAINABILITY

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

AGO

Japan Tobacco Inc. and Consofidated Subsiorancs
Yeurs Ended Ducernber 31, 2018 and 2019,

I
i 2018
Prolfit for the period 387.431
Other comprehensive income
ttems that will not be reclassified to profit or oss
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (Notes 29, 34) 18.215) 12.484)
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans (Notes 22, 29) (3.185) {2.811)
Total of items that will not be reclassilied to profit or loss {11.410) {5,295)
ttems that may be reclassified subsequantly to profit or loss
Exchange difterences on iranslation of foreign operations {Notes 29, 34) (242,731} 9,879
Net gain lloss) on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges [Notes 29, 34) 1012 1391}
Total of items that may be reclassified subsequently o profit or loss (246,119} 9,489
Other comprehensive income (loss). et of taxes {258.129) 4194
Comprehensive income floss} for the period 129.302 365,816
Attributabte to
Owners of the parent company 128,340 352,953
Non-controlling interests 962 12,863
Comprehensive income (loss) for the period 129,302 365.816
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity | Japan fobacco Inc. and Consolidatod Subsidiarios

Years tnded December 31, 2018 und 2019

Wilicns o yar

o

Ottt commomnts o scuty

ot gun doun

o
Exrnce ot gain et
dttwarescn  ndwvies i esvgh
Swssiwion Cvasieonct  dasgnaiad 13 e camorane|
Srovo copitel__ Capin ks __ Toowy rares__ ighvs 9 ey _ foro auh o nadoos o)
As of January 1, 2018 190,003 736400 16436381 1.96¢ 1207,884) [0 38670
Praltfor tho ponod - - - - - - -
Othor 2 - - - =l {242.034) 1012 18.239)
‘Comprehenswe income lfoss) for the period = = - = (247,038 1017 18.239)
Acausiicn of ueasuy shares (Notc 23) - L] - - - -
Disposal of treasury shares (Mot 23) - - 807 1691 - - -
Share-based paymens (Note 331 - - - 2] - - -
Dividends (Naze 241 - - - - - - -
Changes in the scope of consafiatian - - - - - - -
Changes in tho awnershio inerest in a subsidary wihout  loss
of contiol - - - - - - -
equry — - - - - — {20}
Other increaso idocreaso) = = ol - - 1480} =
Total wansactions with the owners - 07 @ — 1480) (850
‘As of December 31, 2018 190,000 1242.82%) 1547 1454918} ] 23570
Prcti for the pariod - - - - - - -
i _ — - - 10553 811
Comprehensiva incoma ioss) fe the period = - = = 1055 ()
‘Aczusiizn of teasury shares (Noto 23) - - (s0.001) - - - -
Disposil f scasury shares (oto 73) - - 1 (281 - - -
Share-based payments Noze 331 - - - 20 - - -
Dadends Woie 24) - - - - - - -
Changes in the scope of consolidation - - - - - - -
Changes in tho awnershio interestin @ subsidiasy withaut afoss
of conual - - - - - - -
- - - - - - (15.883)
Othor incioase Weciosse) - - — - = ties) -
Tota! uansactions with the owners — — 143,640) 0 = (185 15.883)
As of Dacomber 31, 2018 100,000 36,400 1492.469) 1556 1844.356) 032) o
Weiiions of van]
o coregmonys of vany
S Rareed Nonsoniiing
beatiplans Jgw Pt ot o Tout sauoy)
As of canuary 1. 2018 — her3%E 2506262 2761687 030 284202
Profitfofthe pesiod - — 35677 w5877 1755 w240
Oihes s) 12,075 1257330 — (252330} 92) 1258,125)
Comprchensiva incoma lloss) far the pericd 13,075 (250.330 385677 176,340 %62 128302
Acgusiiion of tsasury shares (Note 23] - - - [ - U]
Olspasal of veasury sharas iNote 23) - t61) sl 0 - [
Share-based payments iNoie 331 - m 2 25 £ an
Oidends (Noie 241 - - (2sem2ey (259,722} 1.814) 1266381
Charges in tho 55000 of consulidation - - - - 139 19
Changes i the avinesshis interost in 8 subsidary without a loss
of cartral - - 485 495 an3) (8.218)
Transter rom ather campanants of equry to fetained earnings 3075 2215 o - -
Othet increase (decrease) - 1483) = (480) bl {480)
3075 1318 (261,551 1253.433] 14521 1270885}
X — Wz33SN  2s6038)  2.8305% 63851 2700465
Prala for the panad - -~ 48,130 150 ne2 61622
I foss) (2913) 4183 — 4363 (563 4%
Camprehensive income lloss) fcr the period @93) 4163 8,150 35255 12863 365816
Acauisiion of reasusy shares Note 23) - - {50.001) - (50,001)
Dispposat of eeasury shares (Note 731 - (80) ] - a
Share-based payments (Note 53) - 09 m a ans
hidends (Noze 241 - - {2nms) (2093 osy (2n298)
Changes In the s¢ope of cansalidation - - - - - -
Changes erest i
of convol - - U] m 206 5
Tansterfrom other camponents of equily 1o retained carnings 230 (12874 1290 - - -
Oihes — (1a5) — i) - tiss)
Tatal uansaciions with the owners 2913 120060 (250,085)  (320.851] (1738 (3226500
A of Dscember 31, 2019 — @241 2750508 2.6626% 80316 2703601
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows |

ABSOLUTE REQUIREMENTS
FOR SUSTAINABILITY

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Japan Totacco Inc. and Consolidated Subsidianos
Years Ended Decernber 31, 2018 and 2019

AQO

T Millions of yen 1
L 2018 2018 §
Cash tlows trom operating activities
Profit before income taxes 531,486 465,232
Depreciation and amortization 158,671 183,852
Impairment losses 8.454 16,124
Interest and dividend income 15.751) (7.984)
Interest expense 16.343 21,567
Share of profit in investments accounted for using the equity method {3.931) (5.011)
{Gains) losses on sale and dispusal of property, plant and equipment, ntangible assets
and investment property 134,805} (8,239)
{increase) decrease in trade and other receivables (30.818) 10,613
(Increase) decrease in inventories (53.0581 {32,817}
Increase (decreasel in rade and other payables 14,618) 28,294
Increase (decrease) in retirement benefit liabitities (8.864) (3.526)
(Increase) decrease in prepaid tobacco excise taxes (36,6621 (21,869)
Increase (decrease in tobacco excise tax payables 53,408 3891
Increase (decrease) in consumption 1ax payables. 111,026) 29,592
Other 8.968 16.766
Subtoral 587,697 696,521
Interest and dividends received 11,743 15,340
Interest paid {13,685) (24,346)
Income taxes paid 1124.366) (142,105)
Net cash flows from operaling activities 461.389 540,410
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of securities {36.705) (45.401)
Proceeds from sale and redemption of securities 10,159 77200
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (138,605) 1111,366)
Proceeds from sale of investment property 46.868 15,863
Purchase of intangible assets 120,205) (22,004)
Payments into time deposits {878) (218)
Proceads from withdrawal of time deposits 812 409
Payments for business combinations (247.632) -
Subsequent payments tor past liscal years’ business combinations (4.589) (40.127)
Other 7467 2013
Net cash tlows from investing activities (383,307) 123,51)
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to owners of the parent company (Noie 74) (259.671) (270,81)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interasts (1.747) 1,913
Capital contribution from non-controlling interests 109 358
Increase (decrease) in shart-term horrowings and commercial paper (Note 32) (132.849) 144,976)
Proceeds from long-term horrowings (Nate 32) 59.135 -
Repayments of long-term borrowings {Note 32) {2,710) (11,568)
Proceads tram issuance of bonds (Note 32) 1516 59,435
Redemption of bonds (Note 32) (54,086) bl
Repayments of lease liabifities (Note 32) (1.637) (14,294)
Acquisition of wreasuiry shares (0) (50,001)
Payments for acquisition of interests in subsidiaries from lling interests 19.421) (1]
Other [ 0
Net cash flows from financing activities 167,360) {333.832)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 15,771 83,008
Cash and cash equivatents at the beginning of the period 285486 282,063
Effect of axchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 118.145) 12.913)
Cash and cash at the end of the period (Note 7) 782.063 352,158

Japan Tobaceo Inc. Integrated Report 2019 105



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements | oo Tobacco . snd Consoldotou Subuduros

1. Reporting Entity

Japan Tobacco Inc. (hereinafter referred to as the “Company”) is
ajoint stock corporation under the Companies Act of Japan. pursuant
10 the Japan Tobacco Inc. Act, with its principal places of business
located in Japan since its ncorporation. The addresses of the
Company's registered head office and principal business offices are
avaitable on the Company’s website thitps:fwww.jt.com/.

The details of businesses and principal business activities of
the Company and nis subsidianes (hereinafter referred 10 as the
“Group”] are stated in “6. Operating Segments.”

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2019 were approved on March 18, 2020
by Masamichi Terabatake, President and Chief Executive Officer.

2. Basis of Preparation

The Group's consolidaied financial statements aré prepared in accor-
dance with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (Rereinafter
roferred 10 as "IFRS").

Excep for the financial instruments, stated in”"3. Sigrificant
Accounting Policies,” the Group's consofidated financial statements
are prepared on the histarical cost basis.

(3) Functional Currency and Presentation Currency :

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in
Japanese yen. which is the flunctional currency of the Company.
“The units are in millions of yen, and figures less than one million

yen are rounded to the nearest million yen.

(Consolidated Staiement of Cash Flows) . !
“Subsequent payments for past fiscal vears' business combina-
tions,” which were included in “Other" of "Cash flows from invest-
ing acti
year ended December 31, 2018 have been presented separately 10
reflect the increase of materiality for the year ended December 31.
2019. In order 10 reflect the change in method of presentation, the
consolidated statement of cash ftows for the year ended December
31, 2018 has been reclassitied.

Accordingly, ¥4.583 million included in "Other” of “Cash flows
from investing activities” on the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year ended December 31, 2018 has been reclassified as
“Subsequent payments for past fiscat years’ business combinations.”

tlies” on the consolidated statement of cash flows for the

106 Japan Tobscco Inc. Intagrated Report 2019

CORPORATE PROFILE

Yeurs Ended December 31, 2018 and 2019
3. Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements include financiat staiements of
the Company and its subsidiaries, and interests in investments in
assaciates and joint arrangements. :

A. Subsidiaries g
A subsidiary, is an enity that is conirolied by the Group and the
Group has control over the entity it it is exposed, ar has rights, 1o
variable retums from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the nvestee. -
The acquisition date o a subsidiary is the date on which the Group
obtains control of the subsidiary, and the subsidiary is mcluded in the
consalidation from the date of acquisition until the date on which the
Gioup toses control.

In cases where the accounting policies apptied by a subsidiary are
different from those applied by the Group, adjustments are made (0
the subsi

ary's financial statements, if necessary.
Al intergroup balances, transactions, income and expenses -,
are eliminated on consolidation.

Comprehensive income for subsidiaries is attnibuted to owners of

the parent company and nan-controlling interests even if this results

in the non-cantralling interests having a delicit balance.

B, Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influ-
ence. The Group has significant influence over the ent
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of
the investee but 1t does ot have control or joint control over the
investee. Investments in associates are accounted for using the

equity method from the date an which the Group has the significant
influence until the date on which it ceases 1o have the signiticant
influence.

C. Joint Arrangements .

Ajoint amangement is a contractual arrangement in which two

or mare parties have joint control. Depending upon the rights and
abligations of the paruias o the arrangament, the Group classifies
a joint arrangement into a joint operation whereby the Graup has
rights 1o the assets and obligations far the fiabilities relating 10 the
amrangement, and a joint venture whereby the Group has rights

10 the net assets of the arrangement only. The Group recognizes
the asseis, liabifities, revenues and expenses refating 1o its interest
in 3 joint operation while a joint venture is accountad for using
the equity méthod.

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisilion  *

in a business is
measured as the sum of the acquisition-date {air value of the assets

method. C:

wansferred, the (iabilities assumed and equity instruments issued by

VALUE CREATION STRATEGY

the Company in exchange for control over an acquires. Any excess
identifiable .

ot the consideration of acauisition over the fair vaiue of jd
"as goodwill in the i
statement of financial position. If the consideration of acquisition is
lower than the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilitias, the
difference is i

assels and liabilities is

8s profr in the

statement of income. If the amount of initial acceunting for a busk
ness combination is not determined by the end of the reponting
period in which the combination occurs, the provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete are reported
and are adjusted during the measurement period, which is one
year liom the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs incurred

are recognized as expenses. The additional acquisition of non-
controlling interests after obtaining control is accaunted lor as a
capital transaction. Any diference between the amount by which the
non-conirolling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consid-
eration paid or received is recagnized directly i retained earnings
and no goodwillis recognized with respect to such uansaciion,

Consolidated financial siatements of the Group are presented in
Japanese yen, which is the functional currency of the Company..
Each company in the Group specifies its own functional currency and
measures lransactions based on it.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the tuncticnal
currency at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of tansac-
tions or an approximation of the rate. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency at the fates of exchange prevailing at year end. Differences
arising from the uanslation and setilement are recognized as profit or
loss. However, exchange différences arising from the translation of

financial i as hedg for net
invastment in foreign operations (foreign subsidiaries), financial
assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income,
and cash flow hodges are recognized as other comprehénsive income.
The assets and |
Japanesa yen at the rates of exchange prevailing at year end, while
income and expenses of foreign operations are translated into
Japanese yon at the rates of exchange provailing at the dates of

ies of foreign operations are translated into

Wransactions or an approximation of the rate. The resulting translation

are ized as other income. In cases
where foreign operations are disposed of. the cumutative amount of
wranslation differences related 1o the foreign operations is recognized

as profit or loss in the period of disposition.

A. Financial Assets :
(i) Initial Recognition and Measurement
Financial assets are classified into financial assats measured at fair

value thiough profit or loss, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and amortized cost. The Group i the ificati

ABSOLUTE
FOR SUSTAINABILITY

Financial assets are classified as financial assets measured

at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met.

Otherwise, they are classified as financial assets measured at

fair value.

« The asset is held within 2 business madel whose objective is 10
hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows

« The ‘contractual terms of the inancia asset give rise on specitied
dates 1o cash flows that are solely paymenis of principal and inter-
est on the principal amount outstanding

For financial assets measured at fair value, each equity instru-
ment is designated as moasured at fair valuo through profit o loss or
as measured at fair value through other comprehensive income,
except for equity instruments held for trading purposes that must
be measured at fair value through profit or loss. Such designations
are applied consistently.

All tinancial assets are measured at fair value plus transaciion
costs that are atwributable to the financial assets, except for the case
of being classified in the category of financial assets measured at fair
value tiwough profit or foss. :

{iit Subsequent Measurement

After inital recognition, financial assets are measured based on the
following classilications:

a) Financial Assets Measured at Amortizad Cost

Financial assets measured al amortized eost are measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method.

{6} Other Financial Assets

Financial assets other than those measured at amortized cost are
measured at fair value. .

Changes in the fair value of financial assets measured at fair value
are recognized as profit of loss.

However, changes in the lair value of equity instruments
designated as measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are recognized as other comprehensive income and the
amount n Gther comprehensive income is vansferred 1o retained
earnings when equity instruments are derecognized of the decline in
its fair value compared 10 its acquisition cost is significant. Dividends
on the financial assets are recognized in profit or loss for the year.
(iii) Derecagnition )

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights 1o recoive benefits

. from them expire or are transferred, or when substantially all the

risks and rewards of the ownership are transferred.

8. Impairment of Financial Assets

With respeci (o financial assets measured al amorized cost, the
Group recognizes an allowance for doubttul accounts for expected
credit losses. The expecied cred losses are calculated based on
historical loss exporionce or future recoverable amounts.

An aliowance for doubtful accounts for trade recervables is always
recognized in an amount equal to the full ifetime expected credit
fosses. In principle. with respect 1o financial assets except for trade
an allowance for doubtful accounts is measured at an

at initial recognition.

amount equal 1o the 12-month expected credit losses, However, the
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allowance lor doubtful account:
the tult lifeume expected credil losses if a credit risk on the linancial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition.

measured at an amaunt equal to

The Group assesses whether a credit risk on a tinancial asset has
increased significantly based on a change of the default risk consid-
ering past due information, tinancial difficullies of obligors or down-
grades of the internal credit rating.

The Group assesses a whale or part of ihe financial asset which
is deemed exiremely ditficult to be collected as a default and recog-
nizes it s a credil-impaired financial asset. If the Group reasonably
determines that a whole or part of the financial asset 1s uncollectible.
the carrying amounts of financial assets are written-off directly.

The expected credit fosses on trade receivables which are not
assessed as credit-impaired financial assets are measured collec-
tively by an asset group consisting of a number of homogeneous
counterparties.

An allowance for doubtful accounts for financial assets is recog-
nized in profit or foss. If an event which causes a reduction in the
allowance for doubtful accounts occurs, a reversal of an allowance
for doubitul accounts is recognized in profit or loss.

C. Financia) Liabilities
(i) Initial Recognition and Measurement
Financial liabiliuies are classitied into financial habilities measured
at fair value through protit or toss and financial liabilities measured at
amortized cost. The Group determines the classification at initial
recognition.

All financral liabilities are measured at air value at initial recog-
nition. However, financial liabilitias measured at amortized cost
are measured at cost after deducting transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the financial liabilities.
(i) Subsequent Measurement
After initial recognition, financial liabil
following classifications:
{a) Financial Liabilities Measured at Fair Vatue through Profit or Loss
Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss include
tmancial habilities held for trading and tinancial liabilties designated as
measured at fair value through profit of loss at initial recognition.
(b) Financial Liabilities Measured a1 Amortized Cost
After initial recognition, tinancial liabilities measured a1 amortized
cost are measured at amortized cost using the affective interest
method. Amortization under the effective interest methad and gains

ies are measured based on the

or losses on derecognition are recognized as profit or toss in the
consolidated statement of income.

After initial recogniuon, financial guaraniee contracts are
measured at the higher of:

* The amount of an allowance for doubtiul accounts calculated in
accordance with “B Impairment of Financial Assets” above, and
 The amount initially measured less cumulative revenue recognized in

accordance with IFRS 16 "Revenue from Contracts with Customers.”
{iii) Derecognition
Financial liabililies are derecognized when the obligation is
discharged, canceled or expired.
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D. Offsetting of Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and presented

as a net amount in the consolidated statement of financia! position
only when there is a legally enforceable right 10 set off the recog-
nized ameunts and the Group intends either o settle on a net basis
or o realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

E. Derivatives and Hedge Accounting
The Group utilizes derivatives, including forward loreign exchange
contracts and interest rate swap contracts, to hedge foreign
exchange and interest rate risks. These derivatives are initially
measured at fair value when the contract is entered into, and are
subsequently remeasured at fair value. Changes in the fair value
of derivalives are recognized as profit or foss in the consolidaled
statement of income. Howaver, the gains or losses on the hedging
instrument refating 1o the effective portion of cash flow hedges
and hedges of net nvestment in foreign operations are recognized
as other comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

At the inception of the hedge, the Group formally designates
ionship to which hedga
s applied and the objectives and strategies of nsk management for

the hedge. The

of the hedging instruments, the hedged ilems, the nature of the
risks being hedged and how the hedging relationship’s effectiveness
is assessed. These hedges are assessed on an ongoing basis 10

and the hedging

includes it

datermine whether the hedging relationship is effective prospec-
tively. even though it is expected that there is an economic refation-
ship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, thai the
effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result
from that economic relationship, and that the hedge ratio of the
hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity
of the hedged item that the Group actually hedges and the quantity
of the hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to hedge thal
quantity of the hedged item.

I @ hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effecliveness
requirement elating 10 the hedge ratio due to changes in an eco-
nomic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instru-
ment but the risk management objective remains the same, the
Group would adjust the hedge ratio so that it meets the gualifying
continues hedge accounting lor the por-
tion that does not meet the requirement when the hedging refation-
ship ceases to meet the qualitying criteria even after adjusting
the hedge ratio.

Hedges that meet the stringant requirements {or hedge account-
ing are classified in the tollowing categories and accounted lor in
accordance with IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments.”

(i) Fair Value Hedge

The gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognized as profit

or loss n the consolidated siatement of ncome. However, changes

in the fair value of the hedging instrument are recognized as other
income in the

criteria again. The Group

statement of

sive income if the hedging instrument hedges an eguity instrument
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designated as at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Regarding the hedging gain or loss on the hedged item, the carrying
amount of the hedged item is adjusted and the change is racognized
8s protit or loss in the consolidated statement of income. However,
changes in the farr value of an equity insirument which the Group
elected to present in other comprehensive income are recagnized as
other comprehensive incomo.
{il) Cash Flow Hedge
The effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments is

ized as other income in the
statement of comprehensive income, while ihe ineffective portion
is recognized immediately as profit or loss in the consolidated
statement of income.

The amounts of hedging instruments recognized in other
comprehensiva income are reclassified 1o profit or loss when the
transactions of the hedged items aftect profit or loss. In cases where
hedged items result in the racognition of non-financial assets o
liabilties, the amounts recognized as other comprehensive income
aro accounted for as adjustments to the original carrying amount of

norvfinancial assets or liabilities.

It the hedged future cash tlows are no longer expected 10 occur,
any related cumulative gain or foss that has been recognized in
equity as other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
toss. If the hedged future cash flows are still expected 1o occur,
amounts that have been recognized in other comprehensive income
are continued 10 be recognized in other comprehensive income until
the futura cash flows occur.

(iii) Hedge of Net Investment in Foreign Operations
Translation ditferences resulling from the hedge of net investment in
foreign operations are accounted for similarly 10 a cash flow hedge.
The eftectiva portion of gains of losses on hedging instruments is

as other
staiement of comprehensive income, while the ineffective portion is
recognized as profit or loss in the consclidated statement of income.
At the time of the disposal of the loreign operations, any related
cumylative gain or loss that has been recognized in equity as other
comprehensive incoma is reclassitied to profit or loss.

income in the

F. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active financial
markets at year end refers to quoted prices or dealer quatations.

If there is no active market, fair value of financial instruments 15
determined using appropriate valuation models.

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, demand deposits,
and short-term investments that are readily convertble 1o known
amaunts of cash and subject to Insignificant risk of change in value
and due within three months from the date of acquisition.

ABSOLUTE
FOR SUSTAINABILITY
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The cost of inventories includes all costs of purchase, costs of con-
wvarsion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories 1o their
present location and condition.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realizable
value, and the costs are by using the weighted-averag
method. Net realizable value is determined as the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and ostimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Leal tobacco which is stored for more than 12 monihs betore
being used for production is included in current asseis since it is held
within the narmal operating cycle.

(7) Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment is measured by using the cost model
and is stated at cost less igtion and

impairment losses.

The acquisition cost includes any costs directly attributable 1o the
acquisition of the asset and dismantlement, removal and restoration
costs, as well as borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

Except for assets that are not subject to depreciation such as

land, assets are depreciated using the straightine methad over their
estimated uselul lives. The estimated useful lives of major asset
items are as follows:
» Buildings and structures: 38 10 50 years
* Machinery and vehicles: 10 to 15 years

The estimated useful lives and depreciation method are reviewad
at each year end and if there are any changes made io the estimated
usetul lives and depreciation method, such changes are applied
prospectively as changes in estimale.

A. Goodwill
Goodwill is staied at isiti
losses.

Goodwill is not amortized. It is allocated to cash-generating units that
are ideniified according to locations and types of businesses and tested

cost less

for unpaisment annually or whenever there is any indication of impai-
ment. Impairment losses on goodwill are recagrized in the consofidated
statement of income and no subsequent reversal is made.

8. Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are measured by using the cost mede! and are
stated at cost less i and
impairment losses.

imangible assets acquired separately are measured at cost at
the initial recognition, and the cosis of intangible assets acquired
through business combinations are recagnized at fair value at the
acquisition date. Expenditures on internally generated intangible
asseis are recognized as expense in the period when incurred,
except for development expenses that satisfy the capitalization

criteria.
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Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized using
the siraight-ine methad over therr estimated usctul lives and arc
tested for impairment whenever there is any indication of impair-
ment. The estimated useful lives and amortization method of intan-
gible assets with finite useful lives are reviewed at each year end,
and the elfect of any changes in estimate would be accounted for on
a prospective basis.

The estimated usetul lives of major intangible asscts with finite
useftul lives are as follows:
« Trademarks: 10 10 20 years
* Soliware: 5 years

Intangible assets with indetinite usetul lives and intangible
assets thal are not ready 10 use are nol amortized, but they are
i or by cash-generating unit annually
or whenever there is any indication of impairment.

At inceplion of a contrac, the Group assesses whether the contract

tested for impai

is, of contains, a lease if the contract convays the right to control the
use of an identilicd asset for a period of time in exchange for consid-
eration. The Group elects not 1o recognize right-of-use assets and
Iease liabilities for short-term leases within 12 months and leases of
low-value assets.

It @ contract is, or contains, @ lcasc, cxcepi for short-term leases.

CORPORATE PROFILE

The Group assesses for each year whether there is any mdication
that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or in
cases where the impairment test is required to be performed each
year, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. In cases that
the recoverable amount cannot be estimated for each asset, it is
estimated by the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit

determined at the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal or its
value in use. If the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating
unit exceeds the recoverable amount, impairment losses are recog-
nized and the carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount.
In determining the value in use, estimated future cash flows are
discounted to the present value, using pretax discount rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific 1o the asset. In determining the fair value less
costs of disposal, the Group uses an appropriate valuation model
supported by available fair value indicators.

The Group assesses whether there is any indication that an
impairment loss recognized in prior years for an asset other than
goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. such as any
changes in assumptions used for the determination of the recover-
able amount. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is estimaled. In cases that the

and leases of low-value assets, the Group izes right-of

asscts and lease lisbilites on the consolidated staiement of financial
pasition at the date. The Group izes the
leaso payments associated with short-term Ieases and Ieases of
tow-value asseis as an expense on a straight-line basis over the

leasc term.
Right-of-use asset 1s measured by using the cost mode! and is
stated at cost less i and

impairment losses.

An acquisition cost of a right-of-use asset includes the amount of
the initial measurement of the lease liability, any lease paymenis made
at or betore the commencement date, and any initial direct costs. The

ight-of-use asset s iated using the straightdine method over its
estimated usetul life or lease term, whichever is sharter. The lease

liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payment
that is nat paid at the commencement date. The lease payments are
apportioned between the financial cost and the reduction in the lease
liability based on the effective interest method. The financial costs are
recognized in the consolidated statement of income.

Investment propeny is property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both.

Investment property is measured by using the cost mode! and is
stated at cost less jation and

amount exceeds the carrying amount of the asset or
cash-generating unit. impairment losses are reversed up to the lower
of the estimated recoverable amount or Whe carrying amount [net of
depreciation) that would have been determined if no impairment
losses had been recognized in prior years.

An asset or asset group for which the value is expected 10 be recov-
ered through a sales wansaction rather than through continuing use
is classified into a non-<cusrent asset or disposal group held-for-sale
when the following conditions are met: it is highly probable that the
asset or asset group will be sold within one year, the asset or asset
group is available for immediate sale in its present condition, and the
Group management commits 1o the sele plan. In such cases, the
non-current asset is not depreciated or amortized and is measured at
the lower of its carrying amount ar its lair value less costs of
disposal.

The Group sponsors defined benefit plans and defined contribution
plans as employee retirement benefit plans.

The Company is abligated to bear pension expenses for a mutual
assistance association incurred with respec to services in or before
Junc 1956 fprior to the enfarcement of the Act on the Mutual Aid

impairment losses.
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of Public Corporation Employees). Such obligations
are calculated and included in liabilitics retated to the retirement
benefits.
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For each plan. the Group calculates the present value of defined
benefit obligations, related current service cost and past scrvice cost
using the projected unit credit meihod. For a discount rate, a dis-
count period is determined based on the period until the expocted
date of benefit payment in each year, and the discount rale is deter-
mined by reference ta market yields for the period carresponding to
the discount period at the end of the year on high quality corporate
bonds or government bonds. Liabilitics or assets for defincd benefit
plans are calculaied by the present value of the defined benefit
obligation, deducting the fair value of any plan assets (including
adjustments for the ssset ceiling for defined benefit plans and mini-
mum funding requirements, if necessaryl. Expected interest costs
and interest income are recognized as financial costs.

Remeasurements of defincd benefit plans arc recognized in
full 8s other comprehensive income in the period when they are
incurrad and transterred to retained earmings immediately. Past ser-
vice costs are recognized as profit or loss in the period when
incurred. .

The cost for retirement benefits for detined contribution plans is
recognized as an expense at the time of contribution.

The Group has a share option plan as an equity-seulled sharc-based
payment plan. Share options are estimated at tair value at grant date
and are recognized as an expense over the vesting period in the
consolidated statement of income aftor considoring the umber of
share options that are expected 10 be eventually vested. The cor-
rasponding amount s recognizad as an increase in cquity in the

consolidated statement of financial position,

The Group has presant obligations flegal or consiructive} resulting
fram past events and recognizes provisions when it is probable that
the cbligations are required 1o be setlled and the amount of the
obligations can be estimated reliably.

Where the effect of the ume value of money is material, the
amount of provisions is measured al the present value of the expen-
ditures expacted 10 be required 1o settle the obligations. In calculat-
ing the present value, the Group uses the pretax discount rate
reflecting current market assassments of the time value of money
and the risks specilic (o the liability.

In accordance with JAS 37 "Provisions, Contingent Lisbifiues and
Contingent Assets.” the Group recognizes a provision for restructur-
ing when it has a detailed format plan for the restructuring and has
raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the
restruciuring by starung to implement that plan or announcing its
main scheme to thase atfected by it. Restructuring provisions

include only the direct arising from the ing,

ABSOLUTE REQUIREMENTS
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{16) Revenue

A. Rovenue from Contracts with Customers
Revenue is recognized based on the following five-step approach.

Step 1: Identify the contract with a customer
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
Siep 3: Determine the transaction price
Siep 4: Allocate the price to the
in the contract
Step 5: Recognize revenue when the entity satisfies a performance
obligation

The Group mainly engages in the sale of tobacco products. prescrip-
tion drugs, and processed foods. Revenue is recognized upon deli
ery of the products because the customer abtains control of the
products upon delivery, by which the Group evaluates that the per-
formance obligation is satisfied. Revenue is measured at the consid-
eration promised in a contract with a customer, fess discounts,
rebates and taxes, including consumpltion tax.

The tobacco excise taxes and other transactions in which the Group
is involved as an agency are excluded from revenue. The amount after

deducting the tabacco excise taxes and ather transactions is presented
s “Revenue” in the consolidated statement of income.

B. Interest Income
Interest income is recognized using the effective interest rate
method.

C. Dividend Income
Dividend income is recognized when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment is established.

Government grants are recognized at fair value when there is a
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attached to them and receive the grants.

In the case that the government grants are related 1o expense
items. they are recognized in profit of loss on a systematic basis
over the period n which the related costs for which the grants
are intended 10 compensate are recognized. With regard 10 govern-
ment grants for assets, the amount of the grants is deducied from
1he acquisition cost of the assets.

(18) Borrowing Costs
With respect 1o assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for ther intended use o sale, the borrowing

costs that are directly aturi ta the isili

which meet bath of the following criteria:
* necessarily entailed by the restructuring;
« not assaciated with the ongoing acuvities of the entity.

o ion of the assets arc capitalized as part of the acquisition
cost of the assets. Other borrowing costs are recognized as an
oxpense in the period when they are incurred.

Jopan Tobacco Inc. Integrated Report 2019 111



{19) Income Taxes

Income taxes in the consolidated staternent of income are presented
as the tota! of current income taxes and deferrad income taxas.

Current income taxes are measured at the amount that is
expected to be paid 10 or refunded from the taxation authorities.
For the catculation of the tax amount. the Group uses the tax rates.
and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the year. The current income taxes are recognized in prolit or
loss, except for taxes arising from itlems that are recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity and taxes arising lrom
business combinations.

Deferred income taxes are calculated based on the temporary
dilterences between the tax base for assets and liabilities and the
carrying amount at year end. Defered tax assets are recognized for
deductible temporary differences, carrylorward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses 1o the extent that it is probable that future
1axable profit will be available against which they can be utilized.
Deterred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary
diflerences.

The deterred tax assels or liabilities are not recognized lor the
following temporary diflerences:

« the initial recognition of goodwill

* the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in transactions that are
not business combinations and at the time of transaction, affect
neither accounting profit nor taxable prolit or tax loss

+ deductible temporary differences arising from investments in sub-
sidianies and associates, and interasts in joint ventures to the
extent that 1t 15 probable that the timing of the reversal of the
temporary dilference in the foreseeable future and it is not prob-
able that future taxable profits will be available against which they
can be utiized

+ taxable temporary differences arising from invesiments in subsid-
iaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures to the extent
that the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is con-
wrolled and that it is probable the temporary ditterence will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deterrad tax assets and liabilives are measured at the tax iales
that are expected to apply 1o the year when the asset is realized or
the liabitity 1s settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacled by year end.

Assets and liabilities are recognized as estimated amounts if
unceriain tax posilion of income taxes arising from interpretation of
tax laws and regulations is probable.

The Company and certain subsidiaries apply for the consolidated
1axation system.

Treasury shares are recognized at cosi and deducted from equity.
No gain or loss is recognized on the purchase, sale or cancellation
of the reasury shares. Any difference between the carrying amount
and the consideration paid is recognized in capital surplus.
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Basic earmings per share are calculated by dividing profit o loss
auributable to ordinary sharenolders of the parent company by the
weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
year, adjusted by the number of treasury shares. Diluted earnings per
share are calculated by adjusting the effects of dilutive potential
ordinary sharos.

Dividend distributions to the shareholders of the Company are recog-
nized as lizbiliies i the period in which, for yoar end dividends, the
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting approves the distribution and, for
interim dividends. the Board of Direclors approves the distribution.

A. Contingent Liabilities 7

The Group discloses contingent liabilities in the notes to consolidated
financial statements il it has possible obligations at year end, whose
existence cannot be confirmed at that date, of if the obligations do not
meei the recognilion critena of a provision described in “20. Provisions.”

B. Contingent Assets
The Group discloses contingent assels in the notes to consofidated
financial statements if an inflow of future economic benetits 1o the
Group is probable, but nat virtually certain at year end.

(24) Adjusted Financial Measures

The adjusted financial measures are calculated by adding certain
adjustment items 10 the non-adjusted financial data or by deducting
the items from the non-adjusted financial data,

The items are ined by s judg-
ment, taking into consideration the nature and frequency of the

income and costs such that they provide eltective comparative infor-
mation on the Group performance and that they reflect the way of
managing our businass appropriataly. Adjusted financial measures
are presented in the consolidated statement of income and

“6. Operating Segments.”

The adjusted financial measures are not defined under IFRS and
are not comparable with equivalen indicators for other entities.

{Changes in Accounting Policies)

The Group has adopted the following new accounting standards,
amended standards and new interpretations irom the year ended
December 31, 2019.

TFRS G3enpiion of now s1andards ond amengments.
IFRS  Leases Amendments 10 accounting treatment
16 for lease ns.

1AS Emploves Clarilying treatment on a defined benafit
19 Benelus plan if or

In adopting IFRS 16, the Group used a transition method by
which the cumulative effect of initially adopting this standard was
recognized at the date of itial applicauon.

CORPORATE PROFILE
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The lessee’s weighted average incremental borrowing rate which
applied 10 lease liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial
position at the date of initial application is 4.1%.

The difference between the total amount of future minimum lease
by the
lessee’s incrememal borrowing rate above) which were disclosed

payments under

operating leases

upon adopting IAS 17, “Leases” (herainafter referred to as “IAS 17%),
ai the end of the consolidated year immediately betore the initial
application and the lease liabilities on the consolidated statement of
financial position at the date of initial application is mainly due to the
estimation diterence of the lease term of lands and buildings for the
period which exceeds the non-cancellable period.

The Group has adopted this standard for contracts that ware
previously identified as teases adopting IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.
“Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease” (hereinal-
ter referred to as “IFRIC 4°). withoul reassessing whether a contract
15, o contains, a lease at the date of initial application. The Group
has not adopted this standard lor contracts that were not previously
identified as containing a lease adopting IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.

For leases previously classified as operating leases adopting 1AS
17, the following practical expedients parmitted as transition meth-
ods are adopted: B
« A single discount rate is applied to a portfolio of leases with rea-

sonably similar charactensics.

* Leases for which the lease term ends within 12 months of the
date of inilial apphcation are accounted for in the same way as
short-term leases.

« Initial direct costs are excluded from the measurement of right-of-
use assets at the date of initial application.

As 3 result of the adoption of IFRS 16. “Assets” and "Liabilities”
increased by ¥39,033 million at the date of initial application. There is
an immaterial impact on operating profit and profit for the period.

In order 1o reflect the changs in accounting method in accordance
with the adoption of IFRS 16, “Repayments of finance lease obliga-
tions, " which was presented in “Cash flows from financing activi-
ties” on the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2018, has been presented as “Repayments of lease
ligbilnies* from the year ended December 31, 2019.

The eflect of adopting JAS 19 on the consolidated financial siate-
ments is immalerial.

4. Significant Accounting Estimates
and Judgments

paration o financial of the Group
requires management estimates and assumptions in arder (0
measura income, expenses, assels and liabilities, and disclose
contngencies as of the year end. These estimates and assumptions
ara based on the best judgment of management in light of historical
experience and various factors deemed 10 be reasonable as of the
year end. Given their nature, actual results may ditfer from those
estimates and assumptions.

ABSOLUTE REQUIREMENTS
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The estimates and assumptions are continuously reviewed by
management. The effects of a change in estimates and assumptions
are recognized in the period of the change or the pariod of the
change and future periods.

Among the above e

ates and assumptions, the following ara
items that may have 3 material effect on the amounts recognized in
the consolidated financial statements of the Group:

A tmpairment of Praperty. Plant and Equipment, Goodwill,
Assets and perti
With regard to property, plant and equipment, goodwill intangible

assets and investment properties. il there is any indication that the
recoverabla amount has declined below the carrying amount, the
Group performs an impairment test.

Such indications include, but are not limitad to significant changas
with adverse effect on the results of past or projected business
performance, significant changes in the use of acquired assets or in
overall business strategy. and signilicant deteriorations in indusiry or
economic trends. With regard 1o goodwill, an impairment test 1s
conducted at least once a year, regardless of whether there are any
indicators of impairment.

An impairment test is performed by comparing the carrying
amount to the recoverable amount of the asset under assessment. i
the recoverable amount is below the carrying amount, impairment
losses are recognized. The recoverable amount is calculated based
primarily on a discounted cash flow model. Certain assumptions
must be made for the usetul lives and future cash flows of the
assels, the applicable discount rates as well as long-term growth
cates. These assumptions are based on the best estimates and judg-
menis made by management, However, there is a possibility that
these assumptions will be aHfected by changes in uncertain future
economic conditions, which may have & material impact on the con-
solidated financial statements in future periods.

The method tor calculating the recoverable amount is described in
“13. Property, Plant and Equipment,” “14. Goodwill and Intangible
Assets” and 16, Investment Property.” With regard to goodwill, the
sensitivity analysis is described in “14. Goodwill and Intangible Assets.”

8. Post-employment Benefits
The Group has various types of retirement benefit ptans, including
defined benefit plans. In addition, the mutual pension benetits plan
of the Company is one of the public pension systems under the
jurisdiction of tha goverament of Japan and the Company is legally
abligated to bear a part of the pension casts of the plan.

The present value of defined benelit obligauons on each of these
plans and the related service costs are calculated based on acwarial

These acwarial make use of estimates

and judgments on a number of variables. including discount rates
and intlaton rate.

The Group obtains advice Irom exiemal pension actuaries with
respect to the of thoir actuarial inclug-
ing the aforementioned variables.
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The actuarial assumptions are determined based on the best
estimates and judgments made by management. However, there is
a possibilty that these assumptions will be affected by changas in
uncertain future economic conditions. or by the publication or amend-
ment of related laws, which may have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in fulure periods.

These actuarial assumptions and the refated sensitivity analysis
are described in “22. Employee Benefits.”

C. Provisions
The Group recognizes various provisions, including provisions for
assel retirement

and . in the

statement of financial position.

These provisions are recognized based an best estimates of the
expenditure required 10 setile the obligations, taking into account the
pertinent risks and uncertainties which exist at the year-end for those
obfigations.

Expenditures required o settle the obligations are calculated
by taking possible results into account comprehensively; however,
they may be affected by the occurrence of unexpected events or
changes in conditions which may have a material impact on the
consofidated inanciat statements in luture periods.

The nature and amount of recognized provisions are described
in “20. Provisions.”

0. Income Taxes

The Group operates business activities around the world, and it
recognizes current tax liabilities and income taxes as the estimated
amounts 10 be paid 10 the tax authorities, based on the estimation in
accordance with their laws and regulations.

Calculating current ax liabilities and income taxes requires esti-
mates and judgment on various factors. including the inierpretation
of 1ax regulations by taxable entities and the tax authority in the
jurisdicuion or the experience of past tax audits.

Therefore. there may be differences between the amount

recognized as 1ax liabilities and income taxes and the amount of

actual 1ax liabilities and income taxes. These differences may have
a material impact on the consolidated financial statements in tuture
periads.

In addition, deferred 1ax assets are recognized to the extent that
it is probable that taxable income will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilized.

In recognizing tho deferred tax assets, when judging the possibik
ity of the future taxable mcome. we reasonably estimate the timing
and amount of future taxable income based on the business plan.

The timing when taxable income arises and the amount of such
income may be affected by changes in uncertain future economic
conditions. Therefore, this may have a material impact on the con-
solidated linancial statements in future periods.

The content and amount refated to income taxes are described in
“17. income Taxes.”

E. Contingencies
With regard to contingencies, any ilems that may have a materia
impact on business in the fuwre are disclosed in light of all the available
evidence as of the year end and by taking into account the probability of
these contingencies and their impact on financial reporting.

The content of contingencies is described in “38. Contingencies.”

5. New Accounting Standards Not Yet
Adopted by the Group

By the date of approval of the cansolidated financial statements,
new accounting standards. amended standards and new interpre-
tations that have been issued, bul have not been early adopted by
the Group are as follows.

The implications from adoption of these standards and interpreta-
tions are assessed by the Group: however. we evaluate that nane of
them will have a material impact an our operating results and finan-
cial condition.

Mendatory adoption
(From the yoar

To be adoptad

boginning} by tha Group Dascription of new standards ond
IFRS 3 Business Combinations January 1, 2020 Year anding Amendments to dafinition of “business”
Oecember 2020
IFRS 7 Financial Inslrumants nary 1, 2020 fear endiny Amendmants to provide relief fram poteriial effects of the
Disclosures Oecemier 2020 _uncertainty caused by iterest rate benchmark reform
IFRS9  Financia Instruments January 1, 2020 Year ending Amendments to crovide relie! fiom potential effects of the
Decembor 2020 _ uncertainty caused by interest rate benchmark reform
FRS17  Insurance Contiacts Jonuary 1, 2021 Year ending Amendmants to accounting treatment for insurance contracts
Docemeer 2021
1857 Presentation of Financial Jenuary 1. 2020 Year ending Amendments to oefinition of "material”
tatements December 2020
January 1, 2022 Year ending Clarifying classification of fiabilties as carrent of non-cLrrent
Decomber 2022
S8 Accounting Policies, Changesin  January 1, 2020 Year ending Amendments to definsion of “material”
Accounting £stmates and Errors December 2020
1AS 39 Financial {nstruments Recogniion  January 1, 2020 Year ending Amendments 1o provide refief from potental effects of tne
and Moasurement Docembor 2020 _uncertainty caused by intorast rato banchmark toform
FRS 10 Sale o Contribution of Assets Not et determined  Not yet Amendrments to sccounting ealment for sate or contribution of
1AS 28 batwaen an Investor and its derarminad assats beiween an invastor and its associate af joint veniure

Asseciate of Joint Venture
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6. Operating Segments

The repontable segments of the Group are determined based on

the operating segments that are components of the Group for which
separate financial information is available and are evaluated regularly
by the Board of Directors in deciding how to allocate resources and
in assessing performance.

The Group is mainly engaged in the manufacture and sale of
1obacco products. prescription drugs and processed foods. With
raspect (o lobacco products, operalions are managed separately
for domestic and overseas markets. The reportable segments of
1he Group are composad of four segments: “Domestic Tobacco
Business,” “International Tobacco Business,” "Pharmaceutical
Business,” and “Pracessed Food Business.” They are determined
by types of products, characterisucs, and markets.

The “Domestic Tobacco Business ™ manutactures and sells
tobacco products in domestic areas (which include duty-free shops in

Year ended December 31, 2018

ABSOLUTE REQUIREMENTS
FOR SUSTAINABILITY

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

OO

Japan and markets in China, Hong Kong, and Macau where the
Company’s China Division operates). The “International Tobacco
Business” manufactures and sells tobacco praducts overseas mainly
through JT International S.A., which conirals manufaciuring and
safes operations. The “Pharmaceutical Business” consists of
research and development, and the manutaciure and sale of pre-
scription drugs. The “Processed Food Business” consists of the
manufacture and sale of irozen and ambient processed foods, bakery
products and seasonings. :

Revenues and performances of reportable segments are as follows.
The Board of Directors assesses tha segment performance and
determines resource allocation alter reviewing revenues and
adjusted aperating profit. Since financial income, financial costs and
income taxes are managed by the Group head office, these income
and expenses are excluded from segment performance. Transactions
within the segments are based mainly on prevailing market prices.

illions of yan |
Reportoble Segmonts
Domestic  Intarnational Pracessod
Tohacco fobaceo Food Total __Other e Elimination

Revenue

External revenue 671426 1312307 113892 161.387  2.209.147  £815 — 2215862
Intersagment revenue 7976 77,637 — 1 365 5737 (41363 —
Toal revenue 679403 1339.979  113.997 161,388 2.244.767  12.553  (41.353) 2.215.962
Sagment profit (loss)

Adjusted operating profit #ie ¥ 208.877 384.524 28.438 4123 626.062  (30.440) (159) 595463
Other items

Depreciation and amortization 55,084 89,887 507 6708 156710 2193 {233) 158671
Impaitment losses on other than

financial assets — 5336 2141 146 7623 831 — 8,454
Reversal of impairment losses

on other than financial assets — 692 — — 692 — - 692
Share of profit floss) in invesiments

accounted for using the equity

method ki3 389 — " 3.895 36 — 3931
Capital expenditures 55.444 75721 11333 12749 155253 4.844 (289) 159,808
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Year ended December 31, 2019

Wiliions of yen |
Raponiablo Segmants
Domestic _ Internationol Processes J
Tobacca Tobacco _ Pharmacouticals Food Totol __ Other %> _ Elimination _ Consolidsted
Revenue
Extemnal 1evenue Heed 611492 1,310877 88528 158,586 2,168,485 6,140 — 2175626
(nterseygment revenue 1210 21,626 o 1 34,897 7.333  (42.229) -
Total revenue 618,764 1,338,503 88,528 158,587 2,204,382 13473 (42,229) 2,175,626
Segment profit llosst
Adjusted operating profit v 1 187,180 340,752 15,943 5432 548,308 (33.478) 9?7 515,927
Other tems
Depreciation and amortization 4 59,276 108.378 5,936 1,586 181,176 2,908 (233} 183,852
Iinpainment losses on other than
financial assets 2.151 5.765 141 220 15,207 817 - 16,124
Reversal of impairment losses
on other than financial assets - a - - 9 — — 91
Share of profit {loss} in investments
accounted for using the equity
method 16 4,863 - 10 4,889 122 - 5,01
Capital expenditures ##e9 34,793 78,295 6.979 6,142 126,208 5,609 (383) 131,434
Reconciliation from “Adjusted operating profit” to “Profit before income taxes”
Year ended December 31, 2018
Willians ot yen 1
Rogoniahle Segmants
Domestic _tntarmationol Procassed
Tobocco fobaceo i Food Tatel __Othor %2 _ Eimination i
Adjusted operating profit 1 208.977 384.524 28,438 4123 626,062  (30.440) (153) 585463
Amorntization cost of acquired
intangibles arising from
business acquisitions 116.245) (45,527} — - 61.772) —_ - (61.772)
Adjustment items lincome) ®e'o® 9 1M - 37 1757 38,691 - 40447
Adjusiment items (costs) P @ (288) {1.195) {2.141) 11.240) (4,864] (4.280) — 18.154)
Operating profit loss) 192,453 338,514 26,297 2919 561,183 3.960 {1591 564.984
Financial income: 5,754
Financial casts {39.252)
Profit before income taxes 531.486
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Vear ended December 31, 2019
Millions of yan
Reporinbla Sagments
Domestic  Intarnational Processed
Tobacco Jobacco tic Food Total __ Other %" i
Adjusted operating profit e 187080 340752 15343 5432 549,308 (33,478 9 51592
Armortization cost ol acygired
intangibles arising from
business scquisitions (16.205)  (53.378) - —  (69.623) - — (69623
‘Adjustment items (income) M4 2 876 61018 1 028 1488 —  8eds?
Adjustment items {costs) “#° & - (22141) 14.264) (365) (26.770) (1.646) - {28.415)
Operating profit floss) 170360 274008 12691 5528 523193 (20.935) 97 502355
Financial income 8,402
Financisl costs {45.526)
Prolit before income taxes 165,232

(Nata 11 For adjustac aparating profit, amanization cost of acaused intangiblos arising from business acquisitions, and adjusimant itams Uncoma and casis) ara
oxcludod tram oporating profit iass).
(Nute 21 “Other” includes business aciivites telaling (o rent of «eal estate and corporata expensas refaling to corporate communication and uperation of tie head
ffice.
Note 31 DD;:yueuahoﬂ and amortizetion of right-of-se assets ncluded i “Depraciation and amartization” 15 as lallows:
r Willians of ven 1
L 2019 §
Domestic Tobacco 3,648
Iniernational Tobacco 10,314
Pharmaceuticals 456
Processed Food Rl
Other 616
Depreciation and smortization of right-oluse assets 15,778
INote 4) The increase in rightof-use assels 1s excluded from the year ended Dacember 31, 2019,
{Note 5] The breakdowr: of “Adjusiment items fincomel” is s follows
f n
i 2018 209
Gamn on uansler of pharrmaceutical icenses bl 60,518
Restructuring incomes 39,284 15,197
Other 1,163 8,152
Adpusiment items {income) 40.447 84,467

Resuucturing incoms for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019 mairly relata to gains an sale of real esiate. The breakdawn of restructuring
incomes is described in "26. Other Operaling Income.* Other for the year ended December 31, 2019 mainly relates to gans on far value adjusiment
atter the measurement period for assets and lebiliiies acquired in 3 business combination in the “Inie:national Tobacco Business.”

(Nate 6 The breakdown of “Adjustment items {costsI” is as follows:

I “Nillions of yer ]
L 2018 2019 |
Resuucturing costs 1,934 26,182
Other 1.220 2233

Adjustment ilems icosts) 9,154 28,415

Restucturing costs for the year ended December 31, 2018 mainly relate to disposal of real astate, business siructure refarm in tha “Pharmaceutical
Business™ and rationalizauon of the production and distribution system in some markets in the "inzernational Tobacco Business.” Restructuring costs for
the year endod Dacamoer 31, 2019 mainly relate 1o business cperation transformation in the “International Tobacco Business” and business sUusture
taform tn the “Pharmacautical Business.” Restiuctuning costs included in “Cast of sales” ware ¥13 million for the year anded December 31, 7018,

Resuucturing casts includod (n “Sclling, genaral and administrative expanses” were ¥7,921 million and ¥26,182 million for tho years anded December
31,2018 and 2019, respectively. The breakdown of restructuing costs included in "Sellng, general and administrauve expenses” is described in “27.
Selling, General and Administratve Expensss.” Other for the year ended December 31, 2018 mannly relates ta setilement of the fiigation n Sepiember
2018. Othr for tho yeat ended December 31, 2019 marnly relates o disposal of real estate.
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(3) Geegraphic Information

The regional breakdown of nan-current assets as of December 31 is as lollows:

Non-current Assets

1

L 2018

Japan 835.386

Overseas 2.452,505

Consolidated 3.287.891 3.262,855

{Note) Nan-current assets. exclusive of financial instruments, deferred tax assets and retirement benefits assets, are segmented by the lacation of the assets.

The regional breakdown of external revenue for each year 15 as follows:

External Revenue

I

L

Japan

Overseas 1.393.892 1.386,347
Consoldated 2.215.952 2175626

INote} Revenue is segmented by the sales destination.

(4) Major Customers Infarmation
The “international Tobacco Business” of the Group sells products to
the Megapolis Group that engages in distribution and wholesale

business in Russia and other countries. The external revenues from

7. Cash and Cash Equivalents

the Megapolis Group were ¥249,787 million (11.3% of consolidated
revenue) for the year ended December 31, 2018 and ¥235,093 mit
lion (10.8% of consolidated revenue) far the year ended December
31, 2019,

The breakdown of “Cash and cash equivalents” as of December 31 is as follows:

r Millions of yan |
1 2018 2019 ]
Cash and deposits 234,263 260,908
h i 47.800 86,249
Total 282,063 352,158

Cash and cash equivalents are classified as financial assets mea-
sured at amortized cosi,
The Group's iranian subsidi

ies” ability to rermit funds outside of
Iran is restricted mainly due 1o international sanctions imposed on
lian. “Cash and cash equivalents” nclude ¥24.772 million 25 of
December 31, 2018 and ¥48,675 miflion as of December 31. 2019

held by the Group's Iranian subsidiaries.

1B Japsn Tobzczo Inc. Integrated Report 2013

JN-Macdonald Corp. thereinalter referred to as “JTHMac”), the
Company’s Canadian subsidiary, is subject io certain restrictions on
the use of funds other than in the ordinary course of business due to
the adaption of the “Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act.” “Cash
and cash eql.livalenls" as of December 31, 2019 includes cash and
cash equivalents of ¥19,085 million held by JTi-Mac.
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ABSOLUTE REQUIREMENTS
FGR SUSTAINABILITY

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

OO

The breakdown of “Trade and other receivables” as of December 31 is as follows:

I WMillions of yen
L 2018 2019 §
Note and account recsivables 449,863 432874
Other 8378 28113
Allowance for doubtful accounts {1.650] (2.415)
Total i 458,513

Irade and other receivables are presented net of allowance for
douhtiul accounts in the consolidated statement of financial position.

9. Inventories

The breakdown of “Inventaries” as of December 31 is as follows:

‘Irade and olher receivables are classified as financial assets mea-
sured at amortized cost.

L
L 2018
Merchandise and finished goods @ " 209,491
Leat tobacco ®? 364,084
Other 15,662
Total 649.238

(Note 1) For imported tobacco products {merchandise] that are sold by TS Netwark Co., Ltd., 3 subsidiary of the Company, comissions solely from wholesato are
included in rovenue. The amount of imported tobacco products (merchandise) that the company holds as of December 31 of each year is included in

invantarias and prasentad as “Marchandise and finishad goods.”

(Noto 2) Leat 1obacca inchudes those croducis that will be used afto; 12 months from the end of cach year, but they are included in nventories since thoy aro held

within the nernal openating cycle.

10. Other Financial Assets

(1) The breakdown of "Other financial assets™ as of December 31 is as follows:

I Millions of yen ]
— 018 o9 |
Derivative assets 8.653 2,564
Equity securitics 64,684 32,747
Debt seeuritics 26.816 18,616
Time deposits 979 %1
Other 56,656 82,757
Allowanco for doubtful accounts 16.108) 15.835)
Total 150.679 131,511
Current assets 35,633 21,943
Non-current assets ‘ 115,048 109,568
Total 150.678 131,511

Other financial assets are presented net of allowance for doubtiul
accounts in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Derivative assels are classified as financial assets measured at
fair value through profit or loss excluding those to which hedge

accounting is applied, equily securities are classified as financial
assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income,
and time deposits and debt securities are classitied as financial
asscts measured at amortized cost.
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(2) Names of major securities held as financial assets measured al fair value through other comprehansive income and their fair valuas as of “Non-current assets held-for-sale”™ are mainly idle properties which expenses” in the consolidated statement of income for the year
i
December 31 are as follows: are currently actively marketed for sale. ended December 31, 2018,
I Millions of yen § With regard 10 such assets and assets sold, impairment losses of
Company name 2018, 2019 § ¥74 milion are recognized in “Selling, general and administraiive
Seven & i Holdings Co., L. 4091 3,026
DOUTOR-NICHIRES Holdings Co., Ltd. 2681 2892 .
Japan Aitport Terminal Co. L0, 1524 243 13. Property, Plant and Equipment
Central Japan Railway Company 2317 2,200 i — ]
KATO SANGYO CO., LTD. 1.709 2,032 (1) Schedule’of Property}Plant’and Equipment - J
Mitsubishi Shokuhin Co.. Ltd. 1,683 1,860 The schadules ol the carring amount, acquisiton cost. and iation and jrment tosses of “Property, plant
OKAMURA CORPORATION 1710 1,303 and equipment” are as {ollows:
West Japan Railway Company 1.032 1.256 I s ofyan,
X Land, buildings Machinery  Toals, furnilure Cansteuclion
VPSHIMURA FOOD HOLDINGS K.X. 510 1.250 "‘ ing As 1) nd siruaures and vehicles ond lixiures. in progress Totul
Nippon Express Co., Lid: 1.058 ALl As of Janvary 1, 2018 363,245 273,088 16313 56.002 745,607
Individusl acauisition 18,972 56,901 11873 18,735 139,480
Equity securities are held mainly for sirengthening relationships In arder 1o pursue the efficiency of assets held and to use thern ,:‘c;:";"“nn ‘:mugh wsinoss comtnations 1278 ps o n 15002
with nvestees. Therelore, they are designated as financial assets elfectively. sales of financial assets measured at fair value through Transfor to invostment proparty (3'2| M . 0 @) _ (3'7‘5'
measured al fair value through other comprehensive income. other comprehensive income have been carried out (derecognition). Transfcr to non-current assats held-orsale (1.945) ! _ _ (1.919)
Depregciation 16.647) (50.791) {14.987) _— (82.128)
The farr value at the time of sale and cumulative gamn or loss that is recognized in equity through other comprehensive income for each \mpairment losses {1.561) (3.442) (86) n3n) (5.220)
year s as follows: Reversal of impairment lossos 8 32 — 12 692
1 Sale or disposal (760) 3.221) o73) 82) [4.841)
‘F — 2’2"4‘:‘ Exchang diffcrances on translation of foreign opcrations (14.716) 22.895) (2.162) (4.208) (#3.981)
air Value
. Other 11691 24025 99) 137.913) 11,206)
Cumulative gain or loss recognized in equity as other comprehensive ingome ~ 860) 115.883) F T ———— 62585 288 567 T 63335 750,60
{Nate} Tho figuro roprasonts the amount ansterred <o rotained oanings. N X Cumulative offect of changes in accounting policics 36,440 4548 85 - 41,073
the cumuletve gain of luss recognized in equil wther cumprehensive income is transferred to reteined earnings when an equity instrutnent is sald or 3
the dectine in its fair value compared to its acaursiion cost is significant, As of January 1, 2018, after cumulative effect of changes
in accounting policies 399,021 293,35 44,418 63,335 93,914
11. Other Current Assets individual acquisition 29,054 .20 15,808 a3 133,480
Transfer to nvesiment property 11,095} - (21 — 11.116)
The Lreakdown of *Other current assets” as of December 31 is as lollows: Transtar 10 non-current assets held-for-sale ” (::: . n_sl s |9_sb - ” [:;::
I ] Dopraciation .0 3 . X
h e 2oie Impsirment losses {1.930) 19,506) (304) (1) 111,784}
Prepaid 10bacco excise taxes 308,815 337,166 Revarsal of impaiment losses = b = = 9
Prepaid expenses 2262 211 Sale or disposal 1391 (5.148) (2.08) {21} (2991}
Consumption tax recenvables a7 15,203 Exchango differences on translation of foreign operations (41) 11,5501 (81) 11.2801 (35652)
Other 38618 35,063 Other 9,461 30172 1357 147.657) 5.668)
Total 385877 00403 As of Dacember 31, 2019 404,973 298,665 43.897 55,704 803,238
I Wiilions of yen §
12. Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale T, et Toah,turture  Comsruetion
Acquisition Cast and structures. and fixtures. in progress. Total
The of “N assots held-for-salo” as of December 31 is as follows: As ol January 1, 2018 664,779 156,169 56902 1638431
As of Dccember 31, 2018 671,434 162,793 63443 166).505
Breakdown of Major Assets As of December 31, 2019 736,008 156,328 55708 1772954
I Millions of yen
— 018 2005 §
Non-current assets held-for-sale | - Milins of yon |
P 3 ’ " Lnd, buildings vy Tools, fumiture  Construction
roperty. plant and equipment i and siructuras and vehicles ang fixturos in progress Totel
Investment property § - As of January 1, 2018 301,53 482493 109,797 - 893.824
Other = L As of December 31, 2018 308847 485,249 108,460 wr 02,664
Tota) 10 L] As of December 31, 2013 329,036 528,244 12,431 5 969,115
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15. Lease Transactions

The Group leases buildings. factary sites, vehicles and other assets
as a lessee. Some of the lease contracts have renewal options or

escalation clauses. There are no testrictions on additiona! debt and
further leasing imposed by the lease arrangements,

Year ended December 31, 2018

{1) Future Minimum Lease Payments under Non-cancellable Operating Leases

The 1otal of future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as of December 31 is as follows:

r Millians of yan |
L 2018 |
Not later than 1 year 11.801
Later than 1 year and not later than § years 15,870
Later than § years 14,696
Total 42,407

(2) Total of Minimum Lease Payiments and Contingent Rents

The (otal of minimum lease payments and canlingent rents of operaling lease contracts recognized as an expense for each vear is as follows:

[ Oy
i 20

Total of minimum lease payments 13,445
1.188

(3) Carrying Amount of Leased Assets from Finance Leases

The breakdown of carrying amount of leased assets fiom finance leases is as follows:

Contingent rents

WMillions of yan ]

tand, buifdings. Machinory ond Tools, turnituro

at

and sirvetres vehicles and fixturas Total
As of Decernber 31, 2018 6.386 5.846 n 12,503
Year ended December 31, 2019
{1) Addition, Depreciation and Carrying Amount of Right-of-use Assels
The breakdown of addition, depreciation and carrying amount of right-of-use assels is as {ollows:
Year ended December 31, 2019
r Millions of yon
I Land, buildings Machinery and Taols, fumiture
and structuran vahictas nd fituras Tota!
Addition 14,645 9,404 172 28,21
Depreciation 10,449 5,210 ns 15.778
As of December 31, 2019
f Willions of yen |
! Land, buildings Machinary and Tools, furnitur
ond sirveturos vohicles and fixures Total
Carrying amount 43.172 12,813 126 56,111
(2) Expense Items Related to Lease
The breakdown of expense items related to lease is as follows:
I Willians of yon |
L 2019 |
Financial cost on lease liabilities 1,506
Expense relating 10 short-term lease or leases of low-value assets 9,490
Expense relating to variable lease payments 2,182
Total cash outtlow for leases 16,003
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{1) Schedule of Investment Property

The schedule of the carrying amount of “Invesiment property” for each year is as follows:

— Millions of yen |
L 2018 2015 §
As of January } 16.700 12.558
Expendiiture after acquisition 338 182
Transter Irom property, plant and equipment 3218 1116
Acquisition by business combination 139 -
“Transter 10 non-current assets hald-for-sale (a7l {403)
Transter 10 property, plant and equipment (35) 370)
Depreciation (573) (533)
Irmpairment losses (754) [11)]
Sale or disposal 1303) (34)
Exchange difterences on translation of fareign operations 18) (o)
Other 7 -
As of December 31 17.558 16,588
Acquisition cost as af January 1 15,768 38,355

and losses as of January 1 29,068 20,797

Acquisition cost as of December 31 38.355 40,262
iation and losses

as of December 31 20.197 23,674

The fair value of investment property is determined based on a
valuation conducted by an external real estate appraiser. The valua-
uon is made in accordance with the appraisal standards of the coun-
ty where the invesiment property is located and based on market
evidence of transaction prices for similar assets.

The lair value hierarchy of investment property is categorized
from Level 1 10 Level 3 as follows:

Level 1: Fair value measured at the quoted price in the active
market

Level 2: Fair value that is calculated using the observable price
other than categorized in Level 1 directly or indiractly

Level 3: Fair value that is calculated based on valuation tech-
niques which include inputs that are not based on
observable market data

The fair value of investment property based on the fair value hierarchy as of December 31 is as follows:

[ Miflions of yen |
As of December 31, 2018 |
Lovel 1 Loval 2 Lovel 3 Toto) |
Investment property nd 34.678 2.485 3264
L Millions of yon
A of Decembar 31, 2018 |
[ Lavel } Lovel 2 Lovel 3 Towd |
Invesiment property — 34,788 1,416 36.204
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The grouping of nvestment properties for impairment test is based
on the smallest cash-generating unit that independently generates
cash inflows. Impairment tests for idle properties are carried out
individually.

The Group recegnized impairment fosses of ¥754 million tor the
year ended December 31, 2018, and ¥917 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019 in "Selling, general and adminisirative
expenses” in the consolidated statement of income.

Impairment losses recognized for the year ended December 31,
2018 represent the difference between the recoverable amount and

17. Income Taxes

- CORPORATE PROFILE

the carrying amount for land and buildings as it was decided 1o
demolish certain idle properties. The recoverable amount 1s calou-
lated based on value in use basis, which is “zero” tor buildings due
1o the decision of demolition, and the recoverable amount of other
praperties is calculated by the fair value less costs of disposal.
Impairment losses recognized for the year ended December 31,
2019 represent the dilference between the recoverable amount and
the carrying amount for buildings as it was decided to demolish cenain
idle properties. The recoverabte amounts of these assets are calcu-
lated mainly by their values in use, which are estimated at “zerc.”

VALUE CREATION STRATEGY ABSOLUTE FINANCIAL
FOR SUSTAINABILITY

| AQ@®

Millions of yon |
eol Recognized in ather

Januory 1 Recognized in comprehensive Asof

Defarred Tox Lisbilities 201984 profit of loss. income Othor %=V ___ Dacember 31, 2013
Fixed assets "4 199.298) 5,824 - {ags) (93,968}
Retrernent benelits (10,125) 375 {1,708) (174) 111,632}
Other 112.697) 3938 6113 (524) (102,561}
Totaf (221.120) 10,137 5.065 (1.243) (213,160}

(Note 1) “Other* includes exchange dfferances on ranslation of toreign operations and acquisition thiaugh business combinauons.

(Nota 2) “Fixed assets” include propenty, plant and eguipment, goodwill, intangicle asses and investmen. property.

{Note 3) According io cumlatwve effects of changes in accounting policies, “Fixed assets” of “Deferred Tax Assats” and “Deferrac Tox Lisbililies™ have incressed
¥7,619 millian.

The deferred tax assets are recognized for the amount considered  and ¥31,565 million (inciuding ¥19,252 million, for which the carryfor-
1o be recoverable on deductible temporary differences. carryforward- ward expires after five years) as of December 31, 2019. Tox credits,

d Tax Liabilit

The breakdown and schedule of “Deferred tax assets” and “Deferred 1ax liabilities” by major causes of their occurrence for each year are as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2018

Millions of yen 1
Recognived in other

Asol  Recognisedm  conprationsive Asof

Detarrad Tox Assats January 1, 2018 proft ur foss incoing Other &t Docember 31,2008
Fixed assets o4 124,708 110,763) - (1.436) 112,509
Retirement bencfits 73621 11.563) 131 1,543) 72,248
Carryforward of unused 1ax losses 55,228 (589) - (1.513) 53128
Other 74.433 13,522 (2.043) (1,6971 84.215
Subtotal 327.991 607 (312} (6.188) 322.098
Valuation allowance 165.374) {1.012) {1.248) 1,648 (65.986)
Total 262.617 (406) {1.5601 (4.540) 256,112

Millions of yen }

Rocognized in othor

Recognized in comprehensive . A

Deferred Tox Liahiities Jonuary 1, 2018 profit or loss. income Other et December 31, 2018
Fixed assels S0 (84.705) 5971 - 112.964) 191.678)
Retirement benetits 19.244) 11.530) (254) 902 (10.125)
Other 1122,563) 15.001) 4337 5529 1117.697)
Total (216.511) 1559) 4,083 (6513 (219.500)

Year ended December 31, 2019
Williors of yen |
Avol Rocognizad in athor

January 1 Racognizod n comprohonsive Asol

Defarrad Tax Assota 20199 n profit or loss. incame. Othar P December 31, 2019

Fixed assets “ % 120129 (2.528) — 16 12616

Retirement benefits 72,208 (3,886 3,854 (572) 7153

Carrytorward of unuscd tax losses 53,126 {10.070) - (648) 42409

Other 84.215 2635 1103 {22) 8299

Subtotal 329.117 113,859) 4,957 (1,225) 319,490
Valuauon allowance 165.986) 1501 11.438) 349 (52,068)

Total 263,131 1,053 3519 (877} 267426
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of unused 1ax losses and 1ax credits by taking taxabte temporary
differances and future taxable profits plan ino account. The carryfor-
ward of unused tax losses, for which the deferred tax assets are not
recognized, was Y44.610 million (including ¥15,696 million, for which
the carrytorward expires after five years) as of December 31, 2018,

for which the deferred tax assets are noi recognized, were ¥5,417
million (including ¥5,183 million, for which the carryforward expires
after five years) as of December 31, 2018, and ¥4,201 million (includ-
ing ¥3.931 million, for which the carryforward expires after five
years) as of December 31, 2019.

{2 Income Taxes

The breakdown of “Income taxes™ lor cach year is as follows:

—
L 2018
Current income taxes 143,080
Deferred income taxes 965
Total income taxes . 144,055 103,609

Deferred income taxes increased by ¥36 million and decreased by
¥4,498 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2018,

respectively, due 1o the eftect of changes in tax rates in Japan and
other countries,

(3) Recanciliation of the Effective Tax Rate

The breakdown of major items that caused differences between the effective stalutory tax rate and the average actual 1ax rate for each year

is as follows:

The Company i subjact mainly o corporate tax, inhahitant tax and enterprise tax, and the effectiva statutory tax rate is calculated based
on these 18xes. The effective statutory lex rates were 30.66% and 30.43% for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019, respectively.

Foreign subsidiaries are subject (0 ncome taxes at their locations.

I 1
I _2018 201 )
Effectve statutory tax rate 30.66 3043
Ditferent tax rates applied to foreign subsidiaries 9.57) {3.08)
Non-deductible expenses 113 148
Dividend income 0.45 204
Valuation allowance 0.95 (2.80)
Tax credits (0.62) (1.66)
Withholding tax in foreign countries 1.50 179
Tax contingencies 232 121
Other 0.28 1.05)
Average aciual 1ax rate 2710 221
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18. Trade and Other Payables

The breakdown of “Trade and other payables” as of December 31 is as follows:

K Miltions of yen
t o8 201 ]
Accounts payable 197.4%6 229914
Othor payables 68,245 £§9,439
Other 114,844 109.245
Total 380.516 408,597
Trade and other payables are classilied as financial liabilities measured at amortized cost.
19. Bonds and Borrowings {Including Other Financial Liabilities)
u |
The breakdown of "Bands and borrowings~ and "Other financial liabilities” as of December 31 is as follows:
I Willions of yen
L 2018 - 2019 __ Duo J
Derivative Fabilitics 3176 18 —
Short-term borrowings 165.985 192501 —
Commercial paper 72.038 - -
Current portion of long-icim borrowings 12,013 nse  —
Current portion of bonds # - 80,000 —
Long-term borrowings 116,870 103,743 2021-2028
Bonds ~est 610.444 586623 —
Loase lisbiliies 9807 5005 —
Other 1.570 1419 —
Total 992,334 1.037.425
Current liabilitics 254,953 305.997
Non-current liabilities 737.381 731,428
Total 992,334 1,037,425
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{Note) The summary of the issuing conditions of the bonds is as follows:

3 Milliona of yen ® N
Asof As of Interast .
Company_ Nome of band Boto of issuance December 31,2018 _ Dacember 31,2019 _____ rate __ Collaterat __ Dato of mat
Japan Tobacco inc. 8th domestic December 9, 2010 20,000 20,000 1300 Yes December 9,
straight bond {20,000} 2020
Japan Tobacco Inc. 9th domestic  July 15, 2015 60,000 60,000 0217 Yes July 18, 2020
straight bond : {60,000}
Japan Tobacco Inc. 10th domostic  July 15, 2015 30,000 30,000 0358 Yos July 15, 2022
B straight bond .
Japan Tobacco Inc. 11th domestic  July 15, 2015 25,000 25000 0539 Yos July 15, 2025
straight bond
Japan Tobacco Inc. 12th domestic ~ September 10, 60.000 60,000  0.110  Yes September 8,
stiaightbond 2018 2023
Japan Tobacco Inc. 13th domestic ~ September 10, 30,000 30,000 0355  Yes September 8,
siraightbond 2018 2028
Japan Tobacco Inc. 14h domestic ~ September 10, 10,000 10,000 0.758  Yes September 10.
swraight bond 2018 2038
Japan Tobacco tnc. Straight bond April 13, 2016 83.116 82,085 2000 Yes Aprif 13, 2021
inUSD (USD 750 mil.)  [USD 750 mil.]
Japan Tobacco Inc. Straight bond April 13, 2016 55,268 54,580 2800 Yes Aprit 13, 2026
inUSD (USD S00 mil.|  (USD 500 mil.)
JT International Straight bond September 28, 57.871 57,198 3500 No September 28,
Financial Services B.V.  in USD 2018 (USD §25 mit.]  [USD 525 mil.) 2023
M JT International Straight bond September 28, 54,877 54,172 3.875 No September 28,
Financial Services 8.V.  in USD 2018 (USD 500 mit.]  [USD 500 mil.) 2028
JT Internauonal Suaightbond  September 28, 69134 §6.772 1325  No September 28,
Financial Services 8.V,  in EUR 2018 [EUR S50 mil.]  (EUR 550 mil.) 2025
JT International Straight bond November 26, - 60,639 1000 No November 26,
Fi Services BV, in EUR 2009 [EUR 500 mil.] 2029
JU International Suraight bond Seplember 28, 65,228 56,168 2750  No September 28,
L ial Services B.V. _in GBP 2018 [GBP 400 mil.| _ [GBP 400 mil.) 2033
610444 666.623
=) (80.000)

{Noto 1) The figure in parenthases { ) represents the amount of the currant poriion of the Gand.
(Nota 2) The figuro in patenthasas | | reprasants the amount of foreign currency-denaminated bond.

{2} 'Assets Pledged as Collateral for.Liabilities T

A, Pursuant 10 the provisions of Article 6 of the Japan Tohacco Inc.

Derivative liabilities are classitied as financial liabilities measured”
at fair value through prolit o loss excluding those to which hedge

accounting is apphied, and bonds and borrowings are classified as
financial liabilities measured al amortized cost.

There are no financial covenants that have a significant impact on
the bonds and borrowings of the Group.

®

Act, the Company's praperties are pledged as general collaieral
for bonds issued by the Company. Bondholders are entitled to
claim satisfaction in preference to unsecured creditors of the
Company properties (with the exception of nationat and local

1axes and certain other statutory obligations).

. Assets pledged as collateral by some subsidiaries are ¥2,138

million and ¥2,060 million s of December 31, 2018 and 2019,
raspectively. Their corresponding debt is ¥71 million as of
December 31, 2018.
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20. Provisions

The breakdown and schedule of “Provisions" {or each year are as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2018

r

Millians of yor |

I Provisions for Other
prowisions salas rehatas provisions Total
As of January 1, 2018 1074 iz 3185 17,033
Provisions 1.657 3.668 657 6138
Interest cost associated with passage of time A — — — il
Provisions used (70) {2.590) 3.312) {309) (11,280
Provisions reversed - (68R) - (1.058) (1,744)
Exchange differences on transtation of toreign operations - 133) —_ {185) 318)
As of December 31, 72018 3579 322 3.568 2.789 8.858
Current liabilities -_ 309 3,668 2.0 6,078
Non-current liabi 3579 12 e 189 3.780
Total 3.579 322 3.668 2.289 9,858
Year ended December 31, 2019
I Milions of yen 1
I Restruciuring  Provisions for Othor
provisions salos cobates provisions Jotal
As of January 1, 2019 3519 k] 3.668 2,289 9,858
Provisions 2 253383 4,000 4,564 33,960
Interest cost associated with passage of lime 2 - - - 29
Provisions used {9) (2.874) (3,668) (930) {2,540)
Provisions reversed Q) (95} — (699) {798)
Exchange differences on wranslation of foreign operations - 490 - 3 524
As of December 31. 2019 3598 23,236 4,000 5,199 36,033
Current liabilities -_ 1,565 4,000 5,004 16,570
Non-current liabilities 3,598 15,61 - ot 194 19.463
Total 3,598 23,236 4,000 5,199 36.033

A. Asset Retirement Provisions

In order to setile the obligation of restoring and of removing
hazardous substances from plant facilities and premises that the
Group uses, the probable amount to be paid in the tuture is racog-
nized based on past performances. These expenses are expecied
10 be paid after one year or more; however, they may be affected
by future business plans.

B. Restructuring Provisions

These provisions are mainly related to business integration and
measures for the rationalization of the “International Tobacco

130 Japan Tobacco inc. Intograted Roport 2019

Business.” The timing of the payment may be aflected by futwe
business plans.

C. Provisions for Sales Rebates

These provisions are for contracts which reward the customers with
discounts when the sales volume or sales amount in a given period
exceeds a specified volume or 2mount and conrespond to “Refund
liabilities~ in IFRS 15 "Revenue from Contracts with Customers.”
They are expected 10 be paid within one year.

CORPORATE PROFILE

VALUE CREATION STRATEGY

21. Other Liabilities

ABSOLUTE
FOR SUSTAINABILITY

FINANCIAL

| A@®

The breakdown of “Other current liabilities” and “Other non-current liabilities ™ as of Decemnber 31 is as lollows:

r Millians of yen |
1 2018 2018 §
Tobacco excise tax payables 797728 302,965
Tobiacco special excise tax payables 10,562 10,060
Tohacco tocal excise tax payables 163,704 163,387
Consumption tax payables 95,781 124,693
Bonus to employees 38.977 434713
Employees’ unused paid vacations liabifities 19.130 19,488
Other 269,582 186,752
Total 895.464 856.818
Current liabilities 16,190 701,050
Non-current fiabilities 179.274 155,768
Toal 895.464 856,818

22. Employee Benefits

The Group sponsors funded or unfunded defined benelit plans and
defined conuribution plans as employee retirement benefit plans. The
benelits of defined benefit plans are predetermined based on candi-
tions, such as points employees have ganed in compensation for
‘aach year of service, the payment rate, years of service, and average
salaries in their final years of service before retirement.

The Company is abligated to bear pension costs for a mutual
assistance association incurred with respect 1o services in or before
June 1956 {prior 10 enforcement of the Act on the Mutual Aid

of Public Corporati Such obli
recognized as liabiliies at their present value using the actuarial
valuation method and are included in retirement benefit tiabilties.

Special termination benefits may be provided to employees
on their early relirements under certain circumstances.

The Company and its subsidiary transferred a portion of their
pension plans from a defined benefit plan to a defined contribution
plan as of Apri) 1. 2018,

The lunded defined benefit plans are adminisurated by the Group
or the fund that is legally separated from the Group in accordance

are

with statutory requirements. The Groun, or the board of the pension
fund and the trustee of the plan, are required by law to act in the
best interests of the plan participants. and are responsible for man-
aging the plan assets in with the d i
strategy.

The Group’s main defined beénefit plans expose the Group to
actuanial risks, such as investment risk, interest raie nsk, inflation
fisk, and longevity risk.

(i) tnvestment risk

The present value of the defined benefit obligations is calculated
using a discount rate set with reference 10 a yield on high quality
corporate bonds or government bonds. If the return on the plan
assets is below this yield. there is a possibility that the plan is
underfunded.

{ii) Interest rate risk

A decrease in a yield on high quality corporate bonds or government
bonds will increase the present value of the defined benefit obliga-
tions. However, this will be partially offset by an increase in the fair
value of the debt instruments {plan assets).

{iii) Inflation risk

The level of benetit for certain defined benetit plans of the Group
is linked to inflation. Accardingly, a rise in inflation will increase
the present value of the defined benefit obligations.

iv) Longevity risk

Some defined benefi plans of the Group provide 3 lifetime annuity,
and the Group is oblfigated 1o provide pensian benefits o the plan
participants for the rest of their lives after their retirements. The
present value of the detined benefit obligations is calculated by
reference 1o the best estimate of the moniality of plan participants
during or after employment. An increase in average file expectancy
of the plan participants will increase the defined benefit obligations.
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“A. Schedule of Defined Benefit Obligations
The schedule of the defined benefit abligations is as tollows:

r Wiflions of yon |
b Jopon A Overaeas Totat |
As of January 1. 2018 e .2 249,972 530415 780.386
Current service cost 10.214 9.348 19.562
Past service cost and settlement 126,868) 450 126.418)
Interest expense 1.049 10,646 11,695
Coniributions by plan participants - 1675 1675
Remeasurement gains and losses:
Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in demographic assumplions (249} (1,189) 11.438)
Actarial gains and losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 85) 19.860) 19.945}
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjusiments 3,350 1,255 4,605
Benelits paid (21,159) {23.942) {45.101
Exchange dilferences on uanslation of foreign operations - (34.097) {34.097)
Other - 263 263
As of December 31, 20185917 216,223 484,964 701.187
Current service cost 9,940 9,099 19,039
Past service cost and settlement - 14,130) 4,190)
Interest expense 1,000 10,287 11,288
Conibutions by plan participanis - 1921 1727
Remeasurement gains and losses:
Actuarial gains and losses atising from changes in demographic assumptions 1135 {4,668) (3,533)
Actwarial gains and losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 1.282) 46,336 45,083
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments (2,919) (2.463) (5.378)
Benefits paid (23,507 (2t,110) (93,617)
Exchange differences on transtation of foreign operations - (284) {284)
Othet fd (608) 1608}
As of December 31, 2019 .2 200.595 519,089 719.684

(Note 1) The Group's weighted-average duration of the defined benelit obligations is 6.9 years for Japan and 15.5 years for aversaas (2018: 7.1 years for Japan
anci 15.1 years for overseas).
(Note 2) Tho Graup’s braakdown of the defined benefit otligation by plan participant is as follows:

l As of Decomber 31, 2018 As of Docemt
Japan Ovaracas Total Japan Ovarseas
Active members 140.274 158,329 298,603 135,200 172637
Deferred members 13,158 74678 87.836 10.427 6,190
Ponsioners 62,792 751,957 314,748 54.968 270,263 325,230
Total 216,223 484,964 701,187 200,595 519,089 719,680
(Note 3) Tha schasitla of mutual pansian hanefits ohligatians includad in the catagary of Japan 1s as follows:

f Millions of yen §
L 2018 2018 §
As of January 1 42,284 36675
Interest expense 127 110
Remeasurement gains and losses (875} (1,661}
Benefits paid (4.861) ¢ 14.033)
As ol December 31 36.675 31,090
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8. Schedule of Plan Assets
The schedule of the plan assets is as follows:

I Wil et yon ]

L N . _Japon ___ Ovorseas Totat |

As of January 1, 2018 89,998 411,004 501,002
Interest income 322 B.460 8,782
Decrease due o setllement {22.481) - (22.481)
Remeasurement gains and losses:

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in interost income @1 (11.420) {11.451)
Contributions by the employer e 1,159 10,885 12,044
Contributions by plan participants — 1675 1675
Benefits paid 6.180) 119.163) (25.303)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations — (22.738) (27.738)

As of December 31, 2018 62.788 373,702 436,489
Interest income 296 8.207 8,503
Remeasurement gains and losses:

Return on plan assets excluding amounts included in interest incomel 1,068 30122 31185
Contributians by the employer =7 959 6.465 2024
Cantributions by plan participanis — 1127 1127
Benfits paid (r.119) 116,402) (23.516)
Exchange diflerences on translation of foreign operations — 4,634 4,634

As of December 31, 2019 57,992 408.455 466,047

(Note 1) Pursuant to laws and ragulaticns, the Group and the pension fund review the financial condition of the pension olen regularly snd recalculate coniributions
for allocating fuure deneti and keeging the balance of the pension tinancing when the plan (s underfunded.
{Note 2) The Group plans to pay contributions of ¥6,462 million in the yoar ending December 31, 2020, -

C. Reconciliation of Defined Benefit Obligations and Plan Assets
The reconciliation of the defined benelit obligations and plan assets to the net defined bencfit lisbilitics (assets) recognized in the consolidaicd
statement of financial position as of December 31 is as follows:

/

As of December 31, 2018

r Millians of yon 1
L Japan Oversens Towal §
Present value of the lunded delined benefit obligations 60.453 343,304 403,757
Fair value of the plan asseis (62.788} (373.702) (436.489)

Subtotal (2.334) (30.398) (32.732)
Present value of the unfunded defined benelit obligations 185,770 141,660 297.430
Net defined benefit liabilities (assets) recognized in the consalidated statement of

financial position 153.435 111,262 264,687
Reurement benefit fiabilines 158.297 163.541 321.838
Retirement benefit assets (4.861) (52.279) (57.140)
Net defined benetit liabilities {asse1s) recognized in the consolidated statement of

financial position 153.435 111,262 264,637
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As of December 31, 2019
f Wilians 51yen
L Jopan Overssas Toral |
Present value of the funded defined benelit obligations 53,201 366,845 420,046
Fair value of the plan asses 152,992) 1408,455) (466.447)
Subtotal {4.791) (41,610 (45.401)
Present value of the unfunded detined benefit 147,394 152,244 299,638
Net defined benefit liabililies (assets) recognized in the consolidated statement of
financial position 142,603 110,635 253,237
Retirement benelit liabilities 148,915 171,699 320,614
Retirament benelit assets (6.312) (61,064) (62,311
Net defined banefit liabilities (assets) recognized in the consolidated statement of
financial position 142,603 110,635 253,237
D. Major Breakdown of Plan Assets
The breakdown of plan assets by major category as of December 31 is as follows:
Japan
Mitlions of yen
As of Dacomber 31. 2018 At of Decomber 31, 2018
‘Market price in Morket price in
an octive market an ociive merket
Quatad Unguatad. Totat Quoted Unqunted Total
Cash and cash equivalents 7183 - 7.183 7794 — 1.794
Equity instruments 2,057 - 3.057 3,078 - 3,028
Japan 1.530 - 1,530 1,509 -— 1.509
Overseas 1523 _— 1,523 1,569 - 1,569
Debt instruments 10,388 — 10.388 8,819 - 8813
Japan 9,147 - 9.147 1512 - 1512
Overseas 1.242 - 1.242 1247 - 1,247
General account of life insurance campanies % - 40,309 40,308 - 36,495 36,496
Other 1.208 646 1.85% 785 1,019 1.804
Total - 21.832 40,956 62.788 20477 31,515 57.952
Overseas
Millions af yen
As of Decsmber 31. 2018 As of Dacembar 31, 2019
Markel prica in Market price in
an active market an active markat
Quoied Unquoted Totel Quoted \Unguoted Toral
Cash and cash equivalents 15,269 -— 15269 15,622 - 15,622
Equity instruments 47.856 —_ 47.856 59,536 (] 58,537
United Kingdom isn - 38 4.242 - 4,262
North America 12.539 - 17,538 23,397 — 23,397
Other 26.445 - 26.445 31,897 0 31,897
Debt instrumenis 277108 5.134 282.242 294,758 5334 300,093
United Kingdom 196,193 - 195,193 210,452 — 210,452
North America 39,583 0 39,583 33,186 -_ 33,186
Other 42,333 5134 47.466 51,122 5,334 56,456
Real estate 11.581 €5 11.646 13,060 66 13,126
Other 8.206 B8.482 16.688 10,395 9.683 20,078
Total 360.021 13.681 373.702 393.372 15,083 408.455
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Total
o ot von 1

s of Docamber 31. 2018 As of Docembar 31,2019

Market price In Markel prica in

an active merket on active market
Quatod __Unquoted Total Quo Unauoted Tot!
Cash and cash equivalents 22,452 — 22,452 23,416 - 23,416
Equity instruments. 50,908 - 50.908 62,614 0 62,615
Debt instruments 287,497 5134 292,631 303,578 5334 308,913
Real estata 11.581 65 11,646 13.060 66 1326
General account of life insurance companies ™ — 40,308 40.309 - 36,496 36.496
Other 9.414 9128 18.543 11,180 10,702 21,882
Toral 381,862 54,637 436.489 413,849 52,598 466,447

(Note} A certain interest rste and puncipal far the general account of life insurance are guaranteed by lifo inswiance corpanies.

The investment strategy for the Group’'s major plans is as follows:
tJapan)
The Company’s pension fund is managed in accordance with the
internal policy for securing stable profits in the middle- and lang-term
in order to ensure the redemplion of the plan liability. Concretely, by
setting a target rate of return and composition ratic of plan assets by
assel categery within the risk tolerance that is annually assessed,
the Campany invests plan assets consistenily with the composition
ratio. When reviewing the composition ratio, the Company considers
introducing an asset investment which has a high correlation with
the liability.

When an unexpected situation occurs in the market environment,
it is temporarily allowed 10 make a weighted adjustment 1o the risk
assets, complying with company policy.

E. Matters Related to Actuarial Assumptions

(Overseas}
“The nvestment strategy for the foreign subsidiaries’ funded pension
plans is decided properly by the trustee of the plan and the manage-
ment of overseas subsidiaries according to local legislation. The
Company's objective for the foreign subsidiaries’ funded pension
plans i 1o manage risks anising from its defined benefit obligation,
and meanwhile 10 achieve a return on assets i excess of the move-
ment in the value of the defined benehi obligation.

The majority of the plan assets have been aflacated to liability
matching bonds and the remaining parts of the plan assets are
mainly invested in equities targeting long-term retum,

The major items of actuaria) assumptions as of December 31 are as follows:

I %1
As of Docembor 31, 2013 As of December 31,2019 |
Japan Overseas Jopan Overseas |
Discount raic 05 22 0.6 5
Inflation rate - 24 — 23
As of December 31, 2018
-
I Japan Ovarseas [
Mates. Femalas Males. Fomalos |
Average life expectancy at retirement ="
i o o)
Current pensioners. 23,6 e 293 veten 22,0 Muaen 242
Future pensioners 23.4 Waren 26,5 Motesi
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As of December 31, 2019
I Years |
l Japan Ovarsans |
Males. Females Males Fonales |
Average life expectancy at retirement o 1
i ey [
Current pensioners. 2.6 e 29,3 Waen 28 24,0 M
Future pensioners 23,1 Bt 25.3 et

{Noto 1) The averago fits expoctancies underlie the values of the defined benafd obligations on major plans. Assumptians regarding future mortalty tate are based
on published statistics and mortabity tables.

{Note 2 Lito expactancy fos a pensioner currently agad 60, Ragardloss of sho plan paricipant’s currant ago, the Groun parfarms actuarial calculations basad on the
essumpiron that ilo expectancy remains tho same.

{Note 3) Life expectancy for a pensioner currently aged 65.

(Note 4] Life axpectancy at the age of 65 for an active mamber currenty aged 50,

{Nate 5) The valuauon of defined cenefit abligatians reflects a judgment on uncertzin fulure evenis. The sensitwities of defined benefit obligations due 1o changas
in major assumpiians as of December 31 are as foflows. Each of these sensiivities assumes that otner variables remain fixed: howeve:, in fact, they do
ot always change indesendently. Negative figures represent a decrease in cension plan obligatons, while positve ligures regresen an increase.

Millions of yor
As of Docamber 31, 2019

s o Dacombar 31, 2018

Changein
assumptions Jopan Overseos dapan Oversoos
Discount tate Increase by 0.5% 2192 (34.758) {6,438) (38,101)
Decrease by 0.5% 2m 38.496 6,917 42,450
Inflation rate Increase by 0.5% -_ 23.889 — 25,757
Decrease by 0.5% - (22.326) - {24,052)
Mortality rate Extended 1 year 4420 16.812 3834 20,155
Shortened 1 year 14.267) (16,915} (3.696) {19,764)
F. Breakdown of Defined Benefit Cost
Ihe breakdown of defined benelit cost for each year s as follows:
Year ended December 31, 2018
r Millions of yan |
L Japan Ovorsaas Total
Current service cost 10.214 9348 19,562
Past service cost and gains and losses on setttement {4.388) 450 13.937)
Inierest expense (income) pi 2,186 2913
Nefined banefit cost through prolit o loss, 6.553 11,985 18,538
Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions (749) 11.189) 11,438)
Actuarial gains and losses arising from changas in financial assumptions 185) {9.860) (8.946)
Aciuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjusiments 3350 1,255 4,605
Return on plan assets {excluding amounts included in interest incomel 31 11,4720 11.451
Defined banefil cost through other comprehensive income 3.047 1.676 4.673
Total of defined benefit cost 8.600 13611 23.210
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Year ended December 31, 2019

[ Milions of yen |
L Jopan Oversees ol
Current service cost 9,940 9,099 13,039
Past service cost and gains and losses on settlement - (8,190) (3,190}
Interest expense lincome) 00 2,080 2785
Oefined benelit cost through profit or foss 10,645 6983 17,634
Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions 1135 {4,668) (3,533}
Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 1.282) 46,336 45,053
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjusiments {2914) {2.463) 15,318)
Return on plan assets {excluding amounts included in interest income) 11,064) (30,122) (31,185)
Defined benefit cost through other comprehensive income 14.126) 9,083 4.957
Total of defined benefit cost 6519 16,072 22,591
{Note 1) The not amount of interest expense and interest incoma is included in “Financial costs.” Other expenses are included in “Cost of sales™ and "Seil.ng. general end

admnisiative expanses.
(Note 2) Canuibutions to the defined conuricytion plans were ¥11,517 million for the year andod December 31, 2018 and ¥9,269 million fas the year ended
Oecember 31, 2019 and wore not included in (e table above.

{2) Other Employee Benefit Expenses
The employee benefit expenses other than post-employment benefits that are included in the consolidated statement of incame for each year
are as lollows:

=

Remuneration and safary 236,971 239,305

Bonus 1o employees 62.379 80.973

Legal weltare expenses 44535 44,607

Wellare expenses 39,086 36,620
benefits (304) 24,541

23. Equity and Other Equity Items

A, Authorized Shares
The number of authorized shares as of December 31, 2018 and 2019 15 8,000,000 thousand ordinary shares.

B. Fully Paid Issued Shares
The schedule of the number of issued shares and share capital is as follows:

Thousands of shares
Nurnber of ordinory

Millions of yen

iscuad sharas Shura copita! __ Capital surplus
As of January 1, 2018 2,000,000 100,000 736.400
Increase {decrease) - - -
As of December 31, 2018 2.000.000 100.000 736.400
Increase {decrease} - ot -
As of December 31, 2019 2,000,000 100,000 736,400

(Note) The shares rssued by the Company ere nun-par value ordinary shares that have o restriction on any content of rights.
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(2) Treasury Shares

The schedule of the number of treasury shares and its amount as of each year end is as lollows:

f Thousends of shares . Millions of yen ]
L Number of shares Amount |
As of January 1, 2018 208,957 443,636

Increase {decrease) %47 (380) 1807}
As of December 31, 2018 208.577 442,829
Increase idecrease) ¥ 17.620 43,640
As of December 31, 2019 226197 492,469

{Note 1) The Company sdopts shara aptian plans end utilizes treasury shares for delivery of shares due to its exercise. Conusact conditions and amounts are

descnbed in “33. Share-based Payments,

(Nota 2) Tha number of treasury shares purchased based an the resolution made by the Board of Directars is 17.788 thausand shares and the total purchase cost
is ¥50,00 million for the year ended Decemiver 31, 2018, Purchases of shares less than one uni are 0 thousand shates for the year ended December 31,
2018 and 0 thousand shares for the year anded December 31, 2019, The number of shares delivered upon exercise of shate optians is 380 thousand
shares for the year onded December 31, 2018 and 168 thousand shares lor tne vear endad Docember 31, 2018,

A. Subscription Rights to Shares

The Company adopts share option plans and issues subscription
rights to shares based on the Companies Act. Contract conditions
and amount are described in “33. Share-based Payments.”

8, Exchange Di on ion of Foreign

D. Net Gain {Loss) an Revaluation of Financial Assets Measured at
Fair Value through Other Camprehensive Income

This is the valuation difference in the fair value of financial assets

measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

E. Remeasurements of Defined Benefit Plans

Exchange dilferences on translation of foreign operations are com-
posed of foreign currency translation difference that occurs when

financial of foreign subsidiaries prepared in
toreign currencies. and the effective portion of net gain (loss) on the
hedging i as hedge of net

of defined benefit plans comprisa actuarial gains
and losses, the return on plan assets excluding amounts included

in interest income, and any change in the elfect of the asset ceiling
excluding amounts included in interest income. In addition, actuarial
gains and losses are the effects of differences between the actuarial

C. Net Gain (Loss) on Derivatives Designated as Cash Flow
Hedges

The Group uses derivatives for hedging to avoid the risk of

tluctuation in future cash flows. This is the effective portion of

changes in the farr value of hedging instruments designated as

cash tlow hedges.

24, Dividends
Dividends paid for each year are as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2018

at the beginning of the year and what has aciually
occurred, and the eflects of changes in actuarial assumptions.
are ized as other income

when they occur and are transferred immediately from other compo-
nents of equity 1o retained earnings.

r Millions of yer Yon
I Total Oividands per J
Class ot sharas dividonds share Basie dete Etfeciive dato
{Resotution)
Annual Sharsholders’ Meeting
{March 27, 2018) Ordinary shares 125,373 70 December 31,2017 March 28, 2018
Board of Directors
(August 1, 2018) Ordinary shares 134.351 7% June 30, 2018 3,2018
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Year ended December 31, 2019

| — ‘Millions of yen. Yor
Total Dividands par
Closs of sharos dividonds sharo Basis data Etfoctive date

{Resolution)
Annual Sharcholders’ Meeting

{March 20, 2018) Ordinary shares 134,357 75 December 31, 2018 March 22, 2019
Board of Directors
Wuly 31, 2019) Ordinary shares 136,578 n June 30,2019 2,201

Dividends for which the effective date falls in the following year are as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2018

f Millions of yon Ven
l Total Dividenda par l
Class of sharas dividends share____ Basin date Etfoctive dato
{Resolution}
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting
{March 20, 2019) Ordinary shares 134,357 75 December 31, 2018 March 72, 2019
Year ended December 31, 2019
) Willions of yen. ou
| ~ Totel Oividands par . . 1
Class of sharos dividands shia __ Basis dats Eftactivo date
(Resofution)
Annual Sharcholders’ Meeting )
(March 19, 2020] Ordinary shares 136,583 n December 31, 2019 March 23, 2020

25. Revenue

1) Disaggregation of Revenue

The disaggregation of “Revenue” for each year is as follows. The amounts are presented after inations of s

Year ended December 31,2018

Millions of yan

Reportotto Segmants

Domastic  Inteinationab
Tohaccoma__ Tohacco®iwet Othor _Consalidated
Core revenue from tobacco business e 1 582,379 1,250,118 - - —  1.833,098
Other 39,047 61.622 113,882 161,387 6.815 382.864
Total 621,426 1.312.342 113,892 161,387 6815 2.215.962

Year ended December 31, 2019

Millans of yan

Reportablo Sagmants

Domestic  lntematonal Proceased
Tobacco™s® __ Tobacsottse® _ Pharmacouticals Food Othor __ Consolidated
Core revenue from tobacco business = ¥ 568,880 1,253,022 — - — 1821302
Other 42614 52.855 88,528 158.586 6.140 353,724
Total 611,434 1,310,877 88,528 158,586 6,140 2175626
{Note: 11 Tha "Damestic Tahacca Business™ docs not includa revomse retatod 1o imported tobacco delivery chargos, In addition, the "lnternational Tobacco
usiness” doos not include revenu related 1o th distrbution business and contract manclact

iNote 2) Revenuas tram RRP in core revenue rom the “Domestic Tobacco Business™ were ¥64,611 million and ¥60,932 millior: for the year ended December 31,
2018 and 2019, respecuvely. RRP represents Reduced-Risk Products with potenual to reduce the healh risks associated with smoking.
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INote 3) Core revenue cy cluster fzom the “International Tobaceo Business” 15 as follows™

: 2018 2019 §
South and West Europe | 222,964 216.653
North and Ceniral Europe 233103 236,210
CIS+ 311,897 309,646
Rest-of-the-World 482,756 490,513
Total 1,250,719 1,253,022

South and West Ewrope inctudes France, lialy and Spain. North and Central Europe includes Germany and the United Kingdom. CIS+ includes

Romania and Russia. Rest-of-the-Wurld includes Iran, Taiwan and Turkey.

A. Domestic and International Tabacco Businesses
Domestic and international tobacco businesses engage in the sale of
tobacco products.

Revenue from sales of products is recognized upon delivery of
the pruducts because the customer oblaitis control of the products
upon delivery, by which the Group evaluates that the performance
ubligation is satisfied. Revenue is measured a1 the

revenue and sales-based royalties. Uplront income is recognized at
the time the customer obtains coniral of the license. Milestone
revenue is recognized 8 the time the milestone agreed batween the
parties such as the progress af development is achieved. Sales-
based royallies are measured based un the Group’s licen:
gnized by taking into the timing of

ales,

3

and

promised in a contract with a customer, less discounts, rebates and
taxes, including consurmplion tax. In addition, where the Group
makes payments to the customer, except the case when consider-
auon payable 10 the customer is a payment for a distinet product or
service from the customer, revenue is measured at the amount
which is consideration promised with the customer, less consider-
ation payable 10 the cusiomer.

Considerations lur Wansactions are received mainly within one
yeat from satistying their performance obligations and includes no
significant financing components.

The whacco excise taxes and other ransactions in which the
Group is involved as an agency are excluded from revenue, The
inflow of economic benetits after deduciing the tohacco excise taxes
8nd other iansactions 1s presented as
dated statement of income.

"Revenue” in the consoli-

8. Pharmaceutical Business

Pharmaceulicsl business mainly engages in the sale of

9 tor ate teceived mainly within one
year tram salistying their performance obliganons and inchudes no
significant financial component,

C. Processed Foods Business
Pracessed foods business engages in the sale of frozen and ambient
processed foods, bakery producis and seasonings.

Revenue from sales of products is recognized upon defivery of
Whe products because the custemer obtains conrol of the products
upan delivery, by which the Group evaluates that the performance
obligation is satisfied. Revenue is measured s the consideration
promised in a contract with a customer, tess discounts, rehates and
taxes, including consumption ax. In addition, where the Group
makes payments to the customer, except the case when consider-
ation payable 1o the customer is a payment for a distinet product or
service from the custamer, revenue is measured at the amaunt
which is consideralion promised with the customer, less consider-
ation payable 10 the customer.

Cunsi lor

drugs and ficensing.
Revenue (rom sales of products is tecognized upon delivery of
the products because the customer obtains control of the praducts
upon defivery, by which the Group evaluates that the performance
abligation is satistied. Revent
promised in a contract with & customesr, less discounts. rebates and

is measured at the consideration

taxes, including consumption tax, In acdition, where the Group
makes payments to Lhe customer, excepl the case when consider-
alion payable to the cusiomer is a payment for a distinct product or
service [rom the customer, revenue is measured at the amount
which is consideration promised with the customer, less consider-
ation payable w the customer.

Revenue Irom licensing is generated by licensing ot the nghts to
develop and market of each compound to licensees in the develop-
ment stage, and the Group receives upiront income, milestane
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are received mainly within one
vear from satistying their performance ohfigations and inclides no
significant financial component.

Transactions in which the Group is involved as an agency are
excluded (rom revenue. The inflow of economic benefus alter
deducting these transactions s presented as “Revenue” in the
cunsolidated statement of ncome.

The Group uses the practical expedient and does nat disclose infor-
imation on the remaining performance obligations because 1t has no
significant rransactions with initial expected contractual terms
exceeding one year, There are no significant amounts o consider-
ations from contracts with customers that are not included in

transaction prices.
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(3) Gross Turnover

The reconciliation from “Gross turnover” to “Revenue™ for each year is as follows:

r Willians of yen 1
C 2o 201
Gross turnover 7.532.218 25810
Tobacco exciso taxos and agency amount 5.316.285) 5.405.446)
Rovonuo 2215962 2,175,626

The tobacco excise taxes and other wransactions in which the Gross turnover is an item that the Group discloses volumarily and

Group is invalved as an agency are excluded from revenue. The is not “Revenua™ as defined by IFRS.
inflow of econornic benelits after deducting the tobacco excise taxas
and other transactions is presented as “Revenue” in the

consofidated statement of income.

26. Other Operating Income

The breakdown of “Other operating income” for aach year is as follows:

r Millions of yan-1
L s 019 ]
Gain on ransfer of pharmaceutical licenses - 60,518

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets
and investment properly 1.2 33.402 15,605
Other Noea 3 9128 19,603
Total 48,532 95,125

{Note 1) The amoun: of gain on sale ar th year ended December 31, 2018 mainly relaies to the sale of the old plant sites.
iNote 2] Tha amount of rastructuring incomes included in each account is as follows:

—
L 2010 20
Gain on salc of propcrty, plant and cquipment, infangiblc assets
and investment property 38,559 14,626
Other 75 1)
Total 38,784 15,197
27. Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
The breakdown of “Selling, general and administrative expenses™ tor each year is as follows:

1 e of ven |
1 2018 200 |
Advertising expenses 9111 33,467
Promotion expenses 106198 102,085
Commission 52,743 55,469
Employee benefit expenses %+ ? 268,956 309,623
Rescarch and development oxponses % 65377 54,078
Depreciation and amortization 87.926 106,096
Impairment losses on other than financial assets "7 8.454 16,124

1 osses on sale and disposal of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets,
and investment property e 8845 9,432
Other fir 142,790 135,326
Total 770,407 831,707

{Note 1) All ressarch and development expenses are included in -Seling, yeneral and sdimimstiative expanses.”
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{Note 2) The amount of restructuring costs included in each account is as follows:

1 Millions of yen ]
L 2018 2019 J
Employee benefit expenses 24 24,378
Impairment losses on other than financial assets 3,105 m

Losses on sale and disposal of property, plant and cquipment, intangible asscis.
and investment property 3,262 329
Other 1.530 1.064
Total 1821 26,182

28. Financial Income and Financial Costs

The breakdown of “Financial income™ and “Financia! costs” for cach year is as loliows:

{Rnancial ncome 2018 209 |
Dividend income
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
Investments derecognized during the year 185 1,215
Investments held at the end of the year 1.871 654
Interest income -
Financial assets measured at amortized cost
Deposits and bonds 3,695 6,014
Other 2 458
Total 5,754 8,402
I Wil of yen
{Fimancial Gonts o o §
Interest expenses
Financial liabilities measured st amortized cost
Bonds and borrowings ** 16.267 26,019
Other ” 1538
Foreign exchange losses "= 15.874 13,297
Ermployee benelit expenses o 913 2,785
Other 4.022 1,887
Total 39.252 45,526

INote 11 Valuation gain floss! of cutrency derivativas 1s included in foreign excharge losses.
INote 21 Valuation gain lloss) of interest rate derivatives is inchuded in interest exoenses.
INate 3] Tha emplayee henafit expenses ara tha nat amount of intarest cost and intarast income related ta amployas benefits.
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Amount arising during the year, reclassification adjustments 1o profit or loss and tax etfects for each component of “Other comprehensive

income” for each year are as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2018

‘Millians of yen

I - Reclassification Betore tox Netof J
juste effects Tox effects lox atfects
ltems that will not be reclassified t profit or loss
Net gain (ioss) on revaluation of financial assets measured
at {air value thraugh other comprehensive income - {11.703) 3.488 18,215)
of defined benefn plans - 4.673) 1.478 (3.195)
Total of nems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss - {16.375) 4,965 {11,410
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (244,898) (230) (245,128) 12.603) (247.731)
Net gain (loss) on as cash flow hedges 1,138 236 1314 (363) 1.012
“Total of nerms that may be reclassilied subsequently 1o profit
or loss (243.760) 6 (243.754) 12.965) (246,719)
Total (260.135) 6 1260.129) 2.000 (258.129)
Yeor ended December 31, 2019
r Millians of yen |
I _ Roclassification Boforo tax Netof J
Amount arising adjustments. offects. Tax offs tox offects
ltems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss .
Net gain (loss] on revaluation of tinancial assets measured
st fair value through other comprehensive income (2,209} - {2,209} {274} {2,089)
Remeasurements of delined benetit plans (4,957} - 14,957} 2,146 2811}
Total of items that will not be reclassified to protit or loss (2,166} - {2,166} 181 {5,295}
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss. -
Exchange difterences on wranslation of foreign operations. 1.5 259 10.112 {233) 9879
Net gain (loss) on derivati i as cash flow hedges (882) 320 (561) m (391}
Total of items that may be reclassitied subsequently to profit
or loss 6639 2911 9,550 (62) 9,488
Tota) (527) 291 2,384 1810 4194

30. Earnings per Share

(1) Basis of Calculating Basic Earnings per Share

A. Profit Attributable to Ordinary Shareholders of the Parent Company

f Miffions of yon

L 2018 2018 §
Protit for the period attributable to owners of the parent company 385,677 348,190
Prolit not attributable 1o ordinary shareholders of the parent company — —
Profit for the period used for catculauion of basic earnings per share 385677 348,180
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B. Weighted-average Number of Ordinary Shares Outstanding During the Period Year ended December 31, 2019
1 Thousands of shares | Millions of yen
L 2018 2019 ‘Non-cash changes
Weighied-average number of shares during the period 1.791.296 1,776,782 Acquisition
Aot Wough  Forcign Bvot
Junuary 1, business exchunge Fair value Decembar 31,
- - - 2019 N m Caosh flows it nuvement changay Other 2019
2 “ "‘""""D"“‘“"‘"‘gs per Share Shorttorm borrowings and commercial paper 238,023 44,976) = (1563 — e 1ezsm
- Profit Attributable to Diluted Ordinary Shareholders Long-term borrowings 129313 (11.568) — (2 - 2 1529
: Bonds oot 610499 59,435 - (3s5m) - 26 66662
P Ty - " = ’:7"7‘ Lease liabilities 48840 (14,24) - {394) — 19,552 53,705
i jon of basic earnings
" the period used fof caleulat € eainings per share - Total 1026621 (11,403) — o) — 21,000 1028206
Adjusument — — — e ——
- - —— - ot 1 Curtont wartion is inludod.
Prolit for the period used lor calcutation o diluted earnings per sharo 385,677 348,190 (Note 2] Durivatives avo held 1 the purpose of heding bonds.
(Note 3) Accarding 0 cumulative effects of cnanges in accouniing policies, lease hat:lives have ncreased ¥39,033 million.
B. Weighted-average Number of Diluted Ordinary Shares Outstanding During the Period
- Thousands of s 33. Share-based Payments
i o1 2019
Weighted-average number of ordinary shares during the period 1,791,296 1,176,182 et Torh P el ot i oo Coni . N o ol sh . totows:
Increased number of ordinary shares under subscription rights 1o shares 863 857 e um;?ﬁny and Tori armacaullcal a. opt s' are option p’ans, - D“m"ﬂns,'e,med_ l: the exercise of share Opll?ns Iave ahs ollows:
Weighted-average number of dituied ordinary shares during the period 1.792.159 1,777,639 Share options are granted by the resolutions of the Board of ‘he subscription rights to shares become exercisable when a

31. Non-cash Transactions

Directors based on the approvals at the Annua) Shareholders
Meeting,

The outline of the share opticn plan of the Company is as follows:

holder of a subscriptian right to shares no longer holds a position
as a director. an audit & supervisory board member or an execu-
uve officer. In the subscription rights 10 shares allocation contract

with holders of such rights, it is provided for that the rights
Positiens of persons granted : Directors and Executive
Officers
: Issuance ol shares
: 30 years afler the date of
grani
: None

Significant Non-cash Transactions
The amount of assels acquired under tinance leases was ¥1,041
million tor the year ended December 31, 2018. In addition, starting

from this year, increase in right-ol-use assets has been described in become exercisable from the date following the date on which

“15. Lease Transactions" following the application of IFRS16. they no longer hold their positions.
. In the case where any holders of subscription rights (o shares

waive such rights, they cannot exercise them.

@

Settlement

e . . X . . Elfective period of granted share optian
32. Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities

. Vesting conditions
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities for each year is as follaws:

Year ended December 31, 2018

Changes in the Number of Share Options of the Company

Millions of ven }
Non-cosh changos 2018

January 1, business  oxchango  Fairvalus Docermbor 31, Ovectors Oticois Jotol Qiredto Offcars, Totol

2018 __ Cash flows inati mayement changes Othor 2018 Balance as of January 1 328.800 702.400 1,031,200 195,400 634,000 829,400

Short-tenn botrowings and commercial paper 341,041 {133.849) 49137 (19.586) - 1.280 238,023 Granted 68.800 109.400 178.200 126,000 187,200 313.200
Long-tenn burrowings #ee 56,425 1,785 (764) - 2 128313 Exercised —_ (380,000} 1380.000) - {168,000} (168,000)
Bonds %t 285,136 - {7.346) - 413 610,444 Transterred 1202.200) 202.200 - 39.600 (39.600) -
Lease liabilties -_ {264) —_ 1.041 4.807 Balance as of December 31 195.400 634.000 829.400 361,000 613,600 974,600
Dervatives Moo {2.490) 2294 — - 196 — — Exercisable balance as of Docember 31 e 239.600 239.600 o 153,400 153.400

ol 753314 50932 (27,960) 195 987,588 {Noto 11 Ta nurmher of shara aptions s presented a5 e numiver of underying shares. .

(Noto 2) All sharc aptions erc grantd with an xercisc prico of ¥1 per sherc,

{Note 3) Share optians are granted to § diractors end 18 execulive officers for the yaar ended Decernber 31, 2018, and 6 directors and 20 executive officers for
the year ended December 33, 2019,
“Transtened” included in the “Changes i the Number of Share Options ™ represents the number of share options for persons granted whose manago-
ment posision changed during the period.

{Note 4) The we:ghted-sverago fair valuos cer share of share opiians granted uing the pariod were ¥1.500 and ¥340 for the yoars ended Secember 31, 2018 and
2019, resoscuvely.

(Noto 5 Tha weightod-avarage shara pricas of shara eptions 3t tho time of exsrcise during the oeriad were ¥3,086 and ¥2,544 for the years enced Dacember 31,
2018 and 2019, respoctively.

(Nute 61 Tho werghted-sverago remarning contract years of uncacreised sharo options at tho end of cach period were 26.4 yaars and 26.4 years for the yours
ended December 31, 2018 and 2019, respectively.
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(3) Method of Measuring Fair Value of Share Options Granted During the Period of the Company

A. Valuation Mode!
Black-Scholes Model

B. Main Assumptions and Estimation

{ 2018 201
Share pricc ¥3.013

Volatility of share price =" 31.7% 31.2%
Estimated remaining period S 15 years 15 years
Estimated dividends e Y140/share ¥150/share
Risk free interest rate Wete @ 0.26% 0.07%

(Note 1) Cafculated based on daily share prices quoted for the past 15 years.

(Note 2) Because of the difficulty of a reasonable estmation due to insufficient data, the remaining period s estimaied based on the assumption that share option

tights would be exsrcised at a midpaini of the exercise period.
(Note 3) Based on tha latest diidends paid.

(Nate 4) Tha yieki on gaverament bonds for a period of the expacied remaining period.

(4) Share-based Payment Expensas
The costs for share options included in “Selling, general and adminis-
1rative expenses” in the consclidated statement of income were

34. Financial Instruments

(1) Capital Management

The Group’s management principle is pursuit of the “4S" model:

balancing the imtesests of consumers, shareholders, employees and
wider saciety, and fulfilling our responsibilities towards them, aiming
10 exceed their expeciations.

The Group believes that sustainable profit growth in the mid- 1o
long-term based on this principle will increase the Group's value in

¥275 million and ¥291 million for the years ended December 31,
2018 and 2019, respectively.

the mid- to long-ierm, and is consequently in the best interest of all
stakeholders, including our shareholders.

For that reason, as its financial policy, the Group maintains
a strong financial base that secures stability in the case of changes
in business environment such as economic crises, and flexibifity
enabling expeditious responses 10 business investment
opportunities.

The Group manages net interest-bearing debt, where cash and cash equivalents are deducted from interest-bearing debs, and capital
fthe part atiributable 10 the owners of the parent company). The amounts as of December 31 are as follows:

r Willions of yen |
L 2018 2019 |
Imerest-bearing debt Mo 987,588 974,502
Cash and cash cquivalents (282,063) (352.158)
Net interest-bearing debt 705.526 612,344
Capital {cquity atiributable 10 owners of the parent company) 2,630.591 2,662,696

(Note} Laase lisbilities are excluded from the year ended December 31, 2019.

There are specific rules for shares of the Company under the
Japan Tobacco Inc. Act, as follows:

The Japanese government shall hold more than one-third of all of
the shares issued by the Company {excluding the type of shares, for
which it is stipulated that voting rights may not be exercised on any
matters that can be resolved by the Annual Shareholders” Meeting)
{Anticle 2 (1), .

In cases where the Company intends to solicit persons 1o sub-
scribe for shares 10 be issued or subscription rights to shares or
whete the Company intends 1o deliver shares lexcluding teasury
shares). subscription rights 10 shares {excluding its own subscription
rights 10 shares) or bands with subscription rights to shares
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lexcluding its own bonds with subscription rights to shares) when
exchanging with shares, the Company shall obiain the approval
of the Minister of Finance (Article 2 (2)).

Disposal of shares owned by the Japanese government shall be
within the limits on the number of shares decided by the Diet in the
retevant annual budget (Article 3).

The Group manitors financial indicators in order to maintain a
well-balanced capital structure that ensures an appropriate return on
equity and a stable and flexible financial condition for future invest-
ment. We monitor credit ratings for financial stability and flexibility,
and ROE (return on equity) for profitability, while focusing on
changes in the domestic and overseas environment.

CORPORATE PROFILE
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(2) Financial Risk Management
The Group is exposed to financial risks (credit risk, liquidity risk.
foreign exchangs risk, interest rate risk. and market price fluctuation
risk) in the process of its management activities and it manages risks
based on a specific policy in order 1o avoid of reduce said risks. The
results of risk management are regularly reporied by the Treasury
Division to the president and the Board of Directors of the Company.
The Group policy limits derivatives to transactions for the purpose
of miligating risks from transactions based on actual demand.
Theretore. we do nol transact derivatives for speculation purpeses or
wading purposes.

Receivables. such as note and account receivables, acquired from
the operating activities of the Group are exposed 1o cusiomer
credit risk.

The Group holds mainly debt securities for surplus investment
and equity securities of customers and suppliers to strengthen rela-
tionships with them; those securities are exposed to the issuer’s
credit risk.

In addition, through derivative ransactions that the Group con-
ducts in order to hedge foreign exchange fluciuation risks and mnter-
est rate {luctuation risks, we are exposed to the credit risk of the
financial institutions which are counterparties to these transactions.

ABSOLUTE REOUIREMENTS
FOR SUSTAINABILITY

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

AQO®

In principle, the Group sets credit lines or wransacticn conditions
with respecl to trade receivables lor counterparties based on the
Credit Management Guidslines in order to control the credit risk
relating to counterparties. In addition, the receivable balances of
counterparties with high credit risk are monitored. The Treasury
Division of the Company regularly monitors the status of the occur-
rence and collection of bad debts, and reports them to the president
and the Board of Directors of the Company.

With regard to the investiment of cash surpluses and derivatives,
1he Group invests in debt securities and other financial instruments
with a cenain credit rating and transacts with tinancial institutions
with 3 high credt rating in principle in order to prevent credit risks
from occurring and based on the Group Financial Operation Basic
Palicy. In addition, the Treasury Division of the Company regularly
monitors the performance of these transactions and reports the
resulis 10 the president and the Board of Directors of the Company.

“The maximum exposure pertaining to credit risks for financial
assets is the carrying amount after considering impairment in
1he consolidated linancial stalements.

There is no excessive concentration of the credit risks 10 certain
counterparties.

The Group reviews collectability of rade receivables depending on the credit conditions of counterparties and recognizes aflowance for
doubtful accounts. The schedule of the allowance far doubtiut accounts is as follows.

jons of v I
Tradn

rocoivables Other financial assols

Mossurad st on  Messured at an amount oqual to

smount equs! he full lifetime expectud

tothe credit losses

12-month Non-

g oxpactod ~ creditimpairod ~ Crodit-impairod
credit losses _ financie) assets _ financial assels Total
As of January 1, 2018 23,589 - 3n 6.252 30,158
Addition 228 - 13 906 1147
Decrease liniended use) 19.537) - [} 17} (19,656)
Decrease (reversal (591} - (s8) (979) (1.628)
Other 12,0400 — — (223) (2.263)
As of December 31, 2018 1650 - 269 5.833 7.758
Agdition 1163 - 18 1 1.182
Decrease fintended use) (218) — - (0 1219)
Decrease Ireversal) (20) - (s7) 178) (155)
Other {100) - — (6) (156)
As of December 31, 2019 2415 — 230 5.105 8.409

(Notel Thera is no sigriicant change in the carrying amounts of financial assets which aflects the change in the aflowance for doubtful sccounts.

The Group raises funds by borrowings, commercial paper and bonds;
howaever, these liabilities are exposed to the tiquidity risk that we
would not be able to repay liabilities on the due date due to the
deterioration of the financing environment.

In accordance with the Group Financial Operation Basic Policy,
the Group establishes a finance plan based on the annual business

plan and the Treasury Division of the Company regularly monitors
and collects information on the balance of fiquidity-in-hand and inter-
est-bearing debt and reports it to the president and the Board of
Directors of the Company. In addition, the Group keeps necessary
credit facilties to manage liquidity risk by having commitment lines
with several financial institutions.
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The tinancia! liability balance (including derivative financial instruments) by maturity as of December 31 is as follows:

As of December 31, 2018

Millions of yen
Due after Due after Duo aftor Due sftar
onoyom  twoyaxs  thiaoyors  four yaars
Carrying Contractual  Due within through through thraugh through Dua aftar
amount cosh flow ‘ona yoar wo yoars _ throo yours four years. liva yaars five yaars.
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 380516 380516 380516 - - - - —
Short-term borrowings 165985  165.985 165,985 — - - - —
Commercial paper 72,038 72080 72150 - — - — -
Curcent portion of long-term borrowings 12,443 12443 12,443 - - - - —
Long-term borrowings 16870 117.006 — 1195 11608 41610 11576  40.257
Bonds 610444 613773 — 80000 83250 30000 118.275  302.248
Lease liabilivies 9,807 13.401 1305 1130 992 700 483 8790
Subtotal 1,368,104 1.375273 632399 93086 95849 72308 130.334 351,295
Derivative financial lisbilities
Foreign exchange lorward contract 3176 3178 376 — — - - —
Subtotat 3176 3176 3476 — — - — —
Total 1371280 1378449 635575 93086 95849 72309  130.334  351.285
As of December 31, 2019
Millions of yen
Due ofter Due ofter Due after Duo ofior
‘one yoor woyenrs  threa years  four yoars
Carrying  Coniractus!  Dua within through. through through through  Dua sfier
amount cash flow ona year two years _ threo years four yeors five yaars fivo yeors.
Non-denvauve financial liabilives
liade and other payables 408597 40597 408,597 - — - - -
Short-term borrowings 192581 192581 192,581 — - — — —
Current portion of fong-term borrowings 11,550 1554 11554 - - — - -
Long-teren borrowings 103,743 103847 — M08 a2 1435 20064 20187
Current purtion of bonds 80,000 80,000 80,000 - — - - -
Bunds 586,623 590133 — B0 30000 117518 — 360444
Lease labilities 53,705 58,189 15289 10,985 6482 4183 2751 _ 1849]
Subtotal 1436808 1446900 708022 104,364 77,694 132877 22815 393,28
Derivative financial lisbilities
Foteign exchange forward conuiact 7.739 1138 1739 - - - - —
Subtotat 7.138 1133 1738 — — — - —
Total 1,499,503 1,452,640 715761 104,364 77.694  132.877 22,815 399,128
The total of commitment fines and withdrawal as of December 31 are as follows:
I Willions af yen
L 2018 201 J
Total committed linc of credit 178531 anan
Withdrawing - -
Unused balance 478,531 470,411

(5) Foreign Exchange Risk

‘The Group operates businesses globally and. therefore, is exposed

10 the following risks due to foreign exchange fluctuation:

(i) The risk where the profit of loss and cash fiow in each functional
currency of the Group is influenced by foreign exchange
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fluctuation as a result of external transactions and intergroup
transactions, including the payment and receipt of dividends. in
currencies that are different from each functional currency of
the Group.
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(i} The risk that tho equity of the Group is influenced by foreign
exchange fluctuation when equity denominated in each functianal
currency of the Group is translated into Japanese yen
and consolidated.

(i) The risk that the profit or loss of the Group is influenced by
foreign exchange fluctuation when profit or loss denominated
in each functional currency of the Group s wanslated into
Japanese yen and consolidated.

The Group hedges against risk (i using derivatives or foreign
currency-denominated interes-bearing debis o+ example, when
future cash flow is projacted or when receivables and payables
are fixed, and some of them are designated as cash flow hedges.
The Group hedges against risk (i using foreign currency-
denominated interest-bearing debts lor example, and part of these
“are designated as nat invastment hadges. The Group does not
hedge against risk (i} in principle.

In ordar to mitigate tisks mentioned above resulting from the

foreign exchange fluctuation, in accordance with the Group Financial
Operation Basic Policy, and under the supervision of the Financial
Risk Management Commiltee of the Company, the Group estab-
lishes and implements a foreign currency hedge policy, taking into
consideration the impact on the Group's performance and the current
conditions of the foreign exchange market in a comprehensive
manner. The Treasury Division of the Company regularly reports the
performances 10 the president and the Board of Directars of

the Campany.

Fareign Exchange Sensi
In cases where aach currency other than the functional currancy that
denominates the linancial insiuments held by the Group as of each
year end increases by 10% in value against the functional currency,

ity Analysis

ABSOLUTE REQUIREMENTS
FOR SUSTAINABILITY
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The impact from the translation of functional currency-
denominated financial instruments, and assets, liabifities, income and
expenses of loreign operations into Japanese yen is not included.
Also, it is based on the assumption that currencies other than the
currencies used for the calculation do not fluctuate.

I
[

Protit betore income taxes

(6) Interest Rate Risk

interest rate risk within the Group arises from interest-hearing debis
after deducting cash equivalents. Borrowings and bonds with floating
rates ore exposed to interest rate fluctuation risk.

In order to reduce the interest rate fluctuation risk related 1o
orrowings and bonds, in accardance with the Group Financial
Operation Basic Palicy, and under the supervision of the Financial
Risk Management Committee of the Company, the Group estab-
lishes and implements an interest rate hedging policy, 1eking into
consideration the impact on the Group’s performance and the current
condition of the interest rates in a comprehensive manner. The
Treasury Division of the Company reports the pertarmances to the
president and the Board of Directors of the Company,

2018
(2,775}

Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis
In cases where the interest rate of financial instruments held by the
Group as of each year end increases by 100bp. the impaci on profit
before income taxes in the consolidated statement of income is as
follows:

The analysis is subject to financial instruments affected by inter-
est rate fluctuation and based on the assumption that other factors,
including the impacts of foreign exchange fluctuation. are constant.

the impact on profit before income taxes in the state-
ment of income is as follows:

{
L 2018

Protit betore income taxes 1955)

(7) Hedging Transactions

‘The Group's policy for hedging transacuons is stated n *

A, Cash Flow Hedges

. Significant Accounting Policies.

The details of hedging instruments designated as cash flow hedges are as follows:

As of Dacember 31, 2018

L

Cany: e
Willions uf yen)

Avorage rata, stc. _|

Contract amount Over one yoar Assots Liabilitios
Foreign exchange fisk
Foreign exchange farward contract
JPYASD usD 63 mil.  USO — 1.329 613 ¥109.21
JPYICNY CNY 49 mil. _ CNY - — 8 ¥15.92
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As of December 31, 2019

il )
Controct amount ___Ovor ono yaar Assts Linhiiing _ Avataga rae. ste. !
Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange forward contract

JPYSD USD 187 mil. _ USD — LAl 221 ¥106.67

(Notej Cattying amuunts of denvatives ere presented as "Otier tinancial assets™ or "Other linanctal hiabilities™ in the consolidated statement of financial pasition,
and the porlion with aver ane year maturity 1s classified as "Non-current assets” or “Non-current liabilities.

The schedule of net gains {losses) on hedging insirument designated as cash llow hedges is as follows:

Eftnctiva portian of changas
intha far value of cash flow hadgos

Farsign Intarast
exchunge risk rale risk Totat
As of January 1, 2018 (195) 106 188)
Other comprehensive income
Amount arising ™' 1.334 {186) 1,138
Reclassilication adjustments ™=/ 194 42 236
Tax effects [£)l0)] a7 (363)
Other (480) o (480}
As of December 31, 2018 443 - 443
Other comprehensive income
Amount arising? (882) - (882)
Reclassilication adjustments # 4 320 - 320
Tax effects . m —_ m
Other (18s) - {185)
As of December 31, 2019 132 — {132)
WNote 1) u“, charige in value ul the hedged iter used as the basts fof recognizing hedge ineffectiveness approximates the change in feir value of the hedging

strument.
INote 2} Ths amaunt, which is reclassified wnen the hedged item atfects proti: of loss, 15 'ecugmzed in “Revenue,” “Financial income” or “Financial costs” i the
consalidated siatement of incame, The amount of hedge ineffectiveness is mmaeri

B. Hedge of Net Investment in Foreign Operations
The details of hedging i i as hedge of net i are mainly as follows:

As of Dacember 31, 2018

Catrying amaunt
Millions of yonl
Averoge rate. e,

Ganract srount Over ong yoor st Gabitisa
Bonds in USD USD 1,250 mil.  USD 1,250 mil. — 138,384 ¥109.41
Bonds in GBP GBP 400 mil.  GBP 400 mil. — 55.216 s1.32
Foreign exchange forward contract
EUR/RUB : RUB19.973mil.  RUB  — 516 338 €0.012
USD /TWD WD N3mil. TWD  — 67 — $0.033
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A

As of December 31, 2019

Comrving amount oo

lions of yen) J

Contract amount Over one yoar Assars Linbilitios _ Avarago rato, ic.

Bonds in USD USD 1,250 mil.  USD 1,250 mi. - 136,675 ¥108.41

Bonds in EUR EUR 567 mil. EUR 567 mil. — 69,132 s

Bonds in GBP GBP 400 mil. GBP 400 mil. -— 56,089 $1.32
Foreign exchange forward contract .

EUR/RUB RUB 29,502 mil. RUB - _ 930 €0.014

JPY JUSD USD 400 mil. usd - - 749 ¥106.68

USD/TWD TWD 7,518 mil. TWD — — 399 $0.033

GBP /USD USD 245 mil. usb - 15 395 £0.77

FUR/USD USD 183 mil. uso el - 338 €0.89

{Note) Carrying smounts of bands are presenied as “Bonds and bor:owings™ in the consolidated statement of financial position, and the partion with over ane year maturity
15 dlassilied as “Non-curren liabilities.~ Carrying amounts of erivauves are presenied as “Other knancial essats™ or “Other financial liabiliies” in the consolidated
statement of financial posilion, and the portion with over one year matwrity is classified as “Nan-curent assets” or “Narvcurrent liatilties. ™

The schedute of net gains {losses) on hedging instrument designated as hedge of net investment in foreign operations is as follows:

I Millions of yen ]
L 2018 2019 ]
As of January 1 10.793 17,842
Other comprehensive income
Amount arising % 9,652 (221}
Tax effects (2,603 (233)
As of December 31t 17.842 10.338

(Note 1} The changa in value of the hedged i
hadging nsirument.

{Note 2 Net gain arising trom the hedging instruments for which hedge accounting is discontinued were ¥17.505 million and ¥14.883 million as of December
31, 2018 end 2013 resceciively those which are included in the exchanga diffarances on anstatio of foreign oparations.

{8) Market Price Fluctuation Risk ISR I (0) Fair.Value of Financial Instruments N
With respect 1o securities, the Group regularly assessas the fair The fair value hierarchy of financial instruments is categorized from
value and financial conditions of the issuers, and each relevant Levet 1 1o Level 3 as follows:

used as the basis for recognizing hedge ineffectiveness approximates the change u feir velue of the

depaniment reviews the portfolic held by taking into account the

relationship with counterparty entities as necessary. Leve! 1: Fair value measured al the quoted price in the active
market

1evel 2: Fair value that Is calculated using the observable price

other than categorized in Level 1 directly or indirectly

. Level 3: Fair value that is calculated based on valuation tech-
niques which include inputs that are not based on
observable market data

A. Financial Instruments Measured at Amortized Cost

The carrying amount and fair value hierarchy of financial instruments measured at amortized cost as of December 31 are as follows:

As of December 31, 2018

! Miiions ofven

I Fair value |
Corrying amount Lovel ) Lovel 2 Lovel 3 Towl |

Longeleren borrowings % 120313 — — 129.978 129.978

Bonds 610.444 606.435 — — 606.495
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As of December 31, 2019
I

L

Carrying amount Lovel 1 Level 2 Lovot3
Long-term borrowings ®e 115,297 - 116,804 -_—
Bongs " 666,623 683,650 - - 683,650

(Notel Current portion is included.
With regard 1o short-term financial assets and short-term financial The fair value of long-term borrowings is calculated based on the

present value which is obiamed by discounting the total of the

principal and interest by the interest rate assumed in a case where

liabilities measured a1 amortized cost, their fair value spproximates
the carrying amount.

the same loan is newly made.

B, Financial Instruments Measured at Fair Vatue
The tair value hierarchy of tinancial instruments measured at fair value as of December 31 is s follows:

As of December 31, 2018

r Millions of yen §
Leval ! Lovel 2 Loval 3% Totat |
Derivative assets - 8,653 - 8,653
Equity securities 58.847 — 5.837 64,684
Other 40 11,025 4514 15.940
Total 59.248 19.677 10.351 89.277
Denvative liabiliues — 3,178 — 3.176
Total - 3178 - 3,176
As of December 31, 2019
[ Milions of yen }
Laval 1 Lovel 2 Lovel 30w Total §
Derivative assets - 2,564 - 2,564
Equity securities 25,829 - 6,918 32,747
Other 442 17,673 5,008 23123
Toial 26.270 20238 11,927 58,435
Denvauve liabilities - 2.139 - 1739
Total - 2139 - 2139
(Noute) The schedule of financial mstruments that are classified in Level 31s as follows:
. Millions of yen
L 2018 209 J
As of January 1 9,342 10,351
Total gain lloss)
Profit or loss et (341) 209
Other comprehensive income %% (1003} {182)
Purchases 2270 1,660
Sales 181) (140)
Other 164 29
As of Decernber 31 10.351 11,927

(Noto 1) Gains and losses included in prafit or toss for the years ended Decambr 31, 2018 and 2019 are related 1o financial assets measured at fair value through
profit or loss as of the year end. These gains and losses ar included in “Financial income* and “Finaricial costs.”

{Nots 2) Gains and losses included In other comprehansive income for the years endad Decemier 31, 2018 and 2019 are rolated to financial assets measurad at
tair valua thiough other comprehensiva income as of the year and. These gains and losses are includer n "Net gain (loss) an revaluation of financial
assats moasurad at far valuo through other comprehensive income,”
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35. Related Parties

Based on the Japan Tobacco Inc. Act, the Japanese government shal
hold more than one-third of all of the shares issued by the Campany
texcluding the type of shares, for which it is stipulated that voting
fights may not be exercised on any matters that can be resolved by
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting). As of December 31, 2019, the
Japanese government held 33.35% of all auistanding shares of the
Company.

(2) Remuneration for Directors and Audit and Supervist
Remuneration for directors and audit and supervisory board members tor

REQUIREMENTS | ¢y ANCIAL INFORMATION

AGO

Related-party transactions are conducted under the same conditions
as regular business transactions.

The Group’s revenue from CJSC TK Megapafis, the local Russian
distibution affiliate, was ¥216,913 million and ¥202,780 million for the
vears ended December 31, 2018 and 2019, respectively. The Group
held trade receivables of ¥44,436 million and ¥38,640 million from
CJSC TK Megapofis as of December 31, 2018 and 2019, respectively.

Board Members

each year is as follows:

r illans of yan
L 2018 2018 §
Remuneration and bonuses 795 673
Share-based payments 108 115
Total 304 788
36. Subsidiaries, Associates and Others
{The composition of the Group)
The composition of the Group by rcpartablo segment as of Dacember 31 is as follows:
2018 )
Numbear of entities.
Numbar of

Reportable Segments subsidiaries 1he equity mathad e
Domestic Tobacco 12 1
International Tobacco 166 ?
Pharmaceuticals 2 -
Processed Food 23 3
Other " 2

Total 724 13

{Note) No asseciatos of joint vanturos are censidored 1o b material 1o the Group.

There is no significant change in the composition of the Group for
the year ended December 31, 2019,

37. Commitments

Regarding the restnciions on the ability to use the assets of the

Group, please refer 10 “7. Cash and Cash Equivatents.”

(1) Commitments for the Acquisition of Assets

Commitments for the acquis

ion of assets as of December 31 are as follows:

I Waiions ot yon
L 2018 2019 ]
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 64,030 35,747
Acquisition of intangible assets 3127 1.602
Towl 57.157 32,348

With regard to the procurement of domestic feaf tobacco by the
Company. based on the Tobacco Business Act, the Company enters
1o purchase contracts with domostic lcaf 1obacco growers overy
year. and the coniracts determine the area under cukivation by

type of tabacco and the prices by type and quality of tobacco leaf.
Under the coniracts, the Company is obligated to purchasc all
domestic leal 1obacco produced pursuani 1o such contracts, except
for any domestic leaf tobacco not suited for the manufaclure of
tobacco producis.
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38. Contingencies

Contingent Liabilities

The Company and some of its subsidiaries are defendanis in legat
proceedings. Provisions are not accounted for in matters where it
is not practicable {0 reasonably estimate the final ouicomes.

The Company and some of its subsidiaries. who are defendants
in such legal proceedings, befieve that our defenses asserted in
these proceedings are based on substantial evidence and implement
the system tor the respense to action with the assistance of external
lawyers.

(1) Smoking and Health Related Litigation

The Company and some of its subsidiaries aro defendants in
lawsuits filed by plaintilfs seeking damages for harm allegedly
caused by smoking, the marketing of tobacco,products, or exposure
10 tobacco smoke. As of December 31, 2019, there were a total of
20 smoking and health related cases pending in which one or more
members of the Group were named as a defendant or for which the
Company may have certain indemnity obligations pursuant to the
agreement such as for the Company's acquisition of RJR Nabisco
Inc.'s overseas (non-U.S.) wbacco operations.

The major ongoing smoking and health refated cases are
as follows:

On March 8, 2018, JTI-Macdonald Corp. {hereinafter referred to
as “JTHMac"), the Company’s Canadian subsidiary. filed tor protec-
tion from its creditors under the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement
Act CCAA). The Ontario Superior Court has granicd the CCAA appl
cation and extended protection in favor of JTI-Mac (hereinafter
referred 10 as “CCAA Proceedings ™). All of the below Canadian
matters against JTI-Mac have been stayed by the CCAA Proceedings.
under which JTI-Mac carrics on business in the ordinary coursc.

A. tndividual Claim

There is one individua! case brought against the Company’s indemni-
tee in South Africa.

South Alrica Individual Claim (Joselowitz):

The individual claim was brought against the Company’s indemnitee
in South Africa in October 2000. Plaintiff seeks compensatory and
punitive damagos. alleging that the Company's indemnitce marketed
products which it knew 10 be dangerous to health, maniputated
nicotine content to foster addiction, failed to comply with South
Atrican labeling and world-
wide operatian to encourage children to smoke. This case has been
dormant since February 2001

ina

In addition, there is one individual case {which is currently
dormant] brought against the Company’s subsidiary in Irefand.
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8. Class Actions

There are eight ongoing class actions in Canada against the
Company's subsidiary and/or indemnitees.

Canada Quebec Class Action (Cecilia Letourneau):

This class action was brought in September 1998 against ihvee
Canadian tabacco manufacturers including JT-Mac. Plaintilfs were
seeking a total of ¥384.7 billion CcAD
4.6 billion) in compensatory damages, an amount for which al the

defendants are jointly and severally liable, and a total amount of

¥384.7 billion CAD 4.6 billion) in puni-
tive damages. 1o be divided among all the defendants based on their
respective market shares.

The Quebec Superior Coun published the first instance judgment
in favor of the plaintiffs in June 2015. tn June 2015, JTI-Mac and
other tobacco manulacturers appealed the judgment to the Ouebec
Count of Appeal, and the appeal on the merits was heard and con-
cluded in November 2016.

In March 2019, the Quebec Court of Appeal dismissed the appeal
of defendants by substantively upholding the first instance judgment
and ordering 3 punitive damage award against the appellants of
approximately ¥13.5 billon {approximately CAD 161 million), in which
the share of the total damage award against JT-Mac s approximately

¥1.3 billion (approximately CAD 15 millionl. The time limit for seeking
leave 10 appeal the decision 1o the Supreme Court of Canada is sus-
pended during the CCAA Proceedings. Enforcement of the judgement
is stayed by the CCAA Proceedings.

Canada Quebec Class Action (Conseil Québécois sur le 1abac et

la santé):

This class action was brought in November 1398 against hree
Canadian tobacco manutacturers including JTI-Mac. Plaintilfs ware
¥1,042.2 billion CAD
12.4 billion) in compensatory damagas, an amount for which all the

seeking a total of

defendants are jointly and severally liable, and a total amount of
approximately ¥67.9 billion {approximatety CAD 0.8 billion) in punitive
damages. to be divided among all the defendants based on their
respective market shares.

‘The Quebec Superior Court published the first instance judgment
in favor of the plaintiffs n June 2015, In June 2015, JTi-Mac and
other tobacco manufacturers appealed the judgment 1o the Quebec
Court of Appeal, and the appeal on the merils was heard and con-
cluded in November 2016.
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In March 2019, the Ouebec Court of Appeal dismissed the appeal
of the defendants by substantively upholding the first instance judg-
ment and ordering a compensatory damage award jointly and sever-
ally against the defendants of approximately ¥1,133.6 billion
(approximately CAD 13.5 billon), in which the share of the total
damage award against JT-Mac is approximately ¥147.4 billion
{approximately CAD 1.8 billion), and a punitive damage award of
approximately ¥3 million (approximaiely CAD 0.04 million} per defen-
dants. The time limit for seeking leave to appeal the decision to the
Supreme Court of Canada is suspended during the CCAA
Proceedings. Enforcement of the judgement is stayed by the CCAA
Proceedings.

The Ouebec Court of Appeal rendered one judgment for both
class aclions against the defendants and ordered them to make an
initial deposit of approximately ¥97.3 billion (approximately CAD 1.2
billion), in which the share of JTI-Mac is approximately ¥12.2 biliion
{approximately CAD 145 miflion). The obligation to pay the initial
deposit is stayed by the CCAA Proceedings.

Canada Saskaichewan Class Action (Adams):

This class action was brought against tobacco industry members
including JT1-Mac and the Company’s indemnitees in June 2009,
Plaintills are seeking unspecilied compensatory and punitive dam-
ages on behall of class members who allege to be or have been
addicted to nicotine cantained in cigareties manulactured by the
defendants. The preliminary mations are pending. The case was
dormant and is currently stayed by the CCAA Proceedings.

Canada Manitaba Class Action (Kuntal:

This class action was brought agamst tebacco ndustry mermbers
including JTI-Viac and the Company’s indemnitees in June 2009.
Plaintilfs are seeking unspecified compensatory and punitive dam-
ages on bahalf of class members who allage to be or have been
addicted to nicotine contained in cigarettes manutaciured by the
defendants. The statement of claim was served on the Company’s
indemnitees but not an JTI-Mac. The case was dormant and is cur-
renily stayed by the CCAA Proceedings.

Canada Nova Scotia Class Action (Semple):

This class action was brought against 1obacco industry members
including JTHViac and the Company’s indemnitees in June 2009,
Piaintifts are seeking unspecified compensatory and punitive dam-
ages on behalt of class members who allege to be or have been
addicted to nicotine cantained in cigarettes manufactured by the
defendants. The stalement of claim was served on the Company’s
indemnitees but not on JTI-Mac. The case was dormani and is cur-
rently stayed by the CCAA Proceedings.
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Canada British Columbia Class Action (Bourassal:

This class action was brought against tobacco industry members
including JT-Mac and the Company’s indemniteas in June 2010.
Plaintiifs are seeking unspecified compensatory and punitive dam-
ages lor class members. The preliminary motions are pending. The
case was dormant and is currently staved by the CCAA Praceedings.

Canada British Columbia Class Action (McDermid):

This class action was brought against tobacco industry members
including JTI-Mac and the Company’s indemnitees in June 2010.
Plaintilfs are seeking unspecified compensatory and punitive dam-

ages for class members. The preliminary motions are pending. The
case was dormant and is currently staved by the CCAA Praceedings.

Canada Ontario Class Action (Jacklin):

This class action was brought against tobacco industry members
including JTI-Mac and the Company’s indemnitees in June 2012.
Plaintiffs are seeking unspecified compensatory and punitive dam-
ages for class members. The preliminary motions are pending. The
case was dormant and is currently stayed by the CCAA Proceedings.

C. Health-Care Cost Recovery Litigation

Thera are 10 ongoing health-care cost recovery cases in Canada
pending against the Company’s subsidiary and indemnitees brought
by afl the Canadian provinces (except threa Canadian territories).
These provinces filed lawsuits under their own pravincial legislation
which was enacted exclusively for the purpose of aulhorizing the provin-
cial government to file a direct action against tobacco manufacturers to
recoup the health-care costs the govarnment has allegedly incurred
and will incur, resulting from “tobacca related wrongs.”

Canada British Columbia Health-Care Cost Recovery Litigation:
This health-care cost recovery litigation was filed by the Province of
British Columbia in January 2001 against tobacco industry members
including JTHMac and the Company’s indemnitees based on its pro-
vincial legislation, the “Tobacco Damages and Health-Care Costs
Recovery Act.” The claim amount is unspecified. In 2001, several
defendants challenged the legistation’s constitutionality, which was
uhimately rejected by the Supreme Court of Canada in September
2005. The action remains panding in the first instance. The case is
stayed by the CCAA Proceedings.

Canada New Brunswick Health-Care Cost Recovery Litigation:
This heslth-care cost recovery ligation was filed by the Province of
New Brunswick in March 2008 against tobacco industry members
including JTMac and the Campany’s indemnitees based on legisla-
tion similar 1o that introduced in the Province of British Columbia.
The claim amount is unspecified. The case is stayed by the CCAA
Proceadings.
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Canada Ontario Healh-Care Cost Recovery Litigation:
This health-care cost recovery litigation was filed by the Province

of Ontario in September 2009 against tobacco indusiry members
including JTI-Mac and the Company's indemnitees based on legisla-
tion similar to that introduced in the Province of British Columbia. The
statement of claim contains allegations of joint and several liabilities
among all the defendants but does not specily any individual amount
or percentages within the total claimed amount of ¥27.650.7 billion
(CAD 330 billion}. The case is stayed by the CCAA Praceedings.

Canada Newfoundland and Labrador Health-Care Cost Recovery
Litigation;

This healin-care cost recovery litigation was filed by the Province of
Newloundland and Labrador in February 2011 against tobacco indus-
ry members including JTI-Mac and the Company's indemnitees
based on legislation similar to thal introduced in the Province

of British Columbia. The claim amount is unspecified. The case is
stayed by the CCAA Procecdings.

Canada Manitoba Health-Carc Cost Recovery Litigation:
This heatth-care cosi recovery litigatian was filed by ihe Province of
Manitoba in May 2012 againsi tobacco industry membars including
JTHMac and the Company’s indemnitees based on legistation similar
1o that introduced in the Province of British Columbia, The claim
amount is unspecitied. The case is stayed by the CCAA Praceadings.

Canada Quebec Health-Care Cost Recovery Litigation:

This heakh-care cast recovery litigation was filed by the Province of
Quebec in June 2012 against tobacce industry members including
JTI-Mac and the Company’s indemnitees based on legistation similar
1o that introduced in the Province of British Columbia. The statement
of claim contains allegatians of joint and severst liabilities among

all the defendants but does nol specity any individual smount or
percentages within the total amount of the claim appreximatcly
¥5,082.5 billion {approximately CAD 60.7 biflion). The case is stayed
by the CCAA Proceedings.

Canada Alberta Health-Care Cost Recovery Litigation:
This healihcare cost recovery liigation was filed by the Province of
Alberta in Junc 2012 against tobacco industry members including JT1-
Mac and the Company’s indemnilees based on legislation similar 10 that
intreduced in the Province of Briish Columbia, The statoment of clam
contains allegations of joint and several iabiliies among al the defen-
dants but does not spocily any individual amount or porcentages within
the total claimed amount of at least ¥837.9 billion (CAD 10.0 biliory. The
casa s stayed by the CCAA Procecdings.

Canada Saskatchowan Health-Care Cost Recovery Litigation:
This healih-care cost recovery litigation was filed by the Province of
Saskatchcwan in Junc 2012 against tobacco industry members
including JT1Mac and the Company's indemnitees based on
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legistation similar ta that introduced in the Province of British
Columbia. The claim amount is unspecificd. The case is staved by
the CCAA Proceedings.

Canada Prince Edward lsland Health-Care Cost Recovery Litigation:
“This health-care cost recovery ltigation was filed by the Province of
Prince Edward Island in September 2012 against tobacce industry
members including JTI-Mac and the Company's indemnitecs based
on legislation similar to that introduced in the Province of Briish
Columbia. The claim amount is unspecified. The case is stayed by the
CCAA Proceedings.

Canada Nove Scotia Health-Care Cost Recovery Litigation:

This health-carc cost recovery fitigation was filed by the Province of
Nova Scotia in January 2015 against tobacco industry members
including JTI-Mac and tho Company’s indemnitces based on legisla-
tion similar 10 \hat introduced in the Province of British Columbia. The
claim amount is unspecificd. The claim amount is unspecitiod. Tho
case is stayed by the CCAA Proceedings.

(2) Other Legal Proceadings

The Company and somo of its subsidiarics arc also cngaged in other
legat proceedings such as commercial and tax disputes.

{Notel The amount of damages sought denominated in lareign curtencius o
wanslated into Japanese yen al the ratos as of Docember 31, 2018,

39. Subsequent Events
)
The Company entered into loan agreements with banks as follows:

(1] Lenders: Mizuho Bank, Ltd., MUFG Bank, Ltd., Sumitamo Mitsut
Banking Corporation and Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited

(2) Aggregate amount of borrowings: ¥100 billion
13) Interest rates: Floating rates (TIBOR plus spread)

(4) Drawdown date: January 31, 2020

(5) Repayment date: January 31, 2080

The Company may, at its option, repay early all ar 8 portion of the
principal on any Interest Payment Date on or after the nterest
Payment Date of January 2025,

(6) Collateral/Guarantee: None

(7) Use of proceeds: Repayment of existing debts and working
capital
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(8) Other borrowing terms:
a. Intorost deterral clause
The Company may, at its option, defer the payment of interest.

b, Subordination clause
The lenders shall have subordinated claim rights subordinated to
senior debts in fiquidation proceedings, bankrupicy proceedings.

ABSOLUTE
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c. Replacement restrictions

There is no
Provided, when making a prepayment of the Subordinated

Loan, the Company intends 1o repface it with the funds raised by

provision on

common stock or financial instruments that have equity credit
auribuics approved by rating agencis to be equal to or higher
than the Subordinated Loan within twelve months prior to the

civil
ather equivalent praceedings other than those under the laws
of Japan.

o any

date. However, the Company may decide not 1o
replace the Subordinated Loan with the approved funds that have
cqual or higher oquity credit attributes, if predcfined financial

No terms and conditions of the Loan
may be amended in @ manner detrimental in any way Lo any credi-
tors of the Company other than the creditors of the subordinated

roccivablos.

Others

A. Quarterly Information for the Year ended December 31, 2019

are met.

Millions of yan

a1 a2 Q2 2018

January 4, 2018 t0 January 1,2018 10 January 1,2019 10 January 1, 2019 10

March 31, 2019 June 30, 2018 Septomber 30, 2019 December 31, 2019

Revenue 505,422 1,058,549 1,633,748 2,175,626

Profit before income taxes for the period lyear) 112,027 290,618 411,564 465,232
Profit atributable (o owners of the parent

company for the period {year) 120,840 226,451 316,148 348,180

Basic earnings per share for the period tyear) tyen) 67.66 121.23 172.83 195.97

ar o2 a3 2019

January 1,2018 to Apil1,2019 t0 July 1,200 t0 October 1, 2019 to.

March 31, 2019 June 20, 2019 September 30, 2019 Decsmber 31, 2018

Basic earnings per share for the quarter tyen) 62.66 59.54 50.57 18.08

B. Significant Lawsuits.

" in the notes to

financial

The significant lawsuits of the Group are as stated in “38. C
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Deloi
eloitte.

Marunouchi Nijubashi Bullding
323 Marunoudh, Chiyoda-ku
Tokyo 100-8360

Japan

Tek: +81(3)6213 1000

Fax: +81(3)6213 1005

vaww deloltte.comvip/en
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Board of Directors of Japan Tobacco Inc.:

We have audited the i of financial position of Japan Tobacco Inc.
and its i idiaries as of D 31, 2019, and the related consolidated statements of

income, comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for the fiscal year from January 1,
2019 to December 31, 2019, and notes to consolidated financial statements.

Management's Responsibility for the C: lidated Financial

is ible for the p: ion and fair ion of these li financial
statements in accordance with ional Financial Ry i , and for such internal control
i is y to enable the p ion of i financial

as i
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Audtitor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in

the i financial The p selected depend on the auditor's judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material mi of the i financial s,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity's and fair p of the i financial statements in order
to design audit pi that are appropriate in the i but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's intemal control. An audit also includes

luating the appropri of ing policies used and the reasonableness of accounting

made by as well as ing the overall p ion of the I

financiat statements.

We believe that the audit evid we have obtained is ient and
our audit opinion.

ppropriate to provide a basis for

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of Japan Tobacco Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries as
of December 31, 2019, and the i results of their ions and their cash flows for the fiscal
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

-&M -Z’ucﬁ»é 7’%"»&&4« Lece

March 19, 2020

Member of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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G l 0ssa I'y Of Term S | Unless otherwise stated, terms and numbers reported in this glossary are in accordance with IFRS.

Adjusted Operating Profit: Operaung profit + Amortization
cost of acquired intangibles arising from business acquisi-
tions + Adjusted items {income and costs).”

* Adjusted items {income and costs) = Impairment losses on goodwill +
rostructuring income and costs ¢ others

ALP: Agriculiural labor practices.
BnU: Billion Units.

CDP: Headquartered in London, CDP is the leading interna-
tional non-profit organization that accelerates action to
achieve a sustainable economy, assessing disclosure and
impacts by corporations from around the world.

Constant Exchange Rates (Constant FX): Constant
exchange rates are compuied by restating current year
results at the previous year's fareign currency exchange
(FX) rate. Results at constant rates of exchange should be
considered in addition 1o, not as a substitute for, results
reported in accordance with IFRS.

Contraband: Genuine products smuggled from abroad
that are diverted from the legitimate supply chain and sold
in a country other than the intended retail market without
payment of domestic duty in that country.

Core Revenue (international Tobacco Business): Includes
revenue from waterpipe tobacco and Reduced-Risk Prod-
ucts, but excludes revenue from distribution, contract
manufacturing and other peripheral

CORPORATE PROFILE

Counterfeit: Fake products appearing 1o be genuine brand
products protected by intellectual property rights. Counterfeit
products are manufactured without authorization from the
rights’ owners and with the intent to copy the genuine brand
to deceive the consumer. They are also sold without duties
being paid.

DJS! [Dow Jones Sustainability Indices): The DJS|is a
collaborative initiative by S&P Dow Jones Indices of the
United States and RobecoSAM of Switzerland. It assesses
the sustainability performance of companies, based

on economic. environmental and social criteria.

FCF (Free Cash Flow): FCF is sum of cash flows from
operating activities and investing activities. but excludes
the following items:

* From operating CF: depreciation from lease
transactions, interest received, dividends received,
interest paid and income taxes related to these items
excluding lease transactions

« From investing CF: purchase of investment securities
{both short-term and long-terml, payments into time
deposits, proceeds from sale or redemption of investment

(both she and long: ). proceeds from
withdrawal of ume deposits and other investing activities
not for business operation purposes

Fine Cut: Fine Cut represents tobacco products which are
packed in a loose, finecut form in pouches and are also
known as rolling tobacco, used for both RYO “roll-yourown™

Core Revenue (Japanese Domestic Tobacco Business):
Excludes revenue from distribution of imported tobacco in
the Japanese domestic tobacco business, among others,
but includes revenue from domesuc duty free, the China
business, little cigars and Reduced-Risk Products such as
Ploom TECH devices and capsules.
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{made using rolling papers) and MYO “make-your-
own* cigarettes (made by filling a filier tube with cut tobaccol.

VALUE CREATION STRATEGY

GFB: Global Flagship Brands {Winston, Camel, MEVIUS, LD).

GHG emissi gas

GHG Scope 1: Direct GHG emissions from cerporate
activities, such as burning of fossil fuels at factories.

ABSOLUTE REQUIREMENTS | £\ oNciaL INFORMATION
FOR SUSTAINABILITY

OO

Revenue: Excluding tobacco excise taxes and revenue from
agent ransactions.

RMC: Ready-Made Cigarettes.

Science Based Targets (SBT): SBT is a joint initiative that
enables businesses 10 take swift climate action by setting

GHG Scope 2: indirect GHG emissions from o
tion of purchased electricity, heat or steam.

GHG Scope 3: Other indirect emissions, including from
manufacture of products bought from other companies.
IFRS: International Financial Reporting Standards.
lllicit Whites: Tobacco products manufactured legitimately
but without any product flow control measures afterwards
and, smuggled and sold in another market.
JPY BN: Billion Japanese yen.
JT Cigarette Sales Volume
(Japanese Domestic Tobacco Business): Excludes sales
volume of domestic duty free, the China business and
Reduced-Risk Products.

Profit: Profit attributable to owners of the parent.

Reduced-Risk Products (RRP): Products with the potential
1o reduce the risks assaciated with smoking.

Restated: See "Constant Exchange Rates.”

emission ion targets.

SDGs: The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) were
adopted by all United Nations Member States in 2015 as a
universal call to action to end poverty, protect the planet and
ensure that all people enjoy peace and prosperity by 2030.

TabfeMark: Reterences to "TableMark " are to TableMark
Co., Ltd.

Total Shipment Volume

(International Tobacco Business): The shipment volume of
tobacco-based products which includes Fine Cut, cigars,
pipe tobacco, snus, kretek and T-Vapor but excludes contract
manufactured products, waterpipe tobacco and E-Vapor.

USD MM: Million U.S. dollars.
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Awards and Recognition

We are a member of the Dow Jones Sustainability Asia
Pacific Index, and we were recognized with SAM Bronze
Class 2020 ranking and as a SAM Industry Mover 2020 tor
the first time.

T Group oress el Qowdones
September 2015 Sustainability |:dl.t:::
The Yearbook 2020 In -

FTSE Blossom Japan
We have been selected as a member of FTSE Blossom
Japan Index every year since 2017. FTSE Blossom index
{selected by GPIF as a core ESG benchmark) is designed to
measure the performance of Japanese companies that
demonstrate strong sustainability practices.

TSE Bl m n
February 2020

FTSE Blossom
Japan

CDP A List and Supplier Engagement Leader

Achieving a place on CDP “A List" for climate change (press
release in Janvary 2020) and water security (press release in.
Eehruary 2020). We are also recognized as a global leader for
engaging our supply chain in climate change activities.

Learn more on JT.com.

Science Based Targets

We have set a long-term GHG emission reduction target in
line with the Paris Agreement, which was approved as an
SBT by the Science Based Targets initiative.

FT Group press release SSISEé\‘DCE
ebruary 2019 TARGETS
R IS CORPORT LA TN

Global Child Forum
We were recognized as a “leader” by the Global Child
Forum, as part of their 2019 Global Corporate Sector and.

¥ rk Report “The State of Children’s
Rights and Business: From Promise to Practice.”

Einal score card
November 2019

% GLOBAL
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PRIDE Index
In the PRIDE Index, which highlights the most LGBT-fnendly
companies, JT achieved Gold status, the highest ranking.

for the tourth consecutive year. workuwith Prido

l@old
2009
num Kurumin Certification

JTis cerutied as a childcare-supporting company by the
Japanese Ministry of Health, Labor and Weltare.

work with Pride - PRIDE index -
October 2019

Platinum Kurumin Ceification {in Jaganesel
2019

Top Emplayer
Our international tobacco business was certified as a Global
Top Employer for the sixth consecutive year.

Top Em, r
February 2020

Nadeshiko Brand
JT was selected as a “Nadeshiko Brand™ that encourages
women's success in the workplace.

N hik:
March 2020

ran

In January 2019, the headquarters of JT!

became the first Geneva-based -

multinational headquarters to be certified -y

as an equal salary employer by the EQUAL-

SALARY Foundation. EQUAL-SALARY
CERTIFIED

White 500
JT was selected as a Certified Health and Productivity
Management Organization (White 500) for our outstanding
health-conscious management.

—

4

White 500 -

March 2020 BOELEAEA
ity
HRI1+500

CORPORATE PROFILE
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Shareholder Information

As of December 31, 2019

Common Stock

ABSOLUTE REQUIREMENTS
FOR SUSTAINABILITY

Authorized: 8,000.000,000
Issued: 2/000.000,000
Number of shareholders: 515211

Share Registrar
Mitsubishi UFJ Trust and Banking Corporation
4-5, Marunouchi 1-chome, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo

Listing
Tokyo Stock Exchange: First Section

C ition of

treasury stock)

® Ministor of Financo 37.6%
@ Financial insttuttans. 205%
o individuals and others  18.3%
 Securitios companics 5%

® Othar Japanose companies  1.4%
® Foraign instiwtions, etc.  17.6%

Government Offerings of JT Shares

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

AGO®

[Principal Shareholders 1
Name Shares held |
Minister of Finance 666.926,200
The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Lid. (Trust Account) 88,722,600
Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account) 54.377.600
SMBC Nikko Securities Inc. 29,357.000
Trust & Custody Services Bank, Lid. as tustee for
Miztho Bank, Lid.

Ratirement Benefit Trust Account re-entrusted by 29060000
Mizuho Trust and Banking Co., Ltd.

Japan Truslee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account 5) 23,508,500
JP Morgan Chasc Bank 385151

(Standing proxy: Mizuho Bank, Ltd.. Seullement 22,262,535
Sales Departenent)

JP Morgan Chase Bank 380055

(Standing proxy: Mizuho Bank, Ltd., Settlement 21,612,342
Sales Department)

State Street Bank West Client-Treaty 505234

(Standing proxy: Mizuho Bank, Lid., Setllement 21,561,341
Sales Department)

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Lid. {Trust Account 9) 18.737.300

15t Offaring 1
[mothod Ottering by Bids Offering by non-Bids 1
N Bid price: from ¥1,362.000 10 ¥2,110,000
Otter price We n ¥1.,438,000
Pricing /eighted average price: ¥1.438.000
(Pricing dale) August 2. 1994} (August 31, 1994)
Number of

shares offereg 225520 shares

164,356 shares -

Offer term From August 15 10 18, 1994

From September 2 to 8. 1994

Noate.
Listing date: October 27, 1994
Exchange: First Section of Tokyo Stock Exchange

20d and 31d, 4th Otfesing

2nd Offaring 3rd Offoring 4th Offering
Mothod Offoring by Book-Building formulo ___ Offering by Book-Building formulo __ Offering by Book-Building formuls
Otfer price ¥815.000 ¥843.000 ¥2.849
(Pricing date) (June 17, 1996) (June 7. 2004) {March 11, 2013)
Number of Japan: 237,390 shares, Japan: 198.334 shares, Japan: 145675500 shares,

shares offered

Intenational: 35,000 shares
(Total: 272,390 shares)

Intermatianal: 91,000 shares
(Total: 289,334 shares)

International: 107,636,300 shares
(Total: 253,261.808 shares)

Otfer term

From June 18 10 19, 1996

From June 8 to 10, 2004

From March 12 10 13. 2013
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Corporate Data

Japan Tabacco Inc.

2-1, Toranomon 2-chome,
Minatoku, Tokyo 1058422, Japan
Tel: +81 (013-3582-3111

Fax: +81 (013-55672-1441

URL: https:f/www.jt.com/

Date of Establishment
April 1. 1985

Paid-in Capital
100 billion yen
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JT International S.A.

8, rue Kazem Radjavi
1202 Geneva, Switzerland
Tel: +41(0122-703-0777
Fax. +41 {0)122-703-0789
URL: hutps:/iwww:.jti.com/

CORPORATE PROFILE

VALUE CREATION

STRATEGY

ABSOLY

TE
FOR SUSTAINABILITY

| A@®
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